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Chairman’s Statement

ERRE

B

HERRE
Chairman
Huang Juncan

| am pleased to present to shareholders the business review and
outlook of Gemdale Properties and Investment Corporation Ltd.
(the “Company”), together with its subsidiaries (collectively the
“Group”), for the year ended 31 December 2022.

MARKET OVERVIEW

In 2022, the global economy was impacted by intensified
inflation, interest rate rising at unprecedented pace in different
regions of the globe, soaring energy and food price caused
by Russia-Ukraine War and deglobalisation. In the first half of
2022, China’s economy faced pressures from lingered domestic
COVID-19 cases and therefore weakening internal demands and
economic expectations. The Chinese government responded by
effective pandemic control and adjust macro-economic policies
to stimulate internal consumptions. Customers’ confidence and
economy recovery was largely restored in the fourth quarter of
2022. China’'s GDP expanded 3% year-on-year growth in 2022.
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In 2022, due to weakening confidence in economy and expected
income, coupled with multiple cases of debt defaults by various
properties companies, Chinese housing property sales plunged
and total investment growth in real estate development was
negative as compared to last year. As more and more industry
easing policies was adopted since third quarter of 2022, a
moderate recovery was seen since fourth quarter of 2022.

BUSINESS REVIEW

Despite the harsh real estate market environment unseen in
decades, the Group devoted its very effort for stable growth,
prudent investments, financial stability, costs reduction and
sustainable development. Through big-data analytics, tool-based
and standardized decision making systems, project investments,
engineering, sales launch and delivery processes were
streamlined to enhance operations efficiencies. Maintenance of
sufficient cash flow and low gearing is the core to strive in difficult
times. The Group managed to stick to financial management
discipline and explore various low-cost financing channels during
the year. Keeping a good balance between growth and risk
control is crucial in delivering value to shareholders.

During the year, the Group achieved contracted sales of
RMB61.77 billion, a decrease of 21.3% as compared to
corresponding period last year. In the same period, the contracted
sales recorded by top 100 property enterprises in Mainland China
decreased by 42.3% as compared to 2021. In 2022, the Group
delivered more than 41 projects with over 30,000 housing units
on schedule. The consolidated revenue of the Group for the
year ended 31 December 2022 was RMB10.3 billion. The profit
attributed to the shareholders of the Company was RMB2.31
billion. Basic earnings per share was RMB0.1392 per share. The
Board declared a final dividend of RMBO0.007 per share for the
year ended 31 December 2022.

The Group’s financial performance has been under pressure
during the market downturn in 2022. However, the Group
managed to be one of the few privately-owned Mainland property
developers that record net profits attributable to shareholders and
does not default on outstanding debts. This is largely contributed
by our indulgence of quality management, prudent operations
and commitment to investing commercial properties and business
parks which deliver steady cashflow and operating profits.
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Chairman’s Statement

ERHRE

We devoted long-term efforts in expanding our presence in
commercial properties and business parks to improve profits
quality and stability. With more than 20-years’ experience in this
area, we extended our footprint in asset-light business parks and
commercial properties to enhance investment returns. In 2022,
the rental income from commercial properties and business
parks increased from RMB1,150,659,000 to RMB1,686,893,000,
representing a year-on-year growth of 47%. The Group currently
runs 14 commercial projects and 18 business parks in the PRC,
covering a GFA of approximately 921,000 square meters and
1,380,000 square meters, respectively. It is expected 4 new
commercial projects would commence operations in 2023 which
covers GFA of approximately 280,000 square meters. Additional
5 business park operations would start operations in 2023 which
covers a total leased area of approximately 683,000 square
meters. Our business parks business segment has been awarded
with “Yihan Think Tank Top 5 Business Park Operators in 2022"
and “CRIC Top 3 Industrial Park Operators”.

The rental income from rental housing business was RMB222,562,000
in 2022. Our rental housing brand “Gemdale Strongberry” has aimed
at providing quality affordable rental apartments to youths. As of
31 December 2022, it has managed for more than 13,000 rooms.
It was awarded “Rental Apartment Scale Top 15 in the First Half of
2022". We believe in providing quality apartments, bearing social
responsibilities and balancing investment returns are the ultimate
goals for sustainable development of Gemdale Strongberry. In
particular, we would actively grasp the golden opportunity of
C-REITs issuance for affordable rental housing.

INVESTMENT AND LAND BANK

The Group adhered to prudent investment strategy with primary
focus on top tier cities with quality investment returns. As of
31 December 2022, we had land bank with total GFA of 19.34
million square meters under which over 79% were located in first
and second tier cities. This quality land bank should support the
Group’s development for the next 3 years or more.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE

The Group integrates social responsibility into our core value and
long-term development goal. It actively responded to the national
dual-carbon strategy and established a team implementing
various improvement in daily operations to achieve dual-carbon
goals. As of 31 December 2022, we had more than 18,470,000
square meters of projects meeting the green building standards.
And most of our new projects under development will also meet
the green building standards. The Group would continuously
devote its efforts in persuading low-carbon, green and sustainable
development.

OUTLOOK

Looking forward to 2023, China's economy should record a
substantial boost and demand for housing should resume. We
are optimistic that the real estate market has bottomed out in
the second half of 2022 and will be gradually rebound in 2023.
As one of the most well-managed real estate enterprises with
good financial discipline, the Group should be able to seize the
opportunities of resumed demand in real estate market and deliver
satisfactory operating results to our shareholders in 2023.

CONCLUSION

On behalf of the Board, | would like to express my sincere
appreciation to our shareholders, business partners and
customers for their care and support to the Group in such a
difficult year 2022. | would also like to take this opportunity to
express my gratitude to our directors, management and staffs
for their valuable contributions. We will continue to forge ahead
and maintain sustainable growth, enhancing our competiveness
and operating efficiency to become one of the most successful
property developers and operators in China.

Mr. Huang Juncan
Chairman

Hong Kong, 28 March 2023
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Financial Highlights
B E

Year ended Year ended

31 December 31 December

2022 2021

B ZE2022F #HZE20214F

12A31H1E 12A31H81E

(In RMB’000) (AAREFITLAEA) FE FE

Revenue WA 10,302,492 14,184,795

Profit attributable to owners of the Company ViN/NEIEE ¥ N ey p 2,310,630 4,014,231

Earnings per share (Basic: RMB) BRAF (EX : ARKET) 0.1392 0.2425

As at As at

31 December 31 December

2022 2021

#2022 F R20214F

(In RMB’000) (AAREFITAEA) 12H31H 12HA31H

Total assets BEBE 85,986,705 77,078,635

Total liabilities BERR 59,012,850 52,489,027

Total equity (including non-controlling interests) 54258 (B 75 IEIE MG AR SR AERS ) 26,973,855 24,589,608

Total borrowings B4R 24,364,062 22,953,871

Net borrowings BERFE 17,516,820 13,327,926

Net asset value per share (RMB) EREEFE(AR%T) 1.348 1.311

Cash and bank deposits over total R & RRTITIF R AR E 18 AR 1.9 1.8
current portion borrowings

Gearing ratio BfE = 90% 93%

Net borrowings over total equity ERFERAERETE 65% 54%

8 Gemdale Properties and Investment Corporation Limited
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FINANCIAL REVIEW

The accounting policies and methods of computation used in
the preparation of the financial statements for the year ended
31 December 2022 were consistent with those used in the last
financial year ended 31 December 2021, except that the Group
has applied, for the first time, the revised Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”, which included all HKFRSs,
Hong Kong Accounting Standards and Interpretations) issued
by Hong Kong Institute Certified Public Accountants which are
effective for the Group’s financial year beginning on or after 1
January 2022.

RESULTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER
2022

The revenue of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2022
decreased to RMB10,302.5 million from RMB14,184.8 million for
the year ended 31 December 2021. The decrease was primarily
due to the reduction in revenue recognised from sales of
properties by RMB3,315.0 million.

Other income and gains decreased to RMB1,122.6 million for the
year ended 31 December 2022 from RMB2,402.8 million for the
year ended 31 December 2021. The decrease was mainly due to
reduction in gains on bargain purchase arising from acquisition of
subsidiaries during the year.

As the leasing business of investment properties such as
Shenzhen Business Park was operated better than expected, a
fair value gain of investment properties of RMB1,437.0 million
was reported for the year ended in 31 December 2022, against
RMB1,464.2 million for the year ended 31 December 2021.
Furthermore, the Group’s financial assets at fair value recorded
a fair value gain of RMB40.8 million for the year ended in 31
December 2022, against fair value gain of RMB165.3 million for
the year ended 31 December 2021.

Financial Review
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Financial Review

Bt %5 1 R

The Group's direct operating expenses for the year ended
31 December 2022 decreased to RMB1,693.6 million from
RMB2,032.6 million for the year ended 31 December 2021. In the
end of last year, the Group disposed of a wholly-owned subsidiary
which is engaged in fitting-out works business. Expenses of
RMB216.5 million incurred by that subsidiary was included in the
direct operating expenses for the year ended 31 December 2021.
In addition, the Group strictly control various expenditure such as
marketing expenses to cope with the market downturn, resulting in
the reduction in direct operating expenses.

The finance costs went up to RMB1,116.5 million for the year
ended 31 December 2022 from RMB868.6 million for the year
ended 31 December 2021, increased by RMB247.9 million. It is
mainly due to the payments of remaining land premiums for the
projects acquired in previous years and acquisitions of partners’
interests, resulting in an increase in the loan balance in the year.

Due to the unfavourable changes in the real estate market of the
Mainland China, the Group made an aggregate impairment loss
of RMB598.1 million for the properties of its certain subsidiaries
during the year.

Share of results of joint ventures and associates of the Group
reported an aggregate profit of RMB2,157.5 million for the year
ended 31 December 2022, against RMB1,881.2 million for the year
ended 31 December 2021, representing increase of RMB276.3
million. The increase was due to increase in sales revenue
recognition from property development of joint ventures and
associates in Beijing, Chengdu, Nanjing, Wuhan and Kunming.

Overall, the Group’s profit attributable to owners of the Company
decreased from RMB4,014.2 million for the year ended 31
December 2021 to RMB2,310.6 million for the year ended 31
December 2022. The decrease was mainly due to decrease in
property sales recognition and the provision of impairment for
property development projects of certain subsidiaries.

The Group recorded basic earnings per share of RMB0.1392
for the year ended 31 December 2022, against basic earnings
per share of RMB0.2425 for the year ended 31 December 2021,
representing a decrease of 43%. The diluted earnings per
share for the current year and prior year were RMB0.1390 and
RMBO0.2413 respectively.

10 Gemdale Properties and Investment Corporation Limited
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BUSINESS SEGMENTS
Property development

For the year ended 31 December 2022, the revenue of
property development segment decreased to RMB8,907.1
million, representing 86% of the total revenue, compared with
RMB13,019.7 million, representing 92% of the total revenue for
the year ended 31 December 2021. The decrease in the segment
revenue was primarily due to decrease in the areas delivery of
the sales properties. Further, revenue of RMB797.6 million from
fitting-out work business was included in the last year, while no
revenue from such business was recorded in the current year as
the fitting-out work business was disposed of in the end of last
year. The segment result for the current year reported a profit of
RMB2,314.0 million, against RMB4,076.8 million for the last year,
decreased by RMB1,762.8 million. The decrease in segment result
was mainly due to decrease in sales recognition and the provision
of impairment for property development projects of certain
subsidiaries in the year.

Property investment and management

The revenue earned by the property investment and management
segment for the year ended 31 December 2022 increased
from RMB868.6 million, representing 6% of the total revenue
for the year ended 31 December 2021, to RMB1,128.6 million,
representing 11% of the total revenue. Shenzhen Business Park
Phase Ill was commenced operation at the beginning of this
year with an occupancy rate of about 80% at the end of the
year, and contributed RMB271.6 million to the segment revenue
for the current year. The segment results for the year ended 31
December 2022 reported a profit of RMB2,151.4 million, against
a profit of RMB2,202.4 million for the year ended 31 December
2021, a decrease of RMB51.0 million. The performance of
shopping centres held by certain joint ventures of the Group
was adversely affected by the COVID-19 and the implementation
of related prevention and control measures. Folllowed by the
withdrawal of the prevention and control measures by the end of
this year, it is expected that the performance of those shopping
centres will be recovered gradually.

Financial Review
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Financial Review

Bt %5 1 R

Microfinance

During the current year, the revenue earned by the microfinance
segment decreased from RMB296.5 million, representing 2%
of the total revenue for the year ended 31 December 2021, to
RMB266.7 million, representing 3% of the total revenue for the
year ended 31 December 2022. The microfinance segment
recorded a profit of RMB144.4 million during the current year,
compared with the segment profit of RMB195.7 million for the
last year. Due to macroeconomic downturn, the loan scale of
microfinance segment of this year was reduced, resulting in a
decrease in interest income and net profit.

SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY

The Group’s total shareholders’ equity increased from
RMB21,739.1 million as at 31 December 2021 to RMB22,395.0
million as at 31 December 2022. The increase was contributed by
profit attributable to owners of the Company for the current year of
RMB2,310.6 million which was partially offset by the final dividend
of RMB996.6 million declared for the year ended 31 December
2021.

FINANCIAL RESOURCES, LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL
STRUCTURE

Liquidity and capital resources

The Group’s deposits, bank and cash balances decreased
by 31% to RMB6,053.2 million as at 31 December 2022 from
RMB8,771.9 million as at 31 December 2021. The decrease
was mainly due to payments of property development costs, the
remaining land premiums for the projects acquired in previous
years, final dividend and, investments/advances to joint ventures
and associates.

12 Gemdale Properties and Investment Corporation Limited
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Borrowings

During the year, the Group has arranged several bank borrowings
amounting to RMB4,882.9 million of which RMB2,430.0 million
are secured and expired within 8 years to 15 years. Meanwhile,
the Group has also repaid bank and other borrowings amounting
to RMB4,415.9 million. As at 31 December 2022, total bank and
other borrowings of the Group amounted to RMB5,998.2 million
with interest rates ranging from 3.8% to 6.6% per annum.

The net debt (measured by total borrowings minus cash and bank
deposits (including restricted cash) increased by RMB4,188.9
million to RMB17,516.8 million as at 31 December 2022 from
RMB13,327.9 million as at 31 December 2021. The increase of
net debt was mainly due to cash applied to development cost and
the remaining land premiums of PRC projects, dividend payment
and investments/advances to joint ventures and associates. The
Group’s net debt ratio (defined as net debt over total equity,
including non-controlling interests) increased to 65% as at 31
December 2022, from 54% as at 31 December 2021. The Group’s
“three red lines” (net debt ratio, asset to liability ratio (excluding
contract liabilities) and cash to short-term borrowings ratio) are all
at the “green light” level, providing adequate margin of safety for
the stable and sound operations in future.

Financial Review
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The maturity profiles of the Group’s outstanding borrowings as at AN&EE
=

31 December 2022 and 31 December 2021 are summarised as (BEERZEFHS BT -

below:

As at

31 December

2022412 4318 k2021412 A31 B Ak

31 December

2022 2021
20224 20214
12H31H 12H31H
RMB’ 000 RMB’000
ARETT AR®ET T

Short-term and long-term bank EHERHRITREMERR !

and other borrowings:
Within the first year or on demand RE—FAFIREKEFEER 3,203,482 4,902,939
In the second year REZFR 594,845 30,825
In the third to fifth years, inclusive REZZFRFRN - BIEEEWMF 891,574 111,073
Over five years HEMU E 1,308,323 142,489
5,998,224 5,187,326
Loans from related parties: BEFEN:

Within the first year or on demand RE—FANRIRERKEEE - -
In second year REZFER 3,617,591 17,269,240
In the third to fifth years, inclusive REZZFRFAN BEEEMRE 14,748,247 497,305
18,365,838 17,766,545
Total borrowings B 24,364,062 22,953,871

14 Gemdale Properties and Investment Corporation Limited
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FINANCIAL MANAGEMENT
Foreign currency risk

As at 31 December 2022, borrowings were denominated in United
States dollar (“US$”), RMB and HK$. The Group mainly operates
in the Mainland China and most of the transactions, assets and
liabilities are denominated in RMB, thus the Group is exposed
to foreign currency risk. Moderate fluctuation of RMB against
HK$ and US$ was expected, the Group considered the foreign
currency risk exposure was considered acceptable. The Group
will review and monitor its currency exposure from time to time
and when appropriate hedge its currency risk.

The currency denominations of the Group’s outstanding
borrowings as at 31 December 2022 and 31 December 2021 are
summarised below:

Financial Review
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SPEE [ B

M2022F12A318 » EFIEERL - ARBERBE
AR AEEFERFPEABEAKLE XL - KHH
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As at
»
31 December 31 December
2022 2021
2022%F 20214
128318 12A31H
RMB’ 000 RMB’000
ARBTRT ARBTT
HK$ ot 1,443,633 2,918,258
RMB AR 13,101,537 12,601,034
uUss e 9,818,892 7,434,579
Total ks 24,364,062 22,953,871

Interest rate risk

As at 31 December 2022, 66% of borrowings of the Group were
on a floating rate basis (31 December 2021: 65%). However, the
interest rate risk exposure was considered acceptable and no
hedging was considered necessary. The Group will continue to
monitor the suitability and cost efficiency of hedging instrument
(including interest rates swaps) and consider a mix of fixed and
floating rate borrowings in order to manage interest rate risk.

A=k

R2022F12A31H  NEE66% (2021412 A 31
H : 65%)ExRFBFIERTE - A - FERKH
BVAEAES  WHAZEL R - NEBBEEET
A THE(BEMNEER) 2BEMREARNE - A
MEBEERIBFNEBLEERZETE  UEER
HA=ER -
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Financial Review
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PLEDGE OF ASSETS

At 31 December 2022, investment properties of the Group with
an aggregate carrying value of RMB1,665,680,000 (31 December
2021: Nil) was pledged to secure bank borrowings granted to the
Group.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

(a)

16

As at 31 December 2022, the Group provided guarantees
to certain banks in respect of mortgage granted by banks
relating to the mortgage loans arranged for purchasers
of the Group’s properties. Pursuant to the terms of the
guarantees, upon default in mortgage payments by these
purchasers, the Group is responsible for repaying the
outstanding mortgage principals together with the accrued
interest and penalty owed by the defaulting purchasers
to the banks and the Group is entitled but not limited to
take over the legal titles and possession of the related
properties. The Group’s guarantee period starts from the
dates of grant of the relevant mortgage loans and ends
upon issuance of the real estate ownership certificates or
completion of mortgage registration. As at 31 December
2022, the Group’s outstanding guarantees in connection
with the arrangement amounted to RMB4,199,480,000 (31
December 2021: RMB3,263,233,000).

The Directors consider that the fair value of the guarantees
is not significant and in case of defaulting payments,
the net realisable value of the related properties will be
sufficient to cover the outstanding mortgage principals, the
accrued interest and penalty. Therefore, no provision has
been made in the financial statements for the year ended
31 December 2022 (31 December 2021: Nil) for these
guarantees.

At the end of the reporting period, the Group provided
an aggregate maximum guarantees of US$152,376,000
(equivalent to RMB1,061,240,000) (31 December 2021:
US$103,500,000 (equivalent to RMB659,885,000)) to
financial institutions for facilities granted to joint ventures
of the Group. As at 31 December 2022, the facilities
guaranteed by the Group to the joint ventures were utilised
to the extent of approximately RMB933,272,000 (31
December 2021: RMB659,885,000).

Gemdale Properties and Investment Corporation Limited
THHEEERRAA

BEEEH

MR2022F12A31H  AEEKREABERLREARE
1,665,680,0007T(2021 512 A31H : ) 718 &E Y
B FHEE - DLERRAEERL ZEBTER

FREE

(a)

R2022F 128318 » BhiRTTIRIBIZBER
FTREEYECZER  AEBERETZER
THREER - RBERENR  BZFERE
RIBBHIE  AEBEBETRRITEEZS
BRERZ REBERBASEREMNFE R
S MASBBERETRNEESEDE
ZEEBREREERRE - NEBZERB
REREEEIZIBERE BRGBEHAYE
EEZBXFTRIBFERL AL - R2022F 12
A31B  AEEHAGLEZERAARE
4,199,480,0007C(20214F12 8310 : AR
#3,263,233,0007T) °

BEEZRERZARBETER - I H MW
RERMRFIER - BEME 2 TERFE
HEABAARERIZBEAS - BB RS
B B ZE2022F12A31HIEFEL
B ZFERNVBREKRNETIREE (2021
F12A31H0 : &) -

RAREHRR  BemEBERERE FTAE
Ee2nn AEERAZSSHEBERESR
SEREFESEIT152,376,000 (SR AR
#1,061,240,0007T) (20214128318 : %=
7£.103,500,000 (#H5 M A R#659,885,000
JT)) ° A20224 128318 » AAREEER
Mtk F A EEE AR HECHAARE
933,272,0007T(2021F12 A31H : AR
659,885,0007T) °



Five-year Financial Summary

HFBEHRE

Year ended Year ended Year ended Year ended Year ended
31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December
2022 2021 2020 2019 2018
HBZ2022F  HZ2021%F  HE2020F  HZE2019F  #HZE2018F
12A31H L 12A43181 12H43181t 12H43181tE 12H43181E

FE FE FE FE FE
(Restated)
(In RMB’000) (AARETFTREMN) (&%)
Results ES
Revenue WA 10,302,492 14,184,795 16,884,335 11,710,186 7,079,136
Profit before tax BREL AT R A 3,485,992 5,723,457 7,266,147 7,428,965 4,787,694
Tax A (1,132,504) (1,394,523) (2,431,298) (2,925,314) (2,035,555)
Profit for the year F R F 2,353,488 4,328,934 4,834,849 4,503,651 2,752,139
Attributable to: AT AL REL :
Owners of the Company VAN/NCIEEYEN 2,310,630 4,014,231 4,354,548 3,799,628 2,252,622
Non-controlling interests FEIE R AR R 42,858 314,703 480,301 704,023 499,517
2,353,488 4,328,934 4,834,849 4,503,651 2,752,139
As at As at As at As at As at
31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December
2022 2021 2020 2019 2018
R2022F 720214 120204 20194 20184
(In RMB'000) (AARETTREMN) 12H31H 12A31H 12A31H 2A31H 12A31H
Assets and liabilities BEEHEE
Total assets BELRE 85,986,705 77,078,635 64,407,140 63,169,647 51,987,757
Total liabilities BELE (59,012,850)  (52,489,027)  (43,308,088)  (45,272,201)  (38,117,372)
Total equity (including TG (R
non-controlling interests) R R ER) 26,973,855 24,589,608 21,099,052 17,897,446 13,870,385

Annual Report 2022 3 17



Review of Operations
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LAND BANK

Our management believes that a sizable and quality land bank
is the key for a property developer to succeed in a competitive
property market in the PRC. Our core competitive edge includes
good timing for land acquisition at competitive pricing as well as
professional projects cashflow management.

As at 31 December 2022, the Group’s land bank totalled 19.34
million square meters. Under the Group’s land bank, there were
approximately 20% were located in the four first-tier cities, which
were Beijing, Shanghai, Guangzhou and Shenzhen; 59% were
located in the second-tier cities, including Nanjing, Suzhou,
Hangzhou, Qingdao, Wuhan, Changsha, Chengdu, Xuzhou,
Nanchang, Kunming, Jinan, Tianjin, etc.; and the remaining 21%
were located in the third-tier and other cities.

The Group’s land bank distribution in the PRC and their respective
total GFA of remaining unrecognized for sale/under development/
held for future development are summarised below:

T

BPMERERRE  RERARBENLHRFHER
MEZHRBETRBEFINNEHETISIME K
B RANELOBRFELEBRERAARS S
MERKELWAREREARSREE

MR2022F 124310 » AEEM L EHS $£1,934
EFFHK - REEM L HEBP20% AR -
8 BN RRYIEE— 4R 59% 0 A 4Rk
M(BEER &M M- 58 RE &Y &
#H %M -mE - B ER - REE); HEf21%
R =g R E AT -

AEBEzBATFEES HRESBHT HAER
HE RED HERRAENEEZEMENT

(thousand
Primary intended use square meter)
Project BH of the Project HRTEREAR (FEFX)
South China Region ZHEH
Shenzhen w3
Vision Shenzhen Business Park Phases 1to 3 BT E—Z = Investment properties BEME 350
Shenzhen Kelu R Business Park EXE 86
Guangzhou BM
Guangzhou Huadu North Railway Station EMTERILIETODEE  Residential/Apartment/Commercial A% /28 /#% 400
TOD Project
Guangzhou Zengcheng Zhongxin Project BN R 3IEE Residential/Commercial FE/HE 189
Guangzhou Chuangjing BEMES Business Park EXE 148
Hengli Island Project in Nansha District, BIEYPERESIEE  Residential/Apartment/Office/ FxE/RE/ 129
Guangzhou Commercial W/ mE
Guangzhou Zengcheng 116 Project B35 116 1BE Residential/Commercial FE/HE 76
Guangzhou World Style BNES&E Residential F=x 73

18 Gemdale Properties and Investment Corporation Limited
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(thousand
Primary intended use square meter)
Project R of the Project BRXEREAR (FEFX)
North China Region ZEHEH
Beijing 1x
Beijing kunding plgze: L] Business Park EXE 134
Fangshan Gongchen commercial and FILBRET R Residential/Apartment/Commercial =%,/ A8/ H% 102
residential plot
Daxing Project ABIEH Residential/Commercial Fx/H% 77
Daxing Business Management Project AEHEER Commercial BE 76
Keluotuo HEE Residential (i3 71
Taiyuan AR
Taiyuan Western District of Royall Lake AREFE AR Residential/Commercial/Apartment % /&% /A8 89
Qingdao ES
Qingyin Project FiREH Residential (i 491
Qingdao Guanshan EEEM Residential FE 197
Qingdao Xianggongshan Road BEERAILE Residential/Commercial Fx/H% 73
Qingdao Anhai EBRE Residential/Commercial FE/mE 60
Tianjin PN:
Tianjin Xiging KERE Business Park EXE 170
Tangshan B
Tangshan Fengnan EILEr Residential/Commercial FE/HE 270
Langfang 8%
Langfang Gu'an Project BhE%RIER Residential FE 126
East China Region ZEREW
Shanghai tif
Shanghai Zhifei (Meilan Lake Project) EER(EBHER)  Residential/Commercial/Office %/ HE/ Hog 348
Shanghai Jinta HEeH Business Park EXE 333
Shanghai Hengdong Automobile Battery LBEHTEEN Business Park EX¥E 153
Shanghai Jianshan (Jinshan Industrial Zone) LEEF(£ILT£E)  Residential = 136
Shanghai Zhitao Automobile LEFHEAE Business Park EXE 116
Shanghai Huanyi Technology LEARRE Business Park EX¥E 113
Shanghai Anting HEz= Residential FE 91
Shanghai Pingxin (Qixin Road Project) HSFHE(ERKIEE)  Office/Commercial WA/ EE 87
Shanghai Xuting Real Estate HERTEE Office/Commercial me/ mE 85
Shanghai Junsi Jinting Xianshu Project HBERS=HRRIEE  Business Park EXE 83
Shanghai Wanyun LBES Office/Commercial WOE/mE 77
Shanghai Baoshan Nanda Project HEELEAREE Apartment NE 75
Anyang Project ZHIEE Business Park EXE 68
Shanghai Jinshan Pavilion HESLFH Business Park EX¥E 66
Shanghai Anfusch LBZHE Business Park EXE 56
Shanghai Lier =[] Business Park EXE 56
Yuxin (Shanghai) Electronics wH(EBETF Business Park EXRE 56
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(thousand
Primary intended use square meter)
Project R of the Project BRXEREAR (FEFX)
Hangzhou M
Hangzhou Wuba mMAEN Office FEYN 148
Hangzhou Siheyi mMmaE— Office YN 142
Jindu North Road (Business Management)  &Eit¥E(HE) Commercial [EES 57
Jiangyin Ik
Jiangyin Tianyu Bay TRREE Residential FE 217
Jiangyin Lanyue Yayuan TR B AERT Residential FE 103
Jiangyin Yunlu Shangcheng (C13) TEER E(C13) Residential (i 80
Jiangyin Gelinyunzhe IRENEE Residential Fx 60
Fuzhou M
Fuzhou Shidai Yijing N ER Residential/Commercial Fx /% 73
Kunshan EIl
Kunshan Hesong Lanting Garden ElLAEHTEH Residential F=E 171
Kunshan Orchid Pavilion ElF=HE Residential FE 118
Kunshan Shangbin Garden EWREER(ELES) Residential (i 80
(Legend of the Sea)
Kunshan Feili Lanting Garden EILEEH=EE Residential FE 55
Nanchang 1]
Nanchang Jufan (Xueyuan Road Project) HERM(Z%KEE)  Residential/Office/Apartment FE/Hog/RE 408
Nanchang Jufan (Xueyuan Road Business &8, Commercial [EE 187
Management Project) (BILREEER)
Wenzhou BN
Wenzhou Taohua Island RNTIES Residential FE 200
Wenzhou Cangnan BINEE Residential/Commercial /A% 157
Wenling Pt
Wenling Daxi Town BEXEHE Residential/Commercial FE/HE 116
Wenling City East BEHE Residential/Commercial tE/ B 73
Jiaxing EHE
Jiashan Jinyue Xuefu A= d i) Residential FE 163
Jiaxing Jintong EESH Residential/Commercial FE/H% 130
Jiashan Mingyue Huating RERMER Residential F=x 128
Jiashan Fengjing Lanting EEMERE Residential F=E 104
Jiashan Boyue Yiting EEHMEE Residential FE 67
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(thousand
Primary intended use square meter)
Project R of the Project BRXEREAR (FEFX)
Central China Region ZEHE
Changsha &Y
Changsha Dawangshan Project RYPATIIEE Residential/Apartment/Commercial ~ £%,/ A&/ H% 356
Changsha Duhui Fenghua Project ROHEREER Residential/Apartment/Commercial %,/ A8/ HE 304
Changsha Marriott Hotel Plot RPERBIEHR Residential/Commercial =/ E% 212
Changsha River City ROH TN Residential FE 101
Changsha Xiufeng Yuefu ROFET Residential/Apartment/Commercial ~ £%,/ A% /% 61
Wuhan RE
Wuhan Four Seasons Metropolis REnZFHe Residential/Apartment/Office/ FE/ P8/ 346
Commercial YN Y
Wuhan Changjiang Yijing RERTEE Residential/Apartment/Commercial %,/ 2% /&% 317
Wuhan Lanting Dajing REBT AR Residential/Apartment/Commercial %,/ 2% /&% 290
Wuhan Jinxia RESE Business Park EXE 174
Wuhan Liji North REFEL Residential/Apartment/Shop FE/DE /A 121
Yuehaiwan i g2 Residential/Commercial =/ % 91
Henan A
Henan Luoyang Jukelong AEREEERE Residential/Commercial FE/ B 319
Henan Nanyang Explosion-Proof Factory =l Residential FE 160
Eastern Region RBEH
Nanjing BR
Nanjing Nanbuxincheng AR Residential/Commercial FE /% 499
Nanjing Jiangbei G12 BRI G12 Residential/Apartment/Commercial %,/ 2% /#% 243
Nanjing Weirun (Yaohaumen Project) BHEE(ELMBEE)  Commercial Complex/Office GES=Y- Vg :IN: 216
Nanjing Hexi BHRAH Commercial/Office/Apartment CEVE VN YN 189
Nanjing Fengzihe BREFH Residential/Commercial/Apartment/ =%,/ &%,/ 160
Office IN-J@ N |
Nanjing Liuhe Project BRAAEE Residential FE 158
Nanjing Lishui G08 FHREK GOs Residential/Commercial TE /B 120
Nanjing International Road G74 AREIRE G74 Residential/Commercial T/ HE 102
Nanjing Huarun North BRERL Residential FE 92
Nanjing Yulong Project HRTRER Business Park EXE 67
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(thousand
Primary intended use square meter)
Project R of the Project BRXEREAR (FEFX)
Jinan i
Jinan Beihu BrLH Residential/Commercial fEx/m%/ 605
Resettlement Housing/School ZEE /2R
Suzhou BN
Suzhou Mudu BEMAE Business Park EXE 125
Suzhou Fenhu EM D Residential FE 91
Nantong B
Nantong Rudong Project HRMRIER Residential € 103
Xuzhou M
Xuzhou Qianzhouwo BMNEIAR Residential/Commercial FE/BE¥ 390
Xuzhou Armed Police Detachment MRS B Residential/Commercial/Office/ fFe/ A%/ 388
Hospital LN e
Xuzhou Olympic Sports Centre West RNRER Residential FE 290
Xuzhou Quanrun Park East D plot HMEMARE D #38  Residential FE 137
Xuzhou High Speed Rail J A= Residential F=E 119
Xuzhou Liyuan Community GESEN A Residential = 85
Xuzhou Weirun Sanhuan Road Project HMEE=RE Residential/Commercial FE/EE 61
Yancheng b7
Yancheng Chuanchang River ) Residential/Commercial T/ EE 256
Huai’an R
Huai'an Qinzheng Road Project EREHEIEE Residential/Apartment/Commercial ~ £% /A% /% 262
Huai'an Jinji Huaguanyuan Plot RS EETIMR Residential/Apartment/Commercial ~ £% /A% /% 218
Huai'an Fengdeng Road Project EREERIER Residential FE 127
Southwest Region FEES
Chengdu i
Chengdu Chenghua Industrial Project PR EEE £ IE B Business Park EXE 290
Chengdu Wenjiang Industrial Project AR EXEE Business Park EXE 139
Chengdu Jintang Project REBLERE Residential/Commercial FE/HE 126
Chengdu Zhaojue Temple Project RAREFIEE Residential/Apartment/Commercial ~ £% /A% /#% 109
Chengdu Qingbaijiang Project RAERIEE Residential/Apartment/Commercial %,/ A% /&% 90
Kunming B
Kunming Mingyue ERAN Residential/Commercial FE /% 292
Kunming Yungi Project BRRAEER Residential/Apartment FE/ 1B 126
Kunming Chunshan Mingyue ERELHA A Residential FE 83
Sub-total Yy 17,561
Other projects HitEE
Sub-total iy 1,782
TOTAL st 19,343
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Land acquisitions in 2022

During 2022, the Group acquired 5 land projects in the PRC,
with total planned GFA of approximately 377,000 square meters.
The attributable consideration paid by the Group amounted to
approximately RMB957 million and the average land acquisition
cost of which was approximately RMB3,400 per square meter.

SEGMENT INFORMATION
Properties sales and development

As the overall sales of property in the PRC slowdown rapidly, the
Group achieved an aggregated contracted sales of RMB61,773
million in 2022, with a total contracted sales area of 2,967,200
square meters, both fell by about 21% compared to 2021, and the
average selling price was approximately RMB20,800 per square
meter in 2022, representing a slightly drop of 0.5% compared to
2021.

Property investment and management

The Group is committed to acquiring and sustaining operation
of investment properties in prime locations in economically
developed cities. At present, the Group’s property investments are
mainly in commercial/office projects, business parks and rental
housing, etc.

As of 31 December 2022, the Group, including associates
and joint ventures, had a GFA of 2,540,000 square meters of
investment properties (including sub-leasing properties) in
operation in China, representing a year-on-year increase of 15%.
A tax-included income from rental and related services from these
properties was approximately RMB1.91 billion during the year,
representing a year-on-year increase of 41%.

The Group, including associates and joint ventures, held
commercial office projects in operation with a total GFA of
approximately 920,000 square meters and recorded total revenue
from rental and related services of approximately RMB102 million,
representing a year-on-year increase of approximately 50%.
Among them, the occupancy rate of Phases 1 and 2 of Vision
Shenzhen Business Park in Nanshan District, Shenzhen, reached
95%. At the same time, the occupancy rate of Phase 3 of Vision
Shenzhen Business Park, which commenced operation this year,
was approximately 80%. The enterprises settled in Phase 1, 2
and 3 of Vision Shenzhen Business Park include large listed
companies such as Intel, Nvidia, BASF, Tencent and Flextronics.

Review of Operations
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Meanwhile, the Group, including associates and joint ventures,
held the business parks in operation with a total GFA of
approximately 1,380,000 square meters, a total revenue from
rental and related services was approximately RMB670 million,
representing a year-on-year increase of 42%. The operation of
the delivered business parks was in good condition, and the
average occupancy rate of the business park projects during the
stable operation period reached over 95%. The business park
business has entered the authoritative list of the industry Top 3,
and projects such as Shanghai Minhang Science and Technology
Park, Shanghai Honggiao Science and Technology Park and
Shanghai Data Artificial Intelligence Innovation Park have won the
industry excellent business park awards.

Our rental housing brand “Gemdale Strongberry” has aimed at
providing ideal homes for young urbanites. The rental housing
business recorded revenue of approximately RMB220 million for
the year, representing a year-on-year growth of approximately
11%. During the year, the Group acquired the Nanda subsidized
rental housing project in Baoshan, Shanghai, setting an example
for heavy asset investment in rental housing and promoting the
long-term development of the rental housing business.

The investment properties held by the Group under proposed
construction and under construction will also be put into operation
successively, which will continue to generate stable revenue and
cash inflow to the Group.
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Profiles of Directors and Company Secretary

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Ling Ke (“Mr. Ling”), aged 63, has been an Executive
Director of the Company since November 2012. Mr. Ling joined
Gemdale Corporation in 1992. He is also the Chairman and a
director of Gemdale Corporation and is overall responsible for the
development of Gemdale Corporation, particularly in charge of
strategic planning. Mr. Ling has extensive experience in strategic
planning, property development and corporate management.
He holds a master's degree in Engineering Management from
Zhejiang University, the PRC. He is granted the professional title
of Senior Economist.

Mr. Huang Juncan (“Mr. Huang”), aged 52, has been an
Executive Director of the Company and the Chairman of the Group
since November 2012. He is also the chairman of the Nomination
Committee of the Company. Mr. Huang joined Gemdale
Corporation in 1992. He is also a director and the President of
Gemdale Corporation and is in charge of the whole operation
of Gemdale Corporation. Mr. Huang has extensive experience
in property investment, design, construction, marketing and
corporate management. He holds a bachelor's degree in Civil
Engineering from Tongji University, the PRC and an EMBA from
Wudaokou College of Finance, Tsinghua University.

Mr. Xu Jiajun (“Mr. Xu”), aged 44, has been an Executive
Director and the Chief Executive Officer of the Company since
October 2012 and January 2013, respectively. He is also a
member of the Remuneration Committee of the Company. Mr. Xu
is a director, Senior Vice President and the Board Secretary of
Gemdale Corporation and is responsible for capital management
and strategic planning of Gemdale Corporation. Mr. Xu has
extensive experience in property development, corporate
management and strategic planning. He was awarded the “Gold
medal prize of Board Secretary” by New Fortune Magazine from
2010 to 2016, and was awarded the “Best Board Secretary” by
Money Week in 2011 and 2012. He holds a master's degree in
management from Shanghai University of Finance and Economics,
the PRC.

Mr. Wei Chuanjun (“Mr. Wei”), aged 54, has been an Executive
Director and the Chief Financial Officer of the Company since
October 2012. Mr. Wei joined Gemdale Corporation in 2003. He
is also a director, Senior Vice President and the Chief Financial
Officer of Gemdale Corporation and is responsible for overall
financing and accounting of Gemdale Corporation. Mr. Wei has
extensive experience in property development and financial
management. He is a fellow member of Association of Chartered
Certified Accountants and a member of The Chinese Institute of
Certified Public Accountants. He holds a MBA from Shanghai
University of Finance and Economics, the PRC.
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Profiles of Directors and Company Secretary

ESRAAREBEN

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Loh Lian Huat (“Mr. Loh”), aged 59, has been a
Non-executive Director of the Company since May 2015. Mr.
Loh is the Founder of Silkrouteasia Capital Partners Pte. Ltd.,
an investment advisory, asset management and direct real
estate investments firm. He has over 21 years of experience in
the corporate real estate asset management industry. Prior to
setting-up Silkrouteasia Capital Partners Pte. Ltd. in 2011, Mr. Loh
worked at MEAG Pacific Star Asset Management Pte. Ltd. from
May 2005 to July 2008. From 2000 to 2005, Mr. Loh worked at GIC
Real Estate Pte. Ltd. Mr. Loh was the lead independent director
of OUE Commercial REIT Management Pte. Ltd., the manager
of OUE Commercial REIT, which is listed on the Singapore
Stock Exchange. Mr. Loh holds a Bachelor of Science degree
in Mechanical Engineering from the National Defense Academy,
Japan, and a Master of Science degree in defence technology
from the Royal Military College of Science, United Kingdom. He is
also a patron of the Bukit Timah Citizen Consultative Management
Committee, Singapore, a non-profit organization.

Ms. Zhang Feiyun (“Ms. Zhang”), aged 37, has been a
Non-executive Director of the Company since May 2015. Ms.
Zhang founded Zhongsai Capital in 2013 and served as the
managing partner. She has been the CEO of Meridian and
Saturn Capital since 2022, focusing on the management of
equity investment funds, securities investment funds and
direct investment in projects. The funds she manages include
Guangdong Southern Media Convergence Development
Investment Fund, Shanghai Hengsai Qingxi Venture Capital
Fund, Shanghai Dongshu Venture Capital Fund, Shanghai
Shuyuan Venture Capital Fund and Shanghai Huitai Zhongsai
Private Equity Investment Fund. From 2010 to 2012, Ms. Zhang
worked in the investment securities division of Daiwa Bank and
oversaw investments in the real estate industry. Ms. Zhang holds
a Bachelor degree in journalism from Fudan University in the
PRC, and a Master degree in management from the University of
Edinburgh in the United Kingdom.
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Profiles of Directors and Company Secretary

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Hui Chiu Chung (“Mr. Hui”), aged 75, has been an
Independent Non-executive Director of the Company since
December 2004. He is also the chairman of the Remuneration
Committee as well as a member of the Audit Committee and
the Nomination Committee of the Company. Mr. Hui is currently
the chairman and chief executive officer of Luk Fook Financial
Services Limited. He also serves as a non-executive Director of
Luk Fook Holdings (International) Limited, an independent non-
executive director of Agile Group Holdings Limited, China South
City Holdings Limited, FSE Lifestyle Services Limited, SINOPEC
Engineering (Group) Co., Ltd. and HK Acquisition Corporation,
whose shares are listed on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange.
Mr. Hui has over 51 years of experience in the securities and
investment industry. He had for years been serving as an
independent non-executive director of Hong Kong Exchanges
and Clearing Limited, a council member and vice chairman of
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited, a member of the
Advisory Committee and the Committee on Real Estate Investment
Trusts of the Hong Kong Securities and Futures Commission, a
director of the Hong Kong Securities Clearing Company Limited,
a member of the Listing Committee of the Hong Kong Exchanges
and Clearing Limited, an appointed member of the Securities and
Futures Appeal Tribunal, a member of the Standing Committee
on Company Law Reform, and an appointed member of the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants Investigation Panel.
Mr. Hui was appointed by the Government of the HKSAR a Justice
of the Peace in 2004 and was also appointed a member of the
Zhuhai Municipal Committee of the Chinese People’s Political
Consultative Conference from 2006 to 2017.

Mr. Chiang Sheung Yee, Anthony (“Mr. Chiang”), aged
65, has been an Independent Non-executive Director of the
Company since November 2012. He is also a member of the
Audit Committee and the Nomination Committee of the Company.
Mr. Chiang is a practicing solicitor in Hong Kong. He obtained a
Bachelor of Laws degree at the University of Hong Kong in 1980
and was admitted as a solicitor of Hong Kong in 1983. He was
appointed by the Ministry of Justice in the PRC as an attesting
officer in 1995. Mr. Chiang has substantial experience in foreign
investment and property transactions in the PRC.
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Profiles of Directors and Company Secretary

ESRAAREBEN

Mr. Xia Xinping (“Mr. Xia”), aged 57, has been an Independent
Non-executive Director of the Company since May 2019. He
is also the chairman of the Audit Committee and a member
of the Remuneration Committee of the Company. Currently,
Mr. Xia is a professor at the Department of Finance under the
College of Management of Huazhong University of Science and
Technology and a mentor of doctoral candidates. He served as
the vice director of the College of Management from 2003 to
2011; he also pursued further studies and conducted research
as a visiting scholar at Harvard University in the U.S. as well
as the University of Toronto and HEC Montréal in Canada. Mr.
Xia served as a director of Wuhan HUST High-Tech Group,
a member of the budget committee of Huazhong University
of Science and Technology, and an independent director of
Shenzhen New Nanshan Holding (Group) Co., Ltd. and Fiberhome
Telecommunication Technologies Co., Ltd. He was also an
independent director of Gemdale Corporation (Shanghai Stock
Code: 600383), the controlling shareholder of the Company,
from May 2009 to April 2017 and was the chairman of the
audit committee as well as a member of the remuneration and
assessment committee of the board of directors of that company
from 2010 to 2017. Currently, he serves as an independent
director of Hubei Fuxing Science and Technology Co., Ltd.
(Shenzhen Stock Code: 000926) and an independent non-
executive director of Kindstar Globalgene Technology, Inc. (Hong
Kong Stock Code: 9960). Mr. Xia graduated from Huazhong
Institute of Technology in 1985 with a bachelor’'s degree in
engineering, from Huazhong University of Science and Technology
in 1990 with a master's degree in management, and then from
Huazhong University of Science and Technology in 2000 with a
doctoral degree in management.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. Wong Ho Yin (“Mr. Wong”), aged 47, has been the Company
Secretary of the Company since October 2012. Mr. Wong was
graduated from the Hong Kong University of Science and
Technology with a master’s degree in business administration. Mr.
Wong is a member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants and a CFA charterholder. Before joining the Group,
Mr. Wong worked in several Hong Kong listed/private companies
as chief financial officer. Mr. Wong has more than 25 years of
experience in accounting, treasury, finance and merger and
acquisition.
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Corporate Governance Report

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company (together with its subsidiaries, the “Group”) is
committed to maintain a high standard of corporate governance
with an emphasis on a quality board of directors, sound risk
management and internal control, good principles and practices,
and transparency and accountability to all shareholders of the
Company (the “Shareholders”) in order to optimise return for its
shareholders and enhance the performance of the Group.

The Company has taken steps to adopt the principles and comply
with the code provisions of the Corporate Governance Code (the
“CG Code”) set out in Appendix 14 to the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(the “Listing Rules”). The Board has reviewed periodically the
compliance of the CG Code and is of the view that throughout
the year ended 31 December 2022 (“FY2022"), the Company has
complied with all the applicable code provisions of the CG Code,
except for the following deviations:

1. Under the code provision C.1.6, generally independent
non-executive directors and other non-executive directors
should attend general meetings to gain and develop a
balanced understanding of the views of shareholders. Due
to the outbreak of COVID-19 pandemic in the community,
Mr. Loh Lian Huat, Ms. Zhang Feiyun and Mr. Xia Xinping
were not able to come to Hong Kong to attend the annual
general meeting of the Company on 25 May 2022.

2. Under the code provision F.2.2, the chairman of the board
should attend the annual general meeting. Due to the
outbreak of COVID-19 pandemic in the community, Mr.
Huang Juncan, the chairman of the board, was not able to
come to Hong Kong to attend the annual general meeting
of the Company on 25 May 2022.

8. Under the code provision C.5.1, board meetings should be
held at least four times a year at approximately quarterly
intervals. During the year, only two regular board meetings
were held to review and approve the annual and interim
results of the Company. The Company does not announce
its quarterly results and hence does not consider the
holding of quarterly meetings as necessary. Management
supplied adequate and timely information to the board
and the directors can make further enquiries to the senior
management from time to time to ensure that they are
provided with sufficient information to fulfill their directors’
duties.
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MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS BY
DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers, as amended from
time to time, (the “Model Code”) as set out in Appendix 10 to
the Listing Rules as its own code of conduct regarding securities
transactions by the Directors. Following specific enquiries made
by the Company, all Directors had complied with the required
standards set out in the Model Code throughout the year. The
Model Code also applies to other specified senior management of
the Company.

VISION, MISSION AND CORPORATE VALUES

Our vision and mission are to expand the scale of residential
and commercial businesses, combine industrial properties and
more innovative businesses so as to achieve scale upgrades.
Based on asset management platforms, we aims to realize as
an integrated property developer by focusing on residential,
commercial, industrial projects, and build higher-quality projects
on the basis of respecting urban culture as well as build core
values for the cities with the mentality of intensive cultivation. The
Group regards “dedication, integrity, resolute and aspiration” as
the core corporate values, thereby encouraging employees to
break conventions and continue to pursue excellence. The Group
has set up a comprehensive training system, covering employees
of all levels and the contents of training courses include corporate
culture. The Group believes that this will not only benefit to
the personal and professional development of employees, but
also enhance the operating performance of the Group and are
essential to enhance corporate governance and sustainable
development of the Group.
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Corporate Governance Report

BOARD OF DIRECTORS
Board Composition

As at the date of this report, the Board of Directors of the
Company (the “Board”) currently comprises four executive
Directors, two non-executive Directors (“NEDs”) and three
independent non-executive Directors (“INEDs”). The Directors
during the year and up to the date of this annual report were:

Executive Directors

Mr. Ling Ke

Mr. Huang Juncan (Chairman)

Mr. Xu Jiajun (Chief Executive Officer)

Mr. Wei Chuanjun (Chief Financial Officer)

NEDs

Mr. Loh Lian Huat
Ms. Zhang Feiyun

INEDs

Mr. Hui Chiu Chung
Mr. Chiang Sheung Yee, Anthony
Mr. Xia Xinping

The Directors’ profile is set out on pages 25 to 28 of this annual
report.

Board Independence

The NEDs (including INEDs) have other skills and experience
in areas which help to enhance the board’'s balance of skills,
experience and diversity of perspectives. They play an important
role on the Board, including to, keep up-to-date with the Group’s
business affairs and be involved in scrutinising the Group’s
performance in achieving agreed corporate goals and objectives,
and monitor performance reporting; bring independent judgment
to bear on issues of strategy, policy, performance, accountability,
resources, key appointments and standards of conduct, and
help review some of the Board’s major decisions, the Group’s
performance in relation to corporate goals, and monitor
performance reporting; take the lead where potential conflicts of
interest arise; and serve on the audit, remuneration, nomination
and other governance committees, if invited.
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All NEDs (including INEDs) are appointed with specific term of
not more than three years and each of the Directors has been
appointed with a letter of appointment and subject to retirement
by rotation and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-election at
the annual general meetings in accordance with the Bye-laws of
the Company. Bye-law 84(1) of the Company’s Bye-laws provides
that at each annual general meeting, one-third of the Directors
for the time being (or if their number is not a multiple of three, the
number nearest to but not less than one-third) shall retire from
office by rotation, provided that every Director shall be subject to
retirement at least once every three years. Also, pursuant to Bye-
law 83(2) of the Company’s Bye-laws, any Director appointed to
fill a casual vacancy or as an addition to the existing Board shall
hold office until the next following annual general meeting of the
Company and shall then be eligible for re-election.

The three INEDs represent one-third of the Board. The Board
possesses a mix and balance of skills and experience which are
appropriate for the requirements of the business of the Company.
The opinions raised by the INEDs in Board meetings facilitate
the maintenance of good corporate governance practices. One
of the INEDs has the appropriate professional qualifications or
accounting or related financial management expertise as required
by Rule 3.10(2) of the Listing Rules. A balanced composition
of executive Directors, NEDs and INEDs also generates a
strong independent element on the Board, which allows for an
independent and objective decision making process for the best
interests of the Company and its shareholders.

The Company has received from each INED an annual
confirmation of his independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the
Listing Rules and the Company considers that all the three INEDs
are independent.
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Board Diversity

The Company notes increasing diversity at the Board level
as an essential element in supporting the attainment of its
strategic objectives, sustainable and balanced development. The
Nomination Committee reviews and assesses Board composition
on behalf of the Board periodically and will recommend the
appointment of new Director, when necessary, pursuant to the
diversity policy.

In designing the Board’'s composition, the Board diversity has
been considered from a number of aspects, including but not
limited to gender, age, cultural and education background,
ethnicity, professional experience, skills, knowledge and length
of service. The Nomination Committee will also consider factors
based on the Company’s business model, specific needs
and meritocracy from time to time in determining the optimum
composition of the Board. Profiles of Directors of the Company are
set out on pages 25 to 28 of this annual report.

During the year under review, the Board comprises 9 Directors,
including 4 executive Directors, 2 NEDs and 3 INEDs, thereby
promoting critical review and control of the management process.
Currently, out of 9 Directors, one is female representing 11% of
the Board. The Board will endeavour to at least maintain female
representation on the Board and take opportunities to increase
the proportion of female members over time as and when suitable
candidates are identified. As of 31 December 2022, as set out in
the section headed [2.1 Employment|section from pages 39 to
44 of the Environmental, Social and Governance Report, among
the 3,283 employees (including senior management) of the Group,
the percentages of male employees and female employees are
60% and 40%, respectively. The Board considers that the Group's
workforce (including senior management) are diverse in terms of
gender.
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As at the date of this report, the Board’s composition under major
diversified perspectives was summarized as follows:

Diversity Mix 24 &

10 —
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R
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8 — — — — —
INED 61-70
@ 7
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o . -
S Male B Chinese 1 El 6-10
€ 4 —
3 51-60
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ED
2 — I
41-50
14 I I
31-40 5orless 5FRUT
Y Designation Gender Ethnicity Age group Year of service
B AL 5 Bk FRAEBI RIS
Remarks: i
ED —Executive Director ED-#TESE
NED —Non-executive Director NED—#TESE

INED — Independent Non-executive Director

The Company will review the composition of the Board from
time to time to ensure that the Board possesses the appropriate
and necessary expertise, skills, diversity of perspective and
industrial experience and will consider gender, age, cultural and
educational background, professional qualifications as well as
the needs of the Group’s business in order to meet the board
diversity policy of the Company at all levels so as to enhance the
shareholders’ value.

Role of the Board

The Board is responsible for ensuring continuity of leadership,
development of sound business strategies, availability of
adequate capital and managerial resources to implement the
business strategies adopted, adequacy of systems of financial,
risk management and internal control and conduct of business in
conformity with applicable laws and regulations. All Directors have
made full and active contribution to the affairs of the Board and
the Board has always acted in the best interest of the Group.

The Board strives to foster and promote a desired culture down
to all levels of the Company, and ensure the desired culture
is reflected in the Company’s strategy, business models and
operating practices. It is the ultimate decision making body of
the Company except for matters requiring the approval of the
shareholders in accordance with the Company’s Bye-laws, the
Listing Rules or other applicable laws and regulations.
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In addition, all Directors are provided with monthly updates on
the Company’s performance, position and industry prospects
to enable the Board as a whole and each Director to fulfil their
duties.

Corporate Governance Function

The Board has undertaken and adopted the responsibility for
performing the corporate governance duties pursuant to the CG
Code and is committed to ensuring that an effective governance
structure is in place to continuously review, monitor and improve
the corporate governance practices within the Group with regard
to the prevailing legal and regulatory requirements. The Board
is responsible for performing the corporate governance duties
including:

(a) to develop and review the Company’s policies and
practices on corporate governance;

(b) to review and monitor the training and continuous
professional development of Directors and senior
management;

(c) to review and monitor the Company’s policies and practices
on compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

(d) to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and
compliance manual (if any) applicable to employees and
Directors; and

(e) to review the Company’s compliance with the CG Code
and disclosure in the Corporate Governance Report.

During the year, the Board has reviewed the policies and
practices on the Group's corporate governance, developing a
code of conduct applicable to the Directors and employees,
monitoring the Company’s legal and regulatory compliance and
training and continuing professional development of Directors
and senior management as well as reviewing the Company’s
compliance with the CG Code and the disclosure in this annual
report.

This corporate governance report has been reviewed by the Board
in discharge of its corporate governance function.
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Directors’ Induction and Continuous Professional
Development

On appointment to the Board, each newly appointed Director
receives a comprehensive induction package covering business
operations, policy and procedures of the Company as well as the
general, statutory and regulatory obligations of being a Director
and attends a director’s training hosted by legal adviser to ensure
that he/she is sufficiently aware of his/her responsibilities under
the Listing Rules and other relevant regulatory requirements.

The Directors are regularly briefed on the amendments to or
updates on the relevant laws, rules and regulations. In addition,
the Company has been encouraging the Directors and senior
executives to enrol in a wide range of professional development
courses and seminars relating to the Listing Rules, Companies
Ordinance/Act and corporate governance practices organized
by professional bodies, independent auditors and/or chambers
in Hong Kong so that they can continuously update and further
improve their knowledge and skills.

From time to time, Directors are provided with written materials
to develop and refresh their professional skills. The Company
Secretary also organises and arranges seminars on the latest
development of applicable laws, rules and regulations for the
Directors to assist them in discharging their duties. During the
year, all Directors, namely, Mr. Ling Ke, Mr. Huang Juncan,
Mr. Xu Jiajun, Mr. Wei Chuanjun, Mr. Loh Lian Huat, Ms. Zhang
Feiyun, Mr. Hui Chiu Chung, Mr. Chiang Sheung Yee, Anthony
and Mr. Xia Xinping have received the requisite directors’ training/
training materials for compliance with the requirement of the
code provision C.1.4 of the CG Code on continuous professional
development.

Relationships and Associations Among the Directors

Each of the executive Directors is also a director and/or top
management of Gemdale Corporation, which is the holding
company of Glassy An Limited. Glassy An Limited is the
controlling shareholder of the Company. Gemdale Corporation is
a company established in the PRC with its shares listed on the
Shanghai Stock Exchange (Stock Code: 600383). To the best
knowledge, information and belief of the Company having made
all reasonable enquiries, based on the latest public information
available, the single largest shareholder of Gemdale Corporation
is Sino Life Insurance Co., Ltd. (EB4EBAZSRBBHERA
A]), which is interested in approximately 29.8% of Gemdale
Corporation.
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Save as disclosed above, there was no relationship between
members of the Board (including financial, business, family or
other material/relevant relationship(s)).

RESPONSIBILITY OF DIRECTORS AND MANAGEMENT

The executive Directors and senior management are delegated
with respective levels of authorities with regard to key corporate
strategy and policy and contractual commitments. Management
is responsible for the day-to-day operations of the Group with
divisional heads responsible for different aspects of the business.

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

The Chairman of the Board is Mr. Huang Juncan and the Chief
Executive Officer is Mr. Xu Jiajun. The positions of the Chairman
and the Chief Executive Officer are held by separate individuals
with a view to maintaining an effective segregation of duties
between the management of the Board and the day-to-day
management of the Group’s business and operations.

One of the important roles of the Chairman is to provide
leadership for the Board to ensure that the Board always acts in
the best interest of the Group. The Chairman shall ensure that the
Board works effectively and fully discharges its responsibilities,
and provides leadership for the Board in setting objectives and
strategies, and ensure good corporate governance practices are
enforced as well as all key issues are discussed by the Board
in a timely manner. The Chairman has taken into account, where
appropriate, any matters proposed by the Directors for inclusion
in the agenda. The Chairman has delegated the responsibility
of drawing up the agenda for each board meeting to the Chief
Executive Officer and the Company Secretary. With the support
of the Chief Executive Officer and the Company Secretary, the
Chairman seeks to ensure that all Directors are properly briefed
on issues arising at Board meetings and have received adequate
and reliable information in a timely manner. The Chief Executive
Officer is responsible for leading the management of the
Company in conducting its business affairs in accordance with the
Company’s objectives, and implementing the Group’s strategies
and policies.
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DIRECTORS’ AND OFFICERS’ INSURANCE POLICY

The Company has arranged appropriate and sufficient Directors’
and officers’ liability insurance to indemnify its Directors and
officers against liabilities arising out of legal action on corporate
activities. Such insurance coverage is reviewed and renewed on
an annual basis.

MEETINGS

During the year, the Board met regularly and held 2 meetings. The
attendance record of members of the Board, on a named basis,
at the board meetings and general meetings is set out in the
following table:

EERERAEEERR
ARBEREERSAAELHEEMARHNE
ERER - UREBEERSR/ABRLREEEH X
RUTHMELZEE - ZERBZBEZFEEE
EH B -

23

FR EESTHEHE - BRIT2REH -EF89
FRBRRAG 2 HERRE UASIRTER) SR IAT
JlIER

Number of meetings attend/held

HEBITERRE
Board Meetings Annual General Meeting
EEEeR RRAERE

Executive Directors HITESE
Mr. Ling Ke A 2/2 0/1
Mr. Huang Juncan =EERERE 2/2 0/1
Mr. Xu Jiajun BRRERE 2/2 0/1
Mr. Wei Chuanjun BEEELE 2/2 0/1
NEDs FHITES
Mr. Loh Lian Huat Loh Lian Huat’t 4 2/2 0/
M.Zhang Feiyun REEBLZ T+ 2/2 0/1
INEDs BYFHITES
Mr. Hui Chiu Chung AR R 2/2 1/1
Mr. Chiang Sheung Yee, Anthony B #& L4 2/2 1/1
Mr. Xia Xinping B EE 2/2 0/1
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Sufficient notices of not less than 14 days for regular board
meetings and reasonable notice for non-regular board meetings
were given to all Directors so as to ensure that each of them
had an opportunity to attend the meetings. Board papers will
be given to the Board at least three days before the date of the
Board meeting by the company secretary of the Company (the
“Company Secretary”). Management is also invited to join Board
meetings, where appropriate. If potential conflict of interest
involving a substantial shareholder or a Director arises which the
Board has determined to be material, the matter will be dealt with
by a physical board meeting rather than a written resolution, and
the interested parties are required to abstain from voting. The
Directors attend meetings in persons or through other means of
electronic communication in accordance with the Bye-laws of the
Company.

The Company Secretary shall attend all regular board meetings to
advise on corporate governance and statutory compliance, when
necessary. Directors shall have full access to information on the
Group and are able to obtain independent professional advice
whenever deemed necessary by the Directors. The Company
Secretary shall prepare minutes and keep records of matters
discussed and decisions resolved at all board meetings and
general meetings.

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established three board committees, namely,
the audit committee, remuneration committee and nomination
committee, each of which has the specific written terms of
reference that will be reviewed and updated periodically where
necessary. Copies of minutes of all meetings and resolutions of
the board committees are kept by the Company Secretary and are
open for inspection at reasonable time on reasonable notice by
any Director. Each board committee is required to report to the
Board on its decisions and recommendations, where appropriate.
Each board committee is also provided with sufficient resources
to perform its duties and has access to independent professional
advice at the Company’s expense according to the Company’s
policy, if necessary.

Audit Committee

The audit committee of the Board (the “Audit Committee”)
has been established with specific written terms of reference
stipulating its authorities and duties in compliance with Rule 3.21
of the Listing Rules, which are available on the websites of the
Company (www.gemdalepi.com) and HKExnews (www.hkexnews.
hk). The Audit Committee currently comprises Mr. Xia Xinping
(Chairman), Mr. Hui Chiu Chung and Mr. Chiang Sheung Yee,
Anthony. All Audit Committee members are INEDs.
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The role and function of the Audit Committee are, among other
things, responsible for assisting the Board to ensure objectivity
and credibility of financial reporting, including interim and final
results, and that the directors have exercised the care, diligence
and skills prescribed by law when presenting the Group’s results
to the shareholders. The Audit Committee is also responsible
for assisting the Board to ensure effective risk management and
internal control systems of the Group are in place and good
corporate governance standards and practices are maintained
within the Group and to monitor the internal and external audit
functions and to make relevant recommendations to the Board to
ensure effective and efficient operations and reliable reporting.
The functions of the Audit Committee will be reviewed regularly
by the Board and amended from time to time, as and when
appropriate, in order to ensure compliance with the applicable
code provisions of the CG Code (as amended from time to time).
The Company has various internal control procedures to ensure
that all continuing connected transactions will be conducted in
compliance with the Listing Rules.

During the year, the Audit Committee held 2 meetings with the
senior management, of which were joined by the external auditors.
The attendance record of the committee members, on a named
basis, at these meetings is set out in the following table:

ERZEGZACKBEAR (HThef) HHES
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Number of meetings attend/held

Members of Audit Committee ERZEEHE HERITEBRRE
Mr. Xia Xinping EH¥EEE 2/2
Mr. Hui Chiu Chung FrERFR 2/2
Mr. Chiang Sheung Yee, Anthony BEEEE 2/2

The following is a summary of the work performed by the Audit
Committee and its recommendations made to the Board during
the year:

(a) reviewing (i) the annual results of the Company for the
year ended 31 December 2021 (“FY2021") and (ii) the
interim results of the Company for the 6 months ended 30
June 2022 and ensuring the full, complete and accurate
disclosure in the aforesaid financial statements pursuant to
the accounting standards and other legal requirements for
presenting the same to the Board for approval;
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(b) proposing the re-appointment of external auditors for
FY2022;

(c) reviewing the audit fee proposal for FY2022 for auditors of
the Company to perform audit services and other special
corporate projects;

(d) reviewing the external audit plan for FY2022;

(e) reviewing the report on monitoring of risk management and
internal control systems of the Group during the year and
the overall effectiveness of the Company’s internal audit
function;

(f) reviewing the adequacy of resources, qualifications and
experience of the staff and the accounting and financial
reporting matters; and

(9) reviewing the connected transactions and continuing
connected transactions of the Group for FY2021.

All issues raised by the Audit Committee have been addressed by
the management. The work and findings of the Audit Committee
have been reported to the Board. During the year, there were no
issues brought to the attention of the management and the Board
that required disclosure in this annual report.

Remuneration Committee

The remuneration committee of the Board (the “Remuneration
Committee”) has been established with specific written terms of
reference stipulating its authorities and duties, which are available
on the websites of the Company (www.gemdalepi.com) and
HKExnews (www.hkexnews.hk). The Remuneration Committee
currently comprises Mr. Hui Chiu Chung (INED and Chairman
of the committee), Mr. Xia Xinping (INED) and Mr. Xu Jiajun
(executive Director).

The role and function of the Remuneration Committee are as
follows:

(a) to make recommendations to the Board on the Company’s
policy and structure for all Directors’ and senior
management’s remuneration and on the establishment
of a formal and transparent procedure for developing
remuneration policy;
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to review and approve the management’s remuneration
proposals with reference to the Board’s corporate goals
and objectives;

to determine, with delegated responsibility, the remuneration
packages of individual executive directors and senior
management (including salaries, bonuses, benefits in kind,
and the terms on which they participate in any share or
other incentive scheme and any provident fund or other
retirement benefit scheme) taking into consideration
salaries paid by comparable companies, time commitment
and responsibilities and employment conditions elsewhere
in the group;

to make recommendations to the Board on the remuneration
of non-executive Directors;

to review and approve compensation payable to executive
Directors and senior management for any loss or
termination of office or appointment to ensure that it is
consistent with contractual terms and is otherwise fair and
not excessive;

to review and approve compensation arrangements relating
to dismissal or removal of Directors for misconduct to
ensure that they are consistent with contractual terms and
are otherwise reasonable and appropriate;

to ensure that no director or any of his/her associates is
involved in deciding his/her own remuneration;

to exercise such other powers, authorities and discretions,
and perform such other duties, of the Board in relation
to the remuneration of the executive directors and senior
management as the Board may from time to time delegate
to it, having regard to the CG Code set out in Appendix 14
to the Listing Rules (“CG Code”); and

in exercising its power, authorities and discretions and
performing its duties, to take full account of the CG Code
and the Listing Rules.
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During the year, the Remuneration Committee held 1 meeting. The
attendance record of the committee members, on a named basis,
at this meeting is set out in the following table:

SRERRE

FA - HFHEESRTIRERE - TEEKEHFZX
ik Zrosk (AT 2 BAIRIA IR

= A%

Number of meetings attend/held

Members of Remuneration Committee FMZEEERE HiE BITEERRE
Mr. Hui Chiu Chung AR 1/1
Mr. Xia Xinping B TrsE 11
Mr. Xu Jiajun RRELE 11

The following is a summary of the work performed by the
Remuneration Committee and its recommendations made to the
Board during the year:

(a) reviewing and determining the bonus payment of the
senior management for FY2021 and their annual salary for
FY2022;

(b) reviewing and determining the bonus payment of the
executive Director(s) for FY2021; and

(c) proposing the Directors’ fee for FY2022.

The Board defined that the senior management of the Company
comprises the Executive Directors, the Chief Executive Officer and
the Chief Financial Officer. Details of the Directors’ remuneration
for the year are set out in note 10 to the consolidated financial
statements contained in this annual report.

Nomination Committee

The nomination committee of the Board (the “Nomination
Committee”) has been established with specific written terms
of reference stipulating its authorities and duties, which are
available on the websites of the Company (www.gemdalepi.com)
and HKExnews (www.hkexnews.hk). The Nomination Committee
currently comprises Mr. Huang Juncan (Chairman of the Board
and the committee), Mr. Hui Chiu Chung (INED) and Mr. Chiang
Sheung Yee, Anthony (INED).

The Nomination Committee shall consider the following criteria,
procedures and process in evaluating and selecting candidates
for directorship. These provisions constitute the Nomination Policy
of the Company.
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Selection Criteria

(a)

(b)

reputation, integrity and accomplishment;

qualifications including professional qualifications, skKills,
knowledge and experience that are relevant to the
Company’s business and corporate strategy;

willingness to devote adequate time and effort to discharge
duties as a member of the Board;

diversity in all its aspects, including but not limited to
gender, age, cultural and educational background,
ethnicity, professional experience, skills, knowledge and
length of service;

such other perspectives appropriate to the Company’s
business or as suggested by the Board.

retiring Directors are eligible for nomination by the Board
to stand for re-election at a general meeting. For those
who have served as INEDs for a period of nine consecutive
years standing for re-election, the Nomination Committee
will consider the independence of such Director for
nomination by the Board to stand for election at a general
meeting and state the reasons in the circular to the
Shareholders for the re-election; and

candidate(s) will be asked to submit the necessary
personal information, together with their written consent to
be appointed as Director(s) for the purpose of or in relation
to their standing for election as Director(s).

Nomination Procedures

The Nomination Committee will recommend to the Board for
the appointment of a Director in accordance with the following
procedures and process:

(a)

44

The Secretary of the Nomination Committee shall call a
meeting of the Nomination Committee, and put forward the
nomination(s) of candidate(s) from Board members, if any,
for consideration by the Nomination Committee;
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The Nomination Committee may adopt any process it
deems appropriate in evaluating the suitability of the
candidates, such as interviews, background checks, and
third party reference checks, etc.;

The proposed candidate(s) will be asked to submit the
necessary personal information and biography for the
Nomination Committee’s consideration;

The Nomination Committee may request candidate(s)
to provide additional information and documents, if
considered necessary;

Upon considering a candidate suitable for the directorship,
the Nomination Committee will hold a meeting and/or by
way of written resolutions to, if thought fit, approve the
recommendation to the Board for appointment;

The Board may arrange for the selected candidate to be
interviewed by the members of the Board and the Board
will thereafter deliberate and decide the appointment as
the case may be; and

The Board shall have the final decision on all matters
relating to its recommendation of candidates to stand for
election at any general meeting.

The role and function of the Nomination Committee are as follows:

(a)

to review the structure, size and composition (including the
skills, knowledge, experience and diversity of perspectives)
of the Board at least annually and make recommendations
on any proposed changes to the Board to complement the
Company’s corporate strategy;

to identify individuals suitably qualified to become Board
members and select or make recommendations to the
Board on the selection of individuals nominated for
directorships;

to review the Board diversity policy and any measurable
objectives for implementing such Board diversity policy
as may be adopted by the Board from time to time and to
review the progress on achieving the objectives; and to
make disclosure of its review results in the annual report of
the Company annually;

to assess the independence of INEDs; and

to make recommendations to the Board on the appointment
or re-appointment of Directors and succession planning
for Directors, in particular the chairman and the chief
executive officer.
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During the year, no Nomination Committee meeting was held.
The Nomination Committee would review the structure, size
and composition (including the skills, knowledge, experience
and diversity of perspectives) of the board as well as the
Board diversity policy from time to time and would make
recommendations on any proposed changes to the Board to
complement the Company’s corporate strategy. During the year,
the proposed re-election of the retiring directors was approved
by the Board and approved by shareholders at the annual
general meeting of the Company. Besides, in order to assess
the independence of the INEDs, the Company has received the
annual confirmation letter of independence from each INED in
accordance with Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules, and believes that
all three INEDs are independent.

COMPANY SECRETARY

The Company Secretary is responsible to the Board for ensuring
that board procedures are followed and that the Board is fully
briefed on all legislative, regulatory and corporate governance
developments and that it has regard to them when making
decisions and would also facilitate induction and professional
development of directors. The Company Secretary is also directly
responsible for the Group’s compliance with the continuing
obligations under the Listing Rules, Codes on Takeovers and
Mergers and Share Buy-backs, Companies Ordinance, Securities
and Futures Ordinance and other applicable laws, rules and
regulations.

Mr. Wong Ho Yin, who was appointed as a full-time company
secretary of the Company, reports to the Board and is responsible
for, inter alia, providing updated information on the Listing Rules
and regulatory and corporate governance developments to
all Directors from time to time. During the year, Mr. Wong has
complied with Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules and taken no less
than 15 hours of relevant professional training.

ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT
Financial Reporting

The Board considers that, the Group has applied the appropriate
accounting policies that are consistently adopted and made
judgements/estimates that are reasonable and prudent in
accordance with the applicable Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards, as issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants when it prepared the financial statements. The
publication of the financial statements of the Group is also in a
timely manner.
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The Board, having made appropriate enquiries, is of the view
that the Group has adequate resources to continue in operational
existence for the foreseeable future and that, for this reason, it is
appropriate for the Group to adopt the going concern basis in the
preparation of the financial statements.

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing
the financial statements which give a true and fair view and are
in compliance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards,
statutory requirements and other regulatory requirements. As
at 31 December 2022, the Board was not aware of any material
misstatement or uncertainties that might put doubt on the Group’s
financial position or continue as a going concern. The Board
endeavours to ensure a balanced, clear and understandable
assessment of the Group’s performance, position and prospects
in financial reporting.

A statement by the external auditors of the Company relating to
its reporting responsibilities on the financial statements of the
Company is set out on pages 92 to 100 of this annual report.
There are no material uncertainties relating to events or conditions
that may cast significant doubt upon the Company’s ability to
continue as a going concern.

External Auditors’ Remuneration

For the year, the fees paid/payable to the Company’s external
auditors in respect of audit and non-audit services provided to the
Group are set out below:
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5,537 4,350
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Risk Management and Internal Control

The Board is responsible for continuing overseeing and improving
the Group’s risk management and internal control systems to
safeguard the Company’s assets and shareholders’ interests.
These systems were closely reviewed for their effectiveness
periodically by the Audit Committee. The Audit Committee assists
the Board in fulfilling its oversight and corporate governance roles
in the Group’s financial, operational, compliance, risk management
and internal control, and the resourcing of the finance and internal
audit functions. The legal department of the Group together
with the internal audit department of the holding company of
the Company (“Internal Audit Departments”) is delegated to
assist the Board and/or the Audit Committee in the review of the
effectiveness of the Group’s risk management and internal control
systems on an ongoing basis. The Directors through the Internal
Audit Departments are kept regularly apprised of significant risks
that may impact on the Group’s performance. The internal audit
function is independent of the operating businesses of the Group.

The Internal Audit Departments would review the effectiveness
and adequacy of the risk management and internal control
procedures, and the findings will be provided to the Audit
Committee to assist them in performing their periodic reviews. The
Audit Committee enquiries with the management from time to time
to ensure that they are well informed for reviewing the internal
control procedures.

The Group has in place an organisational structure with
defined lines of responsibility and authority delegation. There
are established policies and procedures for financial planning
and budgeting; for information and reporting systems; for
assessment of risk; and for monitoring the Group’s operations and
performance. The information systems in place are designed to
ensure that the financial information reported and all other data
collected is up to date and reliable. In addition, the Company will
engage independent consultants to conduct review of the risk
management and internal control system of the Group as and
when necessary. The Board is responsible for approving and
overall reviewing internal control policy while the responsibility of
day-to-day assessment and management of operational risks lies
with the management.
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The systems and internal control are designed to manage, rather
than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business objectives so
as to help safeguard the Group's assets against fraud and other
irregularities and can only provide reasonable and not absolute
assurance against material misstatement or loss. In addition, it
should provide a basis for the maintenance of proper and fair
accounting records and assist in the compliance with relevant
rules and regulations.

During the year, the Internal Audit Departments have conducted
an in-depth review over all material measures on risk management
and internal control, including financial, operational and
compliance controls and risk management function covering
the year ended 31 December 2022. The Board also worked with
Audit Committee and the Internal Audit Departments to review the
effectiveness and adequacy of the Group's risk management and
internal control system, adequacy of resources, qualifications and
experience of staff of the Company’s accounting and financial
reporting function and have concluded that they satisfied the
effectiveness and adequacy as well as in compliance with our
policies.

The Group considered that internal control should be adapted to
the size, scope of business, competitiveness and risk level of the
Group and adjusted in a timely manner followed by circumstances
change. The Group will continue to improve the risk management
and internal control system, standardise its implementation, and
strengthen internal supervision and inspection so as to promote
the sustainable development of the Group.

Anti-corruption Policy

The Group strongly adheres to the principles of openness,
responsibility, honesty and integrity. All employees are required
to strictly obey individual and professional ethics. The legal
department regularly organizes integrity training for staffs, warning
all staff to abide by laws and uphold integrity in their conducts.
The internal audit department regularly pushes anti-corruption
and compliance publicity on the Company’s intranet. All new staff
are required to participate in integrity/anti-corruption training as a
mandatory training course.
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The Group requires employees to report conflicts of interest on a
regular basis to prevent their private interests from interfering with
the interests of the Group in any way, and stipulate that they must
not assume any position involving conflicts of interest, and cannot
participate in any decision involving conflicts of interest. When
clues that may involve corruption matters are obtained through
receiving whistle-blowing reports or internal audits, the legal
department will organize special investigations and issue special
investigation reports. If employees have any questions about such
matters as anti-corruption, integrity and business ethics, they
can also consult the legal department by phone and email for
appropriate guidance.

In addition, the Group also attaches great importance to corporate
ethics in the process of business dealings with suppliers.
The Group has extensively signed integrity agreements with
cooperative units (suppliers), specifying the code of conduct
that employees of the Group and suppliers must abide by when
dealing with each other.

Whistleblowing Policy

The Group formulated and promulgated the “Gemdale Group
Supervision and Management System”, “Gemdale Group Internal
Control Evaluation and Audit System”, and “Gemdale Group
Accountability System” as the basis for investigating and handling
fraud and other irregularities and disciplines.

The Group has clear whistle-blowing mechanisms and channels,
including a 24-hour hotline. Upon receiving a case of whistle-
blowing, the independent legal department will immediately
conduct preliminary verification and evaluation to form a
preliminary assessment and further handle the case according
to the preliminary assessment. If the case proves to be valid,
the supervisory staff will conduct a comprehensive and in-
depth investigation by collecting business data and information,
site visits, inquiring the persons concerned and insiders, onsite
verification, summarization, comparison and analysis. The
findings will be reported to the management of the Group, who
will then decide whether to take further legal actions depending
on the nature and impact of the case. In order to ensure the
legal rights of the whistle-blower, the supervisory staff adheres to
confidentiality principles and keeps the contents and progress of
investigation strictly confidential. Close attention will be paid to
the methods of investigation in order not to reveal any information
about the whistle-blower.
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

Procedures for Shareholders to convene a special general
meeting (“SGM”)

Pursuant to Bye-law 58 of the Company’s Bye-laws, registered
holders holding at the date of deposit of the requisition not less
than one-tenth of the paid up capital of the Company carrying
the right of voting at general meetings of the Company shall at
all times have the right, by written requisition to the Board or the
Secretary of the Company, to require a special general meeting
to be called by the Board for the transaction of any business or
resolution specified in such requisition; and such meeting shall
be held within two (2) months after the deposit of such requisition.
If within twenty-one (21) days of such deposit the Board fails to
proceed to convene such meeting, the requisitionists themselves
may do so in accordance with the provisions of Section 74(3) of
the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda.

Procedures for Shareholders to put forward proposals at a
general meeting

Pursuant to the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda, either any
number of the registered Shareholders holding not less than
one-twentieth (5%) of the paid-up capital of the Company
carrying the right of voting at general meetings of the Company
(“Requisitionists”), or not less than 100 of such registered
Shareholders, can request the Company in writing to (a) give to
Shareholders entitled to receive notice of the next annual general
meeting notice of any resolution which may properly be moved
and is intended to be moved at that meeting; and (b) circulate to
Shareholders entitled to have notice of any general meeting any
statement of not more than 1,000 words with respect to the matter
referred to in any proposed resolution or the business to be dealt
with at that meeting.
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The requisition signed by all the Requisitionists may consist of
several documents in like form, each signed by one or more of
the Requisitionists; and it must be deposited at the Company’s
registered office (or head office and principal place of business
in Hong Kong) with a sum reasonably sufficient to meet the
Company'’s relevant expenses, not less than six weeks before the
meeting in case of a requisition requiring notice of a resolution
or not less than one week before the meeting in the case of any
other requisition, provided that if an annual general meeting is
called for a date six weeks or less after the requisition has been
deposited, the requisition though not deposited within the time
required shall be deemed to have been properly deposited for the
purposes thereof.

Procedures for Shareholders to propose a person for
election as a Director

Pursuant to Bye-law 85 of the Company’s Bye-laws, no person
other than a Director retiring at the meeting shall, unless
recommended by the Directors for election, be eligible for election
as a Director at any general meeting unless a notice signed by
a member (other than the person to be proposed) duly qualified
to attend and vote at the meeting for which such notice is given
of his intention to propose such person for election and also a
notice signed by the person to be proposed of his willingness to
be elected shall have been lodged at the head office or at the
registration office provided that the minimum length of the period,
during which such notice(s) are given, shall be at least seven (7)
days and that (if the notices are submitted after the despatch of
the notice of the general meeting appointed for such election) the
period for lodgement of such notice(s) shall commence on the day
after the despatch of the notice of the general meeting appointed
for such election and end no later than seven (7) days prior to the
date of such general meeting.
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Accordingly, if a shareholder of the Company intends to propose
a person other than a Director of the Company for election as a
Director at any general meeting, (i) a notice in writing of his/her
intention to propose such person for election as a Director and (ii)
a notice in writing executed by that person of his/her willingness
to be elected as a director together with (a) that candidate’s
information as required to be disclosed under Rule 13.51(2) of the
Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited, and (b) the candidate’s written consent to
the publication of his/her personal data, must be validly lodged at
the Company’s head office in Hong Kong for the attention of the
Company Secretary no later than seven (7) days prior to the date
of such general meeting.

INVESTOR RELATIONS
Constitutional documents

A new set of Bye-laws of the Company (“Amended and Restated
Bye-laws”) was approved and adopted in substitution for and to
the exclusion of the former bye-laws by the shareholders of the
Company by way of a special resolution at the annual general
meeting on 25 May 2022. The Amended and Restated Bye-laws
became effective from 25 May 2022 and has been published
on the websites of the Company (www.gemdalepi.com) and
HKExnews (www.hkexnews.hk).

The amendments of the former bye-laws of the Company are
mainly to, amongst others, (i) comply with the Core Shareholder
Protection Standards as set out in Appendix 3 of the Listing Rules;
and (ii) incorporate housekeeping amendments while the adoption
of the Amended and Restated Bye-laws was to consolidate all
the above-mentioned amendments and all previous amendments
made. Details were given in a circular of the Company dated 22
April 2022.

Environmental, Social and Governance Report

The Environmental, Social and Governance Report (the “ESG
Report”) has been prepared in accordance with the ESG
Reporting Guide set out in Appendix 27 to the Listing Rules, which
covers ESG issues related to property development, property
investment and management businesses of the Group in Mainland
China from 1 January 2022 to 31 December 2022.
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The ESG Report is available and can be accessed by clicking
“ESG Reports” under “Investor Relations” section on the
Company’s website at www.gemdalepi.com; or browsing through
the HKExnews’ website at www.hkexnews.hk.

Shareholders’ Communication Policy

The Company aims at promoting and maintaining effective
communications with shareholders and investors (both individuals
and institutions) to ensure that the Group’s information is
disseminated to shareholders in a timely manner so as to enable
them to have a clear assessment of our performance. Various
shareholder’'s communication policies have been adopted by the
Company and will be reviewed and fine-tuned on a regular basis
to ensure its effectiveness and timely dissemination of information
to shareholders at all times.

Information shall be communicated to shareholders mainly through
the following communication channels:—

() the Company’s website, including but not limited to, press
releases, announcements, circulars, annual reports and
interim reports; and

(i) annual general meetings and other general meetings.

Extensive information on the Group’s activities and financial
position will be disclosed in the annual reports, interim reports,
announcements, circulars and other corporate communications
which will be sent to shareholders and/or published on the
websites of the Company (www.gemdalepi.com) and HKExnews
(www.hkexnews.hk). Other inside information is released by way
of formal public announcements as required by the Listing Rules
and the provisions in relation to disclosure of Inside Information
under Part XIVA of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter
571 of the Laws of Hong Kong).

The Company also acknowledges that annual general meetings
and various general meetings are valuable forums for the Board to
communicate directly with the shareholders and members of the
Board and the members of various committees are encouraged to
attend and answer questions at these meetings.
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The annual general meeting (“AGM”) of the Company was held
on 25 May 2022. Notice of AGM and related documents were sent
to shareholders at least 21 days before the meeting. Directors
and senior management were present to answer questions
from shareholders. External Auditor also attended the meeting.
Each separate issue was proposed by a separate resolution. All
resolutions were voted on by poll and the poll results were posted
on the Company’s website at www.gemdalepi.com and HKExnews’
website at www.hkexnews.hk on the same day. An amended and
restated Bye-laws of the Company was adopted by shareholders
at the AGM, which is available on the Company’'s website and
HKExnews’ website.

During the year, the Company considered that the shareholders
communication policy was properly implemented and considered
effective.

Enquiries from Shareholders

Shareholders may at any time send their enquiries and concerns
to the Board in writing through the Company Secretary whose
contact details are as follows:

19/F, Central Tower

28 Queen’s Road Central
Central

Hong Kong

Email: hhx@gemdalepi.com

Shareholders may also make enquiries with the Board at the
general meetings of the Company.

In addition, shareholders can contact Tricor Standard Limited, the
branch share registrar and transfer office of the Company in Hong
Kong, if they have any enquiries about their shareholdings or
entitlement to dividend. Relevant contact details are set out under
the “Company Information” section of this annual report.
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The directors of the Company (the “Directors”) present their
report of the Company and the audited consolidated financial
statements of the Company and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) for
the year ended 31 December 2022.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company continues to be investment
holding while the principal activities of the Group are property
development, property investment, property management and
micro-financing business. There have been no significant changes
in the nature of the Group’s principal activities during the year.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The audited consolidated results of the Group for the year ended
31 December 2022 and the financial position of the Group at that
date are set out on pages 101 to 279 of this annual report.

The Board has resolved to recommend the payment of a final
dividend of RMB0.007 (2021: RMBO0.06, equivalent to HK$0.0703
per share) per share for the year ended 31 December 2022,
subject to shareholders’ approval at the forthcoming annual
general meeting of the Company. The proposed final dividend
shall be declared in RMB and paid in Hong Kong dollars. The
notice of the 2023 AGM, together with details of the relevant
closure of register of members of the Company, will be announced
in due course.

No interim dividend was declared and paid during the year.
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DIVIDEND POLICY

The Board has approved and adopted a dividend policy (the
“Dividend Policy”). According to the Dividend Policy, in deciding
whether to propose a dividend and in determining the dividend
amount, the Board shall take into account the following factors:

(a) the financial results of the Group;

(b) overall financial conditions of the Group;

(c) the Group’s capital requirements, cashflows and surplus;

(d) the Group’s forecast over future operations and earnings;
and

(e) any other factors that the Board considers relevant.

The recommendation of dividends by the Company shall be
determined at the sole discretion of the Board and shall be
subject to any restrictions under the Bermuda Companies Act,
the Bye-laws of the Company and any applicable laws, rules and
regulations. Any declaration of annual dividend for the year will
be subject to the approval by the shareholders of the Company.
The Dividend Policy adopted by the Board is intended for the
Company to maintain adequate cash reserves to meet its capital
requirements, fund its future growth and enhance shareholders’
value when dividends are recommended.

The Dividend Policy will continue to be reviewed from time to time
and there can be no assurance that dividends will be proposed or
declared in any particular amount for any given period.

Directors’ Report

EEEWE

IR EBE

SEESCHAERRAREEER ([REBEK]) - BRI
BREHEK BEEEREZERRELEEREEHE
RAZRBUTHERE :

(a) AEREWFBRE:
(b) AEENELIFBRR

(c) ZFEEMNEZHR HAERLBH

(d) ZFEEFEFAZAKREERBN &

(e) EFERA/BEBNEMEMER-

ARABNKREEZERESTENE2EBBERE -
AETARERAERARRNABEIRMAIRAE
HERER - RARROITEEMARE - EEIRE
MEENFERSBFRNRBBRIRILER T AIE
B -EZERMNBREBREEZEREE - AK
NRERFEARSHEARNEEEF R B
FIBREHES  UKRRESKRREE -

IR BERSEE TR T AR - A TREBEE
4 E R ER R EREARES RS -

Annual Report 2022 3 57



Directors’ Report

EEEWRE

BUSINESS REVIEW

A review of the business of the Group during the year, a
discussion on the Group’s performance during the year including
analysis using financial key performance indicators, and future
business development are set out in the Chairman’s Statement
and the Management Discussion and Analysis on pages 4 to 7
and page 8 to 24 of this annual report. The Group’s environmental
policies and performance are set out in the Environmental, Social
and Governance Report which is available and can be accessed
by clicking “ESG Reports” under “Investor Relations” section
on the Company’s website at www.gemdalepi.com; or browsing
through the HKExnews’ website at www.hkexnews.hk.

Major Possible Risks And Uncertainties Facing The Group

The Group'’s financial conditions, results of operations, businesses
and prospects may be affected by a number of risks and
uncertainties. The following are the key risks and uncertainties
identified by the Group. There may be other risks and
uncertainties which are not known to the Group or which may not
be material now but could turn out to be material in the future.

Business Risk

A substantial portion of the operating assets of the Group are
located in the PRC and the Group expects that a material portion
of the revenue will continue to be derived from the operations in
the PRC. The results of operations and prospects are subject, to a
significant degree, to economic, political and legal developments
in the PRC. The economy of the PRC differs from the economies of
most developed countries in many respects, including the extent
of government involvement, the level of development, the growth
rate and government control of foreign exchange. The Group
cannot predict whether changes in the PRC’s political, economic
and social conditions, laws, regulations and policies will have any
material adverse effect on the current or future business, results
of operation or financial condition of the Group.
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Financial Risk

The financial risk management objectives and policies of the
Group are set out in the Management Discussion and Analysis on
pages 8 to 24 of this annual report and note 44 to the financial
statements.

In response to the tightening of macro-economic policies in the
PRC, sharp changes in market competition, and the impact of
the pandemic in recent years, the Group collected the external
risk factors such as the economic situation, industrial policies,
financing environment, market competition, resource supply,
laws and regulations, regulatory requirements, and epidemic
prevention policies as well as the internal risk factors such
as organisational structure, business methods, research and
development, financial situation, business results, and operation
management for conducting risk analysis and evaluation by
adopting a combination of quantitative and qualitative methods for
management to formulate risk response strategies.

In response to the above-mentioned risk factors, the Group
has adopted countermeasures. When formulating development
strategies, the Group reduced industry and market competition
risks to the greatest extent, including (1) subject to compliance
with the disclosure and relevant requirements of “connected
transactions” under the Listing Rules, tapping the value of linkage
with Gemdale Group’s residential and financial businesses, and
through flexible and effective matching of different business
combinations to improve the Company’s profitability; (2) strive
for cooperation with government bodies to conduct market
research and obtain a leading position on the impact of policies
on the market; (3) implement brand strategies to further enhance
the Company’s brand awareness and reputation. In addition,
to avoid the negative impact of the business cycle, the Group
has determined a development strategy that combines urban
complexes, regional centre commercial businesses, community
commercial businesses, business parks, boutique residences and
long-term service apartments to improve our business structure
so as to reduce the impact of market fluctuations due to a single
product and a single operation model. Besides, the Group would
continue to invest and hold high-quality commercial/office/
business park projects in first — and second-tier cities to provide
stable cash flow to enhance risk resistance. The Group will review
and evaluate its internal and external risks to the Group, adjust
our business strategies and management measures in a timely
manner in order to formulate countermeasures as well as evaluate
its impact on the financial status and operating results of the
Group.
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Management will hold meetings from time to time to discuss
industrial and property related policies as
well as tax policies implemented in various cities/regions and

the new government,

will analyse the impact on the Group’s business. Therefore,
management can assess the possible changes in policies in an
early stage so as to formulate appropriate strategies to manage
the risk of policy changes. Besides, management are provided
business/financial analysis report on monthly basis so that
management can have a clear and timely understanding of the
Group’s operating conditions, projects’ progress and capital
requirements so as to identify the potential risks.

Microfinance business

The size, diversity and sources of clients as well as source of
funding of the microfinance business

The Group was involved in a microfinance business and provides
financial services to property buyers and small businesses. As at
31 December 2022, there was a total number of 1,575 customers,
out of which 1,403 were individuals and 172 were corporations,
in the microfinance segment and had made loans amounting to
approximately RMB2.83 billion. Except for the loan with an amount
of approximately RMB2.47 billion which is secured, other loans
are unsecured. The source of funds for the microfinance business
is funded by the internal resources of the Group. During the year,
a total of approximately RMB270 million interest income was
recognised by the Group.

The loan amount of the largest borrower of the Group was
approximately RMB66.9 million, approximately 2.4% of the total
loan receivables and the aggregate loan amount of the five largest
borrowers were approximately RMB270 million, approximately
9.5% of the total loan receivables.

To the best knowledge, information and belief of the Board, all
these borrowers and their respective ultimate beneficial owners
(in the case of corporate clients) are independent of the Company
and its connected persons (as ascribed under the Listing Rules).
The Company has complied with requirements set out in chapter
14 and/or 14A of the Listing Rules when it granted the loans to
each of the borrowers, whose loan(s) was still outstanding as at
31 December 2022.
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Maturity profile of loan receivables

The distribution of the remaining maturity of loan receivables as at
31 December 2022 was as follows:
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Movements in impairment provisions in the year

The Group conducts continuous credit assessments for all clients
not only upon the establishment of business relationships but also
throughout the term of business relationships with the clients.
The assessment focuses on the client’s credit status, financial
status and repayment ability, as well as the business/market
factors which may affect the client’'s source of income or, in the
case of any client being a corporation, performance of the client’s
operations and hence its repayment ability. Besides, the value
of the collateral is assessed annually. When circumstances arise
which might indicate that the Group will not be able to recover
the amount according to the original terms, impairment will be
considered and made.

In the microfinance segment of the Group, the impairment
recognized in the consolidated statement of profit and loss for
year ended 31 December 2021 and 2022 were approximately
RMB31.06 million and RMB30.98 million, respectively. Due to the
downturn in the market environment, the impairment was handled
more cautiously.

The Company adopted the requirements in respect of ECL
assessment set forth in HKFRS 9 issued by the HKICPA in
determining the impairment loss allowance for its loan receivables.
The details of the accounting policies in respect of the impairment
assessment of financial assets are set out in note 23 to the
consolidated financial statements of the Group in the Annual
Report.
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As at 31 December 2022, the allowance for ECLs of loan
receivables are RMB430 million (2021: RMB400 million). The
provision of default rate is 63.6% (2021: 40.9%). The increase
of provision of default rate was mainly taken into account the
uncertainty of the global economic changes. During the year
ended 31 December 2022, the Group recorded bad debts
and written off of loans receivable amounted to approximately
RMB1.99 million.

Key Internal Control

The Group has adopted and followed a series of internal
control procedures to regulate microfinance business to ensure
comprehensive risk management, so as to safeguard the interests
of the Company and its shareholders. The key internal controls
adopted by the Group in terms of credit risk assessment, credit
approval and ongoing monitoring of loan recoverability and loan
collection.

Credit risk assessment

Before granting loans to potential customers, the Group performs
credit assessment and due diligence process to assess the
potential customers’ credit quality individually and defines the
credit limits granted to the borrowers.

The credit assessment and due diligence process encompasses
(i) to obtain personal information for identity verification and
authentication; (ii) to proceed detailed assessment on the credit
history and financial background of the potential customers,
including but not limited to apply from the Credit Reference
Center of the People’'s Bank of China to review the borrower’s
credit report; (iii) to obtain information about the purpose of
loan, repayment plan, and source of funds for repayment; (iv) to
assess the overall risk level of provision of loans; (v) to ensure the
potential customer whether he/she is an independent third party
and not connected with the Group and its connected person(s)
(as ascribed under the Listing Rules) and, if not, make relevant
disclosure under the Listing Rules, if required; and (vi) to assess
other matters as may be considered necessary.
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Loan approval

Based on the results of the credit risk assessment, the finance
department of the relevant subsidiary of the Company will compile
a proposal formulating the key terms of the loan on a case-by-
case basis, including the principal amount, the interest rate
and the tenure, and submit the same to the management of that
subsidiary for review and approval. The interest rate determined
should reflect the risk level for the transaction subject to limits or
requirements under applicable laws.

Ongoing monitoring of loan recoverability

The finance department of the Group is responsible for ongoing
monitoring of the loan portfolio, credit limit of loans, loan
recoverability and collection, identifying potential problems and
recommending mitigating measures. The Group will conduct
regular repayment assessment on the repayment schedule and
the date of payment in order to monitor and determine the risk
level. The Group will request borrowers for provision of any
updated financial information if considered necessary to update
their financial ability, credit risk and assess the loan recoverability.
These exercises are to monitor if any material adverse change
may arise on the financial or legal conditions on the borrowers.

Loan collection

Regarding monitoring the recoverability of the loans, the
Company will quarterly review and monitor the loan repayment
status subsequent to the drawdown of loans to ensure that loan
repayments were punctual and past due accounts were handled
efficiently. When there were past due accounts, the Group would
take actions including reminding call, interview, issue demand
note, discuss the repayment terms or settlement proposals with
the borrowers and, if unsuccessful, legal action would be taken
against the borrowers.
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Relationship With Key Stakeholders

The Group fully understand that employees, customers,
vendors and partners as well as shareholders are the key to our
sustainable and stable development. The Group is committed to
establish a close relationship with our employees, provide high-
quality products and services to our customers, and enhance
cooperation with our vendors and business partners to enable
the Group’s sustainable development for the benefit of the
shareholders of the Company.

Our staff is regarded as the most important resource of the Group.
Hence, the Group has been endeavouring to provide our staff with
a fair and harmonious workplace where individuals with diverse
cultural backgrounds are treated equally. The Group offers a
competitive remuneration package and promotion opportunities
based on employees’ performances. The Group also provides
our staff with regular trainings, including internal trainings and
refresher courses offered by professional organisations, so as
to keep them abreast of the latest development in the market,
industry and various business sectors.

In order to achieve the goal of “providing top-quality products
and services to customers”, the Group adheres to the core values
of “dedication, integrity, resolute and aspiration” in every aspect
of our work. The Group values the feedback from customers
and always try to understand their thoughts through daily
communication, after-sale return visit and customer satisfaction
surveys via our Engineering and Customer Service Department.
In addition, the Group also sets up a customer service hotline to
respond to the feedback and complaints from customers.
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The Group firmly believes that our vendors and business
partners (including contractors) are equally important in building
high-quality development projects. The Group proactively
communicates with our vendors to ensure they are committed to
delivering high-quality and sustainable products and services.
Each contract the Group enters into with our vendors is annexed
to an “Integrity Cooperation Commitment”, in which clearly require
our vendors to strictly comply with our professional ethics set out
by the Group, and clarify various requirements, including but not
limited to compliance with laws and regulations, anti-corruption
measures and other business ethics. The Group effectively
implements the vendor assessment process by conducting
sampling checks, site visits, evaluations on the performance
of contracts, third-party certifications and other measures, to
ensure the performance of our vendors. For vendors who provide
unqualified products/services that do not meet the requirements of
the contract, the Group will impose fines/prohibit the vendor from
bidding in future contracts.

One of the corporate goals of the Group is to enhance corporate
value to its shareholders. The Group is poised to foster business
developments for achieving the sustainability of earnings growth
and rewarding shareholders by stable dividend payouts taking
into account the capital adequacy levels, liquidity positions and
future business expansion needs of the Group.
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Compliance With Laws And Regulations

The principal activities of the Group are property development,
property investment and management as well as micro-financing
business. Compliance procedures and internal control measures
are in place to ensure adherence to applicable laws, rules and
regulations, in particular, those that have significant impact on
the industry, including planning, construction, lease and/or sales,
and property management; any changes in the applicable laws,
rules and regulations affecting our businesses are brought into
attention of relevant employees and relevant operation teams
from time to time. The Group is also committed to safeguarding
the security of personal data. When collecting and processing
such data, the Group complies with the Personal Data (Privacy)
Ordinance and the guidelines issued by the Office of the Privacy
Commissioner for Personal Data. The Group is also subject to
various corporate and administrative requirements under other
laws and regulations such as Companies Ordinance (Cap. 622),
the Bermuda Companies Act, the Listing Rules, Securities and
Futures Ordinance, Codes on Takeovers and Merges and Share
Buy-backs and Employment Ordinance. Through various internal
control and approval procedures that are in place, the Company
seeks to ensure the compliance with these requirements.

During the year, as far as the Company is aware, there was no
material breach of or non-compliance with applicable laws and
regulations by the Group that has a significant impact on the
business and operations of the Group.
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SEGMENTAL INFORMATION

The Group’s consolidated revenue and operating profit/(loss) for
the year by business segment is as follows:

By business segment (consolidated basis):
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FR - AEEREBD B 2HEEWARLLHEN
(BE) T :

Property
Property  investment and Micro-
development management finance Corporate Total
(In RMB’ 000) (MAR¥ETTAEN) NERE  WEREREE MEEH T¥ER BE
Revenue WA 8,907,147 1,128,646 266,699 - 10,302,492
Segment profit/(loss) PEEH /(EB) 2,313,992 2,151,368 144,400 (153,966) 4,455,794
SUBSIDIARIES M B A=

Details of the Company’s principal subsidiaries as at 31 December
2022 are set out in note 46 to the financial statements.

FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and assets and liabilities of the Group
for the past five financial years is set out on page 17 of this annual
report.

SHARE CAPITAL AND SHARE OPTIONS

Details of movements in share capital and share options of the
Company during the year are set out in notes 25(a) and 25(b)(i) to
the financial statements, respectively.

SHARE PREMIUM REDUCTION

Pursuant to a special resolution passed by the shareholders at
the annual general meeting of the Company on 25 May 2022,
an amount of RMB4 billion standing to the credit of the share
premium account was reduced and that of the credit arising
therefrom be transferred to the contributed surplus account of the
Company.
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DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

At 31 December 2022, the Company’s reserves, including the
contributed surplus, available for distribution as dividends
amounted to RMB4,349,832,000 (equivalent to HK$5,129,845,000)
(2021: RMB1,477,747,000 (equivalent to HK$1,576,456,000)).

WARRANTS, OPTIONS OR SIMILAR RIGHTS

Other than the share option schemes of the Company and the
outstanding options granted under such share option schemes as
disclosed in note 25(b) to the financial statements, the Company
had no outstanding warrants, options or similar rights as at 31
December 2022.

DONATIONS

No donations was made by the Group during the year (2021: Nil).

DIRECTORS

The Directors during the year and up to the date of this annual
report were:

Executive Directors

Mr. Ling Ke

Mr. Huang Juncan (Chairman)

Mr. Xu Jiajun (Chief Executive Officer)

Mr. Wei Chuanjun (Chief Financial Officer)

Non-executive Directors (“NEDs”)

Mr. Loh Lian Huat
Ms. Zhang Feiyun

Independent non-executive Directors (“INEDs”)

Mr. Hui Chiu Chung
Mr. Chiang Sheung Yee, Anthony
Mr. Xia Xinping
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According to the Company’s Bye-laws, at each annual general
meeting, one-third of the Directors for the time being (or, if their
number is not a multiple of three, the number nearest to but not
less than one-third) shall retire from office by rotation, provided
that every Director shall be subject to retirement by rotation at
least once every three years.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

No Directors being proposed for re-election at the forthcoming
annual general meeting of the Company has a service contract
with the Company or any of its subsidiaries which is not
determinable by the Company within one year without payment of
compensation (other than statutory compensation).

PROFILES OF DIRECTORS AND COMPANY
SECRETARY

Profiles of Directors and Company Secretary of the Company are
set out on pages 25 to 28 of this annual report.

SHARE OPTION SCHEMES

A share option scheme was adopted by the Company on 20 May
2003 (the “Share Option Scheme 2003”) which expired on 20
May 2013 and another share option scheme was adopted by the
Company on 15 May 2013 (the “Share Option Scheme 2013")
for the purpose of continuing to give incentive to,
remunerating, compensating and/or providing benefits to the
Qualifying Grantees (as defined in the Share Option Scheme
2013) of the Company. Any share options which were granted
under the Share Option Scheme 2003 prior to its expiry shall
continue to be valid and exercisable in accordance with the terms

rewarding,

as set out therein.
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A summary of the Share Option Scheme 2003 and the Share
Option Scheme 2013 (collectively “Share Option Schemes”) is
set out as follows:

Purposes of the Share Option Schemes

The purposes of the Share Option Schemes are to attract and
retain the best quality personnel for the development of the
Company’s businesses, to provide additional incentives to
Directors and employees, etc., and to promote the long term
financial success of the Company by aligning the interests of
option holders to shareholders.

Participants of the Share Option Schemes

Eligible participants of the Share Option Schemes include any
employee or any proposed employee of the Company or any
affiliates (including an officer or Director (whether executive
or non-executive) or alternate Director of the Company or any
affiliate, etc.)

Total number of shares available for issue under the Share
Option Schemes and percentage of issued share capital as
at the date of this annual report

The total number of 12,160,000 share options granted and yet to
be exercised under the Share Option Scheme 2003 were expired
and lapsed on 7 January 2023. Other than that, there were no
outstanding share options granted and yet to be exercised under
the Share Option Scheme 2003.

As at the date of this report, the total number of shares which may
be issued upon exercise of all share options granted and yet to
be exercised under the Share Option Scheme 2013 amounted to
183,587,000.

Under the Share Option Scheme 2013, the Company may further
grant share options to subscribe for 447,610,103 shares of the
Company, representing approximately 2.69% of the total issued
share capital of the Company as at the date of this report.
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Maximum entitlement of each participant under the Share
Option Schemes

The total number of shares issued and to be issued upon exercise
of the options granted (including exercised, cancelled and
outstanding options) to each participant in any 12-month period
must not exceed 1% of the shares of the Company in issue as at
the date of grant unless the same is approved by shareholders in
a general meeting.

The total number of shares issued and to be issued upon exercise
of the options granted to a director, chief executive or substantial
shareholder of the Company, or to any of their respective
associates, are subject to the approval in advance by the INEDs
of the Company, excluding the INED(s) of the Company who is/are
the grantee(s) of the share options. In addition, any share option
(including exercised, cancelled and outstanding options) granted
to a substantial shareholder or an INED of the Company, or to any
of their respective associates, in any 12-month period must not
exceed 0.1% of the shares of the Company in issue as at the date
of grant or with an aggregate value (based on the closing price
of the Company’s shares as at the date of grant) must not exceed
HK$5 million unless the same is approved by shareholders in a
general meeting.

The period within which the shares must be taken up under
an option

The exercise period of the share options granted is determined
by the Board, and commences on a specified date and ends on a
date which is not later than 10 years from the date of grant of the
share options.

The minimum period for which an option must be held
before it can be exercised

1 year

The amount payable on application or acceptance of the
options and the period within which payments or calls
must or may be made or loans for such purposes must be
paid

HK$1 is to be paid by each grantee as consideration for the grant
of options within 28 days from the date of offer.
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The basis of determining the exercise price

The exercise price shall be determined by the Directors, being at
least the highest of:

(a) the closing price of shares as stated in The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”)’s
daily quotations sheet on the date of offer, which must be a
business day;

(b) the average closing price of shares as stated in the Stock
Exchange’s daily quotations sheets for the five business
days immediately preceding the date of offer; and

(c) the nominal value of a Company’s share.

The remaining life of the Share Option Schemes

The Share Option Schemes shall be valid and effective for a
period of 10 years commencing on the respective dates of their
adoption. The Share Option Scheme 2003 expired on 20 May
2013. The Share Option Scheme 2013 which was adopted on 15
May 2013 will expire on 15 May 2023.
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Details of the movements of the share options under the Share
Option Schemes during the year were as follows:
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Number of share options

BEEWT

BREHE
Outstanding Outstanding
as at as at
1/1/2021 Exercised 31/12/2022
(Note 2) during (Note 4)
Year of grant "20215F the year Lapsed 20225
(Note 1) 1A1H (Note 3) during 12A31H
Name and category of grantees REFEH i RAT RERTE the year e RATE
ARAZEERER (H17E1) (Hiat2) (K1£3) RERTH (H17t4)
Independent non-executive
Directors
BYEHITES
Mr. Hui Chiu Chung
FFRRH SR 2013* 3,000,000 - - 3,000,000
Mr. Chiang Sheung Yee, Anthony 2013 2,000,000 = = 2,000,000
BRELE 2013* 3,000,000 - - 3,000,000
2014 3,000,000 - - 3,000,000
8,000,000 = = 8,000,000
Sub-total
Nt 11,000,000 - - 11,000,000
Others (In aggregate) 2013 25,290,000 (15,130,000)3@ - 10,160,000
Hith(&51) 2013* 147,939,000 = = 147,939,000
2014 34,348,000 (7,700,000)3® - 26,648,000
Sub-total
NEE 207,577,000 (22,830,000) - 184,747,000
TOTAL
wme 218,577,000 (22,830,000) - 195,747,000
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Notes: Htat -
1.
Year of Grant Date of grant Exercise period Exercise price Closing price*
R FE L5 b= TR 7B wE
HK$ HK$
BT BT
2013 07/01/2013 07/01/2014 — 06/01/2023 0.550 0.455
2013* 20/05/2013 20/05/2014 — 19/05/2023 0.792 0.780
2014 29/12/2014 29/12/2015 - 28/12/2024 0.440 0.430
# The closing price of the Company’s share quoted on * AR ER (7 R B EE I H B B IE B 38 AT
the Stock Exchange immediately before the date of Bz KB
grant
2. All share options granted have been vested and exercisable 2. HrE R 2 EREE RIERE 8 8924 1 AT
in full in accordance with the vesting period set out in their B HFBRHE S EEBR A TUTE
respective offer letters.
3. (a) The exercise date was 30 May 2022. The closing price 3. (a) 771 A8 520225 H30H - 17 £
of the shares immediately before the date on which the TTIERE IR 1% H B RT K T 18 B8 #0.72
options were exercised was HK$0.72. JT °
(b) The exercise dates were between 19 April 2022 and (b) TTIE A A B2022F4 A 19 HZ 202245
30 May 2022. The weighted average closing price of H30H ° R17REET (€51 H 55T
the shares immediately before the dates on which the B 1B BB 0. 76 7T °
options were exercised was HK$0.76.
4. No share option was granted or cancelled during the year 4. B Z20229F 1231 HiF FEI AR 7785

ended 31 December 2022.
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During the year, the subscription rights attaching to 15,130,000
and 7,700,000 share options were exercised at an exercise price
of HK$0.55 and HK$0.44 per share, respectively. They involved
the issuance of a total of 22,830,000 new ordinary shares of the
Company at a nominal value of HK$0.1 each for a total cash
consideration, before expenses, of HK$11,709,500. The proceeds
from these exercises of share options would be applied for
general working capital of the Group.

Apart from the aforesaid, at no time during the year was the
Company or any of its holding companies, subsidiaries or fellow
subsidiaries a party to any arrangement to enable the directors
and chief executive of the Company to acquire benefits by means
of the acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the Company or
any other body corporate.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SECURITIES

As at 31 December 2022, the following Directors and the chief
executive of the Company had the following interests and short
positions in the shares, underlying shares and debentures of the
Company or any of its associated corporations (within the meaning
of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter
571 of the Laws of Hong Kong) (the “SFO”)) as recorded in the
register required to be kept by the Company under section 352
of the SFO or as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to Part XV of the SFO or the Model Code for
Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model
Code”) under the Listing Rules:
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(a)

76

Long position in the shares and share options of the

Company

(a) RAEXARGERBEREZFA

Approximate

percentage
Total of total
Number of number of  shareholding
share options underlying (Note 4)
Number of  outstanding shares HREZEZ
Name of director Nature of interest shares MATEZ  Notes HER G BABESH
BEEnE BEME R E BREHE A e (Kizt4)
Mr. Ling Ke Beneficial Owner 167,450,000 - 167,450,000 1.01%
ERSE ERBEAA
Mr. Huang Juncan Beneficial Owner 144,460,000 - 144,460,000 0.87%
BERERE BEREAA
Mr. Xu Jiajun Beneficial Owner 126,230,000 - 126,230,000 0.76%
BRRELE ERERAA
Mr. Wei Chuanjun Beneficial Owner 94,150,000 - 94,150,000 0.57%
EEERL BEREAA
Mr. Loh Lian Huat Beneficial Owner 2,000,000 - 2,058,000 0.01%
ERERAA
Interest of spouse 58,000 =
I B
Mr. Hui Chiu Chung Beneficial Owner 2,500,000 3,000,000 2 5,500,000 0.03%
AR L ERBAA
Mr. Chiang Sheung Yee, Beneficial Owner - 2,000,000 1 8,000,000 0.05%
Anthony 3,000,000 2
BRELE ERBEAA 3,000,000 3
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(b)

Notes:

Long

The share options were granted on 7 January 2013,
each with an exercise price of HK$0.55 per share and
a validity period from 7 January 2013 to 6 January 2023
under the Share Option Scheme 2003.

The share options were granted on 20 May 2013, each
with an exercise price of HK$0.792 per share and a
validity period from 20 May 2013 to 19 May 2023 under
the Share Option Scheme 2013.

The share options were granted on 29 December 2014,
each with an exercise price of HK$0.44 per share and a
validity period from 29 December 2014 to 28 December
2024 under the Share Option Scheme 2013.

The percentage shareholding in the Company is
calculated on the basis of 16,609,686,827 shares in
issue as at 31 December 2022.

position in the shares and underlying shares

of the associated corporation of the Company -
Gemdale Corporation

(b)

KBia -
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RARE]ZREE 77 H T35 2022F 12
H31H2E #7717 16,609,686,827
REEEHNE -

REQBREBEESH () ROBRQ
A(&BEE]) 2ROREEBRD ZHR

Approximate percentage
of total shareholding

Name of director Nature of interest Number of shares HRERAE
EEpE EaMrE R EE BHOBEDL
Mr. Ling Ke Beneficial owner 3,808,400 0.08%
&S EmfAaA
Mr. Huang Juncan Beneficial owner 2,065,600 0.05%
"BERBRRE E=EAA
Mr. Xu Jiajun Beneficial owner 1,050,800 0.02%
BRERE EmfAaA
Mr. Wei Chuanjun Beneficial owner 960,100 0.02%

BEEEELE

ESmBEEA
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Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2022, none of the
Directors and the chief executive of the Company had any interest
or short position in the shares, underlying shares and debentures
of the Company or any of its associated corporations (within
the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) as recorded in the register
required to be kept by the Company under section 352 of the SFO
or as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to Part XV of the SFO or the Model Code.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’
SECURITIES

INTERESTS IN

As at 31 December 2022, the following persons (other than a
Director or chief executive of the Company) had the following
interests or short positions in the shares or underlying shares of
the Company as recorded in the register required to be kept by
the Company under section 336 of the SFO:

Long position in the shares of the Company

B EXIRBEES  R20225 128318 AR FE
ERESITHRAEBMERARQ R EE[AEE LR
(EHEREBHFRBESROIEXVED) 2% - HEARS
LERET  BMEREEFRBEEHEIS2ET
BRARRAGFEE LM EAESIAR + iR
BBEEREEFEXVHHZETAERITNG
PDEI R R T Z R ©

TERRREBEZ 2 HER

MR2022F12A31H - L FTAL (RRAREZRER
TERA BB RAR RISk ABRERR (D 8 T 51
RIFES RSN EI36ERENARTETE
FafMziEmsoks

REQARARDZHFR

Approximate
Percentage of
total shareholding

(Note 3)
HREAEZ
Name of shareholder Notes Nature of interest/capacity Number of shares BAES T
REREHE Mzt EmtE 5145 R4 B (H17%3)
Glassy An Limited 7 Directly beneficially owned 6,689,716,983 40.28%
HZBRAT BEERERES
Beacon Limited 2 Directly beneficially owned 4,148,474,322 24.98%
BHERERESR
Notes: Bt -
1. As at 31 December 2022, Glassy An Limited was an indirectly 71, HR2022F 12A31H @ BE AR 7 A% 5%

wholly-owned subsidiary of Gemdale Corporation. Gemdale
Corporation is a company established in the People’s Republic
of China (“PRC”) with limited liability and the A-shares of
which are listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange (Stock Code:
600383). To the best knowledge, information and belief of
the Company having made all reasonable enquiries, based
on the latest public information available, the single largest
shareholder of Gemdale Corporation is Sino Life Insurance Co.,
Ltd., which is interested in approximately 29.8% of Gemdale
Corporation.
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2. As at 31 December 2022, Beacon Limited was a wholly-owned
subsidiary of OUE Limited, whose shares are listed on the
Singapore Stock Exchange (Stock Code: LJ3). OUE Limited
was a subsidiary of Lippo ASM Asia Property Limited, which
was owned as to 50% by HKC Property Investment Holdings
Limited and as to 50% by Admiralty Station Management
Limited. HKC Property Investment Holdings Limited was a
subsidiary of Lippo Capital Limited which was owned as to
60% by Lippo Capital Holdings Company Limited and as to
40% by PT Trijaya Utama Mandiri. Lippo Capital Holdings
Company Limited was beneficially owned by Mr. Stephen
Riady while PT Trijaya Utama Mandiri was beneficially owned
by Mr. James Tjahaja Riady. Admiralty Station Management
Limited was beneficially owned by Mr. Chan Kin.

&, The percentage shareholding in the Company was calculated
on the basis of 16,609,686,827 shares of the Company in issue
as at 31 December 2022.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2022, no other
person had any interest or short position in the shares or
underlying shares of the Company as recorded in the register
required to be kept by the Company under section 336 of the
SFO.

DIRECTORS’ AND CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDER’S
MATERIAL INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS

Each of Messrs. Ling Ke, Huang Juncan, Xu Jiajun and Wei
Chuanjun, all being the executive Directors, is also a director and/
or top management of Gemdale Corporation which is the ultimate
controlling shareholder of the Company and is a connected
person of the Company under the Listing Rules. Therefore, each
of Messrs. Ling Ke, Huang Juncan, Xu Jiajun and Wei Chuanjun
is materially interested in the transactions as disclosed in the
sub-headed “(a) Continuing Connected Transactions” under the
section headed “Connected Transactions” below.
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Save for the transactions as disclosed in the section headed
“Connected Transactions” below and the material related party
transactions as disclosed in note 41 to the financial statements,
there were no other transactions, arrangements or contracts
of significance in relation to the Group’s business to which the
Company’s holding company or any of its subsidiaries or fellow
subsidiaries was a party, and in which a Director or its connected
entities had a material interest (whether directly or indirectly)
subsisting at the end of the year or at any time during the year.

OTHER DIRECTORS’ INTEREST

As at the date of this report, the following Directors were also a
director or an employee of the following companies, each of which
had or was deemed to have an interest or short position in the
shares or underlying shares in respect of equity derivatives of the
Company which would fall to be disclosed to the Company under
the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO:

Name of substantial shareholder

Name of Director of the Company

BRTXIBERS ] —EMERE RS & # &Rk K
TN EBEZERBENRZZI  BEFRERRFA
AR ARRAZERAFTLEZMBRALA
AWMBARY B EMEARRERNEABER
BEERNAEREEEAEaMERRREBEEXN
BMBLZEMRS  RHHAL -

EEHMES

RAREBEH  TIHESTTRUATRARZERTNE

MEARARARBA RN EEBRATETA

ZHBERNEEREBEZES RBEHEMEXVEE2R
BNHREARAARBRE 2 EEHAR

g -

Position in substantial shareholder
of the Company

E=E8 AATEERRER RAEATETERR ZBAL
Mr. Ling Ke Gemdale Corporation S EE Director £F
& Glassy An Limited HEZBR AT Director S
Mr. Huang Juncan Gemdale Corporation S EE Director B5F
=EBEEE

Mr. Xu Jiajun Gemdale Corporation S EE Director BF
RRESLE

Mr. Wei Chuanjun Gemdale Corporation S EE Director 5=

BEEEERLE
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

The Group has entered into the following connected transactions
during the year:

(a)
1.

Continuing Connected Transactions

On 13 December 2021, a property development and
technical services agreement was entered into between
the Company and Gemdale Corporation (the “Services
Agreement”), pursuant to which Gemdale Corporation
agreed to provide property development and technical
services to the Group in relation to certain property
projects of the Group for the year ended 31 December
2022 at the services fee calculated based on 0.6% of the
contracted sales of the Group’s properties receiving such
services from Gemdale Corporation.

Gemdale Corporation is the ultimate controlling shareholder
of the Company and is therefore a connected person
of the Company under the Listing Rules. The Company
set the annual cap for the aggregate amount of services
fee payable pursuant to the Services Agreement at
RMB22,000,000 for the year ended 31 December 2022.

During the year, the aggregate amount of services fee
of approximately RMB19,641,000 was paid to Gemdale
Corporation under the Services Agreement.

On 13 December 2021, an entrusted operation agreement
was entered into between the Company, Beijing Ganglu
Property Management Co., Ltd. (“Beijing Ganglu’, a
subsidiary of the Company, as trustee), Beijing Gemdale
Hongyun Real Estate Development Co., Ltd. (“Beijing
Gemdale”) and Beijing Gemdale, Chaoyang Branch
(together with Beijing Gemdale, as principal) (the
“Entrusted Operation Agreement”), pursuant to which the
principal agreed to engage Beijing Ganglu to manage the
operations of Beijing Gemdale Plaza located in Beijing, the
PRC for and on its behalf for the year ended 31 December
2022 at the entrusted management fee calculated based
on the operating cost for provision of relevant services plus
a margin of 20%.
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Beijing Gemdale is a subsidiary of Gemdale Corporation
and is therefore a connected person of the Company under
the Listing Rules. The Company set the annual cap for
the entrusted management fee receivable pursuant to the
Entrusted Operation Agreement at RMB26,500,000 for the
year ended 31 December 2022.

During the year, an entrusted management fee of
approximately RMB26,400,000 was received from Beijing
Gemdale under the Entrusted Operation Agreement.

On 13 December 2021, a framework agreement was
entered into between the Company and Shenzhen
Gemdale Property Management Ltd. (“Gemdale Property”)
(the “Property Management Framework Agreement”),
pursuant to which Gemdale Property and/or its subsidiaries
and/or its designated affiliated companies under the same
control agreed to provide property management services
during the development stage of the property projects of
the Group for the year ended 31 December 2022 at the
management services fee calculated based on the relevant
costs for provision of the relevant services plus a margin of
10% plus tax.

Gemdale Property is a subsidiary of Gemdale Corporation
and is therefore a connected person of the Company
under the Listing Rules. The Company set the annual cap
for the aggregate amount of management services fee
payable pursuant to the Property Management Framework
Agreement at RMB40,000,000 for the year ended 31
December 2022.

During the year, the aggregate amount of management
services fee of approximately RMB30,430,000 was paid to
Gemdale Property or its subsidiaries/designated affiliated
companies under the same control under the subsidiary
agreement(s) to the Property Management Framework
Agreement.

Gemdale Properties and Investment Corporation Limited
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On 13 December 2021, a framework agreement was
entered into between the Company and Shenzhen Gemdale
Building Project Co., Ltd. (“Gemdale Building”) (the
“Framework System Installation Agreement’), pursuant
to which Gemdale Building agreed to provide certain
intelligent system project services for the various property
projects of the Group for the year ended 31 December
2022 at the project fees calculated based on the relevant
cost for provision of relevant services plus a margin of
1.25% plus tax.

Gemdale Building is a subsidiary of Gemdale Corporation
and is therefore a connected person of the Company under
the Listing Rules. The Company set the annual cap for
the aggregate amount of project fees payable pursuant
to the Framework System Installation Agreement at
RMB86,000,000 for the year ended 31 December 2022.

During the year, the aggregate amount of project fees
of approximately RMB14,342,000 was paid to Gemdale
Building under the subsidiary agreement(s) to the
Framework System Installation Agreement.

On 13 December 2021, a tenancy framework agreement
was entered into between the Company and Gemdale
Corporation (the “Tenancy Framework Agreement”’),
pursuant to which, the Company (as landlord) will lease
certain premises in Vision Shenzhen Business Park
located in Shenzhen, the PRC to Gemdale Corporation, its
subsidiaries and/or its associated companies. Designated
floors will be determined in accordance with individual
lease contracts otherwise agreed.

The Company set the annual cap for the aggregate amount
of the rent and property management fee receivable
pursuant to the Tenancy Framework Agreement at
RMB35,000,000 for the year ended 31 December 2022.

During the year, the aggregate amount of the rent and
property management fee of approximately RMB20,603,000
was received from Gemdale Corporation, its subsidiaries
and/or its associated companies under the Tenancy
Framework Agreement.
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On 23 December 2021, a framework agreement was
entered into between Shenzhen Xinchengtian Construction
Engineering Co., Ltd. (“Shenzhen Xinchengtian”, a
subsidiary of Gemdale Corporation) and the Company
(the “Decoration Services Framework Agreement”’),
pursuant to which the Company (as principal) agreed to
engage Shenzhen Xinchengtian (as trustee) to provide
decoration services for certain property projects developed
by the Company and its subsidiaries for three years
commencing from 1 January 2022 to 31 December 2024 at
the decoration fee of fitting out works calculated based on
the relevant costs for provision of relevant services plus a
margin of about 7% to 15%.

The Company set the annual caps for the aggregate
amount of the decoration fee payable pursuant to the
Decoration Services Framework Agreement at RMB100
million, RMB200 million and RMB300 million for the
three years ending 31 December 2022, 2023 and 2024,
respectively.

During the year, the aggregate amount of the decoration
fee of approximately RMB14,806,000 was paid to Shenzhen
Xinchengtian under the subsidiary agreement(s) to the
Decoration Services Framework Agreement.

On 4 December 2019, a framework agreement was
entered into between Guangzhou Guangdian Real Estate
Development Group Co., Ltd. (“Guangzhou Guangdian”),
which is owned as to 76% by the Company, and Gemdale
Corporation (the “Financial Consulting Framework
Agreement”), pursuant to which Gemdale Corporation
(as trustee) agreed to provide financial advisory and
consultation services to Guangzhou Guangdian (as
principal) and/or its subsidiaries, joint ventures and
associated companies for their property projects’ funding
activities for three years commencing from 1 January 2020
to 31 December 2022 at a maximum rate of 1% per annum
over the facility amount obtained by Guangzhou Guangdian
and/or its subsidiaries, joint ventures and associated
companies.
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(b)

The Company set the annual caps for the aggregate
amount of the financial consultancy fee payable by
Guangzhou Guangdian pursuant to the Financial Consulting
Framework Agreement at RMB70 million, RMB50 million
and RMB50 million for the three years ending 31 December
2020, 2021 and 2022, respectively.

During the year, the aggregate amount of the financial
consultancy fee of approximately RMB40,328,000 was paid
by Guangzhou Guangdian to Gemdale Corporation under
the subsidiary agreement(s) to the Financial Consulting
Framework Agreement.

Annual review of the continuing connected
transactions

In accordance with Rule 14A.55 of the Listing Rules, the
INEDs had reviewed the continuing connected transactions
as contemplated under the (i) Services Agreement, (ii)
Entrusted Operation Agreement, (iii) Property Management
Framework Agreement, (iv) Framework System Installation
Agreement, (v) Tenancy Framework Agreement, (vi)
Decoration Services Framework Agreement and (vii)
Financial Consulting Framework Agreement (collectively,
the “2022 Continuing Connected Transactions”) which
were subsisting during the year and confirmed that the
2022 Continuing Connected Transactions had been entered
into:

(i) in the ordinary and usual course of business of the
Group;

(i) on normal commercial terms; and

(iii) according to the relevant agreements governing the
2022 Continuing Connected Transactions on terms
that are fair and reasonable and in the interests of
the Company’s shareholders as a whole.

(b)
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The Company’s auditors were engaged to report on the
Group's 2022 Continuing Connected Transactions in
accordance with Hong Kong Standard on Assurance
Engagements 3000 (Revised) “Assurance Engagements
Other Than Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial
Information” and with reference to Practice Note 740
“Auditor’s Letter on Continuing Connected Transactions
under the Hong Kong Listing Rules” issued by the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. The
auditors have issued an unqualified letter containing their
findings and conclusions in respect of the 2022 Continuing
Connected Transactions disclosed above by the Group in
accordance with Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules. A copy
of the auditors’ letter has been provided by the Company
to the Stock Exchange.

Save as disclosed above, none of the material related party
transactions as disclosed in note 41 to the financial statements
for the year constituted discloseable non-exempted connected
transaction or non-exempted continuing connected transaction
under the Listing Rules.

To the extent of the above material related party transactions
constituting connected transactions as defined in the Listing
Rules, the Company had complied with the relevant requirements
under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules during the year.

DIRECTORS’ INTEREST IN COMPETING BUSINESS

During the year and up to the date of this annual report, Mr. Ling
Ke, Mr. Huang Juncan, Mr. Xu Jiajun and Mr. Wei Chuanjun, all
being executive Directors, held shareholding or other interests
and/or directorships in companies/entities within the group of
Gemdale Corporation. Gemdale Corporation mainly focuses
on residential property development and participates in large-
scale urban complex/commercial projects in the top 50 cities (by
population/economic scale) in the PRC.

The Board also includes two NEDs and three INEDs whose views
carry significant weight in the Board’'s decisions. Therefore the
Board is independent from the board of directors/governing
committees of Gemdale Corporation and none of the above-
mentioned Directors can personally manage the Board. The
audit committee of the Company, which consists of three INEDs,
meets regularly to assist the Board in reviewing the financial
performance, risk management and internal control, and
compliance systems of the Group.
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Further, each of the above-mentioned Directors is fully aware of,
and has been discharging, his/her fiduciary duty to the Company
and has acted and will continue to act in the best interest of the
Company and its shareholders as a whole. Therefore, the Group
is capable of carrying on its businesses independently of, and at
arm’s length from, the businesses of such companies/entities in
which Directors have declared interests.

Save as disclosed above, so far as the Directors are aware, none
of the Directors nor their respective close associates had any
interest in any business, which competes or may compete, either
directly or indirectly, with the business of the Group.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Pursuant to the Company's Bye-laws, every Director shall be
entitled to be indemnified out of the assets of the Company
against all losses or liabilities which he/she may sustain or incur in
or about the execution of the duties of his/her office or otherwise
in relation thereto.

The Company has arranged sufficient directors’ and officers’
liability insurance coverage for the Directors and officers of the
Group throughout the year.

ARRANGEMENT TO PURCHASE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed under the section headed “Share Option
Schemes” above, at no time during the year was the Company, or
any of its holding company, subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries a
party to any arrangements to enable the Directors of the Company
to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in, or
debentures of, the Company or any other body corporate.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Save for disclosed under the section headed “Share Option
Schemes” above, no equity-linked agreements were entered into
by the Group, or existed during the year.
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MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of
the whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company
were entered into or existed during the year.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

For the year, the five largest suppliers and the largest supplier of
the Group accounted for approximately 16.3% and 4.2% of the
total value of the Group’s purchases respectively.

The aggregate revenue attributable to the Group’s five largest
customers and the largest customer accounted for approximately
1.0% and 0.4%, respectively, of the Group’s revenue.

At no time during the year did the Directors, their associates or
any shareholders (which, to the best knowledge of the Directors,
own more than 5% of the Company’s issued share capital) had
any beneficial interests in these suppliers or customers referred to
above.

RETIREMENT BENEFITS SCHEME

Details of the Group’s retirement benefits scheme are set out on
page 156 of this annual report.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY'’S LISTED SECURITIES
Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries had purchased,

sold or redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities on the
Stock Exchange during the year.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s
Bye-laws or the laws of Bermuda, being the jurisdiction in which
the Company was incorporated.
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EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICY

As at 31 December 2022, the Group had approximately 3,300
(2021: 3,900) employees. Salaries of employees are maintained
at competitive levels while bonuses may be granted on a
discretionary basis with reference to the Group’s performance
as well as the individual's performance. Other employee benefits
include mandatory provident fund, housing provident fund,
insurance and medical insurance, subsidised educational and
training programmes as well as employee share option schemes.

The emoluments of the Directors are determined by the
Remuneration Committee and the Board with reference to the
Directors’ duties and responsibilities as well as the Company’s
remuneration policy.

BANKING FACILITIES WITH COVENANTS RELATING
TO SPECIFIC PERFORMANCE OF CONTROLLING
SHAREHOLDER

In accordance with the requirements under Rule 13.21 of the
Listing Rules, which existed
during the year ended 31 December 2022 and up to the date
of the annual report and included conditions relating to specific
performance of the controlling shareholder of the Company are as
follows:

the details of loan facility(ies),

(a) On 4 March 2020, the Company was granted a two-year
term loan facility of HK$500 million. The loan facility was
withdrawn on 6 March 2020, with maturity date of 7 March
2022. The loan is for the purpose of financing the general
corporate funding of the Group. The loan was repaid
before the due date.

(b) On 19 June 2020, the Company was granted a two-year
term loan facility of US$90 million. The loan facility was
withdrawn on 23 June 2020, with maturity date of 22 June
2022. The loan is for the purpose of providing funds for the
general corporate requirements of the Group. The loan was
repaid before the due date.
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Pursuant to the facility letter of the above facilities, among other
things, Gemdale Corporation, the ultimate controlling shareholder
of the Company, shall remain as the single largest shareholder
of the Company and/or maintain management control of the
Company before the final maturity date of the facilities. Otherwise,
it may constitute an event of default under the facility letters and
the facilities may become immediately due and payable.

DISCLOSURE PURSUANT TO RULE 13.51B(1) OF
THE LISTING RULES

Pursuant to Rule 13.51B of the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited, the
changes in information of Directors of the Company subsequent to
the date of the 2022 Interim Report are set out below:

Mr. Loh Lian Huat, a non-executive Director of the Company, have
step down as the lead independent director of OUE Commercial
REIT Management Pte. Ltd., the manager of OUE Commercial
REIT, which is listed on the Singapore Stock Exchange.

Ms. Zhang Feiyun, a non-executive Director of the Company, has
been appointed as the CEO of Meridian and Saturn Capital.

Mr. Hui Chiu Chung, an INED of the Company, was appointed
as an INED of HK Acquisition Corporation. Lifestyle International
Holdings Limited, of which Mr. Hui was an INED, has cancelled its
listing status in 2022.

Save for the information disclosed above, there is no other
information required to be disclosed pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1) of
the Listing Rules.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information publicly available to the Company and
within the knowledge of the Directors as at the date of this annual
report, the Company has maintained the prescribed public float
under the Listing Rules.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

Details of the Corporate Governance Report are set out on pages
29 to 55 of this annual report.

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE
REPORT

The Environmental, Social and Governance Report is available
and can be accessed by clicking “ESG Reports” under “Investor
Relations” section on the Company’s website at www.gemdalepi.com;
or browsing through the HKExnews’ website at www.hkexnews.hk.

AUDITORS

Ernst & Young will retire and, being eligible, offer themselves for
re-appointment. A resolution for their re-appointment as auditors
of the Company will be proposed at the forthcoming annual
general meeting of the Company.

For and on behalf of the Board of
Gemdale Properties and Investment Corporation Limited

Mr. Huang Juncan
Chairman

Hong Kong, 28 March 2023
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To the shareholders of Gemdale Properties and Investment
Corporation Limited
(Incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Gemdale
Properties and Investment Corporation Limited (the “Company”)
and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”)
set out on pages 101 to 279, which comprise the consolidated
statement of financial position as at 31 December 2022, and
the consolidated statement of profit or loss, the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income, the consolidated statement
of changes in equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows
for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial
statements, including a summary of significant accounting
policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a
true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the
Group as at 31 December 2022, and of its consolidated financial
performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then
ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA") and have been properly
prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the
Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial
Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Group
in accordance with the HKICPA’s Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the
audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our
opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on
these matters. For each matter below, our description of how our
audit addressed the matter is provided in that context.

We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the Auditor’s
responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial
statements section of our report, including in relation to these
matters. Accordingly, our audit included the performance of
procedures designed to respond to our assessment of the risks
of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements.
The results of our audit procedures, including the procedures
performed to address the matters below, provide the basis for
our audit opinion on the accompanying consolidated financial
statements.
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Key Audit Matter
BAEETEE

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
BMNETFT N EERRENSE

Estimation of fair value of investment properties

As at 31 December 2022, investment properties (including
completed investment properties, investment properties
under construction and right-of-use assets classified as
investment properties) measured at fair value amounted to
approximately RMB16,218 million, with the corresponding
fair value gain of approximately RMB1,272 million
recognised in the statement of profit or loss. The valuation
process is inherently subjective, and dependent on a
number of estimates, such as reversionary rental value,
vacancy rate and yield rate. The Group engaged external
valuers to perform valuation of the investment properties.
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Relevant disclosures are included in notes 3 and 15 to the
financial statements.
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We performed the following procedures in relation to the
estimation of fair value of investment properties:

evaluating the competence, capabilities and
objectivity of the valuation experts engaged by
the Group, and obtaining an understanding of the
work of the valuation experts;

With the assistance from our internal valuation
experts, assessing the data used as inputs for
the valuation, such as reversionary rental value,
vacancy rate and yield rate, and evaluating major
assumptions and methodologies adopted in the
valuation of investment properties held by the
Group; and

considering the adequacy of disclosures in the
financial statements.
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Key Audit Matter
BAEETEE

B M B

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
BMNETT N EERRENEE

Recognition of revenue from sales of properties

During the year, the Group recognised revenue from
sales of properties amounted to RMB8,907 million. The
recognition of revenue from sales of properties requires
management to make judgement in assessing the timing
when the performance obligation has been satisfied.
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Management inspected the contract terms and determined
that revenue from the sales of properties is recognised to
which the Group expects to be entitled in exchange for
transferring properties to a customer, at the point in time
when control of the assets is transferred to the customer,
generally on delivery of the properties.
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Relevant disclosures are included in notes 3 and 5 to the
financial statements.
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We performed the following procedures in relation to the
recognition of revenue from sales of properties:

. inspecting contracts, on a sample basis, and
assessing the Group’s accounting policies,
including the determination of timing of revenue
recognition, with reference to the requirements of
the prevailing accounting standards;

° evaluating the design, implementation and
operating effectiveness of key internal controls
which govern revenue recognition;

o inspecting the underlying contracts, bank-in slips
for settled balances, construction completion
certificates and delivery of properties on a
sample basis, and assessing whether the related
revenue had been recognised in accordance with
the Group's revenue recognition policies; and

° evaluating the adequacy of the disclosures
included in note 5 to the financial statements.
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Key Audit Matter
BAEETEE

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
BMNETFT N EERRENSE

Determining whether the acquisition of subsidiaries
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constituted a business combination

For the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group obtained
control over Xuzhou Weifa Corporation Management
Consultation Company Limited* (“Weifa”) and Wuhan
Jinyue Xinhanhe Real Estate Company Limited* (“Jinyue”),
which were engaged in property development in Mainland
China. Weifai and Jinyue then became subsidiaries of
the Group and the transactions were accounted for as
business combination.
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Management concluded the above transactions as
business combination instead of acquisition of assets
because the acquired set of assets and activities included
inputs and substantive processes that together significantly
contributed to the ability to create outputs. The acquired
entities had operation teams before the acquisition. Such
conclusion depends on significant judgement made by
management.
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Relevant disclosures are included in notes 3 and 35 to the
financial statements.

RS ESRN P BRKRMEIRI5 -

*

For identification purpose only

Gemdale Properties and Investment Corporation Limited
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We assessed management’s judgements in determining
whether the acquisition constituted a business
combination. We obtained evidence about whether the
acquired set of assets and activities from the related
entities included inputs and substantive processes
that together significantly contributed to the ability
to create outputs. We also obtained the transaction
documents and reviewed the terms and conditions
of the transactions. Furthermore, we reviewed the
financial statements of acquired companies prior to the
acquisition dates.
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OTHER INFORMATION INCLUDED IN THE ANNUAL
REPORT

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises the information
included in the Annual Report, other than the consolidated
financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and,
in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially
inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our
knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed,
we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other
information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing
to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation
of the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair
view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance,
and for such internal control as the directors determine is
necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due
to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
of the Company are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability
to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters
related to going concern and using the going concern basis of
accounting unless the directors of the Company either intend to
liquidate the Group or to cease operations or have no realistic
alternative but to do so.

The directors of the Company are assisted by the Audit Committee
in discharging their responsibilities for overseeing the Group’s
financial reporting process.

B M B

FHRANEMER

BERAESHHEMENAR - HBEMBRETH
REBRANER - BFEEFES BRI REMN
ZEENRE

BB GAMBRRNELL NREEMER - &,
PRI HRFEMEMBREAEANEZES -

FABMESEEMBRENET - RANEETREH
HEMEM > AUBREF  EEEMERNTE HR
BMBBRRIBRMAEETBETATHENOBRTE
BEAREBHEUTFEERHERBMABER 2R
BAERITHIE  MREMARSEMCERAFES
RERRL - BAFTEHREZFE - EENE - R
2B ERIHRE

EERGREMBHRRARNEL

BERRESARARBEEEGHMASEMNEE
MBHRERMNMNEFERAAGINBRERERAREE
MABNEEMBRER  LETEERRFTEZA
BRI - AEAR A MBS HR AR BT 7 E BN IKFF
SRR M BB EASARRERAL -

g

EREGEMBEHRERE - BEAREEAAN &
SEFELENRE)  TEBEBRBERTRERSE
REEMNEBE  UREAKELERSTER
BRIE BERRIEFAEN BEREBRUFLE
2 HHEEMERNERTE -

= AR =
EE =B

EtRZ Bl BERAREEETRE -
SENMBREERE -

Annual Report 2022 3 97



Independent Auditor’s Report
B TR

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to
issue an auditor’'s report that includes our opinion. Our report is
made solely to you, as a body, in accordance with section 90 of
Bermuda Companies Act 1981, and for no other purpose. We do
not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other
person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is
not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with
HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably
be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken
on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of
the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud
or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive
to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The
risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting
from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as
fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

. Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to
the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose
of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
Group’s internal control.

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and
related disclosures made by the directors.
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Independent Auditor’s Report

o Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of
the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the
audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty
exists related to events or conditions that may cast
significant doubt on the Group's ability to continue as a
going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty
exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate,
to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the
audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the
Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

° Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content
of the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial
statements represent the underlying transactions and
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

o Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities
within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated
financial statements. We are responsible for the direction,
supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain
solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in
internal control that we identify during our audit.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
B TR

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we
have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence and to communicate with them all relationships
and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate
threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the
audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current
period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these
matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes
public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare
circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be
communicated in our report because the adverse consequences
of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public
interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is Chan Ching Man.

Ernst & Young

Certified Public Accountants
27th Floor, One Taikoo Place
979 King’s Road, Quarry Bay
Hong Kong

28 March 2023
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss

mEBEER

Year ended 31 December 2022

HZE20220FE12 A31AILEE

2022 2021
20224 20214
Notes RMB’ 000 RMB’000
Kt AR¥T AREFT

Revenue WA ) 10,302,492 14,184,795
Cost B (7,965,803) (11,300,766)
Gross profit EAH 2,336,689 2,884,029
Direct operating expenses HELERX (1,693,638) (2,032,637)
Other income and gains HAa WA KB 5 1,122,608 2.402,813
Changes in fair values of investment properties R&EWE 2z AAEE 15 1,436,986 1,464,248
Changes in fair values of financial URARBEEZEMEEZ 40,847 165,319

assets at fair value ANIRE-X))
Administrative expenses THRFAX (200,381) (172,938)
Other charge HEMER 7 (598,125) =
Finance costs % ER 6 (1,116,494) (868,578)
Share of profits and losses of: 4G &g

Joint ventures XN 1,600,549 1,197,829

Associates /N 556,951 683,372
Profit before tax R 5 AT A 8 3,485,992 5,723,457
Tax 1A 9 (1,132,504)  (1,394,523)
Profit for the year AEE G F 2,353,488 4,328,934
Attributable to: AT AL, -

Owners of the Company ZIN/NCIEST N 2,310,630 4,014,231

Non-controlling interests IR AR R 42,858 314,703

2,353,488 4,328,934

Earnings per share attributable to PA/NCIESY S DN

owners of the Company AT

- Basic (RMB) —ER(ARETT) 11 0.1392 0.2425

— Diluted (RMB) — 88 (ARKET) 11 0.1390 0.2413
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income

SeEZHEWRER

Year ended 31 December 2022
HE2022612A31BILFE

2022 2021
2022%F 20214
RMB’ 000 RMB’000
AR¥T ARBEFTT
Profit for the year N E F 2,353,488 4,328,934
Other comprehensive (loss)/income Hip2m (B518), Wk
— Other comprehensive (loss)/income that may  — AIAEREKSEHHAETIER 2
be reclassified to profit or loss in subsequent Hiz2m (EE), W
periods
Exchange differences: B 4 B 4
Exchange differences on translation of MEBINERS 2B R ZERE (1,313,881) 369,363
foreign operations
Share of exchange differences on JBIEE &N RIMEIGINET 257,728 (35,014)
translation of foreign operations of ZENH ZRE
joint ventures
Net other comprehensive (loss)/income that may RIAFZEEEFHHBEEFZZH (1,056,153) 334,349
be reclassified to profit or loss in subsequent 2T (E518) WS F 5
periods
— Other comprehensive income/(loss) that — BT RN ERBREN D EA
will not be reclassified to profit or loss in BamzHEMm2EkE (EB)
subsequent periods
Exchange differences: B 4 B B k4
Exchange differences on translation MEGINETS 2 [E AR 573,666 (205,591)
of foreign operations
Net other comprehensive income/(loss) that AR AR BRESH »BEER 573,666 (205,591)
will not be reclassified to profit or loss in ZHMEmE S (B18) F58
subsequent periods
Other comprehensive (loss)/income for the year, ZANFEEM 2 (E1E), Wz - (482,487) 128,758
net of tax EMBRTIA
Total comprehensive income for the year NEZEZHKELEE 1,871,001 4,457,692
Attributable to: LA AT
Owners of the Company PA/NCIESY =N 1,821,855 4,141,326
Non-controlling interests VAR AR S f 49,146 316,366
1,871,001 4,457,692
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

e PRI R

31 December 2022
H2022F 12 A31H

2022 2021
20224 20214
Notes RMB’ 000 RMB’000
Mt ARBTR ARBFIT

NON-CURRENT ASSETS FRBEE
Property, plant and equipment Mz - BB REE 13 83,657 61,803
Investment properties KEYE 15 16,218,372 14,096,568
Intangible assets B EE 20 6,936 15,164
Right-of-use assets FREEE 14 17,154 21,168
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables TERFRIE -« 12e RE M EUERR 23 208,001 582,392
Investments in joint ventures REERAIZITE 18 19,358,364 18,159,288
Investments in associates REE R A 2 IE 19 6,464,201 4,901,001
Amount due from a related company FEU @8 :E A B IR 32 1,233,465 =
Financial assets at fair value WRARBEHEZEREE 21 1,261,779 1,050,847
Deferred tax assets BIERIBEE 33 1,128,826 989,486
Total non-current assets FRBEELE 45,980,755 39,877,717

CURRENT ASSETS RBEE

Properties held for sale FHEDE 16 5,097,106 3,511,440
Properties under development BREPYE 17 13,413,636 12,090,972
Trade receivables FEUWE Z BRI 22 40,256 36,022
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables TBRRIA « &e REAMERIRR 23 5,284,025 4,327,845
Amounts due from group companies FEW S B A R FIE 32 19,259 30,562
Amounts due from joint ventures and associates  JEUWA & A B KR HE & A BIFE 32 5,791,346 5,401,009
Amounts due from non-controlling shareholders & U 3E3E A% A% SR /1B 32 2,877,287 1,599,916
Prepaid tax SEANE A 635,793 577,207
Restricted cash ZRHIRE 24 794,086 854,063
Deposits, bank and cash balances Tk RITRIR S E5% 24 6,053,156 8,771,882
Total current assets REEEA 40,005,950 37,200,918
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

SEPBIRRE

31 December 2022
R2022F 12 A31H

2022 2021
20224 20214
Notes RMB’ 000 RMB’000
Hiat AR¥T ARBFIT
CURRENT LIABILITIES REBAE
Trade and bills payables ERNESEREEE 27 4,479,705 4,567,428
Advanced receipts, accruals and other payables FEWFIE « EETHRIEE R 28 12,191,951 9,233,526
H e R X
Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings Bt EERTT REME K 30 3,203,482 4,902,939
Lease liabilities HEaE 31 99,395 85,949
Amounts due to group companies FE & B A RFIE 32 2,850,497 566,930
Amounts due to joint ventures and associates EREERE REE R 32 8,176,163 9,841,556
Amounts due to non-controlling shareholders JE S IR PR AR AR 3R F0E 32 1,193,949 308,487
Amount due to a related company JE{S B R B R 32 - 2,984
Tax payable FER IR 2,580,838 2,328,564
Total current liabilities REEEAE 34,775,980 31,838,363
NET CURRENT ASSETS RBEERE 5,229,970 5,362,555
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT LIABILITIES ¥EAERADHER 51,210,725 45,240,272
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES EREBEE
Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings B EERTT R EME K 30 2,794,742 284,387
Lease liabilities HEAE 31 936,157 920,908
Amounts due to group companies APESE NG E ¢ 32 18,365,838 17,766,545
Deferred tax liabilities ERERIERE 33 2,140,133 1,678,824
Total non-current liabilities FREBEBELEHE 24,236,870 20,650,664
NET ASSETS EERE 26,973,855 24,589,608
EQUITY =
Equity attributable to owners of the Company &2 FiGFH AEGEER
Issued capital BEBITRA 25(a) 1,504,813 1,502,930
Reserves i 26 20,890,164 20,236,193
22,394,977 21,739,123
Non-controlling interests FEERBRERER 4,578,878 2,850,485
TOTAL EQUITY R 26,973,855 24,589,608
Mr. Xu Jiajun Mr. Wei Chuanjun
BRRELE BEEELE
Executive Director and Chief Executive Officer Executive Director and Chief Financial Officer
HITEFFTHAES HITEFFYHAEE
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

GERETRER

Year ended 31 December 2022

HZE20220FE12 A31AILEE

2022 2021
2022F 20214
Notes RMB’ 000 RMB’000
s AR®ET T ARBF T
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES REERCRERE
Profit before tax B 15t A ) 3,485,992 5,723,457
Adjustments for: BN BIEELAE
Finance costs I%ER 6 1,116,494 868,578
Bank interest income RITFBIA 5 (32,311) (26,431)
Interest income from a related company BE N R BUA 5 (51,486) (66,674)
Interest income from joint ventures and associates BERA REENRNEHWA 5 (255,596) (255,723)
Interest income from financial assets at fair value UAnBEitEcemEEL 5 (21,545) (14,695)
FLEHA
Gains on disposal of financial assets at fair value HENARBHEZCREE 5 (2,226) (6,705)
Yzs
Net gains on disposal of items of property, plant and HEDE  BERREEEZ 8 (43) (70)
equipment W F
Net gains on disposal of investment properties HEREME 2 W F5 8 - (42,493)
Gains on lease termination RIS 2 M 8 - (2,835)
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment ME - BERREINE 8 23,561 27,424
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FCREEECTE 8 16,357 31,439
Amortisation of intangible assets B EESH 8 8,228 8,228
Impairment of properties held for sale FHEYERE 7 72,720 =
Impairment of properties under development BRAYERE 7 525,405 =
Changes in fair values of investment properties BENME L ARERE) 8 (1,436,986) (1,464,248)
Changes in fair values of investment properties — REME - FRAEEEL 8 164,553 78,696
right-of-use assets DR EEE
Changes in fair values of financial assets at fair value L‘A’Aﬁﬂﬁ%j%Zé‘E%ﬁﬁEZ 8 (40,847) (165,319)
Fair value gain on properties held for sales transferred FHEMEETRAMEL 5 — (10,798)
to investment properties A ERE
Net gains on disposal/deemed disposal of subsidiaries HeE / BRLENBRARZ 5 (20,617) (123,904)
Wi 558
Net gains on disposal/deemed disposal of joint ventures  HE& /REIHEE L AR 2 Mz 5 (34,043) (7,823)
Remeasurement gains on interests previously held in HBARNGE QRIS EER 5 (240,345) =
joint ventures BHHEZ K
Gains on bargain purchase FENEkE 5 (4,061) (1,157,931)
Impairment of receivables, net TEMERTRE - FEE 8 54,351 54,129
Share of profits and losses of joint ventures EhEERAIAE (1,600,549) (1,197,829)
Share of profits and losses of associates NI (556,951) (683,372)
Operating profit before working capital changes BEESEHR LT 1,170,055 1,565,101
Decrease in properties held for sale HFHEMEZRD 1,727,273 3,999,334
Decrease/(increase) in properties under development BREBMEZRD /(3Em) 1,211,848 (877,224)
Decrease in trade receivables, prepayments, EWE SRR - BAFIE ek 3,263,178 5,316,487
deposits and other receivables Hi FEUERIE 2R
Decrease/(increase) in restricted cash BRHRE 2/ /() 59,977 (722,000)
Decrease in trade payables and bills, [ENE SRR ERE « HUEE - (4,733,739) (7,067,410)
advanced receipts, accruals and other payables FEFHRRRIE R BN R 2R
Cash generated from operations KEEBRIGB RS 2,698,592 2,214,288
Taxes paid BAHEIE (560,329) (2,085,696)
Net cash from operating activities REELFAB v HSFE 2,138,263 128,592
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

GERTRER

Year ended 31 December 2022
HE2022612A31BILFE

2022 2021
2022F 20214
Notes RMB’ 000 RMB’000
{0k AR®T T ARBF T
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES REXBRERE
Purchases of items of property, plant and equipment BAYE  BERSHEEE 2R 13 (48,494) (57,519)
Additions/improvements to investment properties REMELR /E 15(a) (588,430) (1,243,434)
Improvements to investment properties - right-of-use REME —ERBEEZNE 15(b) (50,262) (29,288)
assets
Changes in balances with joint ventures and associates ~ EA2 N R KB A Al4haHrz & (1,952,945) 432,165
Changes in balances with non-controlling shareholders BIEER AR R At e 2 B (394,883) 76,720
Changes in balances with related companies HEREN RSB EY (1,236,449) 1,555,950
Net inflow of cash and cash equivalents in respect of the  WHEMB AR ZEE MRS SEER 35 6,370 955,685
acquisition of subsidiaries ZmANFE
Net inflow of cash and cash equivalents in respect of the  BBEWEMBARIKEEEZRE R 458,551 =
acquisition of assets through acquisition of subsidiaries ~ R&HEEH Z RN FE
Net inflow/(outflow) of cash and cash equivalents in HERRRHERB AR RE R 37 43,705 (139,853)
respect of the disposal and deemed disposal of ReEAEBEEZRA/(RL)
subsidiaries FEE
Proceeds from disposal of items of property, plant and HEME  BERSEEEZ 1,468 2,555
equipment FT{S50IA
Proceeds from disposal of investment properties HEREME 2 FEHE - 400,113
Acquisition of financial assets at fair value BANARBEFECEREE (123,592) (514,022)
Proceeds from disposal of financial assets at fair value EENRAEFEZEREEY 5,226 18,856
S sIE
Bank interest received BUERITHE 32,311 26,431
Interest received from a related company BUREREA RIS 51,486 65,086
Interest received from joint ventures and associates BEE AR REEE R RIFE 325,268 389,462
Interest received from financial assets at fair value EHSZLA N EFTECZEHEEZFIE 21,545 14,695
Capital contributions to joint venturess BREIRARA (1,757,157) (3,052,225)
Capital contributions to associates )‘J’(\‘Hﬁf%’&ﬂ RAIA (1,740,358) (758,202)
Return of capital from joint ventures BENTRERE 420,429 832,293
Dividends from joint ventures BRAEERRIRE 592,096 2,259,375
Dividends from associates SRk N i 35N 243,166 290,000
Acquisition of interests in joint ventures WS BN RER = (174,166)
Acquisition of interests in associates W iBEs & N Rl - (113,448)
Proceeds from disposal of interests in joint ventures HEAE AR ZRE ZFBRIE 62,884 174,341
Net cash (used in)/from investing activities REEK (i) FiEzRe 38 (5,628,065) 1,411,570
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

GERETRER

Year ended 31 December 2022
HE2022F12A31HILFE

2022 2021
2022F 20214
Notes RMB’ 000 RMB’000
s AR®ET T ARBF T
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES MEXBHERE
Issue of shares on exercise of share options BRI TR D 25(a)(i) 8,702 43,667
Dividends paid BARE (996,581) (1,326,027)
Interest and other bank charges paid TRMEREMIBITER (1,360,357) (736,859)
Acquisition of non-controlling interests W IR IR AR SR A 2 (256,382) (3,979)
Amounts received from group companies B EEARFIEA 31,248,929 45,088,095
Amounts paid to group companies BAEBARFE (28,995,712)  (42,438,887)
Capital contributions from non-controlling shareholders FEERRAR R AR A A 718,884 79,773
Capital returned to non-controlling shareholders RIEFEER AR ARA - (67,010)
Dividends paid to non-controlling shareholders BRI R S = (333,660)
Amounts paid to non-controlling shareholders [SANERZGE T e - (860,112)
Amounts received from non-controlling shareholders EEESE ST - 211,402
New bank and other borrowings ERITREMER 4,882,938 1,274,746
Repayment of bank and other borrowings BEBITREMER (4,415,926) (676,722)
Payment of lease liabilities YHHERE (132,388) (172,128)
Net cash from financing activities RMEEBMBZRLFE 702,107 82,299
NET INCREASE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS B¢ RBSZEER 2@ HE (2,787,695) 1,622,461
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year FzHReREEEER 8,771,882 7,151,758
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes, net INETE R BB 2 B - 55 68,969 (2,337)
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year FERZBEERREEEER 6,053,156 8,771,882
ANALYSIS OF BALANCES OF CASH AND CASH BERASCEEBEEBRZDN ¢
EQUIVALENTS:
Cash and bank balances Be MIRITHE S 6,045,114 8,738,677
Non-pledged time deposits EIRBE TR 8,042 33,205
Deposits, bank and cash balances as stated in the PEREMBARRRIFIR 2 ER 6,053,156 8,771,882
consolidated statement of financial position RITRINEEH
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year FERZBEERREEEER 6,053,156 8,771,882

Annual Report 2022 £3§ 109



Notes to the Financial Statements

IR MR

31 December 2022
2022912 A31H

2.1

110

CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION

Gemdale Properties and Investment Corporation Limited
(the “Company”) is a limited liability company incorporated
in Bermuda. The registered office of the Company is
located at Victoria Place, 5th Floor, 31 Victoria Street,
Hamilton HM10, Bermuda.

During the year, the principal activity of the Company
was investment holding while the Group was involved
in property development, property investment, property
management and micro-financing business.

The immediate holding company of the Company is Glassy
An Limited, a company incorporated in the British Virgin
Islands with limited liability. In the opinion of the Directors,
the ultimate holding company of the Company is & (5 )
f&% 17 A PR A Bl (“Gemdale Corporation”), which is established
in the PRC with limited liability and whose shares are listed
on the Shanghai Stock Exchange.

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are
disclosed in note 46.

BASIS OF PREPARATION

These financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs”) (which include all Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards, Hong Kong Accounting
Standards (“HKASs”) and Interpretations) issued by
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
(*HKICPA"), accounting principles generally accepted in
Hong Kong and the disclosure requirements of the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance. They have been prepared
under the historical cost convention, except for investment
properties and financial assets at fair value which have
been measured at fair value. These financial statements are
presented in Renminbi (“RMB”) and all values are rounded
to the nearest thousand except when otherwise indicated.

Having considered the loan facility provided by the ultimate
holding company, the Directors are satisfied that the Group
is able to meet in full its financial obligations as they fall
due in the foreseeable future.

Gemdale Properties and Investment Corporation Limited
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2.1

Notes to the Financial Statements

BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)
Basis of consolidation
Subsidiaries

The consolidated financial statements include the
financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as the “Group”) for the year ended
31 December 2022. A subsidiary is an entity (including a
structured entity), directly or indirectly, controlled by the
Company. Control is achieved when the Group is exposed,
or has rights to variable returns from its involvement with
the investee and has the ability to affect those returns
through its power over the investee (i.e., existing rights
that give the Group the current ability to direct the relevant
activities of the investee).

Generally, there is a presumption that a majority of voting
rights results in control. When the Company has, directly or
indirectly, less than a majority of the voting or similar rights
of an investee, the Group considers all relevant facts and
circumstances in assessing whether it has power over an
investee, including:

(a) the contractual arrangement with the other vote
holders of the investee;

(b) rights arising from other contractual arrangements;
and

(c) the Group’s voting rights and potential voting rights.

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared
for the same reporting period as the Company, using
consistent accounting policies. The results of subsidiaries
are consolidated from the date of acquisition, being the
date on which the Group obtains control, and continue to
be consolidated until the date that such control ceases.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive
income are attributed to the owners of the Company and
to the non-controlling interests, even if this results in the
non-controlling interests having a deficit balance. All intra-
group assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and
cash flows relating to transactions between members of the
Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.

2.1
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Notes to the Financial Statements

IR MR

31 December 2022
2022912 A31H

2.1

BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)
Basis of consolidation (continued)
Subsidiaries (continued)

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an
investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there are
changes to one or more of the three elements of control
described above. A change in the ownership interest of a
subsidiary, without a loss of control, is accounted for as an
equity transaction.

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises
(i) the assets (including goodwill) and liabilities of the
subsidiary, (ii) the carrying amount of any non-controlling
interest and (iii) the cumulative translation differences
recorded in equity; and recognises (i) the fair value of the
consideration received, (ii) the fair value of any investment
retained and (iii) any resulting surplus or deficit in profit
or loss. The Group's share of components previously
recognised in other comprehensive income is reclassified
to profit or loss or retained profits, as appropriate, on the
same basis as would be required if the Group had directly
disposed of the related assets or liabilities.

Business combination involving entities under common
control

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the
financial statements of the combining entities or businesses
as if they had been combined from the date when the
combining entities or businesses first came under the
control of the controlling parties.

The net assets of the combining entities or businesses
are recognised at the carrying values prior to the common
control combination.
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2.1

2.2

Notes to the Financial Statements

BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)
Basis of consolidation (continued)

Business combination involving entities under common
control (continued)

The consolidated financial statements include the results
of each of the combining entities or businesses from the
earliest date presented or since the date when combining
entities or businesses first came under the control of
the controlling parties, where this is a shorter period,
regardless of the date of the common control combination.

The comparative amounts in the consolidated financial
statements are presented as if the entities or businesses
had been combined at the previous reporting date or when
they first came under control of the controlling parties,
whichever is shorter.

CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
DISCLOSURES

The Group has adopted the following revised HKFRSs for
the first time for the current year’s financial statements.

Amendments to HKFRS 3 Reference to the Conceptual
Framework
Amendments to HKAS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment:
Proceeds before Intended Use
Amendments to HKAS 37  Onerous Contracts — Cost of
Fulfilling a Contract
Amendments to HKFRS 1,
HKFRS 9, lllustrative
Examples accompanying
HKFRS 16, and HKAS 41

Annual Improvements to
HKFRSs 2018-2020

2.1

2.2

IR R M
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Notes to the Financial Statements

IR MR

31 December 2022
2022912 A31H

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
DISCLOSURES (continued)

The nature and the impact of the revised HKFRSs that are
applicable to the Group are described below:

(a) Amendments to HKFRS 3 replace a reference
to the previous Framework for the Preparation
and Presentation of Financial Statements with a
reference to the Conceptual Framework for Financial
Reporting (the “Conceptual Framework”) issued
in June 2018 without significantly changing its
requirements. The amendments also add to HKFRS
3 an exception to its recognition principle for an
entity to refer to the Conceptual Framework to
determine what constitutes an asset or a liability.
The exception specifies that, for liabilities and
contingent liabilities that would be within the scope
of HKAS 37 or HK(IFRIC)-Int 21 if they were incurred
separately rather than assumed in a business
combination, an entity applying HKFRS 3 should
refer to HKAS 37 or HK(IFRIC)-Int 21 respectively
instead of the Conceptual Framework. Furthermore,
the amendments clarify that contingent assets
do not qualify for recognition at the acquisition
date. The Group has applied the amendments
prospectively to business combinations that
occurred on or after 1 January 2022. As there were
no contingent assets, liabilities and contingent
liabilities within the scope of the amendments
arising in the business combination that occurred
during the year, the amendments did not have any
impact on the financial position and performance of
the Group.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
DISCLOSURES (continued)

(b)

Amendments to HKAS 16 prohibit an entity from
deducting from the cost of an item of property, plant
and equipment any proceeds from selling items
produced while bringing that asset to the location
and condition necessary for it to be capable of
operating in the manner intended by management.
Instead, an entity recognises the proceeds from
selling any such items, and the cost of those items
as determined by HKAS 2 /nventories, in profit
or loss. The Group has applied the amendments
retrospectively to items of property, plant and
equipment made available for use on or after 1
January 2022. Since there was no sale of items
produced prior to the property, plant and equipment
being available for use, the amendments did
not have any impact on the financial position or
performance of the Group.

Amendments to HKAS 37 clarify that for the purpose
of assessing whether a contract is onerous under
HKAS 37, the cost of fulfilling the contract comprises
the costs that relate directly to the contract. Costs
that relate directly to a contract include both the
incremental costs of fulfilling that contract (e.g.,
direct labour and materials) and an allocation
of other costs that relate directly to fulfilling that
contract (e.g., allocation of the depreciation charge
for an item of property, plant and equipment
used in fulfilling the contract as well as contract
management and supervision costs). General and
administrative costs relate directly to a contract are
excluded unless they are explicitly chargeable to
the counterparty under the contract. The Group has
applied the amendments prospectively to contracts
for which it has yet fulfilled all its obligations at
1 January 2022 and no onerous contracts were
identified. Therefore, the amendments did not have
any impact on the financial position or performance
of the Group.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

IR MR

31 December 2022
2022912 A31H

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
DISCLOSURES (continued)

(d) Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2018-2020 sets
out amendments to HKFRS 1, HKFRS 9, lllustrative
Examples accompanying HKFRS 16, and HKAS 41.
Details of the amendment that is applicable to the
Group are as follows:

° HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments: clarifies the
fees that an entity includes when assessing
whether the terms of a new or modified
financial liability are substantially different
from the terms of the original financial
liability. These fees include only those paid
or received between the borrower and the
lender, including fees paid or received
by either the borrower or lender on the
other’s behalf. The Group has applied the
amendment prospectively from 1 January
2022. As there was no modification or
exchange of the Group’s financial liabilities
during the year, the amendment did not
have any impact on the financial position or
performance of the Group.
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2.3

Notes to the Financial Statements

ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS

The Group has not applied the following new and revised
HKFRSs, that have been issued but are not yet effective, in

these financial statements.

Amendments to HKFRS 10

and HKAS 28 (2011)

Amendments to HKFRS 16

HKFRS 17

Amendments to HKFRS 17

Amendment to HKFRS 17

Amendments to HKAS 1

Amendments to HKAS 1

Amendments to HKAS 1
and HKFRS Practice
Statement 2

Amendments to HKAS 8

Amendments to HKAS 12

Sale or Contribution of
Assets between an Investor
and its Associate or Joint
Venture®

Lease Liability in a Sale and
Leaseback?

Insurance Contracts’

Insurance Contracts’®

Initial Application of HKFRS
17 and HKFRS 9 -
Comparative Information®

Classification of Liabilities as
Current or Non-current (the
2020 Amendments”)?

Non-current Liabilities with
Covenants (the ‘2022
Amendments”)?

Disclosure of Accounting
Policies’

Definition of Accounting
Estimates’

Deferred Tax related to
Assets and Liabilities
arising from a Single
Transaction'
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31 December 2022
2022912 A31H

2.3

118

ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(continued)

1

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1
January 2023

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1
January 2024

No mandatory effective date yet determined but
available for adoption

As a consequence of the 2022 Amendments, the
effective date of the 2020 Amendments was deferred to
annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2024. In
addition, as a consequence of the 2020 Amendments
and 2022 Amendments, Hong Kong Interpretation 5
Presentation of Financial Statements — Classification
by the Borrower of a Term Loan that Contains a
Repayment on Demand Clause was revised to align the
corresponding wording with no change in conclusion
As a consequence of the amendments to HKFRS 17
issued in October 2020, HKFRS 4 was amended to
extend the temporary exemption that permits insurers to
apply HKAS 39 rather than HKFRS 9 for annual periods
beginning before 1 January 2023

An entity that chooses to apply the transition option
relating to the classification overlay set out in this
amendment shall apply it on initial application of
HKFRS 17
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2.3

Notes to the Financial Statements

ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(continued)

Further information about those HKFRSs that are expected
to be applicable to the Group is described below.

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 (2011) address an
inconsistency between the requirements in HKFRS 10 and
in HKAS 28 (2011) in dealing with the sale or contribution
of assets between an investor and its associate or joint
venture. The amendments require a full recognition of a
gain or loss resulting from a downstream transaction when
the sale or contribution of assets between an investor
and its associate or joint venture constitutes a business.
For a transaction involving assets that do not constitute a
business, a gain or loss resulting from the transaction is
recognised in the investor’'s profit or loss only to the extent
of the unrelated investor’s interest in that associate or joint
venture. The amendments are to be applied prospectively.
The previous mandatory effective date of amendments
to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 (2011) was removed by the
HKICPA in January 2016 and a new mandatory effective
date will be determined after the completion of a broader
review of accounting for associates and joint ventures.
However, the amendments are available for adoption now.

Amendments to HKFRS 16 specify the requirements that
a seller-lessee uses in measuring the lease liability arising
in a sale and leaseback transaction to ensure the seller-
lessee does not recognise any amount of the gain or loss
that relates to the right of use it retains. The amendments
are effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1
January 2024 and shall be applied retrospectively to sale
and leaseback transactions entered into after the date
of initial application of HKFRS 16 (i.e., 1 January 2019).
Earlier application is permitted. The amendments are not
expected to have any significant impact on the Group's
financial statements.
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2.3

120

ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(continued)

Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities
as Current or Non-current clarify the requirements for
classifying liabilities as current or non-current, in particular
the determination over whether an entity has a right to
defer settlement of the liabilities for at least 12 months
after the reporting period. Classification of a liability is
unaffected by the likelihood that the entity will exercise its
right to defer settlement of the liability. The amendments
also clarify the situations that are considered a settlement
of a liability. In 2022, the HKICPA issued the 2022
Amendments to further clarify that, among covenants of a
liability arising from a loan arrangement, only those with
which an entity must comply on or before the reporting
date affect the classification of that liability as current or
non-current. In addition, the 2022 Amendments require
additional disclosures by an entity that classifies liabilities
arising from loan arrangements as non-current when it
has a right to defer settlement of those liabilities that are
subject to the entity complying with future covenants within
12 months after the reporting period. The amendments
are effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1
January 2024 and shall be applied retrospectively. Earlier
application is permitted. An entity that applies the 2020
Amendments early is required to apply simultaneously the
2022 Amendments, and vice versa. The Group is currently
assessing the impact of the amendments and whether
existing loan agreements may require revision. Based on a
preliminary assessment, the amendments are not expected
to have any significant impact on the Group’s financial
statements.
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2.3

Notes to the Financial Statements

ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(continued)

Amendments to HKAS 1 Disclosure of Accounting Policies
require entities to disclose their material accounting
policy information rather than their significant accounting
policies. Accounting policy information is material if,
when considered together with other information included
in an entity’s financial statements, it can reasonably be
expected to influence decisions that the primary users of
general purpose financial statements make on the basis
of those financial statements. Amendments to HKFRS
Practice Statement 2 provide non-mandatory guidance
on how to apply the concept of materiality to accounting
policy disclosures. Amendments to HKAS 1 are effective
for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2023 and earlier application is permitted. Since the
guidance provided in the amendments to HKFRS Practice
Statement 2 is non-mandatory, an effective date for these
amendments is not necessary. The Group is revisiting the
accounting policy disclosures to ensure consistency with
the amendments.

Amendments to HKAS 8 clarify the distinction between
changes in accounting estimates and changes in
accounting policies. Accounting estimates are defined as
monetary amounts in financial statements that are subject
to measurement uncertainty. The amendments also clarify
how entities use measurement techniques and inputs
to develop accounting estimates. The amendments are
effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or
after 1 January 2023 and apply to changes in accounting
policies and changes in accounting estimates that occur
on or after the start of that period. Earlier application is
permitted. The amendments are not expected to have any
significant impact on the Group’s financial statements.
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2.3

ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(continued)

Amendments to HKAS 12 narrow the scope of the initial
recognition exception in HKAS12 so that it no longer
applies to transactions that give rise to equal taxable
and deductible temporary differences, such as leases
and decommissioning obligations. Therefore, entities
are required to recognise a deferred tax asset (provided
that sufficient taxable profit is available) and a deferred
tax liability for temporary differences arising from these
transactions. The amendments are effective for annual
reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023
and shall be applied to transactions related to leases
and decommissioning obligations at the beginning of the
earliest comparative period presented, with any cumulative
effect recognised as an adjustment to the opening
balance of retained profits or other component of equity as
appropriate at that date. In addition, the amendments shall
be applied prospectively to transactions other than leases
and decommissioning obligations. Earlier application is
permitted.

Upon initial application of these amendments, the Group
will recognise deterred tax of all temporary differences
related to leases at the beginning of the earliest
comparative period presented.

The Group is in the process of making an assessment of
the impact of amendments to HKAS 12.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES

Investments in associates and joint ventures

As associate is an entity in which the Group has a long
term interest of generally not less than 20% of the equity
voting rights and over which it is in a position to exercise
significant influence. Significant influence is the power to
participate in the financial and operating policy decision of
the investee, but is not control or joint control over those
policies.

A joint venture is a type of joint arrangement whereby
the parties that have joint control of the arrangement
have rights to the net assets of the joint venture. Joint
control is the contractually agreed sharing of control of an
arrangement, which exists only when decisions about the
relevant activities require the unanimous consent of the
parties sharing control.

The Group’s investments in associates and joint ventures
are stated in the consolidated statement of financial
position at the Group’s share of net assets under the equity
method of accounting, less any impairment losses.

Adjustments are made to bring into line any dissimilar
accounting policies that may exist.

The Group’s share of the post-acquisition results and
other comprehensive income of associates and joint
ventures is included in the consolidated statement of
profit or loss and consolidated other comprehensive
income, respectively.
change recognised directly in the equity of the associate
or joint venture, the Group recognises its share of any
changes, when applicable,
of changes in equity. Unrealised gains and losses resulting
from transactions between the Group and its associates
or joint ventures are eliminated to the extent of the
Group’s investments in the associates or joint ventures,
except where unrealised losses provide evidence of an
impairment of the asset transferred. Goodwill arising from
the acquisition of associates or joint ventures is included
as part of the Group’s investments in associates or joint
ventures.

In addition, when there has been a

in the consolidated statement
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Notes to the Financial Statements

IR MR

31 December 2022
2022912 A31H
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Investments in associates and joint ventures
(continued)

If an investment in an associate becomes an investment
in a joint venture or vice versa, the retained interest is
not remeasured. Instead, the investment continues to be
accounted for under the equity method. In all other cases,
upon loss of significant influence over the associate or joint
control over the joint venture, the Group measures and
recognises any retained investment at its fair value. Any
difference between the carrying amount of the associate
or joint venture upon loss of significant influence or joint
control and the fair value of the retained investment and
proceeds from disposal is recognised in profit or loss.

Business combinations and goodwill

Business combinations are accounted for using the
acquisition method. The consideration transferred is
measured at the acquisition date fair value which is the
sum of the acquisition date fair values of assets transferred
by the Group, liabilities assumed by the Group to the
former owners of the acquiree and the equity interests
issued by the Group in exchange for control of the
acquiree. For each business combination, the Group elects
whether to measure the non-controlling interests in the
acquiree that are present ownership interests and entitle
their holders to a proportionate share of net assets in the
event of liquidation at fair value or at the proportionate
share of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets. All other
components of non-controlling interests are measured
at fair value. Acquisition-related costs are expensed as
incurred.

The Group determines that it has acquired a business
when the acquired set of activities and assets includes an
input and a substantive process that together significantly
contribute to the ability to create outputs.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Business combinations and goodwill (continued)

When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the
financial assets and liabilities assumed for appropriate
classification and designation in accordance with the
contractual terms, economic circumstances and pertinent
conditions as at the acquisition date. This includes the
separation of embedded derivatives in host contracts of
the acquiree.

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the
previously held equity interest is remeasured at its
acquisition date fair value and any resulting gain or loss is
recognised in profit or loss.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the
acquirer is recognised at fair value at the acquisition
date. Contingent consideration classified as an asset or
liability is measured at fair value with changes in fair value
recognised in profit or loss. Contingent consideration that
is classified as equity is not remeasured and subsequent
settlement is accounted for within equity.

Goodwill is initially measured at cost, being the excess
of the aggregate of the consideration transferred, the
amount recognised for non-controlling interests and any
fair value of the Group’s previously held equity interests in
the acquiree over the identifiable net assets acquired and
liabilities assumed. If the sum of this consideration and
other items is lower than the fair value of the net assets
acquired, the difference is, after reassessment, recognised
in profit or loss as a gain on bargain purchase.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

IR MR

31 December 2022
2022912 A31H
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Business combinations and goodwill (continued)

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less
any accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill is tested
for impairment annually or more frequently if events or
changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying
value may be impaired. The Group performs its annual
impairment test of goodwill as at 31 December. For the
purpose of impairment testing, goodwill acquired in
a business combination is, from the acquisition date,
allocated to each of the Group’s cash-generating units,
or groups of cash-generating units, that are expected to
benefit from the synergies of the combination, irrespective
of whether other assets or liabilities of the Group are
assigned to those units or groups of units.

Impairment is determined by assessing the recoverable
amount of the cash-generating unit (group of cash-
generating units) to which the goodwill relates. Where the
recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit (group of
cash-generating units) is less than the carrying amount,
an impairment loss is recognised. An impairment loss
recognised for goodwill is not reversed in a subsequent
period.

Where goodwill has been allocated to a cash-generating
unit (or group of cash-generating units) and part of the
operation within that unit is disposed of, the goodwill
associated with the operation disposed of is included in
the carrying amount of the operation when determining the
gain or loss on the disposal. Goodwill disposed of in these
circumstances is measured based on the relative value
of the operation disposed of and the portion of the cash-
generating unit retained.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Fair value measurement

The Group measures its investment properties, derivative
financial instruments and equity investments at fair value
at the end of each reporting period. Fair value is the
price that would be received to sell an asset or paid
to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between
market participants at the measurement date. The fair
value measurement is based on the presumption that
the transaction to sell the asset or transfer the liability
takes place either in the principal market for the asset or
liability, or in the absence of a principal market, in the most
advantageous market for the asset or liability. The principal
or the most advantageous market must be accessible
by the Group. The fair value of an asset or a liability is
measured using the assumptions that market participants
would use when pricing the asset or liability, assuming that
market participants act in their economic best interest.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into
account a market participant’s ability to generate economic
benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or
by selling it to another market participant that would use
the asset in its highest and best use.

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate
in the circumstances and for which sufficient data are
available to measure fair value, maximising the use of
relevant observable inputs and minimising the use of
unobservable inputs.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

IR MR

31 December 2022
2022912 A31H

24 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 24 EEZ23HREME (&)
POLICIES (continued)

Fair value measurement (continued) AREE ()

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured R BRERA SR EARBIEEER
or disclosed in the financial statements are categorised B BEHNAABEIEEEESEE Y &
within the fair value hierarchy, described as follows, based B ABKERINTRHAEARBREBEY D
on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value ¥

measurement as a whole:

Level 1 - based on quoted prices (unadjusted) E—m — BIEEREES B BERERS
in active markets for identical assets or BZHRE (REAR) B
liabilities

Level 2 - based on valuation techniques for which the B — BIEEETE  ERERAR
lowest level input that is significant to the Bt EEEATE Y SEHA
fair value measurement is observable, either BATHENEEERR

directly or indirectly

Level 3 - based on valuation techniques for which the B4 — BIEHBETE  ERERAL
lowest level input that is significant to the fair B SEEATYE Y SEKEBA
value measurement is unobservable =r-200E =% ¢

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the financial R EVBRREUSELERAEENRE

statements on a recurring basis, the Group determines & AEERYRA LB SEREEAY

whether transfers have occurred between levels in the By ERBGABENSRERAREHTESD
hierarchy by reassessing categorisation (based on the b U TEESRCEEE HIRER -

lowest level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement as a whole) at the end of each reporting
period.
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2.4

Notes to the Financial Statements

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Impairment of non-financial assets

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when annual
impairment testing for an asset is required (other than
properties held for sale, properties under development,
contract assets, deferred tax assets, financial assets and
investment properties), the asset’s recoverable amount is
estimated. An asset’s recoverable amount is the higher of
the asset’s or cash-generating unit’'s value in use and its
fair value less costs of disposal, and is determined for an
individual asset, unless the asset does not generate cash
inflows that are largely independent of those from other
assets or groups of assets, in which case the recoverable
amount is determined for the cash-generating unit to which
the asset belongs. In testing a cash-generating unit for
impairment, a portion of the carrying amount of a corporate
asset (e.g., a headquarters building) is allocated to an
individual cash — generating unit if it can be allocated on
a reasonable and consistent basis or, otherwise, to the
smallest group of cash-generating units.

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying
amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount. In
assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are
discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount
rate that reflects current market assessments of the time
value of money and the risks specific to the asset. An
impairment loss is charged to the statement of profit or loss
in the period in which it arises in those expense categories
consistent with the function of the impaired asset.
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2.4

130

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Impairment of non-financial assets (continued)

An assessment is made at the end of each reporting
period as to whether there is an indication that previously
recognised impairment losses may no longer exist or
may have decreased. If such an indication exists, the
recoverable amount is estimated. A previously recognised
impairment loss of an asset other than goodwill is reversed
only if there has been a change in the estimates used to
determine the recoverable amount of that asset, but not to
an amount higher than the carrying amount that would have
been determined (net of any depreciation/amortisation) had
no impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior
years. A reversal of such an impairment loss is credited
to the statement of profit or loss in the period in which it
arises.

Related parties

A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(a) the party is a person or a close member of that
person’s family and that person

(i) has control or joint control over the Group;

(i) has significant influence over the Group; or

(iii) is a member of the key management
personnel of the Group or of a parent of the

Group;

or
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2.4

Notes to the Financial Statements

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Related parties (continued)

(b) the party is an entity where any of the following
conditions applies:

(i)

(if)

(iii)

(iv)

(vi)

(vii)

(vii)

the entity and the Group are members of the
same group;

one entity is an associate or joint venture of
the other entity (or of a parent, subsidiary or
fellow subsidiary of the other entity);

the entity and the Group are joint ventures of
the same third party;

one entity is a joint venture of a third entity
and the other entity is an associate of the
third entity;

the entity is a post-employment benefit plan
for the benefit of employees of either the
Group or an entity related to the Group;
(If the Group is itself such a plan) and
the sponsoring employers of the post-
employment benefit plan;

the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by
a person identified in (a);

a person identified in (a)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of
the key management personnel of the entity
(or of a parent of the entity); and

the entity, or any member of a group of
which it is a part, provides key management
personnel services to the Group or to the
parent of the Group.
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132

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less
accumulated depreciation and any impairment losses. The
cost of an item of property, plant and equipment comprises
its purchase price and any directly attributable costs of
bringing the asset to its working condition and location for
its intended use.

Expenditure incurred after items of property, plant and
equipment have been put into operation, such as repairs
and maintenance, is normally charged to the statement
of profit or loss in the period in which it is incurred. In
situations where the recognition criteria are satisfied, the
expenditure for a major inspection is capitalised in the
carrying amount of the asset as a replacement. Where
significant parts of property, plant and equipment are
required to be replaced at intervals, the Group recognises
such parts as individual assets with specific useful lives
and depreciates them accordingly.

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis to write
off the cost of each item of property, plant and equipment
to its residual value over its estimated useful life. The
principal annual rates used for this purpose are as follows:
Leasehold improvements The lease terms or 5 years,
whichever is shorter

Office equipment, 3 -5 years
furniture and fixtures
Motor vehicles 4 - 5 years

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment
have different useful lives, the cost of that item is allocated
on a reasonable basis among the parts and each part is
depreciated separately. Residual values, useful lives and
the depreciation method are reviewed, and adjusted if
appropriate, at least at each financial year end.
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2.4

Notes to the Financial Statements

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation
(continued)

An item of property, plant and equipment including any
significant part initially recognised is derecognised upon
disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected
from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss on disposal or
retirement recognised in the statement of profit or loss
in the year the asset is derecognised is the difference
between the net sales proceeds and the carrying amount
of the relevant asset.

Investment properties

Investment properties are interests in land and buildings
(including the leasehold property held as a right-of-use
asset which would otherwise meet the definition of an
investment property) held to earn rental income and/or for
capital appreciation, rather than for use in the production
or supply of goods or services or for administrative
purposes; or for sale in the ordinary course of business.
Such properties are measured initially at cost, including
transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition,
investment properties are stated at fair value, which reflects
market conditions at the end of the reporting period.

Properties under construction or development for further
use as investment properties are classified as investment
properties under construction. If the fair value cannot
be reliably determined, the investment properties under
construction will be measured at cost until such time as fair
value can be determined or construction is completed. The
Group has concluded that the fair value of its investment
properties under construction can be measured reliably,
and therefore, the Group’s investment properties under
construction are measured at fair value.

Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair values of
investment properties are included in the statement of profit
or loss in the year in which they arise. Any gains or losses
on the retirement or disposal of an investment property are
recognised in the statement of profit or loss in the year of
the retirement or disposal.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Investment properties (continued)

For a transfer from inventories to investment properties,
any difference between the fair value of the property at that
date and its previous carrying amount is recognised in the
statement of profit or loss.

Intangible assets (other than goodwill)

Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on
initial recognition at cost. The cost of intangible assets
acquired in a business combination is the fair value at the
date of acquisition. The useful lives of intangible assets are
assessed to be either finite or indefinite. Intangible assets
with finite lives are subsequently amortised over the useful
economic life and assessed for impairment whenever there
is an indication that the intangible asset may be impaired.
The amortisation period and the amortisation method for an
intangible asset with a finite useful life are reviewed at least
at each financial year end.

Property management contracts

Property management contracts are stated at cost less any
impairment losses and are amortised on the straight-line
basis over their estimated useful lives of 6 to 12 years.

Leases

The Group assesses at contract inception whether a
contract is, or contains, a lease. A contract is, or contains,
a lease if the contract conveys the right to control the use
of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for
consideration.

Group as a lessee

The Group applies a single recognition and measurement
approach for all leases, except for short-term leases and
leases of low-value assets. The Group recognises lease
liabilities to make lease payments and right-of-use assets
representing the right to use the underlying assets.
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2.4

Notes to the Financial Statements

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Leases (continued)

Group as a lessee (continued)

(a)

Right-of-use assets

Right-of-use assets are recognised at the
commencement date of the lease (that is the date
the underlying asset is available for use). Right-
of-use assets are measured at cost, less any
accumulated depreciation and any impairment
losses, and adjusted for any remeasurement of
lease liabilities. The cost of right-of-use assets
includes the amount of lease liabilities recognised,
initial direct costs incurred, and lease payments
made at or before the commencement date less any
lease incentives received. Right-of-use assets are
depreciated on a straight-line basis over the shorter
of the lease terms and the estimated useful lives of
the assets as follows:
Leasehold land and building  over the lease term
If ownership of the leased asset transfers to
the Group by the end of the lease term or the
cost reflects the exercise of a purchase option,
depreciation is calculated using the estimated
useful life of the asset.

When the right-of-use assets relate to interests
in leasehold land held as inventories, they are
subsequently measured at the lower of cost and
net realisable value in accordance with the Group’s
policies for “properties under development”
and “properties held for sale”. When a right-
of-use asset meets the definition of investment
property, it is included in investment properties.
The corresponding right-of-use asset is initially
measured at cost, and subsequently measured at
fair value, in accordance with the Group’s policy for
“investment properties”.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Leases (continued)
Group as a lessee (continued)
(b) Lease liabilities

Lease liabilities are recognised at the
commencement date of the lease at the present
value of lease payments to be made over the lease
term. The lease payments include fixed payments
(including in-substance fixed payments) less
any lease incentives receivable, variable lease
payments that depend on an index or a rate, and
amounts expected to be paid under residual value
guarantees. The lease payments also include the
exercise price of a purchase option reasonably
certain to be exercised by the Group and payments
of penalties for termination of a lease, if the lease
term reflects the Group exercising the option to
terminate the lease. The variable lease payments
that do not depend on an index or a rate are
recognised as an expense in the period in which the
event or condition that triggers the payment occurs.

In calculating the present value of lease payments,
the Group uses its incremental borrowing rate at
the lease commencement date because the interest
rate implicit in the lease is not readily determinable.
After the commencement date, the amount of lease
liabilities is increased to reflect the accretion of
interest and reduced for the lease payments made.
In addition, the carrying amount of lease liabilities
is remeasured if there is a modification, a change
in the lease term, a change in lease payments
(e.g., a change to future lease payments resulting
from a change in an index or rate) or a change in
assessment of an option to purchase the underlying
asset.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Leases (continued)
Group as a lessee (continued)
(c) Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition
exemption to its short-term leases of properties (that
is those leases that have a lease term of 12 months
or less from the commencement date and do not
contain a purchase option).
recognition exemption for leases of low-vlue assets
to leases of office equipment that are considered to
be of low value.

It also applies the

Lease payments on short-term leases and leases of
low-value assets are recognised as an expense on
a straight-line basis over the lease term.

Group as a lessor

When the Group acts as a lessor, it classifies at lease
inception (or when there is a lease modification) each of its
leases as either an operating lease or a finance lease.

Leases in which the Group does not transfer substantially
all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of
an asset are classified as operating leases. When a
contract contains lease and non-lease components, the
Group allocates the consideration in the contract to each
component on a relative stand-alone selling price basis.
Rental income is accounted for on a straight-line basis over
the lease terms and is included in revenue in the statement
of profit or loss due to its operating nature. Initial direct
costs incurred in negotiating and arranging an operating
lease are added to the carrying amount of the leased asset
and recognised over the lease term on the same basis as
rental income. Contingent rents are recognised as revenue
in the period in which they are earned.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Leases (continued)
Group as a lessor (continued)

When the Group is an intermediate lessor, a sublease
is classified as a finance lease or operating lease with
reference to the right-of-use asset arising from the head
lease. If the head lease is a short-term lease to which the
Group applies the on-balance sheet recognition exemption,
the Group classifies the sublease as an operating lease.

Properties under development

Properties under development are stated at cost less any
impairment losses. Cost of properties under development
comprises cost of acquisition, land cost, construction
costs, development costs, capitalised borrowing costs and
other direct costs attributable to the development. The land
cost is recognised on the straight-line basis over the lease
term. Impairment is assessed by the directors based on
prevailing market prices, on an individual property basis.

Properties held for sale

Properties held for sale are stated at the lower of cost and
net realisable value. Cost is determined by apportionment
of total development cost, including capitalised borrowing
cost, attributable to the unsold units. Net realisable value is
determined on the basis of anticipated sales proceeds, or
estimated by management based on the prevailing market
conditions, less all estimated costs to be incurred to
completion and selling expenses, on an individual property
basis.
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2.4

Notes to the Financial Statements

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Investments and other financial assets
Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as
subsequently measured at amortised cost, fair value
through other comprehensive income, and fair value
through profit or loss.

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition
depends on the financial asset’s contractual cash flow
characteristics and the Group’s business model for
managing them. With the exception of trade receivables
that do not contain a significant financing component or for
which the Group has applied the practical expedient of not
adjusting the effect of a significant financing component,
the Group initially measures a financial asset at its fair
value, plus in the case of a financial asset not at fair value
through profit or loss, transaction costs. Trade receivables
that do not contain a significant financing component or
for which the Group has applied the practical expedient
are measured at the transaction price determined under
HKFRS 15 in accordance with the policies set out for
“Revenue recognition” below.

In order for a financial asset to be classified and measured
at amortised cost or fair value through other comprehensive
income, it needs to give rise to cash flows that are solely
payments of principal and interest (“SPPI”) on the principal
amount outstanding. Financial assets with cash flows that
are not SPPI are classified and measured at fair value
through profit or loss, irrespective of the business model.

The Group’s business model for managing financial assets
refers to how it manages its financial assets in order to
generate cash flows. The business model determines
whether cash flows will result from collecting contractual
cash flows, selling the financial assets, or both.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Investments and other financial assets (continued)
Initial recognition and measurement (continued)

Financial assets classified and measured at amortised cost
are held within a business model with the objective to hold
financial assets in order to collect contractual cash flows,
while financial assets classified and measured at fair value
through other comprehensive income are held within a
business model with the objective of both holding to collect
contractual cash flows and selling. Financial assets which
are not held within the aforementioned business models
are classified and measured at fair value through profit or
loss.

All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets
are recognised on the trade date, that is, the date that
the Group commits to purchase or sell the asset. Regular
way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial
assets that require delivery of assets within the period
generally established by regulation or convention in the
marketplace.
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2.4

Notes to the Financial Statements

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Investments and other financial assets (continued)

Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial assets depends
on their classification as follows:

(a)

Financial
instruments)

assets at amortised cost (debt

Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently
measured using the effective interest method and
are subject to impairment. Gains and losses are
recognised in the statement of profit or loss when
the asset is derecognised, modified or impaired.

Financial assets at fair value through other
comprehensive income (debt instruments)

For debt investments at fair value through other
comprehensive income, interest income, foreign
exchange revaluation and impairment losses or
reversals are recognised in the statement of profit
or loss and computed in the same manner as for
financial assets measured at amortised cost. The
remaining fair value changes are recognised in
other comprehensive income. Upon derecognition,
the cumulative fair value change recognised in other
comprehensive income is recycled to the statement
of profit or loss.
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24 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Investments and other financial assets (continued)
Subsequent measurement (continued)

(c) Financial assets at fair value through other
comprehensive income (equity instruments)

Upon initial recognition, the Group can elect to
classify irrevocably its equity investments as equity
investments designated at fair value through
other comprehensive income when they meet
the definition of equity under HKAS 32 Financial
Instruments: Presentation and are not held for
trading. The classification is determined on an
instrument-by-instrument basis.

Gains and losses on these financial assets are never
recycled to the statement of profit or loss. Dividends
are recognised as other income in the statement
of profit or loss when the right of payment has
been established, it is probable that the economic
benefits associated with the dividend will flow to
the Group and the amount of the dividend can be
measured reliably, except when the Group benefits
from such proceeds as a recovery of part of the
cost of the financial asset, in which case, such
gains are recorded in other comprehensive income.
Equity investments designated at fair value through
other comprehensive income are not subject to
impairment assessment.

(d) Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
are carried in the statement of financial position at
fair value with net changes in fair value recognised
in the statement of profit or loss.
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2.4

Notes to the Financial Statements

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognises an allowance for expected credit
losses (“ECLs”) for all debt instruments not held at fair
value through profit or loss. ECLs are based on the
difference between the contractual cash flows due in
accordance with the contract and all the cash flows that the
Group expects to receive, discounted at an approximation
of the original effective interest rate. The expected cash
flows will include cash flows from the sale of collateral
held or other credit enhancements that are integral to the
contractual terms.

General approach

ECLs are recognised in two stages. For credit exposures
for which there has not been a significant increase in credit
risk since initial recognition, ECLs are provided for credit
losses that result from default events that are possible
within the next 12 months (a 12-month ECL). For those
credit exposures for which there has been a significant
increase in credit risk since initial recognition, a loss
allowance is required for credit losses expected over the
remaining life of the exposure, irrespective of the timing of
the default (a lifetime ECL).

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether
the credit risk on a financial instrument has increased
significantly since initial recognition. When making the
assessment, the Group compares the risk of a default
occurring on the financial instrument as at the reporting
date with the risk of a default occurring on the financial
instrument as at the date of initial recognition and
considers reasonable and supportable information that is
available without undue cost or effort, including historical
and forward-looking information. The Group considers that
there has been a significant increase in credit risk when
contractual payments are more than 30 days past due.
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2.4

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)
General approach (continued)

For debt investments at fair value through other
comprehensive income, the Group applies the low credit
risk simplification. At each reporting date, the Group
evaluates whether the debt investment is considered to
have low credit risk using all reasonable and supportable
information that is available without undue cost or effort. In
making that evaluation, the Group reassesses the external
credit ratings of the debt investments. In addition, the
Group considers that there has been a significant increase
in credit risk when contractual payments are more than 30
days past due.

The Group considers a financial asset in default when
contractual payments are 90 days past due. However, in
certain cases, the Group may also consider a financial
asset to be in default when internal or external information
indicates that the Group is unlikely to receive the
outstanding contractual amounts in full before taking into
account any credit enhancements held by the Group. A
financial asset is written off when there is no reasonable
expectation of recovering the contractual cash flows.
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2.4

Notes to the Financial Statements

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)
General approach (continued)

Debt investments at fair value through other comprehensive
income, financial assets at amortised cost are subject
to impairment under the general approach and they are
classified within the following stages for measurement of
ECLs except for trade receivables and contract assets
which apply the simplified approach as detailed below.

Financial instruments for which credit risk
has not increased significantly since initial
recognition and for which the loss allowance
is measured at an amount equal to 12-month
ECLs

Stage 1 -

Financial instruments for which credit risk
has increased significantly since initial
recognition but that are not credit-impaired
financial assets and for which the loss
allowance is measured at an amount equal to
lifetime ECLs

Stage 2 -

Stage 3 - Financial assets that are credit-impaired
at the reporting date (but that are not
purchased or originated credit-impaired) and
for which the loss allowance is measured at

an amount equal to lifetime ECLs

Simplified approach

For trade receivables that do not contain a significant
financing component or when the Group applies the
practical expedient of not adjusting the effect of a
significant financing component, the Group applies
the simplified approach in calculating ECLs. Under the
simplified approach, the Group does not track changes in
credit risk, but instead recognises a loss allowance based
on lifetime ECLs at each reporting date. The Group has
established a provision matrix that is based on its historical
credit loss experience, adjusted for forward-looking factors
specific to the debtors and the economic environment.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Derecognition of financial assets

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial
asset or part of a group of similar financial assets) is
primarily derecognised (i.e., removed from the Group’s
consolidated statement of financial position) when:

- the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have
expired; or

- the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash
flows from the asset or has assumed an obligation
to pay the received cash flows in full without
material delay to a third party under a “pass-
through” arrangement; and either (a) the Group has
transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of
the asset, or (b) the Group has neither transferred
nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards
of the asset, but has transferred control of the asset.

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash
flows from an asset or has entered into a pass-through
arrangement, it evaluates if, and to what extent, it has
retained the risk and rewards of ownership of the asset.
When it has neither transferred nor retained substantially all
the risks and rewards of the asset nor transferred control of
the asset, the Group continues to recognise the transferred
asset to the extent of the Group’s continuing involvement.
In that case, the Group also recognises an associated
liability. The transferred asset and the associated liability
are measured on a basis that reflects the rights and
obligations that the Group has retained.

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee
over the transferred asset is measured at the lower of the
original carrying amount of the asset and the maximum
amount of consideration that the Group could be required
to repay.
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2.4

Notes to the Financial Statements

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Financial liabilities
Initial recognition and measurement

Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, as
financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss, loans
and borrowings, payables, or as derivatives designated as
hedging instruments in an effective hedge, as appropriate.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value
and, in the case of loans and borrowings and payables,
net of directly attributable transaction costs.

The Group’s financial liabilities include trade and other
payables, amounts due to group companies, joint ventures,
associates, non-controlling shareholders and a related
company, and interest-bearing bank and other borrowings.

Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial liabilities
depends on their classification as follows:

(a) Financial liabilities at amortised costs (loans and
borrowings)

After initial recognition, interest-bearing loans and
borrowings are subsequently measured at amortised
cost, using the effective interest rate method unless
the effect of discounting would be immaterial, in
which case they are stated at cost. Gains and
losses are recognised in the statement of profit or
loss when the liabilities are derecognised as well
as through the effective interest rate amortisation
process.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account
any discount or premium on acquisition and fees
or costs that are an integral part of the effective
interest rate. The effective interest rate amortisation
is included in finance costs in the statement of profit
or loss.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Financial liabilities (continued)
Derecognition of financial liabilities

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation
under the liability is discharged or cancelled, or expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by another
from the same lender on substantially different terms,
or the terms of an existing liability are substantially
modified, such an exchange or modification is treated as
a derecognition of the original liability and a recognition of
a new liability, and the difference between the respective
carrying amounts is recognised in the statement of profit or
loss.

Offsetting of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the
net amount is reported in the statement of financial position
if there is a currently enforceable legal right to offset the
recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle on
a net basis, or to realise the assets and settle the liabilities
simultaneously.

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash
flows, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on
hand and demand deposits, and short term highly liquid
investments that are readily convertible into known amounts
of cash, are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in
value, and have a short maturity of generally within three
months when acquired, less bank overdrafts which are
repayable on demand and form an integral part of the
Group’s cash management.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of financial
position, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on
hand and at banks, including term deposits, and assets
similar in nature to cash, which are not restricted as to use.
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2.4

Notes to the Financial Statements

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Provisions

A provision is recognised when a present obligation (legal
or constructive) has arisen as a result of a past event and
it is probable that a future outflow of resources will be
required to settle the obligation, provided that a reliable
estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.
When the effect of discounting is material, the amount
recognised for a provision is the present value at the end
of the reporting period of the future expenditures expected
to be required to settle the obligation. The increase in the
discounted present value amount arising from the passage
of time is included in finance costs in the statement of
profit or loss.

Income tax

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Income
tax relating to items recognised outside profit or loss
is recognised outside profit or loss, either in other

comprehensive income or directly in equity.

Current tax assets and liabilities are measured at the
amount expected to be recovered from or paid to the
taxation authorities, based on tax rates (and tax laws)
that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the
end of the reporting period, taking into consideration
interpretations and practices prevailing in the countries in
which the Group operates.

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all
temporary differences at the end of the reporting period
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their
carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Income tax (continued)

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable
temporary differences, except:

- when the deferred tax liability arises from the initial
recognition of goodwill or an asset or liability in a
transaction that is not a business combination and,
at the time of the transaction, affects neither the
accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; and

- in respect of taxable temporary differences
associated with investments in subsidiaries,
associates and joint ventures, when the timing of
the reversal of the temporary differences can be
controlled and it is probable that the temporary
differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible
temporary differences, and the carryforward of unused
tax credits and any unused tax losses. Deferred tax
assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that
taxable profit will be available against which the deductible
temporary differences, and the carryforward of unused tax
credits and unused tax losses can be utilised, except:

- when the deferred tax asset relating to the
deductible temporary differences arises from
the initial recognition of an asset or liability in a
transaction that is not a business combination and,
at the time of the transaction, affects neither the
accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; and

- in respect of deductible temporary differences
associated with investments in subsidiaries,
associates and joint ventures, deferred tax assets
are only recognised to the extent that it is probable
that the temporary differences will reverse in
the foreseeable future and taxable profit will be
available against which the temporary differences
can be utilised.
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2.4

Notes to the Financial Statements

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Income tax (continued)

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed
at the end of each reporting period and reduced to the
extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable
profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred
tax asset to be utilised. Unrecognised deferred tax assets
are reassessed at the end of each reporting period and are
recognised to the extent that it has become probable that
sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part
of the deferred tax asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the
tax rates that are expected to apply to the period when
the asset is realised or the liability is settled, based
on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset
if and only if the Group has a legally enforceable right to
set off current tax assets and current tax liabilities and
the deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities relate
to income taxes levied by the same taxation authority on
either the same taxable entity or different taxable entities
which intend either to settle current tax liabilities and
assets on a net basis, or to realise the assets and settle
the liabilities simultaneously, in each future period in which
significant amounts of deferred tax liabilities or assets are
expected to be settled or recovered.

Government grants

Government grants are recognised at their fair value
where there is reasonable assurance that the grant will be
received and all attaching conditions will be complied with.
When the grant relates to an expense item, it is recognised
as income on a systematic basis over the periods that
the costs, for which it is intended to compensate, are
expensed.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Revenue recognition
Revenue from contracts with customers

Revenue from contracts with customers is recognised when
control of goods or services is transferred to the customers
at an amount that reflects the consideration to which the
Group expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods
or services.

When the consideration in a contract includes a variable
amount, the amount of consideration is estimated to which
the Group will be entitled in exchange for transferring
the goods or services to the customer. The variable
consideration is estimated at contract inception and
constrained until it is highly probable that a significant
revenue reversal in the amount of cumulative revenue
recognised will not occur when the associated uncertainty
with the variable consideration is subsequently resolved.

When the contract contains a financing component which
provides the customer with a significant benefit of financing
the transfer of goods or services to the customer for more
than one year, revenue is measured at the present value of
the amount receivable, discounted using the discount rate
that would be reflected in a separate financing transaction
between the Group and the customer at contract inception.
When the contract contains a financing component which
provides the Group with a significant financial benefit for
more than one year, revenue recognised under the contract
includes the interest expense accreted on the contract
liability under the effective interest method. For a contract
where the period between the payment by the customer
and the transfer of the promised goods or services is one
year or less, the transaction price is not adjusted for the
effects of a significant financing component, using the
practical expedient in HKFRS 15.
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2.4

Notes to the Financial Statements

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Revenue recognition (continued)
Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)

Revenue is recognised when or as the control of the asset
is transferred to the customer. Depending on the terms of
the contract and the laws that apply to the contract, control
of the asset may be transferred over time or at a point in
time. Control of the asset is transferred over time if the
Group’s performance:

- provides all of the benefits received and consumed
simultaneously by the customer;

- creates and enhances an asset that the customer
controls as the Group performs; or

- does not create an asset with an alternative use to
the Group and the Group has an enforceable right
to payment for performance completed to date.

If control of the asset transfers over time, revenue is
recognised over the period of the contract by reference
to the progress towards complete satisfaction of that
performance obligation. Otherwise, revenue is recognised
at a point in time when the customer obtains control of the
asset.

The progress towards complete satisfaction of the
performance obligation is measured based on the Group’s
efforts or inputs to the satisfaction of the performance
obligation, by reference to the contract costs incurred up
to the end of the reporting period as a percentage of total
estimated costs for each contract.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2.4
POLICIES (continued)

Revenue recognition (continued)
Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)

(a) Sales of properties

Revenue from the sale of properties is recognised
at the point in time when the purchasers obtained
the physical possession of the completed property
and the Group has present right to payment and the
collection of the consideration is probable.

(b) Property management fee income, entrusted
management fee income, fitting-out works income
and utility income are recognised when the services
are rendered.

Revenue from other sources

(a) rental income is recognised on a time proportion
basis over the lease terms.

(b) interest income is recognised on an accrual basis
using the effective interest method by applying
the rate that exactly discounts the estimated future
cash receipts over the expected life of the financial
instruments or a shorter period, when appropriate,
to the net carrying amount of the financial assets.

Contract liabilities

A contract liability is recognised when a payment is
received or a payment is due (whichever is earlier) from
a customer before the Group transfers the related goods
or services. Contract liabilities are recognised as revenue
when the Group performs under the contract (i.e., transfers
control of the related goods or services to the customer).
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2.4

Notes to the Financial Statements

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Contract costs

Other than the costs which are capitalised as inventories,
property, plant and equipment and intangible assets, costs
incurred to fulfil a contract with a customer are capitalised
as an asset if all of the following criteria are met:

(a) The costs relate directly to a contract or to an
anticipated contract that the entity can specifically
identify.

(b) The costs generate or enhance resources of the
entity that will be used in satisfying (or in continuing
to satisfy) performance obligations in the future.

(c) The costs are expected to be recovered.

The capitalised contract costs are amortised and charged
to the statement of profit or loss on a systematic basis that
is consistent with the transfer to the customer of the goods
or services to which the asset relates. Other contract costs
are expensed as incurred.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Employee benefits

(a) Retirement benefit costs

The Group operates a defined contribution
Mandatory Provident Fund retirement benefit
scheme (the “MPF Scheme”) under the Mandatory
Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance for all eligible
employees. Contributions are made based on a
percentage of the employees’ salaries, allowances
and other benefits and are charged to the statement
of profit or loss as they become payable in
accordance with the rules of the MPF Scheme. The
assets of the MPF Scheme are held separately from
those of the Group in an independently administered
fund. The Group’s employer contributions vest fully
with the employees when contributed into the MPF
Scheme, except for the Group’s employer voluntary
contributions, which are refunded to the Group
when the employee leaves employment prior to the
contributions vesting fully, in accordance with the
rules of the MPF Scheme.

The employees of the Group's subsidiaries
which operate in Mainland China are required to
participate in a central pension scheme operated by
the local municipal government. These subsidiaries
are required to contribute 18% to 30% of their
payroll costs to the central pension scheme. These
contributions are charged to the statement of profit
or loss as they become payable in accordance with
the rules of the central pension scheme.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Employee benefits (continued)

(b) Employee leave pay and compensation entitlements

Employee entitlements to annual leave and long
service payment are recognised when they accrue
to employees. A provision is made for the estimated
liability for annual leave and long service payment
as a result of services rendered by employees up to
the end of the reporting period.

Employee entitlements to sick leave and maternity
leave are not recognised until the time of taking
leave.

(c) Share-based payments

The Company operates a share option scheme for
the purpose of providing incentives and rewards to
eligible participants who contribute to the success
of the Group’s operations. Employees (including
directors) of the Group receive remuneration in the
form of share-based payments, whereby employees
render services in exchange for equity instruments
(“equity-settled transactions”).

The cost of equity-settled transactions with
employees for grants after 7 November 2002 is
measured by reference to the fair value at the
date at which they are granted. The fair value is
determined by an external valuer using a binomial
model.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Employee benefits (continued)

(c) Share-based payments (continued)

The cost of equity-settled transactions is recognised
in employee benefit expense, together with a
corresponding increase in equity, over the period
in which the performance and/or service conditions
are fulfilled. The cumulative expense recognised
for equity-settled transactions at the end of each
reporting period until the vesting date reflects the
extent to which the vesting period has expired and
the Group’s best estimate of the number of equity
instruments that will ultimately vest. The charge or
credit to the statement of profit or loss for a period
represents the movement in the cumulative expense
recognised as at the beginning and end of that
period.

Service and non-market performance conditions
are not taken into account when determining the
grant date fair value of awards, but the likelihood
of the conditions being met is assessed as part
of the Group's best estimate of the number of
equity instruments that will ultimately vest. Market
performance conditions are reflected within the
grant date fair value. Any other conditions attached
to an award, but without an associated service
requirement, are considered to be non-vesting
conditions. Non-vesting conditions are reflected in
the fair value of an award and lead to an immediate
expensing of an award unless there are also service
and/or performance conditions.

For awards that do not ultimately vest because non-
market performance and/or service conditions have
not been met, no expense is recognised. Where
awards include a market or non-vesting condition,
the transactions are treated as vesting irrespective
of whether the market or non-vesting condition is
satisfied, provided that all other performance and/or
service conditions are satisfied.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Employee benefits (continued)

(c) Share-based payments (continued)

Where the terms of an equity-settled award are
modified, as a minimum an expense is recognised
as if the terms had not been modified, if the original
terms of the award are met. In addition, an expense
is recognised for any modification that increases the
total fair value of the share-based payments, or is
otherwise beneficial to the employee as measured
at the date of modification.

Where an equity-settled award is cancelled,
it is treated as if it had vested on the date of
cancellation, and any expense not yet recognised
for the award is recognised immediately. This
includes any award where non-vesting conditions
within the control of either the Group or the
employee are not met. However, if a new award
is substituted for the cancelled award, and is
designated as a replacement award on the date
that it is granted, the cancelled and new awards are
treated as if they were a modification of the original
award, as described in the previous paragraph.

The dilutive effect of outstanding options is reflected
as additional share dilution in the computation of
earnings per share.

(d) Termination benefits

Termination benefits are recognised at the earlier
of when the Group can no longer withdraw the offer
of those benefits and when the Group recognises
restructuring costs involving the payment of
termination benefits.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, i.e., assets
that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get
ready for their intended use or sale, are capitalised as
part of the cost of those assets. The capitalisation of such
borrowing costs ceases when the assets are substantially
ready for their intended use or sale. Investment income
earned on the temporary investment of specific borrowings
pending their expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted
from the borrowing costs capitalised. All other borrowing
costs are expensed in the period in which they are
incurred. Borrowing costs consist of interest and other
costs that an entity incurs in connection with the borrowing
of funds.

Dividends

Final dividends are recognised as a liability when they
are approved by the shareholders in a general meeting.
Proposed final dividends are disclosed in the notes to the
financial statements.

Foreign currencies

The Company’s functional currency is the Hong Kong dollar
(“HK$”), while these financial statements are presented in
RMB, which is the Company’s presentation currency. Each
entity in the Group determines its own functional currency
and items included in the financial statements of each
entity are measured using that functional currency. Foreign
currency transactions recorded by the entities in the Group
are initially recorded using their respective functional
currency rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions.
Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign
currencies are translated at the functional currency rates
of exchange ruling at the end of the reporting period.
Differences arising on settlement or translation of monetary
items are recognised in the statement of profit or loss.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Foreign currencies (continued)

Differences arising on settlement or translation of monetary
items are recognised in the statement of profit or loss with
the exception of monetary items that are designated as
part of the hedge of the Group’s net investment of a foreign
operation. These are recognised in other comprehensive
income until the net investment is disposed of, at which
time the cumulative amount is reclassified to the statement
of profit or loss. Tax charges and credits attributable to
exchange differences on those monetary items are also
recorded in other comprehensive income.

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of
historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using
the exchange rates at the dates of the initial transactions.
Non-monetary items measured at fair value in a foreign
currency are translated using the exchange rates at the
date when the fair value was measured. The gain or loss
arising on translation of a non-monetary item measured at
fair value is treated in line with the recognition of the gain
or loss on change in fair value of the item (i.e., translation
difference on the item whose fair value gain or loss is
recognised in other comprehensive income or profit or loss
is also recognised in other comprehensive income or profit
or loss, respectively).

In determining the exchange rate on initial recognition of
the related asset, expense or income on the derecognition
of a non-monetary asset or non-monetary liability relating
to an advance consideration, the date of initial transaction
is the date on which the Group initially recognises the non-
monetary asset or non-monetary liability arising from the
advance consideration. If there are multiple payments or
receipts in advance, the Group determines the transaction
date for each payment or receipt of the advance
consideration.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Foreign currencies (continued)

The functional currencies of the Company, certain
subsidiaries and certain joint ventures are currencies
other than RMB. As at the end of the reporting period, the
assets and liabilities of these entities are translated into
RMB at the exchange rates prevailing at the end of the
reporting period and their statements of profit or loss are
translated into RMB at the average exchange rates for the
year. The resulting exchange differences are recognised
in other comprehensive income and accumulated in the
exchange fluctuation reserves. On disposal of an operation
with functional currency other than RMB, the component
of other comprehensive income relating to that particular
operation is recognised in the statement of profit or loss.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash
the cash flows of the Company and certain
subsidiaries with functional currencies other than RMB
are translated into RMB at the exchange rates ruling at
the dates of the cash flows. Frequently recurring cash

flows,

flows of the Company and those subsidiaries which
arise throughout the year are translated into RMB at the
exchange rates that approximate to those prevailing at the
dates of the transactions.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES

The preparation of the Group's financial statements
requires management to make judgements, estimates and
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of revenues,
expenses, assets and liabilities, and their accompanying
disclosures, and the disclosure of contingent liabilities.
Uncertainty about these assumptions and estimates could
result in outcomes that could require a material adjustment
to the carrying amounts of the assets or liabilities affected
in the future.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES (continued)

Judgements

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies,
management has made the following judgements, apart
from those involving estimations, which have the most
significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial
statements:

Determining the timing of satisfaction of contracts related
to sale of properties

The Group determined that the sales contract with
customers requires the Group to complete the development
of property before transferring the legal title of the relevant
property to customers. The Group also determined that the
Group does not have an enforceable right to payment from
customers for performance completed to date before the
transfer of legal title of the relevant property to customers.
Consequently, the Group concluded that the timing of
transfer of properties is at the point in time when the
purchasers obtained the physical possession or the legal
title of the completed property.

Determining whether the acquisition of subsidiaries
constituted a business combination

Management determines whether the acquisition of
subsidiaries constituted acquisition of assets and
liabilities or business combination by assessing if there is
business acquired. Management exercises judgements
to determine if the acquired set of activities and assets
includes an input and a substantive process that together
significantly contribute to the ability to create outputs
in each acquisition. If the acquired subsidiaries did not
contain these elements, management will account for the
acquisition of subsidiaries as acquisition of assets and
liabilities.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES (continued)

Judgements (continued)
Impairment of assets

In determining whether an asset is impaired or the event
previously causing the impairment no longer exists, the
Group has to exercise judgement in the area of asset
impairment, particularly in assessing: (1) whether an
event has occurred that may affect the asset value or
such event affecting the asset value does not exist; (2)
whether the carrying value of an asset can be supported
by the net present value of future cash flows which are
estimated based upon the continued use of the asset or
derecognition; and (3) the appropriate key assumptions
to be applied in preparing cash flow projections including
whether these cash flow projections are discounted using
an appropriate rate. Changing the assumptions selected
by management to determine the level of impairment,
including the discount rates or the growth rate assumptions
in the cash flow projections, could materially affect the net
present value used in the impairment test.

Impairment of other receivables and loans receivable

The policy for the impairment of other receivables and
loans receivable of the Group is based on the forward
looking basis the expected credit losses associated with its
assets carried at amortised cost and financial assets at fair
value through other comprehensive income. A considerable
amount of judgement is required in assessing the ultimate
realisation of these receivables including the Group's
historical records, existing market conditions and forward
looking estimates at the end of the reporting period. If
the financial condition of the Group’s other receivables
and loans receivable was deteriorated, resulting in an
impairment of their abilities to make payments, additional
allowances may be required.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES (continued)

Judgements (continued)
Land appreciation tax

Under the Detailed Rules for the Implementation of
Provisional Regulations on Land Appreciation Tax (“LAT")
of the PRC on 27 January 1995, all gains arising from the
transfer of real estate property in Mainland China effective
from 1 January 1994 are subject to LAT at progressive
rates ranging from 30% to 60% on the appreciation of land
value, being the proceeds from sales of properties less
deductible expenditures including amortisation of land
use rights, borrowing costs and all property development
expenditures.

The subsidiaries of the Group engaging in property
development business in Mainland China are subject to
LAT. However, the implementation and settlement of LAT
vary amongst the cities in Mainland China and the Group
has not finalised its LAT calculation and payments with
various tax authorities. Accordingly, significant judgement
is required in determining the amount of land appreciation
and related taxes. The ultimate tax determination is
uncertain during the ordinary course of business. The
Group recognises these liabilities based on management’s
best estimates. When the final tax outcome of these matters
is different from the amounts that were initially recorded,
such differences will impact the provisions for LAT in the
period in which such determination is made.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES (continued)

Judgements (continued)
Property lease classification — Group as lessor

The Group has entered into commercial property leases
on its investment property portfolio. The Group has
determined, based on an evaluation of the terms and
conditions of the arrangements, such as the lease term
not constituting a major part of the economic life of
the commercial property and the present value of the
minimum lease payments not amounting to substantially
all the fair value of the commercial property, that it retains
substantially all the significant risks and rewards incidental
to ownership of these properties which are leased out and
accounts for the contracts as operating leases.

Significant judgement in determining the lease term of
contracts with renewal options

The Group has several lease contracts that include
extension and termination options. The Group applies
judgement in evaluating whether or not to exercise the
option to renew or terminate the lease. That is, it considers
all relevant factors that create an economic incentive for
it to exercise either the renewal or termination. After the
commencement date, the Group reassesses the lease term
if there is a significant event or change incircumstances
that is within its control and affects its ability to exercise or
not to exercise the option to renew or to terminate the lease
(e.g., construction of significant leasehold improvements or
significant customisation to the leased asset).

Estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key
sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting
period, that have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
within the next financial year, are described below:
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Notes to the Financial Statements

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES (continued)

Estimation uncertainty (continued)
Impairment of goodwill

The Group determines whether goodwill is impaired at least
on an annual basis. This requires an estimation of the value
in use of the cash-generating units to which the goodwill is
allocated. Estimating the value in use requires the Group
to make an estimate of the expected future cash flows from
the cash-generating units and also to choose a suitable
discount rate in order to calculate the present value of
those cash flows.

Estimation of fair value of investment properties

The best evidence of fair value is current prices in an
active market for similar lease terms and other contracts.
In the absence of such information, management has
determined the amounts within a range of reasonable fair
value estimates. In making its estimation, management
considers information from (i) current prices in an active
market for properties of different nature, conditions or
locations, adjusted to reflect those differences; (ii) recent
prices of similar properties in less active markets, with
adjustments to reflect any changes in economic conditions
since the date of transactions that occurred at those
prices; and (iii) discounted cash flow projections based
on reliable estimates of future cash flows, supported by
the terms of any existing lease and other contracts and
(when possible) from external evidence such as current
market rents for similar properties in the same location
and condition, and using discount rates that reflect current
market assessments of the uncertainty in the amount and
timing of cash flows.

The Group's investment properties were revalued on 31
December 2022 by independent, professionally qualified
valuers, Shenzhen Touchstone Evaluation and Consultancy
Co., Ltd., on an open market, existing use basis.

Further details, including the key assumptions used for fair
value measurement and a sensitivity analysis, are given in
note 15 to the financial statements.
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168

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES (continued)

Estimation uncertainty (continued)

Fair value of unlisted equity investments and debt
investment

The unlisted equity investments and debt investment have
been valued based on a valuation technique as detailed
in note 43 to the financial statements. The Group classifies
the fair value of these investments as Level 3. Further
details are included in note 21 to the financial statements.

Current taxes and deferred taxes

The Group is subject to income taxes in numerous
jurisdictions. Significant estimation and judgement were
required in determining the amount of the provision for tax
and the timing of payment of the related taxes. There were
transactions and calculations for which the ultimate tax
determination was uncertain during the ordinary course of
business.

As detailed in the Company’s accounting policies, deferred
tax is provided, using the liability method, on all temporary
differences at the end of the reporting period between
the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying
amounts for financial reporting purposes.

Where the final tax outcomes of these matters are different
from the amounts that were initially recorded, such
differences will impact on the income tax and deferred tax
provisions in the periods in which such determination is
made.

Gemdale Properties and Investment Corporation Limited
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Notes to the Financial Statements

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES (continued)

Estimation uncertainty (continued)
Provision

A provision is recognised when a present obligation has
arisen as a result of a past event and it is probable that
a future outflow of resources will be required to settle the
obligation, provided that a reliable estimate of the amount
of the obligation can be made. Significant estimation is
required in determining the amount of certain obligations.
Where the final outcomes of these obligations are
different from the amounts that were initially recognised,
adjustments will be made according to the latest
information available.

Estimation of total budgeted costs and costs of completion
for properties under development

Total budgeted costs for properties under development
comprise (i) prepaid land lease payments; (ii) building
costs; and (iii) any other direct costs attributable to the
development of the properties. In estimating the total
budgeted costs for properties under development,
management makes reference to information such as (i)
current offers from contractors and suppliers; (ii) recent
offers agreed with contractors and suppliers; and (iii)
professional estimation on construction and material costs.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES (continued)

Estimation uncertainty (continued)
Leases — Estimating the incremental borrowing rate

The Group cannot readily determine the interest rate
implicit in a lease, and therefore, it uses an incremental
borrowing rate (“IBR”) to measure lease liabilities. The IBR
is the rate of interest that the Group would have to pay to
borrow over a similar term, and with a similar security, the
funds necessary to obtain an asset of a similar value to
the right-of-use asset in a similar economic environment.
The IBR therefore reflects what the Group “would have
to pay”, which requires estimation when no observable
rates are available (such as for subsidiaries that do not
enter into financing transactions) or when it needs to be
adjusted to reflect the terms and conditions of the lease (for
example, when leases are not in the subsidiary’s functional
currency). The Group estimates the IBR using observable
inputs (such as market interest rates) when available and is
required to make certain entity-specific estimates (such as
the subsidiary’s stand-alone credit rating).

OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION

For management purposes, the Group is organised into
business units based on their products and services and
has four reportable operating segments as follows:

(a) the property development segment — development
and sale of residential and commercial properties,
and fitting-out works;

(b) the property investment and management segment
— investment and management of business parks
and commercial properties;

(c) the micro-finance segment — provision of financial
services to property buyers and small businesses;
and

(d) the corporate segment — the Group’s corporate
management services.

Gemdale Properties and Investment Corporation Limited
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Notes to the Financial Statements

OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION
(continued)

Management monitors the results of the Group’s operating
segments separately for the purpose of making decisions
about resources allocation and performance assessment.
Segment performance is evaluated based on reportable
segment profit/loss, which is a measure of adjusted profit/
loss before tax. The adjusted profit/loss before tax is
measured consistently with the Group’s profit before tax
except that bank interest income, non-lease-related finance
costs, changes in fair value of financial assets at fair value,
other income from financial assets at fair value as well as
head office and corporate expenses are excluded from
such measurement.

Segment information is presented by way of the Group's
primary segment reporting basis, by business segment.
No geographical segment information is presented as over
90% (2021: over 90%) of the Group’s revenue is derived
from customers based in Mainland China, and over 90%
(2021: over 90%) of the Group’s assets are located in
Mainland China.

Segment assets exclude deferred tax assets, certain
deposits, bank and cash balances, prepaid tax and
financial assets at fair value as these assets are managed
on a group basis. Segment liabilities exclude certain
interest-bearing bank and other borrowings, tax payable,
deferred tax liabilities, and amounts due to group
companies, non-controlling shareholders and a related
company as these liabilities are managed on a group
basis.

During the current and prior years, there were no
intersegment transactions.
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IR MR

31 December 2022
2022912 A31H

4. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION 4. eI ER (&)

(continued)

Year ended 31 December 2022 HZ2022F12A31BHLLFE

Property
investment
Property and Micro-
development management finance Corporate Total
NEBE NEREREE NEER EER @
RMB’OO_O RMB’OO_O RMB’OO_O RMB’000 RMB’OO_O
ARETRE  AR¥Tr  ARETrn  AR®Tz  ARETrn
Segment revenue: ABUA :
Sales to external customers HETFHREF 8,907,147 1,128,646 266,699 - 10,302,492
Segment cost DA (7,419,576) (529,852) (16,375) - (7,965,803)
Segment gross profit FHERN 1,487,571 598,794 250,324 - 2,336,689
Segment results: FHEE 2,313,992 2,151,368 144,400 (153,966) 4,455,794
Reconciliation %
Bank interest income RITHISIMA 32,311
Finance costs (other than interest YHER(TeERE (1,066,731)
on lease liabilities) afEfe)
Changes in fair values of financial assets AR EBEZERHEEL 40,847
at fair value MREEH
Other income from financial assets DA BEEZEREEY 23,771
at fair value Hi A
Profit before tax BRRH 3,485,992
Segment assets: AREE 56,361,365 24,008,673 2,541,082 26,649 82,937,769
Reconciliation 4
Other unallocated assets kA REE 3,048,936
Total assets EELE 85,986,705
Segment liabilities: AHEE 32,083,659 8,367,737 211,518 68,142 40,731,056
Reconciliation i
Other unallocated liabilities EthAAEAR 18,281,794
Total liabilities AEAE 59,012,850
Other segment information: At AHER !
Share of profits and losses of joint ventures ~ E{55 &R BB (1,287,114) (313,435) - - (1,600,549)
Share of profits and losses of associates EfHERERE (544,256) (12,695) - (556,951)
Changes in fair values of investment RENFE AR EEE - (1,436,986 - - (1,436,986)
properties
Changes in fair values of investment RENE - FREEE - 164,553 - - 164,553
properties - right-of-use assets LDREED
Impairment of properties ENE] 598,125 - 598,125
Net gain on disposal/deemed disposal e/ BRALERBAA (20,617) - - (20,617)
of subsidiaries W v
Net gain on disposal/deemed disposal e/ BRALEAERT (34,043) - - - (34,043)
of joint ventures Pl oy
Remeasurement gains on interests HBERSERRMEE (240,345) - - - (240,345)
previously held in joint ventures Ensy ez e
Gain on bargain purchase ZENEY R X (4,061) - - - (4,061)
Depreciation of property, plant and nx  BERZEZNE 7,464 13,275 921 1,901 23,561
equipment
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FRELELTE 8,266 724 = 7,367 16,357
Amortisation B ~ - 8,228 - - 8,228
Impairment of receivables, net FEWETRE 58 (17,335) 485 71,189 12 54,351
Capital expenditure* ARERT 15,220 774,893 846 5,786 796,745
Investments in joint ventures REeRE RE 16,354,708 3,003,656 - - 19,358,364
Investments in associates REENAZ RE 6,430,082 34,119 - - 6,464,201

THBHERERRLQF
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31 December 2022
2022412 A31H

OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION 4. RK&53&EH (4#F)
(continued)
Year ended 31 December 2021 HZE2021F12A31HIEFE
Property
investment
Property and Micro-
development mana ement finance Corporate Total
DUE mRRANEE (B ewm 4
RVBOO0  RVE o0 RMBO00  RMBOO0  RMBOOO
AREFT  ARBTR Btr  ARET  ARET:
(restated; (restatedg (restated; (restated;
31 (E31 £ (Z5]
Segment revenue: AHBA . N
Sales to external customers HETHREF 13,019,697 868,576 296,522 - 14,184,795
Segment cost DA (10,867,345) (410,810) (22,611) - (11,300,766)
Segment gross profit ABEH 2,152,352 457,766 273911 - 2884029
Segment results: PWKE 4,076,793 2,202,406 195,729 (157,769) 6,317,159
Reconciliation E3l3
Bank interest income iﬁﬁgﬁ WA 26,431
Finance costs (other than interest HBER (L AERE (806,852)
on lease liabilities) afEflg)
Changes in fair values of financial assets AR BT E7 e RERE 165,319
at fair value LR EEY
Other income from financial assets DX’&%T%%EZ% BEE 21,400
at fair value ZEMRA
Profit before tax BREE AR R 5,723,457
Segment assets: ﬁ%ﬁﬁg : 49,977 576 21,611,472 2,683,497 28,837 74,301,382
Reconciliation 2% .
Other unallocated assets RtRDREE 2.777,253
Total assets EEGSE 77,078,635
Segment liabilities: ABEE: 33,766,915 7,884,015 419,132 58,794 42,128,856
Reconciliation g
Other unallocated liabilities AN AR 10,360,171
Total liabilities RfEes 52,489,027
Other segment information: HMARMER :
Share of profits and losses of joint ventures  EIEE =R 2 BE 5729,191; (468,638 = = (1,197,829
Share of profits and losses of associates B NARE 681,506 (1,866 - = (683,372
Changes in fair values of investment RENEZAREEY - (1464,248 - - (1,464,248
properties .
Changes in fair values of investment RENZE - CREEE - 78,696 - - 78,696
properties - right-of-use assets JAnEEY
Net gains on disposal of investment LERENZ NEFE = (42,493) = = (42,493)
properties . )
Gains on disposal/deemed disposal e /BRLENBAR (123,904) = = = (123,904)
of subsidiaries Ll
Gains on bargain purchase EEE R (1,157,931 - = - (1,157,931
Government grants TR - . (86,934 (7,829) (101) (94,864
Depreolatlon of property, plant and nx  HERRBINE 19,105 4,321 662 3,336 27,424
equipment
Depreciation of right-of-use assets %W’é BETE 21,999 252 = 9,188 31,439
Amortisation B - 8,228 - 8,228
Impairment of receivables, net m&a@m et 22,936 673 30,520 = 54,129
Capital expenditure* ERFEX" . 57,964 1,400,793 1,958 2,514 1,463,229
Investments in joint ventures EQ/E\%QE]ZTQQ 16,155,985 2,003,303 - - 18,159,288
Investments in associates R B AT RE 4,860,322 0,679 = = 4,901,001

*

Capital expenditure consists of additions to property,

plant and equipment, investment properties and right-

of-use assets.

BAESERRYE . BERSHE  #
EWED R EHEREANSIET -
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31 December 2022
2022912 A31H

5. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS

(a)

5. WA - Htt AR Kz

Revenue (a) WA
An analysis of revenue is as follows: WAZDIHTET :
2022 2021
2022F 20214
RMB’ 000 RMB’000
ARET T ARET T
Revenue from contracts with customers REEZFBEHNZWA
Sales of properties L E = 8,907,147 12,222,107
Property management fee income from: VHEEBBRAKRE :
— fellow subsidiaries —REWEBRF] 2,106 1,800
— third parties —%=% 313,266 236,218
Utility income NRAEBFERBRA 20,395 12,878
Entrusted management fee income WERE XK B AR Z 24,906 24,906
from a fellow subsidiary BETAEBRA
Fitting-out works income from: #EETRKAKRSE :
— fellow subsidiaries — RZRK B AR - 265,872
— joint ventures —&ENA] - 27,539
- an associate NG - 4,414
— third parties —F£=5 - 499,765
Revenue from other sources H AR Z WA
Gross rental income from operating leases KEREWMEZKLHE
of investment properties: AL ONEE
— fellow subsidiaries —RREWEBRF] 17,496 14,393
— third parties == 750,477 578,381
Interest income on loans receivable FEURE R ZFIB WA 266,699 296,522
10,302,492 14,184,795
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INCOME AND GAINS 5.

IR R M

31 December 2022
2022412 A31H

WA - A R W (&)

(continued)
(a) Revenue (continued) (a) WA (#&)
Revenue from contracts with customers EHEEERA 2 WA
(i) Disaggregated revenue information (i) e AR
Property
investment
Property and
development management Total
NERR NERER ek
BE
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TR ARBTR ARETL
For the year ended 31 December 2022 HZ202F12A31HILEE
Types of goods or services ERkRBER
Sale of properties MEHE 8,907,147 = 8,907,147
Provision of property management services RENFERRE - 315,372 315,372
Utility income AREBERBHA - 20,395 20,395
Entrusted management fee income from WERZHBARZ - 24,906 24,906
a fellow subsidiary ERHEERA
Total revenue from contracts with customers REERFRANZUANEE 8,907,147 360,673 9,267,820
Timing of revenug recognition WA 2 R
Goods transferred at a point in time RRE¥EZ/ER 8,907,147 - 8,907,147
Services transferred over time REREE R - 360,673 360,673
Total revenue from contracts with customers KEEEFHANZMALE 8,907,147 360,673 9,267,820
For the year ended31 December 2021 HZ2021F12A31BLLEE
Types of goods or services EmRkREER
Sale of properties MEHE 12,222107 - 12,222,107
Provision of property management services RENEERRE = 238,018 238,018
Utility income PRZBERERA - 12,878 12,878
Entrusted management fee income from a WRRAZHBAR = 24,906 24,906
fellow subsidiary ERTEBRA
Fitting-out works EETiR 797,590 - 797,590
Total revenue from contracts with customers REARPHAN I MANEE 13,019,697 275802 13,295,499
Timing of revenug recognition WAZBEREH
Goods transferred at a point in time ERHEZE/Em 12,222,107 - 12,222,107
Services transferred over time RERERE BB 797,590 275,802 1,073,392
Total revenue from contracts with customers REEEFPHANIMALE 13,019,697 275802 13,295,499
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31 December 2022
2022912 A31H

5. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS 5. WA - Hftlk AR WKz (F
(continued)
(a) Revenue (continued) (a) WA(E)
Revenue from contracts with customers (continued) FEHHEEFEIELZ WA (&)
() Disaggregated revenue information (i) WADHF (&)
(continued)
The following table shows the amounts of TRODBEEARSE ISR
revenue recognised in the current reporting BEATEEKRBOZBEmMR
period that were included in the contract R EHERMAZ 2%
liabilities at the beginning of the reporting
period and recognised from performance
obligations satisfied in previous periods
2022 2021
20224 20214
RMB’ 000 RMB’000
AR®T T ARBETTT
Revenue recognised that was included in BIEEARE A
contract liabilities at the beginning of the ERBEAZ
reporting period: ERERBA -
— Sales of properties —MEHE 4,692,827 2,688,171
— Fitting-out works —RiEIE - 111,512
4,692,827 2,799,683
(i) Performance obligations (i) BHE
Information about the Group's performance REE 2 BHOREESBIER
obligations is summarised below: T
Sales of properties Y EEE
The performance obligation is satisfied upon EEETEYHERESRIZY
the physical possession of the completed ERERENBORE - — &
property is obtained by the purchasers. The TE B | 7 2 B 5 2 BT URER
payment is generally received before or at FIE o
the time of transfer of control.
176 Gemdale Properties and Investment Corporation Limited
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5. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS
(continued)

(a) Revenue (continued)

(if)

(iii)

Performance obligations (continued)

Property management fee income, entrusted
management fee income and fitting-out works
income

The performance obligation is satisfied over
time as services are rendered and short-
term advances are normally required before
rendering the services. Management service
contracts are for periods of one year or less,
or are billed based on the time incurred.

Unsatisfied performance obligations

For sales of properties, the Group recognises
revenue when or as the control of the asset
is transferred to the purchaser. Depending
on the terms of the contract and the laws
that apply to the contract, control of the
asset may transfer over time or at a point in
time. The amount of unsatisified performance
obligation principally comprises the balance
of contract liabilities.

For property management fee income and
entrusted management fee income, the
Group recognises revenue in the amount
that equals to the right to invoice which
corresponds directly with the value to the
customer of the Group’s performance to date,
on a monthly basis. The Group has elected
the practical expedient for not to disclose the
remaining performance obligations for these
type of contracts.
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WA - WA R WS (&

(a) WA

(i)

(iii)

BRI (&)
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5.

178

REVENUE, OTHER

(continued)

(b)

Other income and gains

INCOME AND GAINS 5.

(b)

An analysis of other income and gains is as follows:

WA - b AR Wz (&

H A R 28

Hip W AR M zm 2 DT

2022 2021
20225 20214
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARET T ARETR
Bank interest income SRITHA BIA 32,311 26,431
Interest income from a related company REBERRZMEBA 51,486 66,674
Interest income from joint ventures and associates RESEDRREEDA]ZF B KA 255,596 255,723
Interest income from third parties REEZFZHEMA 23,487 32,531
Interest income from financial assets at fair value REUAREHEZEHEEL 21,545 14,695
VN
Gains on disposal of financial assets at fair value HENAAEHEZEBEENRS 2,226 6,705
Consulting services income from: BRERERAKRE:
— joint ventures =] 280,681 291,744
- associates VNG 36,166 71,955
— third parties -E=H 37,956 54,419
Net gain on disposal of investment properties HERES 2 W FE - 42,493
Net gains on disposal/deemed disposal HE/ RRALEHBARZ 20,617 123,904
of subsidiaries (Note 37) Wes F B 237)
Net gains on disposal/deemed disposal HE/ BRLEGEDAZ 34,043 7,823
of joint ventures Yo 558
Fair value gain on properties held for sales FHEMEETRENEL - 10,798
transferred to investment properties AnERE
Remeasurement gains on interests previously HBTREEARMER 240,345 =
held in joint ventures EnEintE s Wi
Gains on bargain purchase (Note 35) BB R A735) 4,061 1,157,931
Government grants TR HE B 28,452 94,864
Others Hit 53,636 144,123
1,122,608 2,402,813
# Various government grants have been received # 75 B ER G & I8 N

from local government. They mainly represented
financial assistance for sub-leasing business
(2021: for public facilities) in the Mainland
China. As at 31 December 2022 and 2021,
there was no unfulfilled conditions and other
contingencies attaching to the government
grants that had been recognised by the Group.
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31 December 2022
2022412 A31H

FINANCE COSTS 6. HMKEA
An analysis of finance costs is as follows: MBEBERZONHET :
2022 2021
20224 20214
RMB’ 000 RMB’000
ARETT ARETIT
Interest on bank borrowings IRITERFE 162,920 68,228
Interest expenses to group companies SEARZFEZ T 1,083,717 807,886
Interest expenses to non-controlling R R 2R B 26,995 12,313
shareholders
Interest expenses to joint ventures EENRIRBEREZ 62,426 65,092
and an associate FEZH
Interest on other borrowings EEHFE 15,231 74,338
1,351,289 1,027,857
Interest on lease liabilities HEaEFNE 49,763 61,726
Other finance costs H B 758 A 14,752 15,274
Total finance costs incurred EXZH%ERRE 1,415,804 1,104,857
Less: Interest capitalised in B BEEREFE
- investment properties under construction — R EME (5,685) (4,968)
(Note 15(a)) (Htzt15(a))
— properties under development (Note 17) — BRI (HE17) (293,625) (231,311)
1,116,494 868,578
OTHER CHARGE 7. HtEA

REBERFAFE TR IR EE 2 W5
RTIIRERE

During the year, the Group made the following impairment
losses for certain properties in Mainland China:

2022 2021

20224 20214

RMB’ 000 RMB’'000

AR® Tt AREET T

Properties held for sale FHEWE 72,720 =
Properties under development BERERPYE 525,405 =
598,125 -
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31 December 2022
2022412 A31H

8. PROFIT BEFORE TAX 8. B i Bl 3 A
The Group’s profit before tax is arrived at after charging/ REBEBRBADEFEHBR S (GTA) THE
(crediting): 15 :
2022 2021
20225 20214
RMB’ 000 RMB’000
AR®TR AREEFTT
Cost of properties sold YEHEKRAR 7,419,576 10,200,301
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment (Note 13) W - BEREREITE (A213) 25,572 27,725
Less: Amounts capitalised in property development projects W BIEMEERIBE C AR LERE (2,011) (301)
23,561 27,424
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FRESEZHE 176,868 193,553
Less: Amounts capitalised in property development projects B BEMERRIEE c AL (160,511) (162,114)
16,357 31,439
Amortisation of intangible assets* (Note 20) B AERE (K1:720) 8,228 8,228
Outgoings (including repairs and maintenance) WHREEMEREE ZFX 71,199 64,298
arising on rental-earning investment properties (BREEERRE)
Net gains on disposal of items of property, plant and equipment &Y% - MERREEE 2 Wz F5E (43) (70)
Gains on lease termination RIFAE 2 e - (2,835)
Net gain on disposal of investment properties HERBYE 2 W FE - (42,493)
Net gains on disposal/deemed disposal of subsidiaries (Note 37) & /R EH B AR 2 W5 548 (M:237) (20,617) (123,904)
Net gains on disposal/deemed disposal of joint ventures HE/RRLESE QR FE (34,043) (7,823)
Changes in fair values of investment properties (Note 15(a)) REMEZ DR ELE (HiE150a) (1,436,986) (1,464,248)
Changes in fair values of investment properties — REME - FRAEEEZ 164,553 78,696
right-of-use assets** (Note 15(b)) RABEE (Mt 15(b))
Fair value gain on properties held for sale transferred to FHENEETRENE 2 A ERE - (10,798)
investment properties
Changes in fair values of financial assets at fair value URAARENEZEREEZAAELE (40,847) (165,319)
Gains on bargain purchase (Note 35) A EWE R (f7:#35) (4,061) (1,157,931)
Remeasurement gains on interests previously held in HBAREENRMRE (240,345) =
joint ventures BREN B
Impairment of receivables, net (Note 23) FEUBR TR 2 BB - SF R (H1:#23) 54,351 54,129
Impairment of properties (Note 7) BRPYEZRE (H1:27) 598,125 =
Lease payments not included in the measurement of REEFEAHERBZHENK 427 208
lease liabilities
Employee benefit expense (including directors’ emoluments BERA AL (BEEZNE
(Note 10)): (Bat10)) -
Wages and salaries T& K E 1,036,916 1,192,643
Pension schemes contributions RRETEIHER 64,922 51,719
Total employee benefit expenses RERAZAZ L 1,101,838 1,244,362
Auditor’s remuneration ZE S 5,852 5,193
Foreign exchange differences, net ERES F8 9,737 45,723
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31 December 2022
2022412 A31H

PROFIT BEFORE TAX (continued) BRELBDRER (F
* The amortisation of intangible assets is included * BREEHECTAGEBnX 2 [H
in “Direct operating expenses” in the consolidated A ER ] -

statement of profit or loss.

*%

The changes in fair values of investment properties
- right-of-use assets is included in “Cost” in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss.

TAX

No provision for Hong Kong profits tax has been made as
the Group had no assessable profits arising in Hong Kong
during the year (2021: Nil). Taxation on Mainland China
profits was calculated on the estimated assessable profits
for the year at the rates of tax prevailing in the jurisdiction
in which the Group operates.

The provision for LAT has been estimated according
to the requirements set forth in the relevant PRC laws
and regulations. LAT has been provided at ranges of
progressive rates of the appreciation value, with certain
allowable deductions.

The amount of tax charge in the consolidated statement of
profit or loss represents:

* REWE — (EHBEEZ A EZEE
FAGEE R & Z [ -

BiIH

AR R S B 0 F R A & B JE SR B A
Ao MW EIERFEFNGH Z #E (2021
FoBE) PREREEMNZRECHRAFE
EFRHERBUEN - BARBERLZ XM E R
R BRITHEE -

THIBETR 2 BB RE B BUED MR
PRz SREEL AR - THIRERIIZER
ERFETAIRZERR  REERETZ
W VR H A o

RiZBBaER CHBASHMT ¢

2022 2021

2022 20214

RMB’ 000 RMB’000

ARET T ARBTT

Current — Hong Kong BNER — &E - =
Current — Mainland China BUER — A B KR

Charge for the year REFERLZH 360,273 987,479

Underprovision in prior years BEFETERE 3,494 666

LAT in Mainland China B RE 2 I (ET 545,071 618,448

Deferred (Note 33) IBRE (B77£33) 223,666 (212,070)

1,132,504 1,394,523
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31 December 2022
2022912 A31H

9. TAX (continued) Bi1E (&)
A reconciliation of the tax expense applicable to profit BARNT REKBHKE AT FEER
before tax at the statutory rates for the jurisdiction in BARBRBAEN 2 EEMEHE MBS
which the Company and the majority of its subsidiaries are - ERERBERGE o RIEL N 2K
domiciled to the tax charge at the effective tax rate, and a NRBEATE (BNEERE) BERTE 2
reconciliation of the applicable rates (i.e., the statutory tax BRELDILDT -
rates) to the effective tax rates, are as follows:
2022 2021
2022%F 20214
RMB’ 000 % RMB’000 %
AR¥T T ARBTT
Profit before tax R 351 A1 e A 3,485,992 5,723,457
Tax at the applicable statutory REREEMESE 769,156 22.2 1,426,254 24.9
tax rates 18
Adjustments in respect of FERBAHRZ 3,494 0.1 666 0.0
current tax of previous periods BIHAT 18
Profits and losses attributable to JE(hE & AR AE (341,348) -9.8 (287,872) -5.0
joint ventures
Profits and losses attributable to FE(RE & A R &S (139,238) -4.0 (130,517) 2.3
associates
Income not subject to tax BERB 2 WA (92,588) -2.6 (370,318) -6.5
Expenses not deductible for tax a4 2 2 127,178 3.6 98,089 1.7
Utilisation of previously A BT RER (6,518) -0.2 (5,476) -0.1
unrecognised tax losses MIBEE
Tax losses for which no deferred KA MERIEIERIE 192,532 5.5 21,944 0.4
tax asset was recognised BEZMIAEE
LAT in Mainland China HR YK RE 2 T 3B AR 545,071 15.6 618,448 10.9
Withholding tax in Mainland China AR B K BE 2 TR AT S 8L 74,765 2.1 23,305 0.4
1,132,504 32.5 1,394,523 24.4
The share of tax attributable to joint ventures amounting EliE& &R aRIBARY1,210,847,0007T
to RMB1,210,847,000 (2021: RMB1,110,669,000) and (20214 : AR¥1,110,669,0007T) & FEfh
the share of tax attributable to associates amounting to Bt N A FIE A R#209,646,0007T (2021
RMB209,646,000 (2021: RMB438,166,000) are included in 0 AR#438,166,0007T) B2 Bl B IEELR
“Share of profits and losses of joint ventures” and “Share GERRIEEEERATAE | & [ EIhEE
of profits and losses of associates”, respectively, in the NEEEIA -
consolidated statement of profit or loss.
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10. DIRECTORS’ AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID
EMPLOYEES’ EMOLUMENTS

(a)

IR R M

31 December 2022
2022412 A31H

10. ESERIEESFHETIME

Directors’ emoluments (a) E=E=EMe
No remuneration has been paid by the Group to the AFEEREFERN  AEBEHERE
Directors as an inducement to join upon joining the EXNERMESERINARERE 2 &
Group, or as compensation for loss of office during By - SIEREERRE
the current and prior years.
There was no arrangement under which a Director KEEREFERN  BEESZRIET
waived or agreed to waive any remuneration during A EXREREENE -
the current and prior years.
Directors’ emoluments for the year ended 31 HE2022F12A31AILFERES
December 2022, disclosed pursuant to the Listing ZMeRE AR A FAE R RHED
Rules, section 383(1)(a), (b), (c) and (f) of the %383(1)(a) * (b) * (c)X(NHE UK
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and Part 2 of the ~El (BEEENGER) RAIZE2E5
Companies (Disclosure of Information about Benefits WEAT :
of Directors) Regulation, are as follows:
Salaries, Employer’s
allowances contributions
and benefits to pension
inkind Discretionary scheme
Fees ¥¢ - ZHK bonuses RIkSEE Total
e ENFE BERL  2EEXER ek
Name of Directors Yo RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000 RMB’000 RMB’ 000
AR%ETR ARETR  AR%Trn ARETR ARETR
Executive Directors HTES
Mr. Ling Ke ARE 988 - 430 = 1,418
Mr. Huang Juncan BRREE 988 - 430 - 1,418
Mr. Xu Jiajun GRERE 988 689 544 - 2,221
Mr. Wei Chuanjun REELE 988 412 498 - 1,898
3,952 1,101 1,902 - 6,955
Non-executive Directors FRTES
Mr. Loh Lian Huat Loh Lian Huatft & 344 - - - 344
Ms. Zhang Feiyun REERT 344 - - - 344
688 - - - 688
Independent non-executive BUFHTES
Directors
Mr. Hui Chiu Chung STRPEAE 407 - - - 407
Mr. Chiang Sheung Yee, Anthony E#Z %4 357 - - - 357
Mr. Xia Xinping BHTEE 445 - - - 445
1,209 - - - 1,209
5,849 1,101 1,902 - 8,852
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31 December 2022
2022912 A31H

10. DIRECTORS’ AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID
EMPLOYEES’ EMOLUMENTS (continued)

10. EERIEBSHFMEIZME (&

(a) Directors’ emoluments (continued) (a) E=M< (#F)
Directors’ emoluments for the year ended 31 HZE2021F12A31HILFERES
December 2021, disclosed pursuant to the Listing ZBeRE TR - FELQREG
Rules, section 383(1)(a), (b), (c) and (f) of the 2383(1)(a) * (b) * (c) () - UK
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and Part 2 of the ~El (BEBEEENEER) RAIE2E
Companies (Disclosure of Information about Benefits WEWMT -
of Directors) Regulation, are as follows:
Salaries, Employer’s
allowances contributions
and benefits to pension
inkind  Discretionary scheme
Fees %d - EHMR bonuses  BIKEFE Total
ik EnAla BERL  ZEFHER ag
Name of Directors o RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBFIL ARBTL ARBTT ARBTL ARBTT
Executive Directors HTES
Mr. Ling Ke AREE 955 - 830 = 1,785
Mr. Huang Juncan BRREE 955 - 830 = 1,785
Mr. Xu Jiajun RREEE 955 666 996 = 2617
Mr. Wei Chuanjun EEERAE 955 563 930 44 2,492
3,820 1,229 3,586 44 8,679
Non-executive Directors FRTES
Mr. Loh Lian Huat Loh Lian Huatst & 332 - - - 332
Ms. Zhang Feiyun REERT 332 - - = 332
664 - - - 664
Independent non-executive BUFHTES
Directors
Mr. Hui Chiu Chung STRP LA 393 - - - 393
Mr. Chiang Sheung Yee, Anthony % %4 345 = = = 345
Mr. Xia Xinping BHTEE 430 = = = 430
1,168 - - - 1,168
5,652 1,229 3,586 44 10,511

No retirement benefit contribution was made for the
Directors during the current year.
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31 December 2022
2022412 A31H

10. DIRECTORS’ AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID 10, EERELESEMET M (&
EMPLOYEES’ EMOLUMENTS (continued)

(b)

Five highest paid employees (b)

The five (2021: five) highest paid employees in the
Group for the year were non-director employees.
The emoluments payable to the five (2021: five) non-
director, highest paid employees for the year are as
follows:

hTEBRSHFMAL

RAFER  REBRE (2021F ' R
B)EEHMALTH AFEEERE -
KERZ (20214F : AR) & &

FEEREZMESHNWT -
2022 2021
2022 20214
RMB’ 000 RMB’000

ARBTT ARETT

Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind e EELREYH S 19,542 21,246
Discretionary bonuses BB 4L 15,616 18,735
Employer’s contributions to pension schemes Rk & T2 2@ EHK 701 628

35,859 40,609

The number of non-director, highest paid employees
whose emoluments fell within the following bands is
as follows:

ReFMIFEERERSIANTHEE
A2 ANBC:

Number of employees

EEAH™

2022 2021
RMB AR%R 20224 20214
5,000,001 to 5,500,000 5,000,001 %5,500,000 3 1
6,000,001 to 6,500,000 6,000,001 %6,500,000 - 1
6,500,001 to 7,000,000 6,500,001 % 7,000,000 - =
8,000,001 to 8,500,000 8,000,001 % 8,500,000 1 1
8,500,001 to 9,000,000 8,500,001 % 9,000,000 - 1
11,000,001 to 11,500,000 11,000,001 % 11,500,000 1 =
11,500,001 to 12,000,000 11,500,001 % 12,000,000 - =
12,000,001 to 12,500,000 12,000,001 % 12,500,000 - 1
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31 December 2022
2022912 A31H

11. EARNINGS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO 11. ZXAREBEAELEREF
OWNERS OF THE COMPANY
(a) Basic earnings per share (a) BSBREXER
The calculation of the basic earnings per share EREABFDIBRBFARQRFE
is based on the profit for the year attributable to AR R EFERND BITE BRI
owners of the Company, and the weighted average ¥ 2016,600,544,443 0% (2021
number of ordinary shares of 16,600,544,443 (2021: F 1 16,552,827,4570%) {EatE -
16,5652,827,457) in issue during the year.
(b) Diluted earnings per share (b) BREBRF
The calculation of the diluted earnings per share SREERTNBRIEBEFANARAGEE
is based on the profit for the year attributable to AEMEREMTE - AERBEAEZ T
owners of the Company. The weighted average BRI E AN FARABEITEE
number of ordinary shares used in the calculation REE (AN EERERRFE)
is the number of ordinary shares in issue during AR P B s L@ MR ErTE sk
the year, as used in the basic earnings per share i A B MEREAEREBEITYE
calculation, and the weighted average number of AR 2 Nk FHE o
ordinary shares assumed to have been issued at no
consideration on the deemed exercise or conversion
of all dilutive potential ordinary shares into ordinary
shares.
The calculations of basic and diluted earnings per share BREARESEN ZEHER :
are based on:
2022 2021
20224 20214
RMB’ 000 RMB’000
AR®T T ARBT T
Earnings B F
Profit attributable to owners of the Company, PAN/NCIES PN bl 2,310,630 4,014,231

used in earnings per share calculation

(RNRFTEERRT)
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12.

EARNINGS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO 11.
OWNERS OF THE COMPANY (continued)

The calculations of basic and diluted earnings per share

are based on: (continued)

Notes to the Financial Statements

IR R M

31 December 2022
2022412 A31H

RARFEABEBRERN (&)

BREAREBRANZAEDER : (&)

Number of shares

[
2022 2021
20224 20214

Shares

Weighted average number of ordinary shares in
issue during the year used in the basic
earnings per share calculation

Effect of dilution — weighted average
number of ordinary shares:
Share options

B

RERDHTEBRZ
I8 (LA B
BRAREMN)

WEYE - HARIE
Fiom
BiLE

16,600,544,443 16,552,827,457

16,733,188 81,464,030

16,617,277,631 16,634,291,487

DIVIDENDS 12. KA
2022 2021
20224 20214
RMB’ 000 RMB’000
AR®T T ARBET T
Proposed final dividend - RMB0.007 BORAREAR S — SR E AR 116,268 995,211

(2021: RMBO0.06) per ordinary share

AR#0.0077C
(20214 : AR¥0.067T)

At the Board meeting held on 28 March 2023, the Board
resolved to recommend the payment of a final dividend

MR2023F3F28HBITESEEERH L £
EHOREEREE2022F12A31BILFE

of RMB0.007 per share for the year ended 31 December EIREE R B EFRAREO0.007 7T » th#E

2022. The proposed final dividend is not reflected as

dividend payable in the consolidated financial statements ~TRZ B

until it is approved by the shareholders at the forthcoming

annual general meeting of the Company.

IRARHI B AR 7R 6 M Tk N R BR 5 E
C BN AR B EGRIT ZIRRE
FRE LERRIAERA AR -
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31 December 2022
2022912 A31H

13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 13. Y% - BERRE
Leasehold Office Furniture Motor
improvements equipment and fixtures vehicles Total
HENFEE FOERE GHREE AE a5
RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000
ARBT R ARETR ARBT R ARETTR ARBT R
At 31 December 2022 R2022512 8318
At 1 January 2022 R202%F1 418
Cost RE 71,404 41,067 15,646 32,212 160,329
Accumulated depreciation and impairment  2TE4TE K E (38,920) (27,362) (11,102) (21,142) (98,526)
Net carrying amount EmFE 32,484 13,705 4,544 11,070 61,803
At 1 January 2022, net of accumulated ~ R2022F181H 32,484 13,705 4,544 11,070 61,803
depreciation and impairment ARRRAERAE
Additions R ‘ 31,742 12,446 3,358 948 48,494
Acquisition of subsidiaries (Notes 35, 36) W2 R (/35 - 36) - 144 - - 144
Disposals Ed% \ - (1,045) (97) (283) (1,425)
Depreciation (Note 8) mEHis) (11,715) (7,724) (1,861) (4,272) (25,572)
Exchange realignment ERAE 14 28 35 79 213
At 31 December 2022, net of accumulated #2022 12 A 3 R 52,582 17,554 5,979 7,542 83,657
depreciation and impairment REENERAE
At 31 December 2022 20225127318
Cost KA L 103,699 52,293 19,019 32,559 207,570
Accumulated depreciation and impairment  2BHE RHE (51,117) (34,739) (13,040) (25,017) (123,913)
Net carrying amount RESE 52,582 17,554 5,979 7,542 83,657
At 31 December 2021: R20215128318
At 1 January 2021 202151718
Cost mE 71,789 39,108 13,635 25,290 149,722
Accumulated depreciation and impairment  2TE47E KAE (38,321) (22,529) (9,323) (17,517) (87,690)
Net carrying amount RESE 33,468 16,579 4,212 7,773 62,032
At 1 January 2021, net of accumulated 20211510 33,468 16,579 4,212 7,773 62,032
depreciation and impairment HRERAERAE
Additions R ‘ 41,519 6,962 1,910 7,128 57,519
Acquisition of subsidiaries (Note 35) WERNB AR (Hi735) 1489 994 325 = 2,808
Disposals & ‘ o (2,344) (136) (5) (2,485)
Disposal of subsidiaries (Mote 37) L EWB AR (Hit57) (27,972) (2,192) (59) = (30,223)
Depreciation (Aot &) e (Hi2s) (15,983) (6,262) (1,691) (3,789) (27.725)
Exchange realignment ERAE (37) (32) (17) (37) (123)
At 31 December 2021, net of accumulated H§2021¢12H§1 A 32,484 13,705 4,544 11,070 61,803
depreciation and impairment HR2ERERAE
At 31 December 2021 20215128318
Cost RE 71,404 41,067 15,646 32,212 160,329
Accumulated depreciation and impairment 247 E A& (38,920) (27,362) (11,102) (21,142) (98,526)
Net carrying amount BETE 32,484 13,705 4,544 11,070 61,803
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14.

15.

Notes to the Financial Statements

RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS

The Group as a lessee

The Group has lease contracts for the properties used in
its operations. The carrying amounts of the Group’s right-

14. FHEEE

IR R M

31 December 2022
2022412 A31H

REBEER/EEA

AEBEREKEMAZYEITLEERR -
FRAAKEREMAZERAEEEREER

of-use assets used in its operations and the movements BEmT
during the year are as follows:
2022 2021
20224 20214
RMB’ 000 RMB’000
ARBTT ARBFT
As at 1 January ®W1HA1H 21,168 120,657
Additions R 10,978 25,889
Termination ik = (44,423)
Depreciation e (16,357) (31,439)
Disposal of subsidiaries (Note 37) HEMWMB AR (#it37) - (48,695)
Exchange realignment M 5 A 2 1,365 (821)
As at 31 December MW12A8318 17,154 21,168
INVESTMENT PROPERTIES 15. BREYE
2022 2021
20224 20214
RMB’ 000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARBFT
Completed properties and properties under BT RIEREYE(a) 15,214,668 13,077,154
construction (a)
Right-of-use assets (b) FAEEE D) 1,003,704 1,019,414
16,218,372 14,096,568
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2022412 A31H

15. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued) 15. REWXE (&)
(a) Completed properties and properties under (a) BRIMERTEME

construction

2022 2021
2020% 0215
Investment Investment
Completed properties Completed properties
investment under investment under
properties construction Total properties construction Total
RIRENE  ARRENE BF AIREDE  ERREMZ 2E

RMB'’ 000 RMB'000 RMB' 000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTT  ARMTR  ARBTR  ARETR  ARETR  ARETR

Carrying amount at 1 January R1A1BZEEE 11,241,314 1,835,840 13,077,154 4754946 5,779,990 10,534,936
Additions/improvements 5/ g - 588,430 588,430 80733 1,162,701 1243434
Transfer between categories By 601,000 (601,000) - 5,211,168 (5,211,168) =
Transfer from properties held for sale BRGLENE - - - 186,881 = 186,881
Changes in fair values (ote 8) NMEZED(hH8) 1,387,604 49,382 1,436,986 1,359,931 104317 1,464,248
Acquisition of subsidiaries (Vore 35 WERBLAR (Hi5) - 112,098 112,098 = = =
Disposal e - - - (362,345 = (352,345)
Carrying amount at 31 December R12A31AZRERE 13,229,918 1,984,750 15,214,668 11,241,314 1,835,840 13,077,154
Additions to investment properties included interest KREYMEZIBABIEFRNEENREE
expense of RMB5,685,000 (2021: RMB4,968,000) AMez FER Y ARS5,685,0007T
(Note 6) that was incurred and capitalised during (20214 : AR#4,968,0007T) (Mt
the year. :¥6) o
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15. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued)

(a)

Completed properties and properties under
construction (continued)

The Group’s investment properties consist of
four office properties, two business parks, four
shopping centers, one apartment and four
properties under construction (2021: four office
properties, two business parks, four shopping
centers, one apartment and three properties under
construction). The Directors have determined that
the investment properties consist of four (2021: four)
classes of assets, i.e., office, shopping centre and
others, properties under construction — office, and
properties under construction — shopping centre
and others (2021: office, shopping centre and
others, properties under construction — office, and
properties under construction — shopping centre
and others), based on the nature, characteristics
and risks of each property. The Group’s investment
properties were revalued on 31 December
2022 by Shenzhen Touchstone Evaluation and
Consultancy Co., Ltd., independent professionally
qualified valuers, at an aggregate amount of
RMB15,214,668,000 (2021: RMB13,077,154,000).
Each year, the Group’s chief executive officer
decides to appoint which external valuers to be
responsible for the external valuations of the
Group’s properties. Selection criteria include market
knowledge, reputation, independence and whether
professional standards are maintained. The Group’s
property managers have discussions with the
valuers on the valuation assumptions and valuation
results annually when the valuation is performed for
annual financial reporting.

At 31 December 2022 and 2021, the Group has
obtained certificates of land use rights for all of its
investment properties in Mainland China.

Further particulars of the Group’s major investment
properties are included on pages 280 to 300 of the
annual report.

IR R M

31 December 2022
202212 A31H

15. REWE (&)

(a)

RTYERIERYE (B)

REBEREMERENERRIED
¥ WMEHEER - mWEEDFL -
—IBABRIMIBEEY S (20214 -
MIBRAEME  MEPEERE - WM
HEYHRL —HABR-BEEE
ME) EBRJREYMEZEE -
B I B R E 2 A AR (2021
FmBER)BE  ARQE -
BOROREM  EEDE - B
B UAREEME - BORORE
fth (20214 : HAE - B LRE
- ERWE -BDE URER
ME - BYPLREAM)  AEE
KEWMENR2022F12 A31HE BB
M HEAERTEERYITRBE LT
MEMEGEBEBEMERAAIEHE
ft» BEBARE15 214,668,000
7T (20214 + AR¥13,077,154,000
L) c AAKETRARSFREL
RRINBFEMEERAEEI Y
EHEITINIFE o FHEM 2 RIBZE
BEMSRA - 82 BUMEERESE
BEIRIFHEKE - AEEYELER
FEMBREET 2T ETFETG
MrwmB BT ERELTHER -

72022412 A31H k2021412 A
318 AREMINFEKREZREY
EHEMSLIERE -

AEBETEREMEZE—FFBHR
AERF280FFH300H o
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2022912 A31H

15. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued)

(a)

Completed properties and properties under

construction (continued)

15. REWE (&)

(a) RIMEREREVE (&)

Fair value hierarchy AREEREE
The following table illustrates the fair value TRHEJIREEBREMEZ RAER
measurement hierarchy of the Group's investment SEMGERE -
properties:
Fair value measurement using
DRETERA
Quoted prices Significant Significant
in active observable unobservable
markets inputs inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)
ERTS BATBE EAFUEER
ZHE BAE BAE Total
(B-1) (B=8) (B=8R) ek
RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000 RMB’000 RMB’ 000
ARETR ARETR AR¥ETR ARETR
At 31 December 2022 % 2022%612A31H
Recurring fair value measurement for: SEAAEE:
- Office o /N = = 10,880,157 10,880,157
- Shopping centre and others - BOROREAM - - 2,349,761 2,349,761
- Properties under construction - office - ERME - WD - - 195,999 195,999
- Properties under construction - —ERME - Boh O REM - - 1,788,751 1,788,751
shopping centre and others
- - 15,214,668 15,214,668
At 31 December 2021 R2021512A31H
Recurring fair value measurement for: FEAREHE
- Office o /N = - 8,756,459 8,756,459
- Shopping centre and others - BB L RER - - 2,484,855 2,484,855
- Properties under construction - office - ERME - WD - - 601,000 601,000
- Properties under construction - —ERYE - BoRORAR - - 1,234,840 1,234,840
shopping centre and others
- - 13,077,154 13,077,154

During the year, there were no transfers of fair value
measurements between Level 1 and Level 2 and no
transfers into or out of Level 3 (2021: Nil).
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Notes to the Financial Statements

15. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued)

(a)

IR R M

31 December 2022
2022412 A31H

15. REWE (&)

Completed properties and properties under (a) BIMEREEME(E)
construction (continued)
Reconciliation of fair value measurements GRBE=ZRARBEELRBEAZA
categorised within Level 3 of the fair value AEFTEHE
hierarchy:
Properties
under
construction
Properties - shopping
Shopping under centre
centre  construction and others
and others - office TEEME
Office By EENE  -BUTOR
N REf - Hith
RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000
ARETR ARETR ARETR AR®T T
Carrying amount at 1 January 2022 R2022F1A1RZREE 8,756,459 2,484,855 601,000 1,234,840
Additions/improvements R/ hE - - 179,406 409,024
Transfer between categories BrImE% 601,000 - (601,000) -
Acquisition of subsidiaries YN - - - 112,098
Changes in fair values DREZED 1,522,698 (135,094) 16,593 32,789
Carrying amount at 31 December 2022 2022512 A31 B 2 RE1E 10,880,157 2,349,761 195,999 1,788,751
Properties
under
construction
Properties - shopping
Shopping under centre
centre  construction and others
and others - office ERME
Office BIHL wEmE  -BoRLk
YN REAM YN Hity
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000
AREFR AREFT AREFT AREFT
Carrying amount at 1 January 2021 R2021F1B1BZRAE 3,554,732 1,200,214 4,060,000 1,719,990
Additions/improvements R/ E 17,943 62,790 597,782 564,919
Transfer between categories BRHEY 4,159,437 1,051,731 (4159,437)  (1,051,731)
Transfer from properties held for sale BAGHENE - 186,881 = =
Changes in fair values AhEZE 1,024,347 335,584 102,655 1,662
Disposal HE = (352,345) = =
Carrying amount at 31 December 2021 R2021F12 431 A ZRAEE 8,756,459 2,484,855 601,000 1,234,840

Annual Report 2022 £3§ 193



Notes to the Financial Statements

IR MR

31 December 2022
2022912 A31H

15. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued) 15. REWXE (&)
(a) Completed properties and properties under (a) BRIMERTEWE(E)

construction (continued)

Below is a summary of the valuation techniques
used and the key inputs to the valuation of

investment properties:

Classes of properties Valuation techniques

ERTEBAERE

Significant unobservable inputs

TORFHEREMEAER 2 F 57T

Range or weighted average

nEER HER EXTIERBAE EEANETHY
2022 2021
20225 20215
Offices Income approach Reversionary rental value - Office (per sq.m. and per day) (RMB) 1.1-5.5 1.0-4.5
YN WanE REMES - BAZ(BTAARER) (ARET)
Vacancy rate 4.0%-8.0%  2.5%-8.0%
ZEX
Yield rate 6.0%-7.5%  6.0%-7.5%
Shopping centre and others  Income approach Reversionary rental value - Commercial (per sg.m. and per day) (RMB) 1.1-5.4 1.3-5.4
B REM ek BENES -B% (BTEARRER) (ARET)
Reversionary rental value - Apartment (per sg.m. and per day) (RMB) 1.6 1.6
BEMES - AB (BT HARER) (AR
Reversionary rental value - Carpark unit (per unit and per day) (RMB) 18.3 18.3

Residual method
Fenk

Properties under
construction - office

Residual method

REpE

Property under
construction - shopping
centre and others

ERWE - BORORAMD

BEVES - B (BT ARER) (ARRT)

Vacancy rate 3.0%-11.0%

FEX

Yield rate 5.0%-8.5%
s

Reversionary rental value (per sq.m. and per day) (RMB) 1.1-13
BHNES (BTHARER) (ARET)

Vacancy rate 10.0%
FEX

Yield rate 7.0%
LG

Development costs to completion (RMB million) 715
EERA (AR%RET)

Construction period (years) 2.5
ERA (F)

Deducted sales profit rate 12%
R HENEE

Reversionary rental value (per sq.m. and per day) (RMB) 1.0-7.7

BHMES (BT IARER) (ARMT)

Vacancy rate 6.0%-10.0%

2E%

Yield rate 7.0%
s

Selling price (per sg.m.) (RMB) 40,000
B (BTHK) (ARET)

Development costs to completion (RMB million) 5-205
EERA (AREEET)

Construction period (years) 0.1-2.0
ERA (F)

Deducted sales profit rate 8%-10%

R HEM AR

3.0%-15.0%

5.0%-8.5%

2.8-45
8.0%

6.0%

12%

3.9-7.9
6.0%
7.0%
30,000
43-86
0.5-3.0

8%-10%

194 . o wmEEmERAT
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15. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued)

(a)

Completed properties and properties under
construction (continued)

Under the income approach, the valuation takes
into account the net rental income of the properties
derived from the existing leases and/or achievable
in the existing market with due allowance for the
reversionary income potential of the leases, which
has been then capitalised to determine the market
value at an appropriate capitalisation rate.

The residual method is based on the assumption
that the property is newly completed in accordance
with the development proposal in terms of property
uses, respective saleable areas and construction
schedules to establish the gross development value
(“GDV”). The total development costs including
construction costs, professional fees, infrastructure
costs, management costs, financial costs and
developer’s profit are estimated and deducted from
the established GDV. The resultant residual figure is
then adjusted back to the valuation date to arrive at
the market value of the property interest concerned.
The income approach has been used in estimating
the GDV.

A significant increase/(decrease) in the reversionary
rental value and GDV would in isolation result
in a significant increase/(decrease) in the fair
value of the investment properties. A significant
increase/(decrease) in the vacancy rate, yield
rate, development costs, construction period and
deducted sales profit rate in isolation would result
in a significant (decrease)/increase in the fair value
of the investment properties. Generally, a change
in the assumption made for the reversionary rental
value is accomplished by a directionally similar
change in the yield rate and an opposite change in
the vacancy rate.

IR R M

31 December 2022
202212 A31H

15. REWE (&)

(a)

RTYERIERYE (B)

RIBWEDE - HEDEEYMERBH
KFTREER z MERS A FER
IRBAMGPAES ZHASBAF
B WEEFAZME 2 BIINE
HEWA - BERBMNEERS A
BEREEZEMERETERNCIAE
EEMIHEE -

REBERBRMECREBERITED
EZMERE  BNERGYHEZA
S S R B IR R B - A
muyREERE (REERE]
LR EIR BB R A BT
BETEKTIRE BXE - ERRKE
B EHEER MBEBERAKFEREF
B B EAERARENMEE - KM
AELZMEcmSE - HEERE
TR EEERIE o

HEsSNEHE MHABELEREE
m/oORD) BEBEBLBEBIRE
MELREBREENORD) - =8
TR - FERAN  ERARE
MR 2 SHEF B R 2 mEE MO
D) EEEBIIMEBRENERAR
EREORL),/8m- —KmE -
HEIMAEZBRREMES - Wasx
HERDMBRN 28 ME=EXL
BRITMEE -
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15. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued) 15.

(b) Right-of-use assets
— the Group as a lessee

The Group has lease contracts for the properties
used in its investment business. The carrying
amounts of the Group’s right-of-use assets used in
its investment business and the movements during
the year are as follows:

REWRE (F&)

(b)

ERREE
—AKEERABRA
AEBOHREREXBMAZMERT

VHEEAR - FARNKEKRE XHAH
RzEREEEREEREESHIT

2022 2021
20224 20214
RMB’ 000 RMB’000

AR®T T AREFTIT

As at 1 January ®1HA1H 1,019,414 1,352,154
Additions R 98,581 107,106
Improvements to right-of-use assets FRAREERS 50,262 29,288
Termination ik - (390,438)
Changes in fair value (Note 8) NREEB) (M:28) (164,553) (78,696)
As at 31 December Mm12H31H 1,003,704 1,019,414

Below is a summary of the valuation techniques
used and the key inputs to the valuation of
investment properties — rights-of-use assets. The
fair value measurements of investment properties —
right-of-use assets categorised within level 3 of the
fair value hierarchy.

TORHEIREYE — EREEERMR
ERZHETERETEHAERE
REME - CRBEEEZANENE
BRBAAEMEBEERZE=R -

Classes of Valuation
properties techniques Significant unobservable inputs Range or weighted average
NEER FETE EATATEERAE HERMETFIE
2022 2021
2022F 20214
Apartment Income approach  Annual growth rate 2%-3% 3%
YN Yok FRRE
Reversionary rental value (per sq.m. and per day) (RMB) 1.1-4.8 1.2-5.7
HHNEE (BFHARER) (ARKT)
Vacancy rate 10%-15% 5%-10%
EEX
Yield rate 5%-6% 5%-15%
Y=
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17.

Notes to the Financial Statements

PROPERTIES HELD FOR SALE 16.

The properties held for sale of the Group are stated at the
lower of cost and net realisable value.

IR R M

31 December 2022
2022412 A31H

FHEWR

AEERBAZFHEMRZKAEETER
FERERZBREETIR -

PROPERTIES UNDER DEVELOPMENT 17. BERDYHE
2022 2021
20224 20214
RMB’ 000 RMB’000
AR¥T R ARBFIT
Land use rights (Note) T ARE (M a) 6,455,630 7,840,046
Development costs BERACA 6,958,006 4,250,926
Net carrying amount at the end R BFERER REFE 13,413,636 12,090,972

of the financial year

Note: The Group's interests in land use rights represent
prepaid operating lease payments for parcels of land in
the PRC.

Additions to properties under development during the
year included interest expense of RMB293,625,000
(2021: RMB231,311,000) (Note 6) that was incurred and
capitalised during the year.

et - REBERLHETREZ B GG TR A
Bl BRI LB 2 2

REEBRREFYEZEINEFRNEERE
ARz F B RS AAR293,625,0007T
(20214 : AR¥231,311,0007T) (Miz¥6) °
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18.

198

INVESTMENTS IN JOINT VENTURES 18. NREERFZKRE
2022 2021
20224 20214
RMB’ 000 RMB’000
AR® Tt AREET T
Share of net assets EBIEEEFE 19,284,598 18,085,522
Goodwill on acquisition WEEE 2 EmE 48,766 48,766
19,333,364 18,134,288
Loan to a joint venture (Note) & ERRER (H:7E) 25,000 25,000

19,358,364 18,159,288

Note: The loan to a joint venture is unsecured and not
repayable within one year. In the opinion of the
Directors, the loan is unlikely to be repaid in the
foreseeable future and is considered as part of the
Group'’s net investments in joint ventures.

The Group’s other balances with joint ventures are
disclosed in note 32 to the financial statements,
respectively.

Gemdale Properties and Investment Corporation Limited

THBHERERRLQF

Wiat - AR ER AR TIEEIRAERR —
FRER - BEFRRAZBENT AR BEE
B2 ARFME] - Bt BN E
REERAZREFE—H7 -

AEBEG ERAZEMBEBRN AR B REK
B EE 3242 5R



18.

Notes to the Financial Statements

IR R M

31 December 2022
2022412 A31H

INVESTMENTS IN JOINT VENTURES (continued) 18. REERQRZKRE (&)
Particulars of the Group’s material joint ventures are as REBZEZEEGLERAFBEOT
follows:
Percentage of
Aol
Place of registration Ownership Voting Profit

Name of joint ventures and business Registered share capital interest power sharing Principal activities
RENTER ERRESLE dMERZEE frfkigs RER BT IEEH
Chengdu Jinxinyao Real Estate PRC/Mainland China RMB600,000,000 50 50 50 Property development

Development Co., Ltd.* (“Jinxinyao”) wE/ mEAE AR #600,000,0007 in Mainland China
A EERHERRARAR (28] RABAENEER
Guangzhou Guangdian Property PRC/Mainland China RMB650,000,000 76 76 76 Property development

Development Group Shares Co., Ltd.* 8 /HREAE AR 650,000,000 and investment and

("Guangdian”)
BNEERMERERARNARLA([BE))

investment holding in
Mainland China
RABAENEER
ERERREER

*

For identification purposes only

The above investments are indirectly held by the Company.

Jinxinyao and Guangdian and its subsidiaries (collectively,
“Guangdian Group”), which are considered as material
joint ventures of the Group, are engaged in property
development and investment in Mainland China and are
accounted for using the equity method.

- EHEF)
LEIRERARRIFFEEFE °

ARERASBEEREERAKNBAR (5
BIEERE)) AREEZ EBAEAT -
REA DTN AARARENERE
RIRA R o AEERA M A LT

H o
EAr
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31 December 2022
2022912 A31H

18.

200

INVESTMENTS IN JOINT VENTURES (continued) 18. ®

The summarised financial information in respect of
Jinxinyao and Guangdian Group adjusted for any

BENFAZRE (H)

EEENEEERERARE S RFETH
BRe2UBENENE  UREMBRERER

differences in accounting policies, and reconciled to the B2HEREAT :
carrying amounts in the financial statements, is as follows:
Jinxinyao
X =
2022 2021
20224 20214
RMB’ 000 RMB’000
ARET T ARBEFTT
Cash and cash equivalents BeMReEEER 168,866 626,586
Other current assets EM R EE 1,640,282 3,315,363
Current assets mEBEE 1,809,148 3,941,949
Non-current assets IEMBEE 336,321 297,097
Current liabilities nBaE (1,092,605)  (3,000,740)
Non-current liabilities ERBAE (397,000) (937,000)
Net assets EEFE 655,864 301,306
Reconciliation to the Group’s interest in BEAREEELREE AR
the joint venture B
Proportion of the Group’s ownership INER B 2 AR LA 50% 50%
Group’s share of net assets of the joint venture ~ AEBEEAERAREEFH 327,932 150,653
Elimination of unrealised profit with the HEHEA &N AR 5 T (6,627) (6,627)
joint venture

Carrying amount of the investment KEREEA 321,305 144,026
Revenue WA 2,324,250 =
Interest income F B WA 965 2,128
Depreciation e - -
Tax | (269,390) (12,170)
Profit/(loss) and total comprehensive REERF (BER) & 354,558 (83,691)

income/(loss) for the year

2E%E(BER) 88
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IR R M

31 December 2022
2022412 A31H

INVESTMENTS IN JOINT VENTURES (continued) 18. RE&ARZKRE (&)

Guangdian Group

2022 2021

2022 20214

RMB’ 000 RMB’000

AR® Tt AREET T

Cash and cash equivalents HeMRE&EEER 3,100,955 6,206,394
Other current assets EMnsEE 32,841,259 35,848,096
Current assets RBEE 35,942,214 42,054,490
Non-current assets IEMBEE 8,911,609 7,839,006
Financial liabilities, excluding trade and TEEENE SRR EA (339,740)  (1,002,650)

other payables R zematE
Other current liabilities HitvmenaE (29,768,845) (34,076,660)
Current liabilities mEAR (30,108,585) (35,079,310)
Non-current liabilities FERHEE (7,621,906) (8,642,745)
Net assets BEFE 7,123,332 6,171,441
Non-controlling interests FEIE AR AR R 2 (718,376) (725,477)
Net assets attributable to owners of BEREEEERAAZ 6,404,956 5,445,964
Guangdian Group BEFH
Reconciliation to the Group’s interest BAREEELREE AR
in the joint venture AR
Proportion of the Group’s ownership ANER B 2 AR L 76% 76%
Group’s share of net assets of the joint venture AEBEGELENREEFRE 4,867,766 4,138,933
Elimination of unrealised profit with the HIHEA SN R R 5 T (24,705) (30,923)
joint venture
Fair value adjustment of additional interest LRSI « A BT 27,084 37,720
acquired
Carrying amount of the investment HEREE 4,870,145 4,145,730
Revenue WA 10,501,016 10,596,029
Interest income ISR ON 31,354 132,153
Depreciation e (8,649) (8,385)
Tax BIE (665,508)  (1,028,700)
Profit and total comprehensive income AEEmA R EE = BRE 1,144,304 21,341

for the year
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2022912 A31H

18.

202

INVESTMENTS IN JOINT VENTURES (continued) 18.

The following table illustrates the aggregate financial
information of the Group’s joint ventures that are not
individually material:

REERRAZRE (H)

TREAAEEENTBEAEE AR ZH
BER M

2022 2021
2022 20214
RMB’ 000 RMB’000

ARBTR ARBT T

Share of the joint ventures’ profits and losses ElEEERRANFERE 707,105 1,104,946
for the year

Share of the joint ventures’ other comprehensive [B{E& & A R AFE H A 254,864 (62,860)
income/(loss) for the year 2EWE (EE)

Share of the joint ventures’ total comprehensive  JEE A &R RIAEE 961,969 1,042,086
income for the year ZEEREE

Aggregate carrying amount of the Group's REBREERRIRE 14,166,914 13,869,532
investments in the joint ventures 2 REERE

The Group has discontinued the recognition of its share

HRELEETAREARZBRBLAEER
/N

of losses of certain joint ventures because of the share ZEREDNRZKE  MAEEINER A
of losses of these joint ventures exceeded the Group’s BE—DZEE UL AEBRKIEHEREE
interests in these joint ventures and the Group has no HZEEERRIZEE  c AEEXRF R EFT
obligation to take up further losses. The amounts of the AERELZEFa2RAEEINIAAR

Group’s unrecognised share of losses of these joint
ventures for the current year and, cumulatively were

RMB427,599,000 and RMB969,038,000 respectively (2021: AR#645,578,0007T) ©
RMB111,656,000 and RMB645,578,000 respectively).

Gemdale Properties and Investment Corporation Limited
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IR R M

31 December 2022
2022412 A31H

INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES 19. REEQARZRE
2022 2021
20224 20214
RMB’ 000 RMB’000
AR¥T AREET T
Share of net assets G A EFE 5,876,123 4,312,923
Loan to an associate (Note) FEAEE & R RIE R (H5E) 588,078 588,078
6,464,201 4,901,001
Note: The loan to an associate was unsecured, non-interest Biet - R E L] BN TERT - %8 RE

BR—FREE - BEFRBRABEATA
] ETE A 78 B .2 AR U] - it #5047 73
REFRBE RN R ZIREFE &5 -

bearing and not repayable within one year. In the
opinion of the directors, the loan was unlikely to be
repaid in the foreseeable future and was considered as
part of the Group’s net investments in associates.

The Group’s other balances with associates are disclosed

in note 32 to the financial statements.

Particulars of the Group’s material associates are as follows:

BE32 5 -

AR ER B B R N B 2 B A AR A B TS R

REBZBERERRFHELT

Percentage of
Aol
Place of registration Ownership Voting Profit
Name of associate and business Registered share capital interest power sharing Principal activities
BELARER ERREXLE EMERZEE  FEER FE AEIE IEEH
Beijing Jinkai Zhentai Real Estate PRC/Mainland China RMB1,000,000,000 45 45 45 Property development
Development Co., Ltd.* (‘Zhental") VLN AR 1,000,000,0007 in Mainland China
TReREREHEREERAR (%)) RPBAENSER
Nanjing Weifeng Real Estate PRC/Mainland China RMB2,142,390,000 21 27 21 Property development
Development Co., Ltd.* (*Weifeng") wE/mEAE AEH2 142,390,0007 in Mainland China

ERREEHEREERAA (HE))

RPEAENESR

*

For identification purposes only

The above investments are indirectly held by the Company.

Zhentai and Weifeng which are considered as material
associates of the Group, are engaged in property
development in Mainland China and are accounted for

using the equity method.

g ERHE

s
H o
>t

LIRERARRRFFEERE -

AEERREFRBERAEEZ EEHZ
RE REBERRRPEAEANEYE
BERXY AKERBESZHHETEZ

Annual Report 2022 £3§ 203



Notes to the Financial Statements

IR MR

31 December 2022
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19.

204

INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES (continued) 19.

The summarised financial information in respect of Zhentai
and Weifeng adjusted for any differences in accounting

REBEXRNZRE (&

MELBRERAEEGARRETHERZ
MHERER - UREMBEREAEREZY

policies, and reconciled to the carrying amounts in the BRI :
financial statements, is as follows:
Zhentai
B
2022 2021
2022 20214
RMB’ 000 RMB’000
AR®T T ARBET T
Cash and cash equivalents BeMReEEER 21,479 135,750
Other current assets HEfneEE 1,599,463 4,602,004
Current assets MEEE 1,620,942 4,737,754
Non-current assets IEMBEE 18 100,529
Financial liabilities, excluding trade and TEEENESERR - (238,663)
other payables HEMEMNRR A&
Other current liabilities HivmenaE (164,151)  (3,326,049)
Current liabilities nEEE (164,151)  (3,564,712)
Non-current liabilities FREEE (5,224) (302,586)
Net assets BEFRE 1,451,585 970,985
Reconciliation to the Group’s interest in the B B FE(L B A A
associate RS EER
Proportion of the Group’s ownership REE 2 BB 45% 45%
Group’s share of net assets of the associate AEBEMBE AR EEFRE 653,213 436,943
Carrying amount of the investment A RMEE 653,213 436,943
Revenue WA 3,082,790 =
Interest income FEUWA 204 907
Depreciation e - _
Tax B| (229,162) 1,834
Profit/(loss) and total comprehensive NEEHRF (BER) & 480,600 (4,727)

income/(loss) for the year

EHE%E(BER) 88
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31 December 2022
2022412 A31H

INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES (continued) 19. REEATZRE (#F
Weifeng
HE
2022 2021
20224 20214
RMB’ 000 RMB’000
AR® Tt AREETTT
Cash and cash equivalents HekReEEER 700,970 1,283,126
Other current assets HEMRBEE 2,864,728 6,718,913
Current assets MENEE 3,565,698 8,002,039
Non-current assets IERBEE 246,045 220,409
Current liabilities mEnaE (471,911)  (6,120,376)
Non-current liabilities EmEasE (1,398) (945)
Net assets BEESH 3,338,434 2,101,127
Reconciliation to the Group’s interest in the BN B FE(LEEE A A
associate e R

Proportion of the Group’s ownership REE 2 B L5 27% 27%
Group’s share of net assets of the associate AEEELBE NG EEFE 901,377 567,304
Carrying amount of the investment REREEA 901,377 567,304
Revenue WA 5,325,371 =
Interest income B A 40,674 17,571
Depreciation e (50) (44)
Tax BE (415,107) 12,045
Profit/(loss) and total comprehensive REERMN (B & 1,237,307 (37,791)

income/(loss) for the year

2% (BR) 88
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19.

20.

206

INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES (continued) 19. RBERAZRE (&)

The following table illustrates the aggregate financial

information of the Group’s associates that are not BB R -

individually material:

TREAAEEERNTBEAR SRR 28

2022 2021
20224 20214
RMB’ 000 RMB’000
AR®T T AREET T
Share of the associates’ profits and losses BLEE R R AFERES 6,608 695,703
for the year
Share of the associates’ total comprehensive LB E R A AFE 9,472 694,583
income for the year 2EIESEEE
Aggregate carrying amount of the Group’s REERBERRIREZ 4,909,611 3,896,754
investments in associates BREELA

INTANGIBLE ASSETS

20. EBEE

Property management

contracts

MEEEEHN
2022 2021
20224 20214
RMB’ 000 RMB’000
AR® Tt AREET T
Cost at 1 January, W1 A1 - 15,164 23,392

net of accumulated amortisation ks RIEEE5H
Amortisation during the year (Note 8) RNERIE (H7E8) (8,228) (8,228)
At 31 December M®12H31H 6,936 15,164
At 31 December ®W12HA31H

Cost [DEN 58,402 58,402
Accumulated amortisation R 5T 8 (51,466) (43,238)
Net carrying amount BREFE 6,936 15,164

Gemdale Properties and Investment Corporation Limited
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Notes to the Financial Statements

IR R M

31 December 2022
2022412 A31H

FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE

21. LUAARERECZEREE

2022 2021
20224 20214
RMB’ 000 RMB’000
AR%T T ARBEFTT
Financial assets at fair value through NARBEEREEBA
other comprehensive income Hth2EWaEs emEE
Equity investments fig i1 &
— Unlisted equity investments, at fair value —JELTRERE - RARE 124,898 108,522
124,898 108,522
Financial assets at fair value through IARBERTEBEEBEA
profit or loss BRseomBEE
Debt investments BERERE
— Unlisted debt investments, at fair value —JELETMEERE  EARE 1,136,881 942,325
1,136,881 942,325
Total ot 1,261,779 1,050,847
Non-current portion JEBNERER 1D (1,261,779)  (1,050,847)

Current portion

BIERER () =

The above equity investments were irrecoverably
designated at fair value through other comprehensive
income as the Group considers these investments to be

strategic in nature.

B AR B 3R /5 bl B AR IR A B N SR RS 1
B BRERETAREMEERNAAE
SFEREEHF AR MRS

Annual Report 2022 £3§ 207



Notes to the Financial Statements

IR MR

31 December 2022
2022912 A31H

22.

208

TRADE RECEIVABLES EWE SRR
2022 2021
20224 20214
RMB’ 000 RMB’'000
AR®T T AREFT
Trade receivables BUWE SRR 40,256 36,022
40,256 36,022

Trade receivables represent rental and property
management fee receivables. Rental and property
management fee receivables are billed in advance and
are payable by tenants/residents upon receipts of billings
within an average credit term of one month.

Under normal circumstances, the Group does not grant
credit terms to its customers. The Group seeks to maintain
strict control over its outstanding receivables and to
minimise credit risk. Overdue balances are regularly
reviewed by management. In view of the aforementioned
and the fact that the Group’s trade receivables relate
to a large number of diversified customers, there is no
significant concentration of credit risk. The Group does
not hold any collateral or other credit enhancements over
its trade receivable balances. Trade receivables are non-
interest-bearing and unsecured.

Gemdale Properties and Investment Corporation Limited
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22.

Notes to the Financial Statements

TRADE RECEIVABLES (continued)

An aging analysis of the trade receivables as at the
reporting date, based on the invoice date and net of loss
allowance, is as follows:

IR R M

31 December 2022
2022412 A31H

FEW & 5 Rk (&)

MBBRERRZBKE SRR (AERA
HIRE) NRERRZREATAT

2022 2021

2022 20214

RMB’ 000 RMB’000

ARET T ARBET T

Within 1 month —@mAZA 23,459 31,176
1 to 3 months —Z={@A 13,052 4,183
Over 3 months =@AE 3,745 663
40,256 36,022

An impairment analysis is performed at each reporting
date using a provision matrix to measure expected credit
losses (“ECL"). The provision rates are based on days
past due for groupings of various customer segments
with similar loss patterns. The calculation reflects the
probability-weighted outcome, the time value of money and
reasonable and supportable information that is available
at the reporting date about past events, current conditions
and forecasts of future economic conditions. Generally,
trade receivables are written off if past due for more than
one year and are not subject to enforcement activity.

The financial impact of ECL for trade receivables under
HKFRS 9 is insignificant for the year ended 31 December
2022 and 2021.

REERERHRERBEEEETRES
- U ERBEERE((RER] - $A
BRUBREAZZBEFPENE - ARE
DHEZBRRBEEREE - BRAAERR
THEMEER 2B ZKBEENRNR
SARBEEMH - BRI ERKLEMNR
BRAMER 2 SEABKEBEZER - —KRM
T ARBE - FYATIREAEDHTEL
A E 5 MR T LA EE o

HZE2022%F12A31HK2021F12A31H
IHFE - EBRESEREIZE BV RS %L
FORMAECTEEBTBESEAUBTE -
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23.

210

PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER 23. FfRIE - RERHMERERRK

RECEIVABLES

2022 2021
20224 20214F
RMB’ 000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARBFT

Deposits and other receivables B& RH M EUERK 2,084,918 1,608,345
Less: impairment allowance W BB (63,489) (38,972)
Deposits and other receivables, net e hEMEUERE - FEE 2,021,429 1,569,373
Loans receivable (Note i) PN E K (Hfati) 2,833,240 3,000,783
Less: impairment allowance W BB (433,057) (404,074)
Loans receivable, net FEME R - JFEE 2,400,183 2,596,709
Prepayments FETFRIE 287,872 205,527
Prepaid other taxes and surcharges (Note /i) TR E AR M & (47 770i) 672,703 508,656
Cost of obtaining contracts BUS & RIFTE £ 2 B A 109,839 29,972

5,492,026 4,910,237
Non-current portion FEBNERER (9 (208,001) (582,392)
Current portion BRERER 19 5,284,025 4,327,845
Notes: i -
(i) The amounts represent loans made to customers of the (i) SEE A TR EE B R

Group’s micro-financing business. =

(if) The amounts mainly represent value-added tax, other (ii) DRI BT EF YRR

taxes and surcharges prepaid for the sales deposits
received from the pre-sale of properties in the PRC.

Gemdale Properties and Investment Corporation Limited
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Notes to the Financial Statements

PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER
RECEIVABLES (continued)

Other receivables and loans receivable

Except for the following receivables, other receivables
are unsecured, non-interest-bearing and repayment on
demand.

(i)

(if)

(iii)

At 31 December 2022, an other receivable of
RMB117,474,000 (2021: RMB117,474,000) is
secured by the equity share of a PRC property
development company and interest-bearing at 8%
(2021: 8%). The other receivable is repayable on
demand.

At 31 December 2022, an other receivable of
RMB120,000,000 (2021: RMB130,000,000) is
secured by the equity share of a PRC property
development company and interest-bearing at 8%
(2021: 8%). The other receivable is repayable within
one year.

At 31 December 2021, an other receivable of
RMB316,584,000 was unsecured, interest-bearing
at 4.35% and repayment on demand. The other
receivable was fully received during the year.

At 31 December 2021, other receivables of
RMB101,765,000 were unsecured, interest-bearing
at 3% and repayment on demand. The other
receivables were fully received during the year.

At 31 December 2021, an other receivable of
RMB57,944,000 was unsecured, interest-bearing at
6% and repayable on demand. The other receivable
was fully received during the year.

23.

IR R M

31 December 2022
202212 A31H

BARE  RERHMERIERR (F

L ftb i W B K e B LK R

B Tt 2 e R RSN

Hofth 8 Yo R 3R T R 4K

o RBRIZBREEE -

(iii)

(iv)

M2022412 8318 » KA
R#117,474,0007T (20214F : AR
#117,474,00070) HBIA— R
BRERABZREEER - B RFAR
RB8% (20214F : 8%) o ZH M EUR
FIRE RIS EE -

MR2022F12A318 © HiEIK
AR #120,000,0007T (20214 :
130,000,0007T) BB A — K ¥ 5 2%
BARZREEER - FEAFHE
8% (20214F : 8%) o ax H e U5k
AR—FRERE -

R2021F12A31H » MBI A
R#316,584,0007T JHEKIF - F.8
BEFKAL35% MIREREEE - %
HibERRERAFTRZHKE -

M20214F12 8318 » EfEIERA
R#101,765,000c KT - F8
BEMEI% RIZRBEREEE - %E
HiERRERAFREZHKE -

R2021412 8318 » MBI A
R#57,944,000 C JHEER - F B A
FFEE% RIRBRKEEE - ZEAM
FEUGRBERARFRZEURE -
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23.

212 Gemdale Properties and Investment Corporation Limited

PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER 23. F#E{RE - - RERHEMEWERR (F
RECEIVABLES (continued)
Other receivables and loans receivable (continued) HttEWIRRREWER (&)
All loans receivable are interest-bearing at rates ranging AR E RN ERFNEHS.0%%E20.0%
from 5.0% to 20.0% (2021: from 7.8% to 20.0%) per annum (20219 : H7.8%%20.0%) MiEREH—
with repayment terms from 1 month to 6 years (2021: from BAZENRF (2021F : Z@ARZERF) - KHE
3 months to 5 years). Certain loans receivable amounting to FrEKERARE?2,472,104,0007T (2021
RMB2,472,104,000 (2021: RMB2,665,749,000) are secured F: AR¥2665,749,0007T) MEFK A E
by the other properties of the borrowers or their affiliates, BBz EmmE Ay E s ERES R
or rent receivable of their other properties (2021: by the #(2021F : HBERASERBE 2 A
other properties of the borrowers or their affiliates, or rent SEMYEZEKBSERR) I BRE
receivable of their other properties), while the remaining D EIEF o
loans receivable are unsecured.
The movements in provisions for impairment of other HAh R R R R B B R 2 RUE B B # 8 an
receivables and loans receivable are as follows: N
(a)  Other receivables (a)  EmbEUERR
2022 2021
20224 20214
RMB’ 000 RMB’000
AR¥T T AREEFTT
At 1 January ®1A1H 38,972 14,111
Impairment losses, net (Note 8) REEE - JFEE (M15E8) 23,374 23,066
Amount written off as uncollectible b6 = BRI - (49)
Acquisition of subsidiaries U B BT 8 A &) 826 2,646
Disposal of subsidiaries HERE AR (3) (20)
Exchange realignment e H A 320 (782)
At 31 December M®12H31H 63,489 38,972

THBHERERRLQF
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Notes to the Financial Statements

PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER
RECEIVABLES (continued)

Other receivables and loans receivable (continued)

(b) Loans receivable

IR R M

31 December 2022
2022412 A31H

BARE RERHMERIRR (F)

HitbFE W iR N B & K (A7)
(b) EEEN

2022 2021

20224 20214

RMB’ 000 RMB’000

AR¥T T ARBEFTT

At 1 January ®1HA1H 404,074 373,011
Impairment losses recognised (Note 8) EHERBIEEE (F1:18) 30,977 31,063
Amount written off as uncollectible HsH AT U Bl & 5 (1,994) =
At 31 December M12A318 433,057 404,074

An impairment analysis is performed at each reporting
date. Where no comparable companies with credit ratings
can be identified, expected credit losses are estimated
by applying a loss rate approach with reference to the
historical loss record of the Group. The loss rate is
adjusted to reflect the current conditions and forecasts
of future economic conditions, as appropriate. As at 31
December 2022, the loss rate of other receivables applied
was 5% (2021: 5%) and the loss rates of loans receivables
applied were ranging from 1% to 62% (2021: 1% to 65%).

Except for certain other receivables and loans receivable
which are impaired, none of the above assets is impaired.
The financial assets included in the above balances relate
to receivables for which there was no recent history of
default and past due amounts.

REERE BETREDIT - MAREZHIE
EREFH AL AR - BEHEEBLAZ
EZREEELEBREE  WERABXEXRSX
TEREET - BATRIETEA R REARK
BRI 2 TERE & T IR o 2022
F12A318 - HERER CBEREE5%
(20214 : 5%) @ MEWERZIBAERH1%
ZE 62% (2021%F 1 1% E65%) °

B T R RUE 2 H At W AR SR K B M R
Sh o EMEEWEBIRINE o A LEBRZH
BB E T N B R AL 8% 2 FEUUR AR -
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24.

RESTRICTED CASH, DEPOSITS, BANK AND
CASH BALANCES

ZRFRE - FH - RITRBASEER

2022 2021
20224 20214F
RMB’ 000 RMB’000
AR®T T ARBEFTT
Cash and bank balances (Note a) RE RRITEERR (Hita) 6,839,200 9,592,740
Time deposits (Note a) ERER (Kita) 8,042 33,205
6,847,242 9,625,945
Less: Restricted cash (Note b) W ZRFIIRE (HaEb) (794,086) (854,063)
6,053,156 8,771,882

Notes: B -
(a) Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based (a) RITAERIZIRITE ATZHFIE 2 EEF)
on daily bank deposit rates. Time deposits are made EG B o FRIFEA I EXFE (2021

for seven days (2021: varying periods of between one
day and seven days depending on the immediate
cash requirements of the Group), and earn interest at
the respective time deposit rates. The bank balances
are deposited with creditworthy banks with no recent
history of default.

(b) At 31 December 2022, the amount mainly represents
proceeds received from sale of properties in
the PRC amounting to RMB746,766,000 (2021:
RMB828,942,000) which are confined to the usage of
construction work.

At the end of the reporting period, deposits, bank and
cash balances of the Group denominated in RMB, HKS$,
United States dollars (“US$”) and Euro amounted to
RMB6,594,104,000, RMB11,076,000, RMB242,061,000
and RMB1,000, respectively (2021: RMB, HK$, US$ and
Euro amounted to RMB8,879,366,000, RMB52,190,000,
RMB694,387,000 and RMB2,000, respectively). The RMB is
not freely convertible into other currencies, however, under
Mainland China’s Foreign Exchange Control Regulations
and Administration of Settlement, and Sale and Payment
of Foreign Exchange Regulations, the Group is permitted
to exchange RMB for other currencies through banks
authorised to conduct foreign exchange business.

214 Gemdale Properties and Investment Corporation Limited
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FH—XELXEHHTE  HFX
EEELFARHEEFEZME) LK
18682 ER AT EE B o BRITAARTS
T RAT B A2 K)a0 87 A (5 BRIFZ R
77 °

(b) RO022F 12A31H » 2 8EEEEH
BERGIFREETIELZERYZEL
EFTEF AR 746,766,000 (2021
F : ARH#828942,0007T) °

RMERAR AEEBZARE - Bk - X
TRERBITER ROIRBSEHIBAR
#6,594,104,0007C + AR% 11,076,000
T AR®242,061,000T R AR
1,0007T (20214F : AR - B - Xt
EBTER RIOTRREEHB D BEARK
8,879,366,0007T * AR¥52,190,0007T *
AR#694,387,000t X A R#E2,0007T) °
ARBENEBRLMKEMES A - R
B AR B K BESINE B IR & FI A 4EE - & 1E AT
EEERTE  ANEEMRBEBETETINE
¥ 2R1T BARBEBRKAEME -
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(a)

Notes to the Financial Statements

IR R M

31 December 2022
2022412 A31H

ISSUED CAPITAL 25. BERITRAE
Authorised and issued capital (a) ZEEREBRITRAE
Details of the changes in the Company’s authorised RRABVEERBETRAZ AFER
and issued capital between the beginning and the REZHHIIWT -
end of the year are set out below:
2022 2021
20225 1%
Equivalent to Equivalent to
Number of RMB’000 Number of RMB'000
shares HK$'000 S shares HK$'000 BER
RH%E B8Tr  ARETR BhEA BETr  ARETR
Ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each ~ EBHERER0.107
Authorised: R
At 1 January and 31 December RA1BR12A31A 40,000,000,000 4,000,000 40,000,000,000 4,000,000
Issued and fully paid: ERIRAR:
At 1 January R1A1A 16,586,856,827 1,658,686 1,502,930  16,502,781,827 1,650,278 1,495,908
Issue of new shares on exercise  {TEEREREITHRA) 22,830,000 2,283 1,883 84,075,000 8,408 7,022
of share options (J)
At 31 December #2831 16,609,686,827 1,660,969 1,504,813 16,586,856,827 1,658,686 1,502,930
(i) During the year, the subscription rights (i) F£R - 15.130,000/4 &

attaching to 15,130,000 and 7,700,000
share options were exercised at an exercise
price of HK$0.55 and HK$0.44 per share,
respectively and resulting in the issue of a
total of 22,830,000 new ordinary shares of
the Company at a nominal value of HK$0.10
each for a total cash consideration, before
expenses, of HK$11,709,500 (equivalent
to RMB8,702,000). The proceeds from the
exercise of share options would be applied
for general working capital of the Group.

7,700,00010 B AR BEFRBE A 2
EIRED D AIRITEBERE
#0.55 T M ABHE0. 44 T ELT
i - Wt 1722,830,000
BERmEE®.10TZ
KRR EEKR  BRS$
RE (NBREZA) BB
11,709,5007T (HHER AR
8,702,0007T) ° 1715 g IR #E
S RIEGAERER 2 —
BMEEBESD -
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31 December 2022
2022912 A31H

25. ISSUED CAPITAL (continued)

25. CBBITRAR(H)

(b)  Share option schemes (b) BRRFESHE
A summary of the share option schemes of the RRAFERET S EHNFRFE
Company is set out in the section headed “Share eREBIRETE] &R - f
Option Schemes” in the Directors’ Report of the REREHER2017F28REB -
annual report. No share-based compensation A AN & B 0 68 A A Bt TR R B
expenses were recognised by the Group arising BREMEA 2 BRHMEMAX (2021
from options vested during the year (2021: Nil) as Fm|E)o
all share options were vested in full in 2017.
(i) Movements (i) #a)
Movements in the number of share options FARMKRITEERECEE &
outstanding and their related weighted ®E 2 MEBENNETHTEEZ
average exercise prices during the year are BEIT
as follows:
2022 2021
20225 20214
Weighted Weighted
average average
exercise price exercise price
per share per share
SR MAE Number of SR E Number of
THTEE share THIEE share
HK$ options HK$ options
it BREHA o RSB
At 1 January R1B18 0.7015 218,577,000 0.6894 309,828,000
Exercised 71 0.5129 (22,830,000) 0.6683 (84,075,000)
Lapsed ER - - 0.5688 (7,176,000)
At 31 December ®12H31H 0.7235 195,747,000 0.7015 218,577,000

At the end of the reporting period, all (2021:
all) outstanding options were exercisable.

216 Gemdale Properties and Investment Corporation Limited
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31 December 2022
2022412 A31H

25. ISSUED CAPITAL (continued) 25. ERITREX (&)
(b)  Share option schemes (continued) (b) EBRHESHE (F)
(i)  Exercise prices (i)  17EfE
The exercise prices and exercise periods of R EHAR B RITEIB AR 2
the share options outstanding as at the end TTEEERATEREBNT -
of the reporting period are as follows:
2022 2021
2022% 20214
Exercise price Number of Exercise price Number of
T8 share 12 fE share
Date of grant  Exercise period HK$ options HK$ options
RE B T8 it BREYA bt BREE A
07/01/2013 07/01/2014 - 06/01/2023 0.550 12,160,000 0.550 27,290,000
20/05/2013 20/05/2014 - 19/05/2023 0.792 153,939,000 0.792 153,939,000
29/12/2014 29/12/2015 - 28/12/2024 0.440 29,648,000 0.440 37,348,000
195,747,000 218,577,000
(i) All share options granted were vested and (i)  PFPTAERLZERECREBES

exercisable in full in 2017 in accordance with
the vesting period set out in their respective
offer letters.

BEREL R BBERN
20172 EEB R F AT
f& o

Annual Report 2022 £3§ 217



Notes to the Financial Statements

IR MR

31 December 2022
2022912 A31H

26. RESERVES 26. f#fE
The amounts of the Group’s reserves and the movements REEZREBECBRERRFERLEFEZ
therein for the current and prior years are presented in the HEHHINFRFEI05BEEF 106 A ZE4EA
consolidated statement of changes in equity on pages 105 EmEER -

to 106 of the annual report.

The merger reserves of the Group represent the differences REBAFHEBEIARTR2013410 729
between the nominal value of the aggregate share capital BBEZEBEHT ARIMEB QR MmET
of subsidiaries acquired and the nominal value of the ZRE AT B B W R B B A B 2 AR AR TE
share capital of the Company issued in exchange therefor ZERE o

pursuant to the business combination taking place on 29
October 2013.

27. TRADE AND BILLS PAYABLES 27. ENEZERIARERE
An ageing analysis of the trade and bills payables as at the ENESERRER (UEZABRE) RN
reporting date, based on the invoice date, is as follows: ERHZRERTAOT
2022 2021
2022F 20214F
RMB’ 000 RMB’000

AR®TT ARETRT

Within 1 month —RmAZA 2,359,438 2,799,293
1 to 3 months —=={@A 648,211 670,617
Over 3 months =@A L 1,472,056 1,097,518

4,479,705 4,567,428

Trade and bills payables are non-interest-bearing and are ERNESEREERAEEEBENFH—
normally settled within an average term of one month. BAREE -

218 Gemdale Properties and Investment Corporation Limited
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ADVANCED RECEIPTS, ACCRUALS AND
OTHER PAYABLES

IR R M

31 December 2022
2022412 A31H

BWHIE - BErRREREAREMEN R

=k
TA

2022 2021
2022 20214
RMB’ 000 RMB’000

ARBTT ARETT

Contract liabilities (Note) aRAaEwz) 9,353,041 6,589,063
Advanced rental receipts TEWAE e A 88,104 67,749
Deferred income PEFEUA - 1,459
Rental and other deposits received BEWHENETES 307,768 287,298
Accrued expenses EETIRE A 392,076 453,905
Other payables HA R BRFK 2,050,962 1,834,052

12,191,951 9,233,526

Other payables are unsecured, non-interest-bearing and
have no fixed terms of repayment.

Hip AR EIER - 28 REREEER

Note: Biat -
Details of contract liabilities are as follows: SEBEFIEWT -
2022 2021
20224 20214
RMB’ 000 RMB’000
AR® T AREFT
Short-term advances received from customers WENE P 2 BN EIE
— Sale of properties —MFEEE 8,246,635 6,589,063
— Fitting-out works —H®EIRE 1,106,406 =
Total contract liabilities aRAaERE 9,353,041 6,589,063

Contract liabilities include short-term advances received to
deliver properties and provide fitting-out services. The increase
in contract liabilities in 2022 was mainly due to the increase in
short-term advances received from customers in relation to the
pre-sale of properties and fitting-out works during the year.

B RIB BRI TY R RIEREERBEATHK
R FEWIRS ° 2022F B2 & RIBEEES
RERNTEE YRR HNE TR E W2 55
TFEW S TEIE AT EL
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31 December 2022
2022912 A31H

29.

220

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

(a)

As at 31 December 2022, the Group provided
guarantees to certain banks in respect of mortgages
granted by banks relating to the mortgage loans
arranged for purchasers of the Group's properties.
Pursuant to the terms of the guarantees, upon
default in mortgage payments by these purchasers,
the Group is responsible for repaying the
outstanding mortgage principals together with the
accrued interest and penalty owed by the defaulting
purchasers to the banks and the Group is entitled
but not limited to take over the legal titles and
possession of the related properties. The Group’s
guarantee period starts from the dates of grant
of the relevant mortgage loans and ends upon
issuance of the real estate ownership certificates.
As at 31 December 2022, the Group’s outstanding
guarantees amounted to RMB4,199,480,000 (2021:
RMB3,263,233,000).

The Directors consider that the fair value of
the guarantees is not significant and in case of
defaulting payments, the net realisable value of
the related properties will be sufficient to cover
the outstanding mortgage principals, the accrued
interest and penalty. Therefore, no provision has
been made in the financial statements for the year
ended 31 December 2022 (2021: Nil) for these
guarantees.

At the end of the reporting period, the Group
provided an aggregate maximum guarantees of
US$152,376,000 (equivalent to RMB1,061,240,000)
(2021: US$103,500,000 (equivalent to
RMB659,885,000) to financial institutions for
facilities granted to the joint ventures of the Group.
As at 31 December 2022, the facilities guaranteed
by the Group to the joint ventures were utilised to
the extent of approximately RMB933,272,000 (2021:
RMB659,885,000).
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31 December 2022
2022412 A31H

INTEREST-BEARING BANK AND OTHER 30. KERTREMER
BORROWINGS
2022 2021
2022 20214
Effective Effective
annual Maturity annual Maturity
interest  (Financial interest rate (Financial
rate (%) year) (%) year)
BRI H#H  RMB'000 EEFFXR 54 RMB'000
(%) (GIHEE) AR%TR (%) (BEE) ARETT
Current i)
Bank borrowings BITER
- Unsecured —EER 4.89-6.61 2023 2,768,092 1.45-2.87 2022 3,714,145
Current portion of long RERTER
term bank borrowings e H
- Unsecured - EHA 3.80-5.96 2023 51,003 = - -
- Secured (Note a) -5EB(WZa) 5.20 2023 100,000 = = =
Current portion of long term REEMER
other borrowings NEHH
- Secured (Note b) —-BE# (Hitb) 4.50 2023 284,387 450 2022 1,188,794
3,203,482 4,902,939
Non-current ERB
Bank borrowings BITER
- Unsecured —RER 3.80-5.96  2024-2034 464,742 - = -
- Secured (Note a) - BHR (Wita) 430-5.20  2030-2037 2,330,000
Other borrowings HhER
- Secured (Nofe b) —BHER (Hi2o) - - - 450 20232030 284,387
2,794,742 284,387
5,998,224 5,187,326
Notes: Kzt -
(a) Bank borrowings were secured by the Group's (a) RITB 2N EF R E B AN R

investment properties with an aggregate carrying value
of RMB1,665,680,000 and assignments of rental income
from the leases of certain of the Group's investment
properties (2021: Nil).

(b) Certain other borrowings are secured by assignments
of rental income from the leases of certain of the
Group's investment properties, interest-bearing at 4.5%
(2021: 4.5%) per annum and repayable within one year
(2021: nine years).

1,665,680,0007T 2 I E W= (EH 7 R
KUAEBEFREY X HEM KA
EABEH (20214 : ##) -

(b) ETHEM

B 2
H A

T AR EEETREY

RZHEHZKAERBER - FEXE
B4.5% (20214 :4.5%) @ WR—F
(20214 : L&) AEE -
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30. INTEREST-BEARING BANK AND OTHER 30. KERTRHEMER (&)
BORROWINGS (continued)

Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings are repayable MtERITREMBER 2 EEHMNT
as follows:
2022 2021
20224 20214
RMB’ 000 RMB’000
AR®T T ARBET T
Within one year or on demand R—FARILZERFEERE 3,203,482 4,902,939
In the second year RE_FR 594,845 30,825
In the third to fifth years, inclusive REZFZFRFRN - 891,574 111,073
BIEEREME
Over five years HEMN 1,308,323 142,489
5,998,224 5,187,326
The carrying amounts of interest-bearing bank and other RERH - MERTREMERZ REE
borrowings at the reporting date were denominated in the AT B -
following currencies:
2022 2021
20224 20214
RMB’ 000 RMB’000
AR¥T AREFIT
HK$ ok 1,443,634 2,918,258
RMB AR#E 2,828,334 1,473,181
Uss$ ETT 1,726,256 795,887
5,998,224 5,187,326
At the end of the reporting period, 100% (2021: 100%) RIPEHKR » NEF100% (2021 4F
of interest-bearing bank borrowings are at floating rate 100%) [ BIRTTE R IDIRZ B A EFTE - M
basis and 100% (2021: 100%) of interest-bearing other 100% (20214 : 100% ) Pt B H i & 2% Ji%
borrowings are at a fixed rate of 4.5% (2021: 4.5%) per BEFEFERNZKAL 5% (20214 : 4.5%) 52 ¢

annum.
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31.

32.

LEASE LIABILITIES

Notes to the Financial Statements

31.

The carrying amount of lease liabilities and the movements

during the year are as follows:

HESE

IR R M

31 December 2022

2022412 A31H

FR -HERBZEREENMESNT

2022 2021

20224 20214

RMB’ 000 RMB’000

AR T ARBTT

Carrying amount at 1 January M A1RZEREE 1,006,857 1,469,193

New leases igHEE 109,559 132,472

Accretion of interest recognised during the year ARERFERZ & 49,763 61,726

Payments BN (132,388) (172,128)

Termination =k - (432,421)

Disposal of subsidiaries (Note 37) HEMB AR (7237) - (50,980)

Exchange realignment M 5 R # 1,761 (1,005)

Carrying amount at 31 December M12A31B Z2REE 1,035,552 1,006,857
Analysed into: DT

Current portion BNHAER 5 99,395 85,949

Non-current portion JEBNERER 936,157 920,908

The maturity analysis of lease liabilities is disclosed in note

HERBEZIMBEOMERM B EI4H T

==

44 to the financial statements. ER
BALANCES WITH RELATED PARTIES 32. EERAE R ZAEERR
2022 2021
20224 20214
Notes RMB’ 000 RMB’000
Kt AR¥T AREET T
Amounts due from group companies  JEUREEE A B FKIE (i) 19,259 30,562
Amounts due from joint ventures and  EIA & QB K EEE A R F0IE (ii) 5,791,346 5,401,009
associates
Amounts due from non-controlling B FEFE AR IR SR FkTE (iii) 2,877,287 1,599,916
shareholders
Amount due from a related company  JEEEE D RIFUIA (iv) 1,233,465 =
9,921,357 7,031,487
Amounts due to group companies FEfS & EARIFIA (v) (21,216,335) (18,333,475)
Amounts due to joint ventures and AR ENE S NI/ S (vi) (8,176,163)  (9,841,556)
associates
Amounts due to non-controlling FE A FETE AR AR R FR IR (vii) (1,193,949) (308,487)
shareholders
Amount due to a related company FETBRE QR FRIE (viii) - (2,984)

(30,586,447)

(28,486,502)
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32. BALANCES WITH RELATED PARTIES
(continued)

Notes:

(i) The balances are unsecured, non-interest bearing
and repayable on demand (2021: unsecured, non-
interest bearing and repayable on demand). The
balances are denominated in HK$, RMB and US$
amounting to RMB189,000, RMB17,175,000 and
RMB1,895,000 (2021: RMB173,000, RMB28,655,000
and RMB1,734,000) respectively. The carrying amounts
of the balances approximate to their fair values.

(i) The balances are denominated in HK$, RMB and US$
amounting to RMB132,177,000, RMB4,935,453,000
and RMB723,716,000 (2021: RMB530,555,000,
RMB4,512,857,000 and RMB357,597,000) respectively.
The balances are unsecured, non-interest bearing
and repayable on demand (2021. unsecured,
non-interest bearing and repayable on demand)
except for the balances of RMB234,104,000 (2021:
RMB1,215,807,000) which are interest-bearing at
rates ranging from 5% to 12% (2021: 6.18% to 12%)
per annum. The carrying amounts of the balances
approximate to their fair values.

(iii) The balances are denominated in HK$, RMB and US$
(2021: RMB and US$) amounting to RMBZ2,753,000,
RMB2,677,993,000 and RMB196,541,000 (2021:
RMB1,550,488,000 and RMB49,428,000) respectively.
The balances are unsecured, non-interest bearing
and repayable within one year (2021: unsecured,
non-interest bearing and repayable within one year)
except for the balances of US$1,314,000 (equivalent
to RMB9, 154,000) (2021: US$6,477,000 (equivalent to
RMB41,294,000)) which are interest-bearing at 4.5%
(2021: 4.5%) per annum. The carrying amounts of the
balances approximate to their fair values.

(iv) The related company is a subsidiary of a substantial
shareholder of one of the non-wholly-owned
subsidiaries of the Company. The balance is
unsecured, interest-bearing at Loan Prime Rate (‘LPR”)
and not repayable within one year. The balance is
denominated in RMB.

224 Gemdale Properties and Investment Corporation Limited
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32.

Notes to the Financial Statements

BALANCES WITH RELATED PARTIES
(continued)

Notes: (continued)

(v)

(vi)

(vii)

(viii)

The balances are denominated in RMB and US$ (2021:
HK$, RMB and US$) amounting to RMB12,762,549,000
and RMB8,453,786,000 (2021: RMB7,106,000,
RMB11,407,043,000 and RMB6,919,326,000)
respectively. The balances are unsecured, non-interest
bearing and repayable on demand (2021. unsecured,
non-interest bearing and repayable on demand)
except for the balances of RMB10,273,202,000 (2021:
RMB11,127,853,000) which are interest-bearing at LPR
(2021: LPR) and not repayable within one year (2021:
not repayable within one year), and the balances of
US$1,161,967,000 (equivalent to RMB8,092,636,000
(2021: US$1,041,249,000 (equivalent to
RMB6,638,692,000)) which are interest-bearing at rates
ranging from 3% to 5.41% (2021: 3% to 5.41%) per
annum and not repayable within one year (2021: not
repayable within one year).

The balances are unsecured, non-interest bearing
and repayable on demand (2021: unsecured, non-
interest bearing and repayable on demand). The
balances are denominated in RMB and US$ (2021:
HK$, RMB and US$) amounting to RMB7,815,658,000
and RMB360,505,000 (2021: RMB21,395,000, RMB
9,801,945,000 and RMB18,216,000) respectively. The
carrying amounts of the balances approximate to their
fair values.

The balances are unsecured, non-interest bearing
and repayable on demand (2021: unsecured, non-
interest bearing and repayable on demand). The
balances are denominated in RMB and US$ amounting
to RMB1,119,856,000 and RMB74,093,000 (2021:
RMB240,659,000 and RMB67,828,000) respectively.
The carrying amounts of the balances approximate to
their fair values.

The balance was unsecured, non-interest bearing and
repayable on demand. The balance was denominated
in RMB and the carrying amount of the balance
approximated to its fair values.

IR R M

31 December 2022
202212 A31H

32. HBRERL & (HF)

Wit - (%)

(v)

(vi)

(vii)

(viii)

BELHRIZEARERZETT (20214F -
BT ANRBERET)ZKR THF
DRNABARE12,762,549,000 7T
RARMS, 453,786,000 (2021
FDFABAREK7 106,000 *
AEH11,407,043,000 T R A K
#6,919,326,0007T) ° B AR
10,273,202,0007T (20214F : AR
11,127,853,0007T) B T 5 # 1B F)
E (20214 - BEA TS HIEFIE) 58
RAEAR—FEAEIE (2021F « fEAR
—IFAEE) K RZEIT1,161,967,000
(HHERARKS,092,636,000T)
(20214F : 0 1,041,249,000 (1HER
A F#6,638,692,000T ) 1% F FI|F &
3%ZF5.41% (20214 : 3% 25.41%)
FTERABER —FREE (2021F - #
AR —FXEE) I BMAZERTIHE
B BERIZEKIFEE (20214F -
FEIRIE - B ERIEEFKIFIEIE) o

ZEGZBTERT  EEREZEXE
1B (20214 - BHF EEREZE
KEFEE) c ZEBBIZEARBERE
Jr (20214 : B - ARBRZET)H
B 2R FIRBARE7,815658 000
TTRA R #360,505,0007T (20214 -
DEIBARE21,8395,0007T © AR
9,801,945,000T R A K # 18,216,000
JT) o A ARERIEE LA 2 EAE o

ZEGZBTERT  EEREEXE
1B (20214 : EBRH - BERIZELK
BF1EE) « ZERZBIEARBREITA
B 2R FIRBARE 119,856,000
TRARE74,093,0007T (20214 -
D RIBA R 240,659,0007T KA R
67,828,0007T) ° A5 ERARET (B EZ A 1\ 7
BIEE -

BRRTERR  REREELFE

%
B o RN R - A RE e
HAE LA EFE
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33.

226

DEFERRED TAX

The movements of deferred tax liabilities during the year

are as follows:

33.

Depreciation

EFEB R

Fair value
adjustments

allowance  arising from
in excess acquisition of  Withholding
of related  subsidiaries income taxes
Revaluation ~depreciation UWEEHBAR  and others
of properties ERHE EEz EHFEH Total
EffNE ARFESE DABRE REft oYl
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBT ARBT T ARBT R ARBT R ARBFR
At 1 January 2022 2022F1 /1A 1,338,999 111,601 3,791 461,926 1,916,317
Deferred tax charged/(credited) to the ~ RMEZXRARIMG /(G A) 228,991 49,752 (1,658) 74,764 351,849
statement of profit or loss (Note 9) ZEIERIE (H17#9)
Acquisition of subsidiaries WEHE AR 125,844 - - - 125,844
(Notes 35, 36) (B13£35, 36)
Exchange realignment [ER AR 394 - - 6,143 6,537
At 31 December 2022 R2022%12A31R 1,604,228 161,353 2,133 542,833 2,400,547
At 1 January 2021 R2021%F1 A1A 883,807 84,675 5,848 438,271 1,412,601
Deferred tax charged/(credited) to the ~ MEFZAMR /(GtA) 9,317 26,264 (2,057) 23,306 56,830
statement of profit or loss (Note 9) ZIERFIE (H1729)
Acquisition of subsidiaries G =UNG 445 481 = = = 445 481
(Notes 35, 36) (73235, 36)
Exchange realignment X A% 394 662 - 349 1,405
At 31 December 2021 R2021% 124318 1,338,999 111,601 3,791 46196 1916317
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31 December 2022
2022412 A31H

33. DEFERRED TAX (continued) 33. ELEBIIE (&
The movements of deferred tax assets during the year are BEERBEBEENFENZEEHAOT -
as follows:
Tax losses  Provision for Provision
and others receivables for LAT
BEBE FE AR K AR Total
R HEER T ER #am
RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000 RMB’000

ARBT R ARBT ARBT ARBTFR

At 1 January 2022 B'/‘2022¢1 A1A 591,429 122,880 512,670 1,226,979
Deferred tax credited to the statement REBEXRNFAZELEHE 109,902 5,797 12,484 128,183
of profit or loss (Note 9) (H:#9)
Acquisition of subsidiaries (Notes 35, 36) WM B AR (#1735, 36) 31,458 - - 31,458
Exchange realignment R AR 2,620 - - 2,620
At 31 December 2022 #2022 12A31R 735,409 128,677 525,154 1,389,240
At 1 January 2021 ®2021F1A1A8 531,207 108,194 303,746 943,147
Deferred tax credited to the statement ~ RBHEZANAZELHE 95,642 15,880 157,378 268,900
of profit or loss (Note 9) (M39)
Acquisition of subsidiaries (Notes 35, 36) UREEHTE A &) (ff5#35, 36) 38,751 = 42,459 81,210
Disposal of subsidiaries (Note 37) HEWBRR (#237) (71,818) (1,194) (151) (73,163)
Exchange realignment X RE (2,353) - 9,238 6,885
At 31 December 2021 202112 A31H 591,429 122,880 512,670 1,226,979
For presentation purposes, certain deferred tax assets and ETECEHIEEE KA BREESMBKAR
liabilities have been offset in the consolidated statement ERECEHEEKE - W T AREBELHE
of financial position. The following is an analysis of the BRI IEREZ R/
deferred tax balances of the Group for financial reporting
purposes:
2022 2021
20224 20214
RMB’ 000 RMB’000

ARBTR ARETT

Net deferred tax assets recognised in the RERE AR R IER 2 1,128,826 989,486
consolidated statement of financial position BEERIAE EFRE

Net deferred tax liabilities recognised in the ﬁu?/:\lﬁﬁ‘%ﬁkxﬂi’%ﬁﬁuﬂz (2,140,133) (1,678,824)
consolidated statement of financial position BEERIBBETE

(1,011,307) (689,338)
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31 December 2022
2022912 A31H

33.

228

DEFERRED TAX (continued)

At the end of the reporting period, the Group had tax
losses of RMB973,550,000 (2021: RMB866,435,000)
that are available indefinitely for offsetting against future
taxable profits of the companies in which the losses arose,
and tax losses of RMB89,965,000 and RMB3,899,113,000
(2021: RMB89,965,000 and RMB2,500,715,000) which will
expire within twenty years and five years, respectively, for
offsetting against future taxable profits of the companies in
which the losses arose. Deferred tax assets in respect of
tax losses of RMB1,859,312,000 (2021: RMB1,100,923,000)
have not been recognised as they have arisen in
subsidiaries that have been loss-making for some time and
it is not considered probable that taxable profits will be
available against which the tax losses can be utilised.

Pursuant to the PRC Corporate Income Tax Law, a
10% withholding tax is levied on dividends declared to
foreign investors from the foreign investment enterprises
established in Mainland China. The requirement is effective
from 1 January 2008 and applies to earnings after 31
December 2007. A lower withholding tax rate may be
applied if there is a tax treaty between Mainland China and
the jurisdiction of the foreign investors. For the Group, the
applicable rate is 5% or 10%. The Group is therefore liable
for withholding taxes on dividends distributed by those
subsidiaries established in Mainland China in respect of
earnings generated from 1 January 2008.

At 31 December 2022, no deferred tax has been
recognised for withholding taxes that would be payable
on certain of the unremitted earnings that are subject
to withholding taxes of the Group’s subsidiaries, joint
ventures and associates established in Mainland China. In
the opinion of the Directors, it is not probable that these
subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates will distribute
such earnings in the foreseeable future. The aggregate
amount of temporary differences associated with
investments in subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates
in Mainland China for which deferred tax liabilities have not
been recognised was RMB1,440,013,000 at 31 December
2022 (2021: RMB1,251,192,000)

There are no income tax consequences attaching to the
payment of dividends by the Company to its shareholders.

Gemdale Properties and Investment Corporation Limited
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31 December 2022
2022412 A31H

34. PARTLY-OWNED SUBSIDIARIES WITH 34. EEAFERREERZIEZENE

MATERIAL NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS YN
Details of the Group’s subsidiaries, namely Supreme Asia BEREEERBRRAET2AEERB A
Investments Limited (“SAl”) and its subsidiary, Shanghai AlSupreme Asia Investments Limited
Zhongjun Real Estate Development Co., Ltd., that have ([SAID) R EBft B~ &) (i hBe = b e 3%
material non-controlling interests are set out below: ERATE)FBEHINET -
SAIl and its subsidiary
SAIR EHi & A &)
2022 2021
20224 20214
Percentage of equity interest held by FEIER AR R A 2 43.26% 43.26%
non-controlling interests Bt
2022 2021
20224 20214
RMB’ 000 RMB’000
AR%T T ARBEFTT
Accumulated balances of non-controlling IEIER R R EEAREA 2 1,190,795 1,108,912
interests at the reporting date e
Profit for the year allocated to non-controlling DT IR AR RS 2 87,516 165,734
interests NEE R
Dividend paid to non-controlling shareholder BT IR R AR - 286,790
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2022912 A31H

34. PARTLY-OWNED SUBSIDIARIES WITH 34. BEEAIEZERBRREEZZHF2ENE

MATERIAL NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS nE (&)

(continued)

The following tables illustrate the summarised financial tjﬁMﬁ%ﬁﬁ?ZEﬁj‘%ﬁﬂ}%%ﬁﬁljﬂﬂT .
information of the above subsidiaries. The amounts BEE DB AMRRE R AR 228 -

disclosed are before any inter-company eliminations:

SAIl and its subsidiary
SAIR EHi &4 &)

2022 2021
2022 20214
Current assets MBEE 3,860,492 4,581,067
Non-current assets IEMBEE 26,257 95,612
Current liabilities nBaE (1,094,893)  (2,203,417)
Revenue and other income WA R E At YA 1,391,705 1,064,680
Total expenses = Jeskkc] (1,072,597) (723,744)
Profit for the year AN [ F) 319,108 340,936
Total comprehensive income for the year AEEZHRZREE 393,817 363,625
Net cash used in operating activities CEEEFER S RE 358 (296,121) (74,904)
Net cash (used in)/from investing activities WEER (FTiE),/ (2,672,364) 3,455,318
FrISREmEFE
Net cash used in financing activities BEXBAERSREFE (1,003) (632,142)
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes, net SNBSTEREE) 2 8 - FEE 159 (189)
Net (decrease)/increase in cash and BeMREEEBEHZ (2,969,329) 2,748,083
cash equivalents CR A,/ & hnFga

230 Gemdale Properties and Investment Corporation Limited
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31 December 2022
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PARTLY-OWNED SUBSIDIARIES WITH 34. EBEAFEIEBRBRREERZIIEZEKHE
MATERIAL NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS INCINE-))

(continued)
BERFERERER 2 AEEKHE X FRE

Details of the Group’s subsidiary, namely FR 4 hE M ER - oo
RelEEREARAR ([ ]) FE8H

A R A7) (Nanjing Jintuo Property Development Company

R
Limited*) (“Jintuo”) that has material non-controlling Sl
interests are set out below:
Jintuo
&
2022
20224
Percentage of equity interest held by HIER R ERTA 2 49%
non-controlling interests AL
2022
20224
RMB’ 000
ARBT T
Accumulated balances of non-controlling JEIE AR RS R RER 2 711,074
interests at the reporting date RETHEER
Loss for the year allocated to non-controlling interests 7B FIFIE AR AR B 25 A EE E518 (2,789)
* For identification purposes only * ERHE
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232 Gemdale Properties and Investment Corporation Limited

PARTLY-OWNED SUBSIDIARIES WITH 34. EBEAFEEBRBRRERZIIEZEKHE
MATERIAL NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS INCINE-P)

(continued)

The following tables illustrate the summarised financial
information of the above subsidiary. The amounts disclosed

are before any inter-company eliminations:

PRMBARZMBEERBEHIINT - &
AEBESRIRNGERBARM 2 HH

Jintuo
&

2022

20224

Current assets MBEE 1,489,293
Current liabilities mEAE 38,120
Revenue and other income PN SET PN 64,417
Total expenses EHBEE (70,108)
Loss for the year REE EE (5,691)
Total comprehensive loss for the year AEEZHBGERRE (5,691)
Net cash from operating activities KEXBMERSREFHE 22,542
Net cash from investing activities REXBMBRSREFE -
Net cash from financing activities REREBAEREREFHE -
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents HekReEBEER 2L INFE 22,542
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Notes to the Financial Statements

BUSINESS COMBINATION

During the year, the Group and two joint venture partners
agreed to amend the Articles and Association of a
joint venture, HRMEELEZEZFREMR A A (Xuzhou
Weifa Corporation Management Consultation Company
Limited*) (“Weifa”), in which the Group and the two joint
venture partners hold 49.25%, 49% and 1.75% interests
respectively. Weifa has a non-wholly-owned subsidiary
BN B E HER AR AR (Xuzhou Weisheng Property
Development Company Limited*). Weifa and its subsidiary
(“Weifa Group”) is engaged in property development in
Mainland China. The Group obtained control over Weifa
after the amendment of the Articles of Association. The
change was accounted for as business combination.

During the year, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company
entered into a sale and purchase agreement with a joint
venture partner of the Group to acquire a 72% equity
interest in a joint venture, MESIHBZMNBEXEER AT
(Wuhan Jinyue Xinhanhe Real Estate Company Limited*)
(“Jinyue”) at a cash consideration of RMB27,200,000.
Jinyue is engaged in property development in Mainland
China. After the acquisition, the Group has control over
Jinyue. The acquisition was accounted for as business
combination.

In prior year, the Group and a joint venture partner agreed
to amend the Articles and Association of a joint venture,
MMEAEBZTEAR QA (Hangzhou Longhe Real Estate
Company Limited*) (“Longhe”), in which the Group and
the joint venture partner held 60% and 40% interests
respectively. Longhe is engaged in property development
in Mainland China. The Group obtained control over
Longhe after the amendment of the Articles and
Association. The change was accounted for as business
combination.

35.
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202212 A31H

EBaot
AEBRAFHRBEEERBBHRBER]
—%/\“” - HNERELCXREEARNE

RAI(TERBEDZ2ER  AEEEZME
AM"ﬂ%ﬁ’\%wﬁﬁ@%ﬂg.%% < 49%
R1.75%#s - REHEA —RIEZEWBR

Al - MNBEREERBEARAR BB
HIFBAR) ([HEER]) RPBEKEREY
EUEER - AEERERBIRYHAEA
BIEHIE - BRAZEIERESH

ARAB—RE2EWBRRIRAFEAEERS
BRARBHIVY—NEEHE  URERE
AR#27,200,000 L E—REE QR — R
BB ENMEXBR AT ([@21H]) 272%
S o SURTFRRENEYEBEELR -
REBRWEERESHABITGIE BEZ
BYNWERZEED -

m

N e <L¢,\m%&7 BHRBET —

ZEEQRR —MMESEEAR A ([#
E\J)Z;-Jri C AKEEZEERRBHD

ﬁ*ﬁf‘EAGO%&m%%” o BEA A B A BE
WEMEBREER - AEBERERBERY
BEEEBEGIE - FHEEEIEDEAH -
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BUSINESS COMBINATION (continued)

In prior year, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company
acquired a 94.475% equity interest in a subsidiary of a joint
venture of the Group, AR EHE R BR A F(Taiyuan
Yingyuan Property Development Company Limited®)
(“Yingyuan”), by capital injection of RMB188,950,000 in
Yingyuan. Yingyuan is engaged in property development
in Mainland China. The acquisition was accounted for as
business combination.

In prior year, the Group and two joint venture partners
agreed to amend the Articles and Association of a joint
SELRBRAEREAER AR (Qingdao Anpei
Investment and Development Company Limited*) (“Anpei”),

venture,

in which the Group and the joint venture partners hold
43.59% and 56.41% interests respectively. Anpei has
SELBREFABEBRAA
(Qingdao Anhai Investment and Development Company
Limited*). Anpei and its subsidiary (“Anpei Group”) is
engaged in property development in Mainland China. The
Group obtained control over Anpei after the amendment of

a wholly-owned subsidiary,

the Articles and Association. The change was accounted
for as business combination.

In prior year, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company
acquired a 95% equity interest in a subsidiary of a joint
venture of the Group, REBTFEEHERZEER AT
(Wuhan Weizibo Property Development Company Limited*)
(“Weizibo”), by capital injection of RMB19,000,000 in
Weizibo. Weizibo is engaged in property development in
Mainland China. The acquisition was accounted for as
business combination.

*

For identification purposes only

Gemdale Properties and Investment Corporation Limited
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ARB—RE2EMBRARAR ELERAEE
—RAEERRIZHBRAR - KERBRE
WERBEARAA([AR]) FEARKE
188,950,000 T AU IE BT 94.475% T 25 ©
BIARRERELEMEERER - BEK
BOIERESD -

AEER EFEMAALERFREET —K
BERF - EERBREFAZRERAR ([

BZER  AEBRZMAEERBES R
FH43.59% & 56.41%Exm - TEEA R
2EMBERAR - SELBREREERA
A REREMNBAR ([REEE]) RPEH
AEREMEBRREER - NEERERBET
BEHZIEABEGE BESEINELES
Bt o

AAR—REEMBRAAR LEFRALAEE
—REERRIZHNBAR - RERTHERE
MERZEERAA ([BHFB]) ETEARKE
19,000,000 7T LA MBS B F18 2 95 % #E e © Bk
TFHENPERELEMEERER - BEAK
BIEDEED
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BUSINESS COMBINATION (continued) 35. EXKEHt (&)
The fair values of the identifiable assets and liabilities of RBEER HRKE AR ZAIBAIEERBE
the acquired companies as at the dates of acquisitions are NREWAT -
as follows:
2022 2022 2021 2021 2021 2021
20226 2022 20214 20214 20214 20214
Weifa Group Jinyue Longhe Yingyuan  Anpei Group Weizibo
AREE 28 S g ZHER BTE
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTT ARETz ARETR ARETT ARETT ARETR
Property, plant and equipment mE - BERRE 88 4 96 2,203 321 188
Investment propeties RENZE 112,098 - = = = =
Properties held for sale BRHENE - 1,245174 2,876,109 = - 3111625
Properties under development BEANE 2,938,880 - = 2,147,252 1,837,900 =
Prepayments, deposits and other ~ BRFE - %2 R 651,557 79,945 115225 1,201,568 104,073 934,371
receivables G
Due from shareholders YRR E 73,933 = = - 1,108,807 =
Prepaid taxes Efie 44,786 37,112 89,404 122,913 108,370 =
Bank balances RITHE 31,510 2,060 50,259 26,620 269,128 609,678
Trade payables ENESER - - (133,090) = = =
Advanced receipts, accruals and  FEMFUE - [ REER (3,418,097)  (177,991)  (2,912,986)  (3,005,935)  (2,386,620)  (3,583,770)
other payables HEER
Loans from shareholders ERREER - (814,640) = = £ =
Due to shareholders e R (35,269)  (320,851) = = = =
Tax payables FEfTRIR - - - - = (151,295)
Deferred tax liabilities BREREARE (103,051) (7,395) (1547)  (114713) (45,687)  (182,324)
Total identifiable net assets at HAFEEL 296,435 43,418 63,470 379,908 996,292 738,473
fair value DifE
Capital contribution RARA - - - 188,950 - 19,000
Non-controlling interests FERBRER (150,441) (1,216) (25,388) (31,429) (561,970) (37,874)
145,994 42,202 38,082 537,429 434,322 719,599
Transferred from investment BARGELA (145,994) (10,941) - = (363,551) =
in joint ventures LRE
Capital contribution RAZA - - - (188,950) = (19,000)
Gains on bargain purchase HEWENR - (4,061) (38,082) (348,479) (70,771) (700,599)
Total consideration aRE - 27,200 = = = =
Satisfied by: A -
Cash R - 27,200 = = = =

Annual Report 2022 £3§ 235



Notes to the Financial Statements

IR MR

31 December 2022
2022912 A31H

35.

236

BUSINESS COMBINATION (continued)

The fair values and gross contractual amounts of deposits
and other receivables of Weifa Group as at the date of
acquisition amounted to RMB511,191,000. No receivables
are expected to be uncollectible.

The fair values and gross contractual amounts of deposits
and other receivables of Jinyue as at the date of acquisition
amounted to RMB27,370,000. No receivables are expected
to be uncollectible.

The fair values and gross contractual amounts of deposits
and other receivables of Longhe as at the date of
acquisition amounted to RMB24,338,000. No receivables
were expected to be uncollectible.

The fair values and gross contractual amounts of deposits
and other receivables of Yingyuan as at the date of
acquisition amounted to RMB1,040,734,000. No receivables
were expected to be uncollectible.

The fair values and gross contractual amounts of deposits
and other receivables of Anpei Group as at the date of
acquisition amounted to RMB5,800,000. No receivables
were expected to be uncollectible.

The fair values and gross contractual amounts of deposits
and other receivables of Weizibo as at the date of
acquisition amounted to RMB702,819,000. No receivables
were expected to be uncollectible.

Gemdale Properties and Investment Corporation Limited
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BEEEZIRE R HE AR ER A U B 8
ZARERFTHNBEEAEARES11,191,000
T ° B FEUR BR FRFEHA A UR ] -

ez REMEBURERREEBEHRZ A
AREMETHEEE A AR 27,370,0007T ©
4 FE U AR TR B R IR (E] -

EAZRENEMEUREZIREBEHZA
REMTHRTE A ANRK24,338,0007T © #
42 [iE U BR SR TE HA SR R (A o

AR REMERERRKEB Y
NARERFTHEEEARE1,040,734,000
7T o ME R R BB E AU -

TIEEEZEZe N EMERERRIKER
Bz ARBRETHBRE S ARES5,800,000
7T o ERWEZRIERE LM -

BT B2 ke & b FE WRR R Y BE A A
ZARERFHNBEEAEARET702,819,000
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BUSINESS COMBINATION (continued) 35. EXKEOt (&)
An analysis of the cash flows in respect of the acquisitions WHEMB AR ZIRERESTHT ¢
of subsidiaries is as follows:
2022 2022 2021 2021 2021 2021
2022% 20226 20214 20214 20214 20214
Weifa Group Jinyue Longhe Yingyuan  Anpei Group Weizibo
REEE A 8 A ZIEEE BFE
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETR  ARBTR ARETT ARETR  ARETR  ARETE
Cash consideration RefE - (27,200) = = = =
Bank balances acquired Wk 2 RiTH 31,510 2,060 50,259 26,620 269,128 609,678
Net inflow/(outflow) of cash and RASRETREEH 31,510 (25,140) 50,259 26,620 269,128 609,678
cash equivalents included in LBeRRESEER
cash flows from investing activities ~ ZiE A/ (Filt) 28
Since the acquisition, Weifa Group contributed B R EAAAEERE20224F

RMB1,864,901,000 to the Group’'s revenue and
RMB344,935,000 to the consolidated profit for the year
ended 31 December 2022. Had the combination taken
place at the beginning of the year, the revenue and
the consolidated profit of the Group for the year would
have been RMB10,302,492,000 and RMB2,341,529,000
respectively.

Since the acquisition, Jinyue contributed RMB106,591,000
to the Group’s revenue and loss of RMB15,346,000 to the
consolidated profit for the year ended 31 December 2022.
Had the combination taken place at the beginning of the
year, the revenue and the consolidated profit of the Group
for the year would have been RMB10,478,489,000 and
RMB2,440,412,000 respectively.

Since the acquisition, Longhe contributed RMB2,656,655,000
to the Group’'s revenue and RMB190,242,000 to the
consolidated profit for the year ended 31 December 2021.
Had the combination taken place at the beginning of the prior
year, the revenue and the consolidated profit of the Group
for the prior year would have been RMB14,369,380,000 and
RMB4,342,270,000 respectively.

12A31ALEFEZHRAFTRARE
1,864,901,0007t Rir&EMERARKE
344,935,0007C ° M& HFRAFEEST - &
EEMAFEZWRARGAERFD B ABARE
10,302,492,0007C & AR ¥ 2, 341,529,000
=5

BUIEE SN ARNEEEZE2022412A4
STEEFEZWATRARY 106,591,000
TTREEEMNBERARE15,346,0007T
ZEE - WMEHRAFVET  A5H
REEZWARGERMND R AANRE
10,478,489,0007t X AR #2,440,412,00
5T o

BUEER EAALAEEEHZEZ2021F
12A31HAEFEZRAZTRAR
2,656,655,000 7T R &R A& I H R AR
190,242,000 ° fHEHR ELFEF i
T AEEBLFFEZWRAREEREF S
Rl A ANRE¥14,369,380,000 T X AR
4,342,270,0007T °
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BUSINESS COMBINATION (continued)

Since the acquisition, Yingyuan contributed
RMB1,886,670,000 to the Group’s revenue and
RMB372,907,000 to the consolidated profit for the year
ended 31 December 2021. Had the combination taken
place at the beginning of the prior year, the revenue and
the consolidated profit of the Group for the prior year would
have been RMB14,184,795,000 and RMB4,317,121,000
respectively.

Since the acquisition, Anpei Group contributed
RMB1,567,577,000 to the Group’'s revenue and
RMB147,345,000 to the consolidated profit for the year
ended 31 December 2021.
place at the beginning of the prior year, the revenue and

Had the combination taken

the consolidated profit of the Group for the prior year would
have been RMB14,185,102,000 and RMB4,316,298,000
respectively.

Since the acquisition, Weizibo contributed
RMB3,147,017,000 to the Group’s revenue and
RMB693,200,000 to the consolidated profit for the year
ended 31 December 2021.
place at the beginning of the prior year, the revenue and
the consolidated profit of the Group for the prior year would
have been RMB14,741,548,000 and RMB4,406,508,000
respectively.

Had the combination taken

Gemdale Properties and Investment Corporation Limited
S EREERAA
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BER  BArAAEEEBE2021F
12A31HALEFEZHRATRARE
1,886,670,0007C MARE i F| F 2R A R B
372,907,0007C ° W& HFR EFFH#
T AEELFFEZRARRE RS
Bl AANRE14,184,795,000TT K AR #E
4,317,121,0007T °

BlEE  RESEARAEBEE E2021
F1I2A31BLEFEZHAETRARYE
1,5667,577,0007C &R & m M A RA R
147,345,0007C ° &R EFF &
T AEELFEFEZRARRERF S
AlAEANRE®14,185,102,000 R AR
4,316,298,0007T °

BlELZ HRFBEAAEEAEE2021
FI2A81TALFEZRATRARE
3,147,017,000 L K& & B FHERARE
693,200,000t ° fii&a F R EF FHl#E
T AEELEFFEZWAREE BT
BAANRE14,741,548 000T X AR
4,406,508,0007T °
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Notes to the Financial Statements

ACQUISITION OF ASSETS THROUGH
ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES

During the year, a subsidiary of the Company entered into
a sale and purchase agreement with a joint venture partner
of the Group to acquire a 50% equity interest in a joint
venture, FKESHEE ¥ BMR A F(Chengdu Hanxiang Real
Estate Company Limited*) (“Hanxiang”), in which the Group
and the joint venture partner each hold 50% equity interest,
at a cash consideration of RMB7,989,000. Hanxiang is
engaged in property development in Mainland China. The
Group has control over Hanxiang after completion of the
acquisition.

During the year, the Group and a joint venture partner
agreed to amend the Articles and Association of a joint
EREREWEREAR AT (Nanjing Jintuo
Property Development Company Limited*) (“Jintuo”),
in which the Group and the joint venture partner hold
51% and 49% interests respectively. Jintuo is engaged
in property development in Mainland China. The Group
obtained control over Jintuo after the amendment of the
Articles of Association.

venture,

During the year, the Group and a joint venture partner
agreed to amend the Articles and Association of a joint
HmMBEEHERZEBR AR (Xuzhou Hongdi
Property Development Company Limited*) (“Hongdi”),
in which the Group and the joint venture partner hold
35% and 65% interests respectively. Hongdi is engaged
in property development in Mainland China. The Group
obtained control over Hongdi after the amendment of the
Articles of Association.

venture,
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EBWENBARKBEE

AR —RMBRARANAFHRAEBEER
AIBHEIL— M EERZE  UREREBAR
#£7,989,000 T IE —REE N A — BEDH
BEXBRAR ([HIE]) 250%#am o A&
BHEHZEEBHEZIFERES0%ER - B8

RABERERENEZRER - AEERIK
BB AEEEE -

REEBRAFHRAEERNTBHREBE —R
é%@mfﬁﬁi%%tmﬁﬁfﬁ*ﬁﬁﬁﬂf
([&F]) 2582  AEBERZEENEBH
DR BEESHES1% MA49%ER - NP H

REREMNEERED - AEERERER]
BESIMABERHE -

$%IF$¢£A%“T%ﬁHﬁfJ—§
AEQNE —HRMNBEEHMEREERA
(%LDZEE'KEIEJQM T%ﬁ
DR A IS E3E5% K 65% S o ik E
AEREMEZRER - AEERERBE]
‘Y BEA B EGIRE o
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ACQUISITION OF ASSETS THROUGH
ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

In prior year, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company
acquired 96% equity interest in JRIITMEBHILE LR
AR A 7F](Shenzhenshi Hezheng Lancheng Investment
Development Company Limited*) (“Hezheng Lancheng”)
from an independent third party at a cash consideration
of RMB4,800,000. Hezheng Lancheng has a wholly-owned
subsidiary FITEEREZRBR QA (Shenzhenshi
Huahou Investment and Development Company Limited®).
Hezheng Lancheng and its subsidiary (“Hezheng Lancheng
Group”) are engaged in property development in Mainland
China.

The above transactions were accounted for as acquisition
of assets rather than business combination because the
acquired set of assets and activities from the related
entities do not included inputs and substantive processes
that together significantly contributed to the ability to
create outputs. The net (outflow)/inflow of cash and cash
equivalents from the acquisitions has been reflected in
the consolidated statement of cash flows as part of the
cash flow movement of the individual assets and liabilities
acquired.

*

For identification purposes only
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THBHERERRLQF

36.

EBWEHNBATKBEE (&)

ARRZ—RE2EMBRARR LFUBRSRK
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ACQUISITION OF ASSETS THROUGH
ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

The net assets acquired in the above acquisitions are as

follows:

Notes to the Financial Statements
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31 December 2022
2022412 A31H

36. ZBWBEHWEBLARAWBEE (&)

A EWEEZ FrkiB R EMT

2022 2022 2022 2021
20225 2022 2022 20216
Hezheng
Lancheng
Hanxiang Jintuo Hongdi Group
BE & Bl NEENEE
RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000 RMB'000
ARETR ARETR ARETR AREFT
Property, plant and equipment mE - BER&E - - 52 7
Deferred tax assets EIEHEEE - - 16,060 =
Properties held for sale FHEME - 141,815 1,971,782 =
Properties under development BREPME 148,027 - - 406,551
Prepayments, deposits and other BERE - &E R 17,441 1,231,247 479,338 13,864
receivables HibEKER
Due from shareholders e AR R R - - 168,000 =
Prepaid taxes BREE - 1,481 67,793 =
Bank balances RITHRR 77 245,214 221,249 44
Advanced receipts, accruals and BUGIE - ESHRRIER (4,823) (162,893) (2,654,702) (4)
other payables HibEAERR
Loans from shareholders ERRFEERE (92,733) - - (415,462)
Net assets BEFE 67,989 1,456,864 269,572 5,000
Non-controlling interests FEE R R - (713,863) (175,222) (200)
Transferred from investment BENGERAZRE (60,000) (743,001) (94,350) =
in joint ventures
7,989 - - 4,800
Satisfied by: AR
Cash Re 7,989 = = =
Other payables HiERNER - - - 4,800
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36. ACQUISITION OF ASSETS THROUGH 36.
ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

An analysis of the cash flows in respect of the acquisition
of assets through acquisition of subsidiaries is as follows:

ERWENBARBREE (&)

ERNN B AR EE L RS RES T
T

2022 2022 2022 2021

20225 20224 20224 2021

Hezheng

Lancheng

Hanxiang Jintuo Hongdi Group

B & B RNERNER

RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000 RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®ETR AR®ETR ARBT R ARETT

Cash consideration RefRE (7,989) - - =

Bank balances acquired Wi 2 BITHERR 77 245,214 221,249 44

Net (outflow)/inflow of cash and RekBeFEEE (7,912) 245,214 221,249 44

cash equivalents (), RANFE

37. DISPOSAL AND DEEMED DISPOSAL OF 37. HERBRBAHEWBAR

SUBSIDIARIES

During the year, the Group entered into an agreement
with a joint venture partner. Pursuant to the agreement,
the Group disposed of 20% equity in a subsidiary of
the Company, Gemdale 85 Cleaveland Road LLC (“85
Cleaveland”), to the joint venture partner at a consideration
of US$3,800,000 (equivalent to RMB25,311,000). 85
Cleaveland is engaged in property development. The
Group and the joint venture partner agreed to exercise
joint control over 85 Cleaveland after completion of the
transaction. The Group has lost control over 85 Cleaveland
after completion of the disposal and the remaining equity
investment in 85 Cleaveland was accounted for as an
investment in a joint venture.

242 Gemdale Properties and Investment Corporation Limited
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Notes to the Financial Statements

DISPOSAL AND DEEMED DISPOSAL OF
SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

During the year, the Group entered into an agreement
with a joint venture partner. Pursuant to the agreement,
the Group disposed of 20% equity in a subsidiary of the
Company, Philomena Street Investor, LLC (“Philomena”), to
the joint venture partner at a consideration of US$3,350,000
(equivalent to RMB23,784,000). Philomena is engaged in
property development. The Group and the joint venture
partner agreed to exercise joint control over Philomena
after completion of the transaction. The Group has lost
control over Philomena after completion of the disposal
and the remaining equity investment in Philomena was
accounted for as an investment in a joint venture.

In prior year, the Group entered into an agreement with a
joint venture partner. Pursuant to the agreement, the joint
venture partner agreed to participate in capital injection in
a non-wholly owned subsidiary of the Company, 222 Dexter
Ave North, LLC (“222 Dexter”). The equity interest held by
the Group was reduced to 92.73% accordingly. 222 Dexter
is engaged in property development. The Group and the
joint venture partner agreed to exercise joint control over
222 Dexter after completion of the transaction. The Group
had lost control over 222 Dexter and the equity investment
in 222 Dexter was accounted for as an investment in a joint
venture.

In prior year, the Group disposed of its 100% equity
interest in a wholly-owned subsidiary, FIIlF 5K EE
T#ABMRAFE(Shenzhen Xinchengtian Construction Co.,
Ltd.*) (“Xinchengtian”), and its subsidiaries (“Xinchengtian
Group”) to a fellow subsidiary of the Group for a cash
consideration of RMB13,350,000. Xinchengtian Group is

engaged in fitting-out services.

For identification purposes only

37.

IR R M

31 December 2022
202212 A31H

HERREHENB QR (&)

AEBRAFE-—ZEERRBHEEIT 0
ik - BIEZDGE  FAEELHERARFT—R
BB~ &) —Philomena Street Investor, LLC
([Philomenal) 2 20% % T A4 N EE
- WS NREA3,350,000% T (HERA
R#23,784,0007T) ° Philomenaft = E b
EREER AEBRZEEATIBHERAERE
RIERK R 5 & FFEEHIPhilomena A& H
R FZIE B & K K ¥ Philomenaz 4]
# - HPhilomenaZ & T IRERE N AR
EENAEIRE -

AEEBRLEFEAEERAEGBAGL—H
ik - BIEHZE G2 ARERBRARESR
HARNR—KKIBAF —222 Dexter Ave
North, LLC.([222 Dexter]) Z &35 A
Bt - NREEFBEZERZRDEI2.73% ©
222 Dexterft EEMEMBEER - AEB K
ZEEREEBARERERR DB LRI
#1222 Dexter - AEBR T ZIBL EE KX
#1222 Dexter 2 1EHl#E - Hp222 Dexter
ZIRIER BT ARG EREIRE -

AEBREFHE—R2EMB AR — &Y
FHAREEIRBRARA(HAEAXR]) RE
MEBAR ([FBXREE]) 2 100% T A
EE-REARMBRAR BeREAARE
13,350,0007C ° FiBAS BN ERKIETIEE
f% °

* ERHE
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2022912 A31H

37.

DISPOSAL AND DEEMED DISPOSAL OF
SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

Details of the net assets disposed of are as follows:

37. HERHARLENELQR (&)

PR EBEFBZFHBWT

2022 2022 2021 2021
20225 2022 2022 20214
Xinchengtian
85 222 Group
Cleaveland Philomena Dexter HAAREE
RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000 RMB’000 RMB'000
ARET T ARET T ARETTT AREFT
Property, plant and equipment mE - B RRE - - - 30,223
Right-of-use assets TRELAE - - - 48,695
Deferred tax assets ERRIEEE - - - 73,163
Investments in joint ventures REERAZRE - - - 250
Properties under development BRPYE 90,913 221,244 199,384 =
Due from fellow subsidiaries L EES I NEERE - - - 100,687
Trade receivables EWE HHIE - - - 73,109
Prepayments, deposits and other BNRE - &EK - - - 60,945
receivables Hit YRR
Bank balances RITES 4,744 646 123,509 29,184
Trade and bills payables EREZERREE - (15,975) - (153,093)
Lease liabilities MHEARE - - - (50,980)
Advance receipts, accruals and BB - EEHRRIE - - (3,036) (160,752)
other payables REMERERR
Interest-bearing bank and other Wi B RITREMER - (74,197) (19,456) =
borrowings
Loans from the ultimate holding ERZEERARER - - = (150,442)
company
Due to fellow subsidiaries ERZHEARIFIE - - = 9)
Net assets/(liabilities) BE/(AfE)F#E 95,657 131,718 300,401 (99,020)
Non-controlling interests JEEIR IR (3,022) (1,129) (7,639) =
92,635 130,589 292,762 (99,020)
Fair value of investments retained RitE /BRI ERRE (92,765) (101,981) (291,456) =
as investments in joint ventures REEARIEREZ
upon disposal/deemed disposal REDAE
Gain/(loss) on disposal/deemed HE/ BRLEHBAR 25,441 (4,824) 11,534 112,370
disposal of subsidiaries ¥/ (E18)
Total consideration BRE 25,311 23,784 12,840 13,350
Satisfied by: FRAR
Cash e 25,311 23,784 12,840 -
Due from a fellow subsidiary T GEES ISR - - = 13,350

244 Gemdale Properties and Investment Corporation Limited
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38.

Notes to the Financial Statements

IR R M

31 December 2022
2022412 A31H

DISPOSAL AND DEEMED DISPOSAL OF 37. HERGRLEEWEBAT (&)

SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

An analysis of the net inflow/(outflow) of cash and cash HEMMATENBARZRERRSEE
equivalents in respect of the disposal and deemed disposal BEZRANCRE) FEAT -

of subsidiaries is as follows:

2022 2022 2021 2021
2022F 2022F 20215 20215
Xinchengtian
85 222 Group
Cleaveland Philomena Dexter NHEREE
RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000 RMB’000 RMB'000
AR%T T AR%T T ARETT ARETT
Cash consideration RERE 25,311 23,784 12,840
Bank balances disposed of HE 2 RITEB (4,744) (646) (123,509) (29,184)
Net inflow/(outflow) of cash and cash HE/ BRLEHRBAH 20,567 23,138 (110,669) (29,184)
equivalents in respect of the disposal/ ZEe kR EEERE
deemed disposal of subsidiaries ZRA /(R 58

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT 38. 4#iaBE4HEBRME

OF CASH FLOWS
(a) Major non-cash transactions (a)

During the year, the Group had non-cash additions
to right-of-use assets and lease liabilities of
RMB109,559,000 and RMB109,559,000 (2021:
RMB132,995,000 and RMB132,472,000),
respectively, in respect of lease arrangements for
properties used in its operation and investment.

HREFTERS

AER AEBBPELERKRE
FTRAWEHRELH  FAKEE
ERHEABRZIIBEERE RS
Al AARE109,559,0007T & A
R#109,559,0007C (20214 :
AR® 132,995,000t R A R
132,472,0007T) °
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2022912 A31H

38.

246

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT 38.

OF CASH FLOWS (continued)

(b)

RERERERWEE (F)

Changes in liabilities arising from financing (b) RAEHEEZRERZE
activities
Amounts due
Bank and Amounts to non-
other due to group controlling
Lease  borrowings companies shareholders
liabilities BAR ER&E FEATHER
HERE Hi &% NEAER RERE
RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000
ARBT R ARET R ARBT R ARBTR
At 31 December 2022 ®2022512A31R
At 1 January 2022 M2022F1 718 1,006,857 5,187,326 18,333,475 308,487
Changes from financing cash flow BERESRECE (132,388) 467,012 2,253,217 -
Interest accrued BRANEER 49,763 = = =
New leases (Note 31) MIERE (fi231) 109,559 - - -
Transfer to due from group companies BARWEEARFE - - (11,489) -
Transfer to due from non-controlling ST EFERREFR - - - (314,000)
shareholders
Exchange realignment BEHAE 1,761 343,886 641,132 5,513
At 31 December 2022 M2022%F12A318 1,035,552 5,998,224 21,216,335 -
At 31 December 2021 ®2021512A31R
At 1 January 2021 R2021F1 718 1,469,193 4,695,533 15,642,022 231,997
Changes from financing cash flow BERERECE (172,128) 598,024 2,649,208 (648,710)
Interest accrued ERASER 61,726 = 334,144 =
New leases (Note 317) HERE (H7#51) 132,472 = = .
Leases terminatiion BIERE (432,421) = = =
Disposal of subsidiaries (Note 37) LERBRR (Ai#57) (50,980) (19,456) (150,451) =
Transfer from due from group companies  # B EWEEAFFE - - 14,123 =
Transfer from due from non-controlling E B REUGHERREFA - - - 725,200
shareholders
Exchange realignment A (1,005) (86,775) (155,571) =
At 31 December 2021 12021612318 1006857 5187326 18,333,475 308,487

Gemdale Properties and Investment Corporation Limited
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38.

39.

40.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT 38.

OF CASH FLOWS (continued)

Notes to the Financial Statements

IR R M

31 December 2022
2022412 A31H

REREREBERWEE (HF)

(c) Total cash outflow for lease (c) HEZHLRHAE
2022 2021
20224 20214
RMB’ 000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARBFIT
Within operating activities R EHA 427 208
Within investing activities RIEEEBA - =
Within financing activities REVEEEA 132,388 172,128
132,815 172,336

PLEDGE OF ASSETS 39. EEHEHR

At 31 December 2022, investment properties of the Group
with an aggregate carrying value of RMB1,665,680,000
(2021: Nil) was pledged to secure bank borrowings granted
to the Group (Note 30(a)).

COMMITMENTS
(a) Capital commitments

The Group had capital expenditure in respect of
investment properties at the end of the reporting
period amounted to RMB371,386,000 (2021:
RMB362,610,000).

In addition, the Group had the following capital
commitments provided to joint ventures (including
the Group’s share of commitments made jointly with
other joint venturers)

40.

R2022F 128310 - AEERBEEMAEA
[R%1,665,680,0007T (20214 : &) 2% &
MIED FER  UERMAREERTE 2T
B3k (H5E30(a)) °

RIE

(a) EREE
RBMEBR AEEREMEZE
AR S AYE A AR ¥371,386,0007T
(20214 : AR¥362,610,0007T) °

AN - AEBBAZERBZEARANE
(BERASEEEEMAZERRBH K
RIRHARE 2 BEHRE) T

2022 2021
20224 20214
RMB’ 000 RMB’000
ARETT ARBT T

Contracted, but not provided for: BEL - BEREH
— Investment properties —REME 558,397 1,112,606
— Capital contributions — BEARE/A 49,000 136,907
607,397 1,249,513
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40. COMMITMENTS (continued) 40. RIE (&)
(b)  Operating lease commitments (b) KEHENEE
= As lessor = TERML A
The Group leases its investment AEERBELERHLHELE
properties (Note 15) under operating lease ETRZHREWE (HEE15) -
arrangements. The terms of the leases TEVGER Ty — R E KT P 5o i
generally also require the tenants to pay NREBERRBEBETERT
security deposits and provide for periodic BREMELHSHAE - A&
rent adjustments according to the then ERFARRBZERKAR
prevailing market conditions. Rental income AR#767,973,0007T (2021
recognised by the Group during the year was F: AR®592,774,000
RMB767,973,000 (2021: RMB592,774,000), JC) 0 FHBER S IRE M
details of which are included in note 5 to the 5e
financial statement.
At 31 December 2022, the undiscounted M20226F12A31H * A& H
lease payment receivables by the Group RIREEFA PRI 2 Al HiH
in future period under non-cancellable 4 TR B PR SR B 2 FE IR
operating leases with its tenants are as LIRS FIET
follows:
2022 2021
20224 20214
RMB’ 000 RMB’000
AR%T T ARBEFTT
Within one year —F R 755,978 317,198
After one year but within two years —FREMFEA 692,934 282,203
After two years but within three years MEEE=FR 555,767 232,936
After three years but within four years =FZENFR 475,613 83,399
After four years but within five years ~ PUFEERFR 107,271 68,107
Over five years R4 310,101 190,826
2,897,664 1,174,669
248 Gemdale Properties and Investment Corporation Limited
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Notes to the Financial Statements

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

At the end of the reporting period, the ultimate holding
company of the Company was Gemdale Corporation, a
company established in the PRC.

(a) Related party transactions

Other than the transactions disclosed elsewhere
in these financial statements, the following is a
summary of the significant related party transactions
carried out in the normal course of the Group's
business during the year:

IR R M

31 December 2022
2022412 A31H

BELRZ

RBERR  ARAZRRERATD/EH
S8 RN PBIKIZZRF °

(a) BEFIRSB

BUBBRRARBEZZZIN  RER
AEERAEEBTETIEKRRME
ARBZHEMT :

(Income)/Expenses

(CINVE T
2022 2021
20224 20214
Notes RMB’ 000 RMB'000

it AR% TR ARBTTT

Entrusted management fee income from WBRZRBARESTEEBRAN () (24,906) (24,906)
a fellow subsidiary
Services fee paid to the ultimate holding company ¥ FREERAAIREE (ii) 18,540 14,820
Management services fee paid to fellow subsidiaries XN FRZMBARAEERKEE (iii) 28,734 28,268
Project fees paid to a fellow subsidiary TRTREMBARIRE (iii) 13,154 11,200
Fitting-out works paid to a fellow subsidiary YRTFRRKBRRIEETIRER (iii) 13,584 =
Interest expenses o group companies EBARZFIEZ (iv) 1,100,094 830,497
Interest expenses to non-controlling shareholders FERBE 2 FEX T v) 26,995 12,313
Interest expenses 1o joint ventures and an associate A% R E REE AR ZF BT (vi) 62,426 65,092
Interest income from a related company WeE N A2 R B IA (vii) (51,486) (66,674)
Interest income from joint ventures and associates ~ WEAE AR REEATZ (viii) (277,576) (241,472)
FEHA
Consulting services income from joint ventures L EGIEN-UN AR (ix) (364,539) (510,840)
and associates AREIA
Rent and property management fee income WBRENBARBE RNE (x) (19,602) (16,193)
from fellow subsidiaries EREPA
Income of fitting out works from fellow subsidiaries ~ WA ZRMBAREBEIRIUA  (x) - (265,872)
Income of fitting out works from joint ventures e EL=UN (x7i) - (31,953)
and an associate RBEIRIWA
525,418 (195,720)
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41.

250

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued)

(a)

Related party transactions (continued)

Notes: (continued)

(1)

(1)

(iii)

(iv)

(v)

(vi)

(vii)

The income was derived from the management
services provided to a fellow subsidiary at a
rate similar to the terms and conditions set out
in the contracts entered into with the other major
customers of the Group.

Service fees were paid to the ultimate
holding company for the provision of property
development and technical services at rates
determined in accordance with the terms and
conditions set out in the agreements entered
into with the ultimate holding company.

This represented the management services, the
intelligent system project services and fitting-
out services provided by fellow subsidiaries to
the Group at rates determined in accordance
with the terms and conditions set out in the
agreements entered with the relevant parties.

Interests were paid to the group companies for
the loan facilities. Further details are set out in
note 32(v) to the financial statement.

Interests were paid to non-controlling
shareholders at an interest rate of 5.0% (2021
interest rates ranging from 4.5% to 6.0%) per
annum.

Interests were paid to joint ventures and an
associate of the Group at an interest rate of
4.356% (2021 interest rates ranging from 4.35%
to 4.75%) per annum..

Interests were received from a subsidiary of
a substantial shareholder of one of the non-
wholly-owned subsidiaries of the Company.
Further details are set out in note 32(iv) to the
financial statements.

Gemdale Properties and Investment Corporation Limited

THBHERERRLQF

41.

(a)

BRELRS (F)

BELXS (&)

Wiz - ()

(1)

(1)

(iii)

(iv)

(v)

(vi)

(vii)

BRWAT 4 T — XA X B8
R AR E ERE AT W
A o B B 5K L F R A A+
EEFZEZE FFIIEAT

HREER N AIIER Y EF#
REMRBFEFZNZER &
Y B AR 5 H iR AR IR 2 B 28 AT
Z & AEATEE

IR Z B 2 ml 46 K5 B e (7
ZOREERE EBIEER
TERBEREETERBERX
NZEBFE ARBEREBBE
T #EEZ & FIFATEE °

FIEZH T ERE LRI R
EEBEXFZ T FE - HR#
— X FIEE R IR KN T
32(v) °

S P IHERRE LT
FEREE0% (2021F : £14.5%
F6.0%)i1E -

S FAEFEENARBE
NALZ FE T FFF4.35%
(20214 : £14.35% %4.75%)

o
= &5 o
i E

FIE T3 B K L 5] B A — 5 FE
TENBRAE —EEXERTK
ZHEBLEZEXFE o HH
E—HHIGE R BIREMN T
32(iv) °



Notes to the Financial Statements

41. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued)

(a)

Related party transactions (continued)

Notes:

(viii)

(ix)

(x)

(xi)

(xii)

Interests were received from joint ventures
and associates of the Group for their project
development at interest rates ranging from 5.0%
to 12.0% (2021: 3.0% to 12.0%) per annum.

The income was derived from the provision
of consulting services to joint ventures and
associates of the Company on their project
developments. The consulting service fees
from the joint ventures and the associates were
aligned with the market rate.

Rent and property management fee was
received from fellow subsidiaries. The rent and
property management fees were aligned with
the market rate.

In prior year, the income was derived from
the provision of fitting-out works to property
projects to the fellow subsidiaries pursuant to
engagement agreements under a framework
agreement at rates similar to the terms and
conditions set out in the contracts entered into
with the other major customers of the Group.

In prior year, the income was derived from the
provision of fitting-out works to joint ventures
and an associate of the Group in regard of
the property projects developed by the joint
ventures and the associate at rates similar to
the terms and conditions set out in the contracts
entered into with the major customers of the
Group.

ltems (i) to (iii), (vii) and (x) to (xi) of the above
transactions are connected transactions as defined
under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

IR R M

31 December 2022
2022412 A31H

Mn. BEIRZS (F)

(a) BEIRZ (&)
(vii) WERAEEE E R ARG EL

(ix)

(x)

(xi)

(xii)

FZHETZEHAEERAE
BFRZHAC FIE - RFEFIE
B50%ZF12.0% (20214 :
3.0%F12.0%) °

WAT e TEERRRBER
AR B G127 B IR AT
W2 RBLA > W E E R
AR & L A2 AR % B A
TG 1B 15—

WA T3 & 7] Z B 2 7]
ERYREEE - WRZHE
RYREEBEBATILER 2 °

LFERRAE T RENE R AY
R e MR T IERFEATI
BZWA -~ B ETIREIESR
W T2 & 5L 1 a5 1K 50 T B
E - WRAEEEE AT BEE
PREELZ & RIFFEAT

LFERBAE T AEBE ENA]
RBENFAIYRE R IEREE
TREBRBEFTRERZ WA - B
BERAEFHEAM T ZE P&
F1.2 & [FRFCAEAT -

WAL (D) Z (i)' ~ F(vii) BRE (x) 2
(xi)BZ X519 15 L T AIE +TUAZ AT
BEZHESS -
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41.

252

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued) M. BEFRZ (&)
(b)  Other transactions with related parties (b) HBEFZHMRS
At the end of the reporting period, the Group RBEHR RAEEEE QA
provided an aggregate maximum guarantees of ERMosmE  AEEREAHE
US$152,376,000 (equivalent to RMB1,061,240,000) JL152,376,000 (HER AR
(2021: US$103,500,000 (equivalent to 1,061,240,0007T) (20214 : %
RMB659,885,000)) for the facilities granted to the JL103,500,000 (HER AR
joint ventures of the Group, as further detailed in 659,885,0007T)) 2 IR « #E—5F
note 29(b) to the financial statements. BERY BREMFE29(D) ©
(c) Commitments with related parties (c) EEERERZFRE
At the end of the reporting period, there subsisted RARERR - KRR —RE2EW B
certain lease agreements between a wholly-owned AE(EAHBEA) BRAARZET
subsidiary of the Company (as landlord) and certain AERMBRR (EAERBEA) FES
fellow subsidiaries of the Company (as tenants). THhHEERZ - AFERRZERZ
The amount of rent and property management fee WBARZHE RMEEEEDHTY
received from the fellow subsidiaries for the current R FEHRER I 5E41(a) » ANE=EFEH]
year was included in note 41(a) to the financial HZE2023F12 A31 B It FERWZ
statements. The Group expects the total rent and ZRREMBRARICHESRMETEE
property management fee to be received from the A& AEANR18,421,0007T (2021
fellow subsidiaries in the year ending 31 December F o HZE2022F12A31BIEFEK
2023 to be approximately RMB18,421,000 2/ AR#20,768,0007T) ©
(2021: 31 December 2022 to be approximately
RMB20,768,000).
(d) Balances with related parties (d) HEERELSFES
Details of the Group’s amounts due from/(to) related REBERFERR 2B (FEA)
parties at the end of the reporting period are B 5 B FE B N S R M R
included in note 32 to the financial statements. 32 -
(e) Remuneration of key management personnel (e) AEEBXTEEBEABZHMH
of the Group
2022 2021
20224 20214
RMB’ 000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARBEFTT
Short term employee benefits R HE B 1R T 44,711 51,121

Further details of directors’ emoluments are included
in note 10 to the financial statements.

Gemdale Properties and Investment Corporation Limited
S EREERAA
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY

Notes to the Financial Statements

The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial
instruments at the end of the reporting period are as

42.

IR R M

31 December 2022
2022412 A31H

BERES 2EMIA
BRI ERTARREHARZEEENT :

follows:
Financial assets TREE
2022
20224
Financial
assets at Financial
amortised assets at
cost fair value
RBHERA AR AE
FTEZ STEZ Total
RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000
ARBT R AR®T R AR®ET
Financial assets at fair value UNARBEHAEZERMEE - 1,261,779 1,261,779
Trade receivables EWE HERR 40,256 — 40,256
Financial assets included in prepayments, 7 AFEfFFIE « & R EAM 4,421,612 - 4,421,612
deposits and other receivables YRR SMEE
Amounts due from group companies el E B AR I8 19,259 - 19,259
Amounts due from joint ventures and WA E DR RBE ARIRE 5,791,346 = 5,791,346
associates
Amounts due from non-controlling eI AR R R SRR 2,877,287 - 2,877,287
shareholders
Amount due from a related company JEUBEE A R FUE 1,233,465 - 1,233,465
Restricted cash ZIRHIR e 794,086 - 794,086
Deposits, bank and cash balances TR RITRREEH 6,053,156 - 6,053,156
21,230,467 1,261,779 22,492,246
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42.

254

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY

(continued)

The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial

42.

RERNE S 2EMITA (&)

BRI M TARRERARZREENT ¢

instruments at the end of the reporting period are as (%)
follows: (continued)
Financial assets SREE
2021
20214
Financial
assets at Financial
amortised assets at
cost fair value
bizg: 3IDWiN ARARE
T8 TEZ Total
SHEE CREE B
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARETTT ARETT
Financial assets at fair value URAEFECCREE - 1,050,847 1,050,847
Trade receivables BN E 5 R 36,022 = 36,022
Financial assets included in prepayments, 7 AFERTFRIE « &4 B 4,166,082 = 4,166,082
deposits and other receivables BYREFSREE
Amounts due from group companies eSS BN R FIE 30,562 = 30,562
Amounts due from joint ventures and FEIA & A ) KB & A R RIR 5,401,009 = 5,401,009
associates
Amounts due from non-controlling JRE LSS 12 AR AR 3R 0B 1,599,916 - 1,599,916
shareholders
Restricted cash SRR S 854,063 = 854,063
Deposits, bank and cash balances TR |ITRBE R 8,771,882 = 8,771,882
20,859,536 1,050,847 21,910,383

Gemdale Properties and Investment Corporation Limited
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Notes to the Financial Statements

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY 42. i&¥
(continued)

IR R M

31 December 2022
2022412 A31H

REs2ERMT A (&)

Financial liabilities tRaE

2022 2021
20224 20214
Financial Financial
liabilities at liabilities at

amortised cost amortised cost
REBHAATE IREHKATE
ZEeREE ZemasE
RMB’ 000 RMB’000
AR%T T ARBTT

Trade and bills payables ERNESERRER 4,479,705 4,567,428
Financial liabilities included in advanced FIATEYWFIE - EFHERRIE R 2,584,728 2,509,794
receipts, accruals and other payables HpEMERzemAasE

Amounts due to group companies RSB ARIFRIE 21,216,335 18,333,475
Amounts due to joint ventures and associates fﬁﬁé\éﬂjﬁﬁﬁﬁféﬂjm 8,176,163 9,841,556
Amounts due to non-controlling shareholders &1 JE#E Hxﬂxﬁm 1,193,949 308,487
Amount due to a related company JE{< A 2 IE - 2,984
Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings Mi%'ﬁﬁﬁ&ﬁ@%m 5,998,224 5,187,326
Lease liabilities HERE 1,035,552 1,006,857

44,684,656 41,757,907
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43. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF 43. @R IAEAABRANBEZRES
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
The carrying amounts and fair values of the Group’s REEmEEAAAEREELA - ERIA
financial instruments, other than those with carrying I REBEHEMERMTAZEREEBERANE
amounts that reasonably approximate to their fair values, BLatan R
are as follows:
2022 2021
20225 20214
Carrying Fair Carrying Fair
amounts values amounts values
BEE ARE REE ARl
RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARET R AR®T ARETTT ARETT
Financial assets SREE
Non-current portion of financial assets FIABNZE « & 208,001 202,375 582,392 578,701
included in prepayments, deposits and ~ REMEKEZ 2
other receivables SRBEFNEHN
Amount due from a related company e EE N AIFUR 1,233,465 1,121,169 = =
Financial assets at fair value WAREHEZ e RERE 1,261,779 1,261,779 1,050,847 1,050,847
2,703,245 2,585,323 1,633,239 1,629,548
Financial liabilities StRas
Interest-bearing bank and other B RITREMER 5,998,224 5,421,033 5,187,326 5,135,097
borrowings
Non-current portion of amounts due to ERSEARNE 18,365,838 15,585,454 17,766,545 16,302,550
group companies JEEDERER 1D
24,364,062 21,006,487 22,953,871 21,437,647

Management has assessed that the fair values of
deposits, bank and cash balances, restricted cash, trade
receivables, the current portion of financial assets included
in prepayments, deposits and other receivables, trade and
bills payables, financial liabilities included in advanced
receipts, accruals and other payables, current portion
of amounts due from/to group companies, joint ventures
and associates, non-controlling shareholders and related
companies approximate to their carrying amounts largely
due to the short term maturities of these instruments.
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43.

Notes to the Financial Statements

FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

The Group’s finance department headed by the finance
manager is responsible for determining the policies and
procedures for the fair value measurement of financial
instruments. The finance manager reports directly to the
chief financial officer. At each reporting date, the finance
department analyses the movements in the values of
financial instruments and determines the major inputs
applied in the valuation. The valuation is reviewed and
approved by the chief financial officer. The valuation
process and results are discussed with the audit committee
twice a year for interim and annual financial reporting.

The fair values of the financial assets and liabilities are
included at the amount at which the instrument could be
exchanged in a current transaction between willing parties,
other than in a forced or liquidation sale.

The following methods and assumptions were used to
estimate the fair values:

The fair values of financial assets as at 31 December
2022 are based on price quotation from the respective
fund manager or estimates based on enterprise value
to earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and
amortisation (“EV/EBITDA”) multiple for similar companies
adjusted to reflect the specific circumstances of the
investments or asset-based approach or have been
calculated by discounting the expected future cash flows
using rates currently available for instruments with similar
terms, credit risk and remaining maturities. In the opinion of
the directors, its application results in a measurement that
is more representative of fair value of the unlisted equity
investments since no dividend is received from those
unlisted equity investments in the current year.

The fair values of non-current portion of amount due from
a related company, non-current portion of financial assets
included in prepayments, deposits and other receivables,
interest-bearing bank and other borrowings and non-
current portion of amounts due to group companies have
been calculated by discounting the expected future cash
flows using rates currently available for instruments with
similar terms, credit risk and remaining maturities. The
Group’s non-performance risk for interest-bearing bank and
other borrowings as at 31 December 2022 was assessed to
be insignificant.

43.
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31 December 2022
202212 A31H
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31 December 2022
2022912 A31H

43. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF 43. 2R IEBENAEBERAANABEZSHRER

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) (#&)
Below is a summary of significant unobservable inputs M2022F12A31H ' ¢@MITAFHEZEKR
to the valuation of financial instruments together with a TSR AEREERTEENAT ¢

quantitative analysis as at 31 December 2022:

Significant Sensitivity of
Valuation technique unobservable input Range/value fair value to the input
e HE EXTTBZBAE gE/HE DMHEHRAEZHRE
Financial assets at fair value Valuation multiples Average p/s multiple 13.89%-21.63% 1% (2021: 1%) increase (decrease)
- Unlisted equity investments (2021: Valuation of market data (2021: in average p/s multiple of
BROAEHEZEREE multiples) (2021: Average p/s 16.19%-32.75%)  market data (2021: average p/s
— EETRERE RERH (20215 : multiple of multiple of market data) would
HEEH) market data) result in increase (decrease) in
TmiEk (20214 - fair value by RMB7,423,000
THmEx) (RMB7,423,000)
(2021: RMB5,048,000
(RMBS5,048,000))

FHHHE (2021F : FHHHER)
B0 G D) 1% (20215 < 1%)
BEHAABEM(RD) AR
7,423,0007T (AR#7,423,0007T)
(20214 : AR¥5,048,0007C

(AR#5,048,0007C))
Financial assets at fair value Enterprise value Risk free rate 3.86%-4.1% 1% (2021: 1%) increase (decrease)
- Unlisted debt investments allocation method (2021: Risk free (2021: in risk free rate (2021: risk free
BARBHECERERE (2021: Enterprise rate) 1.33%-1.48%)  rate) would result in decrease
— FEMERERE value allocation ERERE YRR (increase) in fair value by
method) (20214 - AR RMB2,103,000 (RMB2,103,000)
TEEBEAIE Yz ) (2021: RMB797,000 (RMB797,000))
(20215 : h%BE EREYNEE (2021F : BERKE
AEE) ) 0GR ) 1% (20214 : 1%)

KEHDRERD (M) ARE
2,103,0007T (AK#2,103,0007T)
(20215 : AR%797,0007T
(AR¥797,0007T))
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43.

Notes to the Financial Statements

FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

The Group uses the following hierarchy for determining and
disclosing the fair values of financial instruments:

Level 1: fair values measured based on quoted prices
(unadjusted) in active markets for identical
assets or liabilities

Level 2. fair values measured based on valuation
techniques for which the lowest level input that
is significant to the fair value measurement is
observable, either directly or indirectly

Level 3 fair values measured based on valuation
techniques for which the lowest level input that
is significant to the fair value measurement is
unobservable

43.

IR R M

31 December 2022
2022412 A31H
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31 December 2022
2022412 A31H

43.

260

FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Fair value hierarchy

The following tables illustrate the fair value measurement
hierarchy of the Group’s financial instruments:

43.

k>
@

TAXR

I
)
N—

>

REFHRE

ERAAEBESERRE

TREJIAEESHTAZ AAEFEFR

A

18

Fair value measurement using

AREFERA
Quoted prices Significant Significant
in active observable unobservable
markets inputs inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)
EEmS EXTEE EAFUBE
ZHfE BAE BAE Total
(E-R) (BE=8&) (B=R) okl
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARETR ARETTR ARETT
At 31 December 2022 R2022%12 8318
Assets measured at fair value: AR BEEZEE -
Financial assets at fair value UAREFHEZERHEE - - 1,261,779 1,261,779
- - 1,261,779 1,261,779
Assets for which fair values are disclosed: AR EHEREZEE
Non-current portion of financial assets FIABMFE  BE R - - 202,375 202,375
included in prepayments, deposits and Hi IR 2
other receivables SREEFDHIM
Amount due from a related company i EYNGIE e - - 1,121,169 1,121,169
- - 1,323,544 1,323,544
Liabilities for which fair values are disclosed: 274 EFREZBIE -
Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings M BETREMER - - 5,421,033 5,421,033
Non-current portion of amounts due to REE NG E e - - 15,585,454 15,585,454
group companies
- - 21,006,487 21,006,487
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43.

FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF

Notes to the Financial Statements

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Fair value hierarchy (continued)

The following tables illustrate the fair value measurement
hierarchy of the Group’s financial instruments: (continued)

IR R M

31 December 2022
2022412 A31H

k>
ol

43. TEAARBERAARAEBESHRER

=0
&
N—

REFHRERE (&)

TRENAEESMIEZ AR BEAESER
RiE: (&)

5

Fair value measurement using

AREFERRA
Quoted prices Significant Significant
in active observable  unobservable
markets inputs inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)
RS EAUBEE  EATIUEER
ZHE BAE LN Total
(E—R) (F=H) (=) k|
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT  ARBTT  ARETR  ARKT:
At 31 December 2021 R2021512831H
Assets measured at fair value: LA EETEZEE -
Financial assets at fair value NARBIEZEREE - - 1,050,847 1,050,847
- - 1,050,847 1,050,847
Assets for which fair values are disclosed: AREHREZEE -
Non-current portion of financial assets JIABRTE - Ze R - = 578,701 578,701
included in prepayments, deposits and Hit IR 2
other receivables SREEENERM
- - 578,701 578,701
Liabilities for which fair values are disclosed: AREHREZBLE -
Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings M RITREMER - = 5,135,097 5,135,097
Non-current portion of amounts due FERERARNE = - 16,302,550 16,302,550
to group companies FEEH R
- - 21,437,647 21,437,647

The Group did not have any financial liabilities measured at

fair value as at 31 December 2022 (2021: Nil).

R2022F 12 A31H » AEBEIWEL[IEA
REFEZCHMEE (2021F : £) °
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43.

44.

262

FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Fair value hierarchy (continued)

The movements in fair value measurement of assets
measured at fair value within Level 3 during the year are as

43.

TRMIAQAABERDIABESHES

N

RABESRER (H)

BARBHAECEERAE =Rz AnEFS
MAER 2 HEEIT

follows:
2022 2021
20224 20214
RMB’ 000 RMB’000
AR®T T AR®ET T

Financial assests at fair value DAREFEZSRMEE
At 1 January ®W1A1H 1,050,847 391,445
Purchases BE 123,592 514,022
Disposal k= (3,000) (12,151)
Changes in fair value through profit or loss FFABRZAREEY 40,847 165,319
Exchange realignment b H A 49,493 (7,788)
At 31 December M12A318 1,261,779 1,050,847

During the year, there were no transfers of fair value
measurements between Level 1 and Level 2 and no
transfers into or out of Level 3 for both financial assets and
financial liabilities (2021: Nil).

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES

The Group's principal financial instruments comprise
interest-bearing bank and other borrowings, amounts due
from/(to) related parties and cash and short term deposits.
The main purpose of these financial instruments is to
raise finance for the Group’s operations. The Group has
various other financial assets and liabilities such as trade
receivables, and trade and bills payables, which arise
directly from its operations. It is, and has been throughout
the year under review, the Group’s policy that no trading in
financial instruments shall be undertaken.

Gemdale Properties and Investment Corporation Limited
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44.

Notes to the Financial Statements

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES (continued)

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial
instruments are foreign currency risk, interest rate risk,
credit risk and liquidity risk. The Group's policies for
managing each of these risks are summarised below.

Foreign currency risk

The Group mainly operates in Mainland China and most of
the transactions, assets and liabilities are denominated in
RMB. The Group had certain deposits and bank balances,
advanced receipts, accruals and other payables, certain
amounts due to group companies and interest-bearing
bank and other borrowings denominated in currencies
other than the functional currency to which they relate.

On 31 December 2022, assuming that RMB depreciated
by 8% (2021: 3%) against HK$ and US$, respectively, and
all other factors remained unchanged, then the profit after
tax of the Group would have increased by RMB697,000
and RMB378,000 (2021: increased by RMB262,000 and
RMB5,952,000), respectively.

Interest rate risk

The Group’s exposure to the risk of changes in market
interest rates relates primarily to the Group’s bank and
other borrowings, certain amounts due to group companies
and amount due from a related company with floating
interest rates. The interest rates and terms of repayment of
the Group's borrowings are disclosed in notes 30 and 32 to
the financial statements. The Group’s policy is to obtain the
most favourable interest rates available for its borrowings.
Management monitors interest rate exposure and will
consider hedging significant interest rate exposure should
the need arise.

44.
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IR MR

31 December 2022
2022912 A31H

44. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 44.
AND POLICIES (continued)

Interest rate risk (continued)

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a
reasonably possible change in interest rates, with all
other variables held constant, of the Group’s profit after
tax (through the impact of floating rate on bank and other
borrowings, certain amounts due to group companies and
amount due from a related company) and the Group's

equity.

BEEBEERRRBK (&)

F=E kg (F)

TRINTEMBEMBEBERIAZEZBERAT - &
SEBRBREN (BBRITREMER - &
TRNEBE QR - A REREER RN
Bz 2RZB)AREAEEREHARE
FRER R BB 2 RE DT o

Increase/
(decrease) in
Increase/ profit after tax

(decrease) in and equity*
basis points BRBLE IR R
a2 REzZ

EFH CFRE) B CED)*
RMB’ 000 RMB’000

ARBT R ARBTR

31 December 2022

2022%F12H31H

Hong Kong dollar S s 200 (28,096)
Renminbi AR 200 (35,021)
United States dollar e 200 (29,274)
Hong Kong dollar PRI (200) 23,200
Renminbi AR (200) 35,021
United States dollar ETT (200) 15,357
31 December 2021 2021F12H31H

Hong Kong dollar ok 200 (53,204)
Renminbi AR 200 (29,936)
United States dollar =7 200 (13,064)
Hong Kong dollar ot (200) 2,370
Renminbi AR (200) 29,936
United States dollar ETT (200) 1,011
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Notes to the Financial Statements

IR R M

31 December 2022
2022412 A31H

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 44. HKRKREEBEZREEK (&)
AND POLICIES (continued)
Credit risk EERE
The Group trades only with recognised and creditworthy AEBEENZBEREERTZE=ZFTLEA
third and related parties. Except for the sales of properties, ERHETES AEBBRETZRBEE
for which no credit is given to the customers, it is the BTMEHEERER  MUEMBMIREEKRK
Group’s policy that all customers who wish to trade on BEZEP HERBEERERRF - It
credit terms are subject to credit verification procedures. SN - FEURBRSRAE SR IR B A EERL T - A
In addition, receivable balances are monitored on an AEEESE ZBERBRITAEKX -
ongoing basis and the Group’s exposure to bad debts is
not significant.
The table below shows the credit quality and the maximum TRIIERNAEBEERE 2 EEEER
exposure to credit risk based on the Group’s credit policy, E=fEERE  ZEEBCREZREDHE
which is mainly based on past due information unless other B (BRIESEEM AT AS A S el BiE
information is available without undue cost or effort, and ZIER)  UERBREHREFEIERZS
year-end staging classification at the end of the reporting He2YEeBACMEERMETERE
period. The amounts presented are gross carrying amounts
for financial assets.
12-month
ECLs Lifetime ECLs
T-HAEER KREHREER
Simplified
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 approach Total
2B— FB= 2B= B A% Bg
RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000
ARBTR ARBTT  AR%TR ARBTR ARBT
As at 31 December 2022 R20225125831H
Trade receivables EUE ZERR - - - 40,256 40,256
Financial assets included in SINEAFE - B2k
prepayments, deposits and Hih R 2
other receivables SREE
- Normal* — & 3,318,753 - - - 3,318,753
- Doubtful* ~ g - 230,811 1,368,504 - 1,599,405
Amount due from a related company ~ EWEEARIFUE 1,233,465 - - - 1,233,465
Amounts due from group companies  JEWEEARFIFE 19,259 - - - 19,259
Amounts due from joint ventures and ~ EWA YD RAIREE AR 5,791,346 - - - 5,791,346
associates E
Amounts due from non-controlling e 2,877,287 - - - 2,877,287
shareholders
Restricted cash TRHRS 794,086 - - - 794,086
Deposits, bank and cash balances B SRR R 6,053,156 - - - 6,053,156
20,087,352 230,811 1,368,594 4025 21,727,013
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 44. B EKREEEEZERBEK (&)
AND POLICIES (continued)
Credit risk (continued) EERK (&)
12-month
ECLs Lifetime ECLs
+=f@A
BB RaHREER
Simplified
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 approach Total
PER— PB= PR= BHHE B8
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBFT ARBTL ARBTT ARBTL ARETT
As at 31 December 2021 R20215125831H
Trade receivables EUE ZRR = = = 36,022 36,022
Financial assets included in JIABRTE  Ze R
prepayments, Hit R ER 2
deposits and other receivables CREE
- Normal* - & 3,247,418 - - - 3,247,418
- Doubtful* — A& - 197,800 1,163,910 - 1,361,710
Amounts due from group companies  JEWEEAFFE 30,562 = = = 30,562
Amounts due from joint ventures and ~ EAE DA REEE AT 5,401,009 = = = 5,401,009
associates FA
Amounts due from non-controlling PRI R FUR 1,599,916 = = = 1,599,916
shareholders
Restricted cash RRERE 854,063 - - - 854,063
Deposits, bank and cash balances B RIORASES 8,771,882 - - - 8,771,882
19,904,850 197,800 1,163,910 36,022 21,302,582

*

The credit quality of the financial assets included

in prepayments, deposits and other receivables are
considered as ‘normal” when they are not past due
and there is no information indicating that the financial
assets have significant increase in credit risk since
initial recognition. Otherwise, the credit quality of the

financial assets are considered as “doubtful”.

Since the Group trades only with recognised and
creditworthy third and related parties, there is no
requirement for collateral. There are no significant
concentrations of credit risk within the Group as the
Group’s trade receivables are widely dispersed in different

sectors.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES (continued)

Credit risk (continued)

The following table contains an analysis of the credit risk
exposure of loans receivable for which an ECL allowance is
recognised. The gross carrying amount of loans receivable
below also represents the Group’s maximum exposure to
credit risk on these assets.

Movements in gross balance of loans receivable:

IR R M

31 December 2022
2022412 A31H

44. HBEREZEERBCR (&)

FERR (&)

TRESHEMREEBEGZRKERZ
FEERBON - U TEKEZRZEEEESR
tHERAEEHZEEE RaEERR -

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total
PR— PER= PER= ot
RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000

ARBT R ARBT ARBT ARBTFL

Year ended 31 December 2022 BZ2022512A31ALEE

At 1 January ®1A1R 1,639,073 197,800 1,163,910 3,000,783
New loans originated EER 586,360 2,008 101,080 689,448
Loans recovered or repaid during the year AFEUEE R (621,656) - (233,341) (854,997)
Transfers from Stage 1 to Stage 2 ERNE—Z2HB (22,229) 22,229 - -
Transfers from Stage 1 to Stage 3 BENBR—ENR= (348,040) - 348,040 -
Transfers from Stage 2 to Stage 1 BENBR_ENR— - - - -
Transfers from Stage 2 to Stage 3 BEANBR_ENR= - - - -
Transfers from Stage 3 to Stage 1 BENR=ENR 327 - (327) -
Transfers from Stage 3 to Stage 2 BENRZENR= - 8.774 (8.774) -
Total transfers between stages NEREERE (369,942) 31,003 338,939 =
Loans receivable directly written-off Zliﬁrﬁgﬂﬁlkmﬁﬁiﬁﬁ - - (1,994) (1,994)
At 31 December ®12A31H8 1,233,835 230,811 1,368,594 2,833,240
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31 December 2022
2022912 A31H

44. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 44. B¥REMREEEERBEER (&)
AND POLICIES (continued)
Credit risk (continued) FERE (&)
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total
NER— AER= NBE= Faks
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETT
Year ended 31 December 2021 BZ2021F12831ALEE
At 1 January W1A18 2,825,924 5,569 750,131 3,581,624
New loans originated MEER 690,174 = 254,762 944,936
Loans recovered or repaid during the year Kiﬂlﬁl@%%’& (1,470,058) (4,370) (51,349) (1,525,777)
Transfers from Stage 1 to Stage 2 BENB—ENE (197,800) 197,800 =
Transfers from Stage 1 to Stage 3 1) E"Ex— (209,592) - 209,592 =
Transfers from Stage 2 to Stage 1 #E5H Ex_z’\ 425 (425) = =
Transfers from Stage 2 to Stage 3 BENBR-_ENR= = (774) 774 =
Transfers from Stage 3 to Stage 1 BENBR=ENER— = = = -
Transfers from Stage 3 to Stage 2 BENBR-ENR= - - - -
Total transfers between stages DRMEY L (406,967) 196,601 210,366 -
At 31 December 128318 1,639,073 197,800 1,163,910 3,000,783
Further quantitative data in respect of the Group’s exposure BEAEEKEEKESES  He REM

to credit risk arising from trade receivables, deposits and
other receivables are disclosed in notes 22 and 23 to the
financial statements.
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44.

Notes to the Financial Statements

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES (continued)

Liquidity risk

The Group monitors its risk to a shortage of funds using
a recurring liquidity planning tool. This tool considers the
maturity of both its financial instruments and financial
assets (e.g., trade receivables) and projected cash flows
from operations.

The Group's objective is to maintain a balance between
continuity of funding and flexibility through the use of
amounts due to related parties, and interest-bearing bank
and other borrowings. The Group will consistently maintain
a prudent financing policy and ensure that it maintains
sufficient cash and credit lines to meet its liquidity
requirements. Through maintaining a reasonable proportion
in its asset and liability structure, the Group is able to meet
its ongoing financial needs. At 31 December 2022, 13%
(2021: 21%) of the Group’s debts, which comprise amounts
due to related parties, and interest-bearing bank and other
borrowings (2021: amounts due to related parties, and
interest-bearing bank and other borrowings), would mature
in less than one year from the reporting date based on
the carrying values of borrowings reflected in the financial
statements.

44.

IR R M

31 December 2022
2022412 A31H

MRRAREEERRBK (&)

REBE @R

AEBEBBERABDESE TR  BEEE
TREREAR - FHRIAZEESRTARS
BEE (HIMEKREZRH) 22 H B AR
BEBZEFRERE -

AEBZBERBEBFEREMNBES A
AR BSRITREMER  #IFESNISE
MHBFEE A TE  REEBBEES
BREZBMEBSE  UHMRESKB TV ZES
REEHE  BEUARERBESFTRK - B8
MBEEHRBERBZAEBERD - AEEEE
HMEERBEYHE R - BEMBREAR
M EFRERE R2022F 128318 ' &
E£E13% (20215 : 21%) 2 EHE (B IEfE
R E R FBENERTREMERR (2021
F - BIEEMAEE S FEEN B RITREAM
BX)) BREARER—FREIS -
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Notes to the Financial Statements

IR MR

31 December 2022
2022412 A31H

44,

270

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 44. B EKREEEEZERBEK (&)
AND POLICIES (continued)
Liquidity risk (continued) REBESEK (&)
The maturity profiles of the Group’s financial liabilities as at REEBR - RBEFTAORMIRNRSHT
the end of the reporting period, based on the contractual AEESpBEEZHNBHABERLOT
undiscounted payments, are as follows:
3 to less than
Less than 12 months
On demand 3 months =fiBZ 1to5years Over5 years Total
BEX  OR=BR  SPRT=fB -ZRE RELE g
RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000 RMB’000 RMB’ 000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT  ARBTR  ARETR  AR%Tn  ARETx  ARETR
At 31 December 2022 #2022%12A31R
Trade and bills payables ERESEARER 4,479,705 - - - - 4,479,705
Financial liabilities included in SINTBURGUE | At 2,089,048 232,521 150,120 112,900 139 2,584,728
advanced receipts, accruals and BB R AR
other payables B emER
Amounts due to group companies EREEATZE 2,850,497 221,191 663,571 20,596,727 - 24,331,986
Amounts due to joint ventures and ERAERAIRBERR 8,176,163 - - - - 8,176,163
associates 7B
Amounts due to non-controlling ERFERRRR A 1,193,949 - - - - 1,193,949
shareholders
Lease liabilities HEaE - 24,849 74,546 458,212 477,945 1,035,552
Interest-bearing bank and other WERTREMER 971,928 471,061 1,989,706 3,365,865 1,552,221 8,350,781
borrowings
Guarantee given to banks in respect HRIRLEAETRE 4,199,480 = = = = 4,199,480
of mortgage loan facilities granted to TREENE ERR
purchasers of the Group's properties MR ER
Guarantee given to financial institutions ~ Si&BEBERAE AT 933,272 - - - - 933,272
in connection with facilties granted ROgEmRAS
o joint ventures SREBREER
24,894,042 949,622 2,877,943 24,533,704 2,030,305 55,285,616
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Notes to the Financial Statements

IR R M

31 December 2022
2022412 A31H

44. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 44. B EKREEEERBGR (#)
AND POLICIES (continued)
Liquidity risk (continued) FEBESRE (&)
3 1o less than
Less than 12 months
On demand 3 months =@A%  1to5years  Over5years Total
BB ORZER SRTZER —ERf ik a8
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT  ARETR  ARETR  ARETR  ARETT  ARETR
At 31 December 2021 R2021512531 7
Trade and bills payables G eSS 4,567,428 = - - = 4,567,428
Financial liabilities included in SIATBUGE - FERHRERIBR 1,766,291 544,984 131,956 66,563 - 2,509,794
advanced receipts, accruals EpRNER 2RER
and other payables
Amounts due form group companies [EfTEBARIFE 566,930 215,875 647625 18,426,420 - 19,856,850
Amounts due 1o joint ventures ERAENRREENTFE 9,841,556 = = = = 9,841,556
and associates
Amounts due to non-controlling EEERRRTE 308,487 = = = - 308,467
shareholders
Amount due to a related company  EREIBARIZUE 2,984 - - - - 2,984
Lease liabilties HEak - 21,487 64,462 424,604 496,304 1,006,857
Interest-bearing bank and other MERTREMER 1,522,686 1,208,392 2,235,172 183,720 154,864 5,304,834
borrowings
Guarantee given to banks in respect SHR/TRHEREFRET 3,263,233 - - = = 3,263,233
of mortgage loan faciliies granted ~ AZ£EYEZ EX S
to purchasers of the Group's BT BR
properties
Guarantee given to financial AEBMERAEAARLBEM 659,885 = - = S 659,885
institutions in connection with MESEREERE CER
facilities granted to joint ventures
22,499,480 1,990,738 3,079,215 19,101,307 651,168 47,321,908
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Notes to the Financial Statements

IR MR

31 December 2022
2022912 A31H

44,

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 44. BEEKREEBERBE (&

AND POLICIES (continued)

Interest rate benchmark reform FlE AR E

As at 31 December 2022, the Group had certain interest- M2022F12A318  A&EBEBETZER

bearing bank borrowings denominated in United States AR BRITER - BT B 2 FEFR|E

dollars. The interest rates of these instruments are based Tt BBTEERENE - FEBHS—EA
on the LIBOR with a tenor of one-month or three-month S =EANEA - mBERTT R ZE AR

or six-month, which will cease to be published after 30 1§52 2023F6 A0 AEFIE Al - FLT A

June 2023. Replacement of the benchmark rates of these L EENRRAERRTE 2 2P H AR

instruments from LIBOR to an RFR has yet to commence BT EEHBFESTNAAMEBKER - A

but it is expected that there will be renegotiations of terms SENBE BB AT ER

in the future. During the transition, the Group is exposed to

the following risks:

. Parties to the contract may not reach agreement in . HeRBGR2EMNEERTREMES
a timely manner as any changes to the contractual BAZRAE  WERSHAEEER
terms require the agreement of all parties to the FriEl —HER
contract

. Additional time may be needed for the parties . EEeREFTRFENIALMTBER
to the contract to reach agreement as they may FREERE ZBFH (PIEREE
renegotiate terms which are not part of the interest ER RN E MR ABRITERZE
rate benchmark reform (e.g., changing the credit BEEE) UBARESHUERES
spread of the bank borrowings due to changes in e R PK 1
credit risk of the Group)

. The existing fallback clause included in the . ZET B2 RBBBBRREKREIALE
instruments may not be adequate to facilitate a JIE 1) 368 B 1 & 3 o 40 R B )
transition to a suitable RFR

The Group will continue to monitor the development of the REBERBEEZYBINEER - BIREER

reform and take proactive measures for a smooth transition. ERERTIEAE -

The information about financial instruments based on RBTREFRBHNESERERRBETS

an interbank offered rate that has yet to transition to an REEFE 2 BT EEMOT

alternative benchmark rate is as follows:
2022 2021
20224 20214F
RMB’ 000 RMB’000
AR¥T R ARBETTT
Non-derivative financial liabilities EFTESMAE
- carrying value — IREE
Interest-bearing bank borrowings b2 IRITE R
- United States dollar LIBOR — ET - RBPUERTT 1,448,464 795,735

BESSERIES
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44,

Notes to the Financial Statements

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES (continued)

Capital management

The primary objectives of the Group’s capital management
are to safeguard the Group’s ability to run operations on a
going concern basis and to maintain healthy capital ratios
in order to support its business and maximise shareholders’
value.

The Group manages its capital structure and makes
adjustments to it in light of changes in economic conditions
and the risk characteristics of the underlying assets. To
maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may
adjust the dividend payment to shareholders, return capital
to shareholders or issue new shares. No changes were
made in the objectives, policies or processes for managing
capital during the years ended 31 December 2022 and 31
December 2021.

The Group monitors capital using a gearing ratio, which is
the total of loans from related parties, and interest-bearing
bank and other borrowings divided by total equity. The
Group’s policy is to maintain the gearing ratio at less than
150% and comply with the relevant requirements of bank
loan agreements. The gearing ratios as at the end of the
reporting periods are as follows:

44.

IR R M

31 December 2022
2022412 A31H

HEEEREERERBER (A

BEXxEE
AEBEARER 2 T2 BENREAEE
FEGERERDPZRNEERBRZERL
Ko AFHEEBRABERFREAERE -

ANE BB IR S AN G A AR R A B AR S
MEBEEZRBRFEIEL AT - REBEA
LIS RABRERRIRE RS » MREEE
BALBEITHR  RBRAERERER -
HZE2022512 A31H M2021F 128318
IEFE  EEREARZER  BEIERNLE

£ -

AEBFRABEL X (ENBEETER
AR M BIRTT R E M E R 2 MR AR
B)ERER - AEEZBRDGFAGEL
KIRMN150% @ ARETRITERIBHH 28
FAME - RIEMR 2 BELTMOT

2022 2021
2022 20214

RMB’ 000 RMB’000

AR®T T AREFIT

Amounts due to group companies R EEARER 18,365,838 17,766,545
Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings M EIRIT R E M E K 5,998,224 5,187,326
Total debts BERE 24,364,062 22,953,871
Total equity AR 26,973,855 24,589,608
Gearing ratio BfEt = 90% 93%
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Notes to the Financial Statements

IR MR

31 December 2022
2022912 A31H

45.

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE 45.

COMPANY

Information about the statement of financial position of the

Company at the end of the reporting period is as follows:

R R R

ARBRBERRZHBEARAREROT

2022 2021
20224 20214
RMB’ 000 RMB’000
AR® Tt AREET T
NON-CURRENT ASSET FREBEE
Investments in subsidiaries KRB RRZIE 1,122,144 1,027,052
Total non-current asset ERBEEHAEE 1,122,144 1,027,052
CURRENT ASSETS RENEE
Due from subsidiaries FEUS B B A Al FRIE 9,185,675 9,510,331
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables TERTRIE « 1o REMEERR 1,922 1,519
Deposits, bank and cash balances TR RITMRS 8 20,808 148,873
Total current assets REBEEHTE 9,208,405 9,660,723
CURRENT LIABILITIES RBEE
Accruals and other payables FERT 1R AR IR &2 H 4t FE A< BR 3R 21,633 15,578
Interest-bearing bank borrowings M EERITER 2,812,570 3,714,145
Due to subsidiaries A B B A R 7R IE 949,424 222903
Total current liabilities REBAEESE 3,783,627 3,952,626
NET CURRENT ASSETS REEEFE 5,424,778 5,708,097
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT LIABILITIES EZEZLERABAE 6,546,922 6,735,149
NON-CURRENT LIABILITY FREBEE
Interest-bearing bank borrowings Mt BERITE R 357,320 =
Total non-current liability FRBEBEHARE 357,320 =
NET ASSETS BEFE 6,189,602 6,735,149
EQUITY b
Issued capital BEITRA 1,504,813 1,502,930
Reserves (Note) s (Hat) 4,684,789 5,232,219
TOTAL EQUITY ERER 6,189,602 6,735,149
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45,

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE
COMPANY (continued)

Note:

A summary of the Company’s reserves is as follows:

Notes to the Financial Statements

IR R M

31 December 2022
2022412 A31H

45. ADRMBRRE (&)

Bist -
ARAIHEHET -

Share Capital Exchange  Share-based
premium  Contributed  redemption fluctuation compensation Retained
account surplus reserves reserves reserves profits Total
RARER BAB% EARERE EXRERE ROWERE REER a5
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®Tn  AR®Tn  ARETn  ARETn  ARETn  ARETR  ARETR
At 1 January 2022 R202%1A1A 4,070,053 - 207 (358,417) 42,629 1,477,747 5,232,219
Profit for the year FEERT - - - - - (131,334) (131,334)
Otter comprehensive oss for the year FEREMZEER
Exchange differences related to BEIERT - - - 573,666 - = 573,666
forejgn operations EiZE
Total comprefhensive incomel(loss) AER2ERE /(FR) - - - 573,666 - (131,334) 442,332
for the year g
Final 2021 dividend declared BIR021 ERERE - - - - - (996,581) (996,581)
Issue of new shares on exercise REERESS 12,451 - - = (5,632) = 6,819
of share options R
Reducton of share premium WG S ERERS (4000000) 4,000,000 - - - - -
contributed surplus AR
At 31 Decermber 2022 R0 128318 B804 4000000 w2152 B/ MOER 4684789
At 1 January 2021 202151 81R 4,012,666 - 207 (152,826) 65,142 1,963,331 5,888,520
Proft for the year rEEHH - . - - Y L)
Otter comprehensive oss for the year FEERMZEER
Exchange differences related fo BEB) 2K - = = (205,591) = - (205,591)
forejgn operations EiEE
Total comprehensive income/(loss) rER2ENE/(BR) - - - (205,591) = 838,672 633,081
for the year g
Final 2020 dividend declared ERDNERERE = = = = = (1326,027)  (1,326,027)
Issue of new shares on exercise ROEERERS 57,387 = = = (20742) = 36,645
of share options )
Laspe of share options BRERN - - S = (1.7m) 1,771 =
At 31 December 2021 R021%1231R 4,070,053 - AT (BBAIT) 42609 14TITAT 5232219

Pursuant to a special resolution passed by the shareholders
at the annual general meeting of the Company on 25 May
2022, an amount of RMB4,000,000,000 was transferred
from the share premium account to the contributed surplus

account of the Company.

RIBARFR2022%F5 A25 B 2 IRRBF K
T BRRBE-ERIRZR  BEAQARAR
DB EEREANZ AR 4,000,000,000 7T & #
ERABBEN -
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Notes to the Financial Statements

IR MR

31 December 2022
2022912 A31H

46. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as

follows:

46. FEMMEL T
AAREEMBRABZEBHT -

Place of Issued and fully ~ Percentage of equity
incorporation/ paid-up ordinary interest indirectly
registration and capital/registered attributable to the

business share capital Company Principal activities
Name of subsidiaries HRAY /BT BRTRAR FARELEE IE
WEAR LR REXIHH LERE/ERER RERSL ES

2022 2021

022F  2021F
Shanghai Zhongjun Real Estate Development PRC/Mainland China RMB1,000,000,000 54.85 54.85  Property development
Co., Ltd. (ii) HE/ hEAR AR #1,000,000,0007 in Mainland China
SR E R R AR A A i) RABEAENERR
Vision Century Real Estate Development (Dalian)  PRC/Mainland China US$10,000,000 100 100 Property development
Co., Ltd. (i) hE/ hEAR 710,000,000 in Mainland China
BHEHERE (X&) BRAA() RABERENEER
Vision (Shenzhen) Software Technology PRC/Mainland China RMB309,415,440 100 100 Business park
Co., Ltd.* (i) RE /REARE AEH309,415,4407C development and
FEHEsRRERAR() investment
in Mainland China
RAEAEA%E
ERRIRE
Shenyang Gemdale Huacheng Property PRC/Mainland China RMB50,000,000 100 100 Property development
Company Limited* hE /hEARE AR¥50,000,0007T in Mainland China
EGSHEREXARAR RABRENEER
Shenyang Gemdale Yuefeng Real Estate PRC/Mainland China RMB10,000,000 100 100 Property development
Development Company Limited* BB /AR AR#10,000,0007 in Mainland China
BheHERNEREARAR RAEARS %R
Xi'an Zhutai Real Estate Development Company  PRC/Mainland China RMB1,000,000 100 100 Property development
Limited* R/ REARE AR1,000,00070 in Mainland China
BRERRHEREERAA RABERENEER
Xi'an Zhutian Property Company Limited* (i) PRC/Mainland China US$3,100,000 100 100 Property development
AREREEERAA() hE /hEARE (2021: US$90,000,000) in Mainland China
%713,100,000 RAEARNERER

(20215 :
%7190,000,000)
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46.

Notes to the Financial Statements

IR R M

31 December 2022

PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as

follows: (continued)

46. EEMEQT (&)

2022412 A31H

ARRAEBMBARZHENT : (&)

Place of Issued and fully  Percentage of equity
incorporation/ paid-up ordinary interest indirectly
registration and capital/registered attributable to the

business share capital Company Principal activities
Name of subsidiaries HRAY/BE BRARAR RATELEE g
WEAR R REXHY LERE/ERER RERDL %

2022 2021

20225 20215
Hangzhou Vision Real Estate Development PRC/Mainland China RMB10,528,000 100 100 Property development
Company Limited* RE /REARE AE%10,528,0007C in Mainland China
MBI EHEREERAA RAEAENEERE
Nanjing Vision Real Estate Development PRC/Mainland China RMB1,116,170,000 96.41 96.12  Property development
Company Limited (ii) FE /REARE AE#1,116,170,0007C in Mainland China
HREH R ERE AR A() RAEAESER
Hangzhou Jinhang Real Estate Development PRC/Mainland China RMB200,000,000 100 100 Property development
Co., Ltd.* hE /hEARE AR 200,000,007 in Mainland China
MemEHEREERAF RABEAENEER
Huaian Weixin Real Estate Co., Ltd.* (i) PRC/Mainland China 1S$92,310,000 98.85 98.79  Property development
ERFHNEXBRAR) B8/ AR (2021:US$87.310.000) in Mainland China
%7192,310,000 RAEABEEER

(20215 :
%7187.310.000)

Shenzhen Jinchengxin Micro-financing PRC/Mainland China RMB300,000,000 100 100 Provision of loans
Co., Ltd.* HE/ hEAR AR 300,000,007 in Mainland China
MM e N EEFERREAT RABABREER
Shenzhen Zhi Mei Investment Ltd.* (iv) PRC/Mainland China RMB2,000,000,000 100 100 Investment holding
RINEXREBRADF(v) hE/ hEAE AR2,000,000,0007T REER
Beijing Jindi Xingsheng Technology Co., Ltd.*  PRC/Mainland China RMB11,049,700 90.5 90.5  Property development
IREHASHEARAF HE/ hEARE AR¥11,049,70070 in Mainland China

RBAENRER
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IR MR

31 December 2022
2022912 A31H

46. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (continued) 46. TEMEARE (&)

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as KA EEZMBRARZFBENOT - (&)
follows: (continued)

Place of Issued and fully  Percentage of equity
incorporation/ paid-up ordinary interest indirectly
registration and capital/registered attributable to the
business share capital Company Principal activities
Name of subsidiaries HMRYL,/ B BRARAR RARELEE IE
WELAER REXBE ZERE /e RERDL %
2022 2021

20225 20216

Jiaxing Jintong Real Estate Development PRC/Mainland China RMB665,533,325 95.74 95.74  Property development
Co., Ltd.* TE/ REAE AR#665,533,3257T in Mainland China
FREMEHEREERAA RAEAENELER
Shanghai Gemdale Weixin Industrial Co., Ltd.*  PRC/Mainland China RMB10,000,000 100 100 Investment Holding
LESHBHEEERAT R/ REARE AE10,000,0007C WaER
* For identification purposes only * EHE5)
Notes: Mt -
(i) Wholly-foreign-owned enterprise (i) SEIHE R
(ii) Sino-foreign equity joint venture enterprise (i) FoNEELE
(i) Foreign equity joint venture enterprise (iii)  IIEARERE
(iv)  Shenzhen Zhi Mei Investment Ltd. is a wholly-owned (iv)  FRIEXREERA ARG FE
subsidiary of Vision (Shenzhen) Software Technology Bt BR A B2 2 &M B2 E]
Co., Ltd.
The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company BEERR - LRIINTHAKERAFER
which, in the opinion of the Directors, principally affected RRERRENBRAREEEFEEES
the results for the year or formed a substantial portion of M2 ARRIMNBAR - EERE - BEHT
the net assets of the Group. Details of other subsidiaries HfBARZFFE - DARKRERB QA
had not been included as, in the opinion of the Directors, HYBHRUBTRNEATE -

they did not have any material impact on these financial
statements.
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47.

48.

Notes to the Financial Statements

COMPARATIVE AMOUNTS

Comparative amounts of certain operating segment
information have been re-presented in order to better
reflect the financial performance of the Group.

APPROVAL OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The financial statements were approved and authorised for
issue by the Board of directors on 28 March 2023.

47.

48.

IR R M

31 December 2022
2022412 A31H

BT

ETREDMEHMZLREHECENZIIMN
BE i RBR AR E 2 RIS R IR

#EM B K

R R DTN 2023 F3 A28 HEES S E
Ko 754 I o
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Particulars of Major Interests in Properties

TEVERRFS

31 December 2022
RZEZZF+=ZA=+—H

1.

280

PROPERTIES UNDER DEVELOPMENT 1. BRPYE
Estimated
gross floor
area (m?)
Properties Uses Shareholding FEEEEE
L/ES A B RRAR R (FF3K)
Mainland China
=N
Beijing Gongchen Project Residential/Commercial 96.0% 93,500
Fangshan District, Beijing [ER=C
JERERIER
EmmELR
Tangshan Fengnan Project (Jindi Imperial Peak) Residential/Commercial 92.9% 270,300
Fengnan District, Tangshan FE ¥
FEILEEIER (2ihEZ)
EILTTE R
Langfang Gu’an Project Residential/Commercial 96.4% 125,800
South of Kongque Avenue, Gu’an County Rl
Langfang
BR b & %218 B
BR T [ % 85 L& K8
Jiaxing Jintong Project Residential/Commercial 95.7% 130,200
Tongxiang City, Jiaxing FEEE
FESMIEAR
ST AR T
Nanjing Lishui Project Residential/Commercial 100.0% 120,000
Yongyang Street, Lishui District, Nanjing F=,
/K IE B
AR T ORK B K G 8
Nanjing Hexi Project Office/Apartment 96.4% 125,200
South Hexi, Jianyue District, Nanjing YN N

EEEEERELE
FAR R - AR
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Particulars of Major Interests in Properties

TEVEBERFS

31 December 2022
RZZEZZF+ZHA=+—H

PROPERTIES UNDER DEVELOPMENT 1. REHY%E (&)
(continued)
Estimated
gross floor
area (m?)
Properties Uses Shareholding FEIEEEE
L/ES Az R R (FHK)
Xuzhou Qianzhouwo Project Residential/Commercial/ 49.3% 329,500
Tongshan District, Xuzhou Office
M AT EEIER T/ BEPOE
RN T8 1L [ 5 L
Chengdu Qingbaijiang Project Residential/Commercial 100% 90,100

Tuanjie Road East, Qingbaijiang District
Chengdu

BCES BLIE R

FCERTE B BT @ B A R B

PROPERTIES HELD FOR SALE

EXPE - ES

2. HHEYE

Approximate

gross floor
area (m?)

Properties Uses Shareholding BHREERE
LYES Jizkes FFIRAR R (FHK)
Mainland China
B K BE
Beijing Daxing Project Residential/Office 90.5% 77,500
Huangcun Town, Daxing District, Beijing F=E IBoE
bR AHIEE
R AREEENE
Wuhan Yuehaiwan Residential/Commercial 97.2% 90,800

Jinghe Street, Dongxihu District, Wuhan
REGEE
ROEREBRICTEE

EXPE-ES
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Particulars of Major Interests in Properties

TEVERRFS

31 December 2022

.

N———

(a)

F+—A=+—H
3 INVESTMENT PROPERTIES 3. BEYE
Completed investment properties (a) BIREY%E
Approximate
gross floor
Term of area (m?)
Properties Uses lease Shareholding  Status HHNEEEE
L/ES 2] S WREH RN R (EAK)
Mainland China
HEI KB
Phases 1 to 3, Vision Shenzhen Business Park Commercial/Office  Medium 100.0% Rental 350,000
High-tech Industrial Park GEYE N ] HE
Nanshan District, Shenzhen
BARREE-EF=H
RTELESTRTEER
Shenzhen Kelu Electronic Industrial Park Commercial Medium 100.0% Rental 86,200
Longgang District, Shenzhen [HES ek i HE
RIBIES T TEE
AmEER
Beijing Daxing Project Commercial/Office  Medium 90.5% Rental 75,800
Huangcun Town, Daxing District, Beijing [CEVE /N ek HE
I RAEIER
ERTARRENE
Shanghai Anyang Project Commercial Medium 100.0% Rental 68,500
Gemdale Viseen Honggiao Science [ HEf HE
and Technology Park
Sijing Town, Songjiang District, Shanghai
FRZFER
SHBITIRER AR
AT TIENEE
Hangzhou Gemdale Plaza Commercial Medium 100.0% Rental 56,900
Liangzhu Street, Yuhang District, Hangzhou mE ek HE
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(a)

(b)

Particulars of Major Interests in Properties

TEVEBERFS

31 December 2022
RZZEZZF+ZHA=+—H

3 INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued) 3. REWZE (&)
Completed investment properties (continued) () HRIREWHE(E)
Approximate
gross floor
Term of area (m?)
Properties Uses lease Shareholding  Status HABREER
L/ Jizf S 5 RN R (EFK)
Nanjing Hexi Project Commercial Medium 96.4% Rental 47,900
South Hexi, Jianyue District, Nanjing [ et HE
HRARER
HRmEHE AR
Chengdu Kelu Electronic Industrial Park Commercial Medium 100.0% Rental 46,000
Wukexi Si Road, Wuhou District, Chengdu HE okt HE
REANEEFTEER
B AR T B B [ U RHER T 3%
Investment properties under construction (b) HEEREWME
Estimated
gross floor
Term of area (m?)
Properties Uses lease Shareholding FFEEEE
/S fick =3 R BRHR (£7K)
Mainland China
HE KB
Xuzhou Qianzhouwo Project Commercial Medium 49.3% 60,000
Tongshan Street, Tongshan District, Xuzhou [ ]
A EBEEE
RN L R L
Chengdu Chenghua Industrial Project Commercial/Office/ Medium 100.0% 289,600
Chenghua District, Chengdu Apartment g
AKX EEFER CEVE 7N V4
AT ER yNed
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Particulars of Major Interests in Properties

TEVERRFS

31 December 2022
RZEZZF+=ZA=+—H

4. PROPERTIES HELD BY JOINT VENTURES

4. BEQRAFAEZWE

(a) Properties under development (a) BRDYHE
Estimated
gross floor
area (m?)
Properties Uses Shareholding HITBREEE
ES Ag AR R (FHK)
Mainland China
H B KB
Fusion Garden (Guangzhou Zhongxin Project) Residential/Commercial 76.0% 189,100
Zhongxin Town, Zengcheng District, Guangzhou — £% /B %
BMELR (BMEWPIHIER)
[N T 38 330 2 v 38R
Guangzhou North Railway Station TOD Project Residential/Commercial/ 51.0% 317,800
Huadu District, Guangzhou Apartment
&1L TODIE B FE/BE/ DB
BN EE R
Qingdao Guanshan Project (CitangCun) Residential 51% 114,900
Huangdao District, Qingdao =
FEEMER (ML)
EETESRE
Tianjin Xiging Project Office 65.0% 102,300
Xiging District, Tianjin YN
RERFEA
REMATE
Shanghai Anting Project Residential 47.5% 91,400
Anting Town, Jiading District, Shanghai =
bE%x=1ER
FETREERTFH
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4. PROPERTIES HELD BY JOINT VENTURES 4.

Particulars of Major Interests in Properties

TEVEBERFS

31 December 2022
RZZEZZF+ZHA=+—H

BENAFHEZYE (&)

(continued)
(a) Properties under development (continued) (@) BEDUWEE)
Estimated
gross floor
area (m?)
Properties Uses Shareholding HIAESEEE
L/ES A R (FE5K)
Shanghai Meilan City Commercial/Office 25% 116,400
Luodian Town, Meilan Lake EEYE VN
Baoshan District, Shanghai
B
FRELRERNESE
Hangzhou Wuba Vision Business Park Office 34.2% 74,400
Gongshu District, Hangzhou N
MMNENBHEER
T HE R
Hangzhou Jinjiang Four-in-One Project Commercial/Office 88.2% 142,100
Shangcheng District, Hangzhou GEVE VN
MMDIME—18E
T EaE
Jiangyin Lanyue Yayuan Residential 70.2% 102,600
Lingang Economic and Technological =
Development Zone, Jiangyin
T2 BA TR B
TEemEREEERTAER
Kunshan Zhangpu Project (Orchid Pavilion) Residential 37.1% 113,600
North to Xinwu Street, East to Jinshang Road F=

Zhangpu Town, Kunshan
BIIRBER (B=#E)
EIlmasRBEI R AR - 88 EREERA
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Particulars of Major Interests in Properties

TEVERRFS

31 December 2022
RZEZZF+=ZA=+—H

4. PROPERTIES HELD BY JOINT VENTURES 4. RERARREZWE (A)

(continued)
(a) Properties under development (continued) (@) BEDYEE)
Estimated
gross floor
area (m?)
Properties Uses Shareholding HIESEEE
LES Az R (E5K)
Kunshan Hesong Lanting Garden Residential 48.0% 170,900
Gaoxin District, Kunshan F=
BL&RE=EE
BT &R
Nanchang Jufan Project Residential/Commercial/ 31.7% 385,900
Xueyuan Road, Gaoxin District, Nanchang Apartment
HMERNIER FE/BE/ 1B
EEnlsEil
Wenzhou Taohua Island Project Residential/Commercial 69.8% 200,200
Oujiang Road, Lucheng District, Wenzhou FE/HE
RMKTERIER
RN T R AL R BT BR
Wenzhou Cangnan Project Residential/Commercial 50.0% 156,500
Cangnan County, Wenzhou FE/BE
mMEEIEE
RN T A R
Wenling Daxi Project Residential/Commercial 25.0% 116,100
Daxi Town, Wenling, Taizhou FE/BE
REAXZIER

BMTRETARE
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4.

PROPERTIES HELD BY JOINT VENTURES 4.

Particulars of Major Interests in Properties

(continued)

(a)

Properties under development (continued)

TEVEBERFS

31 December 2022
RZZEZZF+ZHA=+—H

BENAFHEZYE (&)

(a) BEPURHE)

Estimated
gross floor
area (m?)
Properties Uses Shareholding HIAESEEE
L/ES A KRR (FE5K)
Jiashan Mingyue Huating Residential 49.4% 128,200
Jiashan County, Jiaxing =
EEAMER
RETEER
Jiashan Fengjing Lanting Residential 20.6% 103,700
Jiashan County, Jiaxing =
EEMEHE
RETEES
Jiashan Jinyue Xuefu Residential 20.6% 162,800
Jiashan County, Jiaxing =
RESUER
REMEER
Changsha Marriott Hotel Plot Residential/Commercial/ 22.8% 211,700
Changsha Economic and Technological Apartment
Development Zone, Changsha Tx /W% 18
RO BB LU 1%
RATRADEBERMAER
Changsha Dawangshan Project Residential/Commercial/ 33.0% 355,900
Yuelu District, Changsha Apartment
ROREILER E YA SE /N
RAMEER
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Particulars of Major Interests in Properties

TEVERRFS

31 December 2022
RZEZZF+=ZA=+—H

4. PROPERTIES HELD BY JOINT VENTURES 4. RERARREZWE (A)

(continued)
(a) Properties under development (continued) (@) BEDYEE)
Estimated
gross floor
area (m?)
Properties Uses Shareholding HIESEEE
LES Az R (E5K)
Changsha Duhui Fenghua Project Residential/Commercial/ 60.8% 303,600
Yuhua District, Changsha Apartment
RO HERMEER TE/ W%/ 108
ROTHER
Wuhan Lanting Dajing (Laoguan Village) Residential/Commercial/ 69.2% 269,800
East to Changjiang Road Apartment
North to Laoguan Middle Road T/ HE/1E
Hanyang District, Wuhan
FUERFAE (ZEN)
RZEMERBERTEAR - ZEPEIIL
Wuhan Liji North Project Residential/Commercial/ 37.9% 144,100
Liji Road North, Qiaokou District, Wuhan Office
FEREILIER T /% /B
RS O & 77 &
Wuhan Changjiang Yijing Residential/Commercial/ 70.0% 317,100
Wuhan Economic and Technological Office
Development Zone, Wuhan EEY A E Y N
HERTIES

RN RREERMA %R
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Particulars of Major Interests in Properties

TEVEBERFS

31 December 2022
RZZEZZF+ZHA=+—H

4. PROPERTIES HELD BY JOINT VENTURES 4. RERARREZE (A)

(continued)
(a) Properties under development (continued) (@) BEDUWEE)
Estimated
gross floor
area (m?)
Properties Uses Shareholding HIAESEEE
L/ES A R (FE5K)
Wuhan Four Seasons Metropolis Residential/Commercial 70.0% 346,200
Miaoshan Industrial Park FE/EE
Jiangxia District, Wuhan
RENEHE
REMIEERELEXE
Henan Nanyang Explosion-Proof Factory Plot Residential 34.1% 159,100
Wancheng District, Nanyang =
] 78 A 55 77 128 R b 350
Bl
Henan Luoyang Jukelong Residential/Commercial 30.4% 319,400
Laocheng District, Luoyang FE/mE%
R 5 B R R
BT E R
Nanjing Yaohuamen Project Commercial/Office 46.2% 114,600
Yaojia Road, Cuilin Road, Yaohuamen, Nanjing Apartment
BMRELMIER EEYE /N VN
MRMECPIZER « B
Nanjing Nanbuxincheng Residential/Commercial/ 80.9% 374,118
(Gemdale Dacheng Elegance) Office
Honghua Street, Qinhuai District, Nanjing €/ HE/BRE

MR (S HARAER)
ERMERERAEEE
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Particulars of Major Interests in Properties

TEVERRFS

31 December 2022
RZEZZF+=ZA=+—H

4. PROPERTIES HELD BY JOINT VENTURES 4. RERARREZWE (A)

(continued)
(a) Properties under development (continued) (@) BEDYEE)
Estimated
gross floor
area (m?)
Properties Uses Shareholding HIESEEE
L/ES A& BFRAR (F7K)
Nanjing Liuhe Project Residential/Commercial 18.3% 150,900
Liuhe District, Nanjing F= /A%
ARAAER
ARTAER
Nanjing Jiangbei G17 Project Residential/Commercial 38.5% 82,900
Jiangbei New District, Nanjing e/ HE
BMRIEGI7HEE
ARTILHE
Nanjing Guoji Road G74 Project Residential/Commercial 41.7% 101,500
Honghua Street, Qinhuai District, Nanjing FE/HE
HAREREGT478E
HARMERERAIEEE
Nanjing Jiangbei G12 Project Residential/Commercial/ 39.3% 242,800
Jiangbei New District, Nanjing Apartment
BRIIEG12EE FE/ A%/ DB
RIS
Jinan Beihu Project Residential/Commercial 44.9% 529,700
Tiangiao District, Jinan FE /%
EmILAEE
EEAER
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4.

Particulars of Major Interests in Properties

TEVEBERFS

31 December 2022
RZZEZZF+ZHA=+—H

PROPERTIES HELD BY JOINT VENTURES 4. RERARREZE (A)

(continued)
(a) Properties under development (continued) (@) BEDUWEE)
Estimated
gross floor
area (m?)
Properties Uses Shareholding HIAESEEE
L/ES Rz R (F7K)
Suzhou Fenhu Project Residential 19.0% 91,000
Wuijiang District, Suzhou F=
ERM A H1E B
EMNTRIIER
Nantong Rudong Project Residential 33.4% 103,000
Rudong County, Nantong =
ERERUERELE]
Mgimm R &
Xuzhou Olympic Sport Centre West Project Residential/Commercial 24.7% 289,600
Xincheng District, Xuzhou €/ HE
RINEEEFEIER
R
Xuzhou Duhui Xingchen Residential/Commercial 32.7% 388,400
(Armed Police Detachment) T,/ B
North side of Xushang Road and
south side of Taohuayuan
Quanshan District, Xuzhou
w2 R (REXHK)
M RILERE B - SIERAR
Xuzhou High Speed Rail J Residential 24.3% 119,000
Xuzhou Economic and Technological =

Development Zone, Xuzhou
RMNEE
HINTIRM S BERMAER
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Particulars of Major Interests in Properties

TEVERRFS

31 December 2022
RZEZZF+=ZA=+—H

4. PROPERTIES HELD BY JOINT VENTURES 4. RERARREZWE (A)

(continued)
(a) Properties under development (continued) (@) BEDYEE)
Estimated
gross floor
area (m?)
Properties Uses Shareholding HIESEEE
L/ES A& R (E5K)
Yancheng Chuanchang River Project Residential/Commercial 50.6% 188,300
South side of Xindu Road and Office
west side of Kaifang Road FxE/BE/WRE
Yancheng
B 25 05 1H B
BBy T AT EDRRE - AR
Huai'an Fengdeng Road Project Residential/Commercial 29.9% 126,800
Qingjiangpu District, Huai'an T/ m%
ELEERIER
ELTELER
Huai’an Qinzheng Road Project Residential/Commercial/ 63.7% 242,000
Qingjiangpu District, Huai'an Apartment
EREEKIER T/ W%/ 108
ERTELDER
Chengdu Jintang Project Residential/Commercial 76.0% 125,600
Jintang County, Chengdu € /¥
B & 2 1E B
KT & E 5%
Kunming Qianhui (Mingyue Garden) Residential/Commercial 38.0% 166,600
Lot 52D, Xishan District, Kunming =/ BmE
BRI (BHEE)

EAmELERS25 R
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4,

Particulars of Major Interests in Properties

TEVEBERFS

31 December 2022
RZZEZZF+ZHA=+—H

PROPERTIES HELD BY JOINT VENTURES 4. SRNTEE WX (&
(continued)

Properties held for sale (b) FHEYE
Approximate
gross floor
area (m?)
Properties Uses Shareholding BAREEE
= Ag BRARR (BHK)
Mainland China
H B KB
Qingdao Guanshan Project (CitangCun) Residential 51% 82,500
Huangdao District, Qingdao =
EEEMER (ML)
EEMEBRR
Nanchang Jufan Project Residential/Commercial 31.7% 119,800
Xueyuan Road, Gaoxin District, Nanchang FE/HE
MEFRMIER
T
Gemdale Viseen Jiangxia Technology and Office 85.0% 134,400
Industrial Park FIN
Jiangxia Economic and Technological
Development Zone, Wuhan
SHENIESER
RETIERERMEEE
Kunming Qianhui (Mingyue Garden) Residential 38.0% 125,400
Lot 52D, Xishan District, Kunming =

EAwE (BHEE)
B M PaILES25% 7 Dt 5
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Particulars of Major Interests in Properties

TEVERRFS

31 December 2022
RZEZZF+=ZA=+—H

4. PROPERTIES HELD BY JOINT VENTURES 4. BERNRBEEZYE(E)

(continued)
(c) Investment Properties (c) FHEYXE
i) Completed investment properties i) BTIREYHE
Approximate
gross floor
Term of area (m?)
Properties Uses lease Shareholding  Status  HHBREER
L itk R EH FRMRR iR (EHK)
Mainland China
HEIRE
Guangzhou Chuangjing Office Medium 40.0% Rental 59,100
Huangpu District, Guangzhou N Hh HE
EMEIR
ENTERR
Shanghai Gemdale Viseen Minhang Office Medium 50% Rental 113,200
Science and Technology Innovation Park A% k] HE
Zhongchun Road, Minhang District
Shanghai
DERMEHRTHAIE
DETRTERER
Shanghai Hengdong Office Medium 42.5% Rental 152,700
Waigang Town, Jiading District, Shanghai /212 B Mg
Li8EE
HERTERIMNGE
Shanghai Jinta Project Commercial Medium and 60% Rental 152,200
Magiao Town, Shanghali [ Long HE
LEeEER HARRH
HEmERE
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Particulars of Major Interests in Properties

TEVEBERFS

31 December 2022
RZZEZZF+ZHA=+—H

4, PROPERTIES HELD BY JOINT VENTURES 4. RERARREZYE (A

(continued)
(c¢) Investment Properties (continued) (c) ¥BEUXE(E)
i) Completed investment properties (continued) i) R TIREYE (&)
Approximate
gross floor
Term of area (m?)
Properties Uses lease Shareholding  Status  BARHEEE
nE R# HREH BRHR iR (FAK)
Shanghai Jiuting Shidai Centre Commercial/Office/  Medium 77.2% Rental 85,200
Jiuting Town, Songjiang District, Shanghai  Apartment i HE
LSRR CEYE N YN
LENIRNZE
Shanghai Zhitao Office Medium 50% Rental 115,800
Shengang Road, Songjiang District, PN W HE
Shanghai
fichote
ISR AR
Shanghai Meilan City Apartment Medium 25.0% Rental 31,100
Luodian Town, Meilan Lake N3 T HE
Baoshan District, Shanghai
LB
HEELEXHRRER
Nanjing Yaohuamen Project Commercial Medium 46.2% Rental 80,100
Yaojia Road, Cuilin Road, Yaohuamen, [GES ] HE
Nanjing
mREFMER

R AREES
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Particulars of Major Interests in Properties

TEVERRFS

31 December 2022
RZEZZF+=ZA=+—H

4. PROPERTIES HELD BY JOINT VENTURES 4. BERNRBEEZYE(E)

(continued)
(c¢) Investment Properties (continued) (c) HEWEE)
i) Investment properties under construction ii) EREEME
gross floor
Term of area (m?)
Properties Uses lease Shareholding  EFtEEHE
IES it} WRFH R (EHK)
Mainland China
hE AR
Guangzhou North Railway Station TOD Project Commercial Medium 51.0% 82,000
Huadu District, Guangzhou [HES ]
EMILIETODIER
BNTEHR
Guangzhou Chuangjing Office Medium 40.0% 89,300
Huangpu District, Guangzhou NS i
BMEIR
BMTERR
Beijing Kunding Yizhuang Science Business Park  Office Medium 88.0% 134,200
Yizhuang Town, Daxing District, Beijing YN HH]
RS TR 2E
R AERITIEE
Tianjin Xiging Project Office Medium 65.0% 68,200
Xiging District, Tianjin HEUN FH]
REAFER
REHAER
Shanghai Jinta Project Commercial Medium and 60% 180,800
Magiao Town, Shanghai % Long
+HEEMER mERRH
HEmERE
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4.

PROPERTIES HELD BY JOINT VENTURES 4.

Particulars of Major Interests in Properties

TEVEBERFS

31 December 2022
RZZEZZF+ZHA=+—H

BENAFHEZYE (&)

(continued)
(¢) Investment Properties (continued) (c) ¥BEUXE(E)
Investment properties under construction i) EREIEEWE (8)
(continued)
gross floor

Term of area (m?)
Properties Uses lease Shareholding FEFtEEHEE
ES JiE] =S WEEH BFRR (EHXK)
Shanghai Jinting Xianshu Project Office Medium 68.4% 83,000
Shanlian Road, Baoshan District, Shanghai NS ol
LBe=HRIER
FRTEILRLER
Shanghai Meilan City Commercial/Office  Medium 25.0% 183,400
Luodian Town, Meilan Lake CEYE N i
Baoshan District, Shanghai
BEBR
PEEEEFARER
Hangzhou Wuba Vision Business Park Office Medium 34.2% 73,400
Gongshu District, Hangzhou /N HH]
MMENGHEEE
MMHHER
Nanchang Jufan Project Commercial Medium 31.7% 89,500
Xueyuan Road, Gaoxin District, Nanchang [EE 5

HERNIERAR
e MR RSk R
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Particulars of Major Interests in Properties

TEVERRFS

31 December 2022
NoF——

N———

4.

298

F+-—A=+—H
PROPERTIES HELD BY JOINT VENTURES 4. EENTBEZNE (&
(continued)
(¢) Investment Properties (continued) (c) BHEWH(E)
i) Investment properties under construction i) R EMZE (B)
(continued)
gross floor
Term of area (m?)
Properties Uses lease Shareholding it EEHE
IES it} R EH R R (EHK)
Nanjing Nanbuxincheng Commercial Medium 80.9% 124,800
(Gemdale Dacheng Elegance) [HES i
Honghua Street, Qinhuai District, Nanjing
ERE T (S AKIER)
BRMRERATAE
Suzhou Mudu Project Office Medium 50% 124,600
Wuzhong District, Suzhou YN ol
#MNAEER
FMTRTE
Yancheng Chuanchang River Project Commercial Medium 50.6% 67,800
South side of Xindu Road and [CE 5
west side of Kaifang Road
Yancheng
H 5 AR
B m RS - FAOERR
Chengdu Wenjiang Project Office Medium 76.0% 139,300
Wenijiang District, Chengdu N ]

AR T2
REmRTE
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5.

PROPERTIES HELD BY ASSOCIATES

(a)

Particulars of Major Interests in Properties

TEVEBERFS

31 December 2022
RZZEZZF+ZHA=+—H

5. BMEQTRKFREZIWE

Properties under development (a) BRDPYEHE
Estimated
gross floor
area (m?)
Properties Uses Shareholding HITBREEE
= A BB (BHK)
Mainland China
H B KB
Qingdao Qingyin Project Residential/Commercial/ 22.5% 491,500
Shibei District, Qingdao Office
S5FRER T/ AE/ pog
FemmitE
Nanjing Fengzihe Project Commercial/Office/ 27.0% 156,444
Binjiang Avenue, Jiangbei New District, Apartment
Nanjing CEVE N YN
MREFHER
AR EET KE
Guangzhou Hengli Island Project Residential/Commercial/ 24.5% 128,800
Hengli Island, Nansha District, Guangzhou Apartment
BN &SI B ER YA SE /N
BT R ERES
Xuzhou Quanrun Project Residential 31.0% 136,700
Tongshan District, Xuzhou =

BN ERE
Ak
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Particulars of Major Interests in Properties

TEVERRFS

31 December 2022
RZEZZF+=ZA=+—H

5. PROPERTIES HELD BY ASSOCIATES 5  E&ATEBEIME (&)

(continued)
(a) Properties under development (continued) (a) REhY X
Estimated
gross floor
area (m?)
Properties Uses Shareholding HITREEE
E ol BRI (FH¥)
Jiangyin Tianyu Bay Residential/Commercial 48.0% 217,000
Yunting Street, Jiangyin City FE/HE
TBRXEE
TRHEFEE
Huai'an Jinji Project Residential/Commercial/ 48.2% 206,000
Qingjiangpu District, Huai’an Apartment
EZ e HIEE (E YA SE /N
ELZTE LS R
(b) Investment Properties (b) BHEYE
i) Investment property under construction i) EEEEME
gross floor
Term of area (m?)
Property Uses lease Shareholding B EZEEE
LIS Rz HREH BRMRR (FAXK)
Mainland China
HEIKHE
Nanjing Fengzihe Project Residential/ Medium 27.0% 35,700
Binjiang Avenue, Jiangbei New District, Nanjing Commercial/ I
BERETHER Office/Apartment
mRmLLHEEIAE i/ w%/Hog/

b

B
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19/F, Central Tower, 28 Queen’s Road Central,

Central, Hong Kong
ERPIREGAEF28RPEKRELINE

Tel 5% © (852) 2826 2826 | Fax {§H : (852) 2826 2888
www.gemdalepi.com
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